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INTRODUCTION TO VOLUME II1.

VorvMe IIT opens with the 19th October 1746, and
closes with the 14th March 17.47.

It contains very interesting details regarding the
agreement for the ransom of Madras, the chief
signatories to which were de la Bourdonnais and the
English Governor, Morss, and of the subsequent
repudiation of the treaty by the authorities at
Pondichery. A paragraph, pathetic in its brevity
and substance, which occurs in the second chapter
of the book, records the adieu to India of de la
Bourdonnais, who, but for the childish quarrel
between him and Dupleix, would undoubtedly have
captured Fort St. bavid, as he did Madras, and
have thus dealt a deadly blow to the position of
the English in Hindustin.

The chief feature of the volume, however, is
the graphic account given in it of the gallant and
effective stroke dealt, with a disproportionately
weak following, and without artillery, by Paradis—
of whose alleged previous history an amusing
account will be found in Chapter XLV—to the
strong force well supplied with cannon, which
Mahfuz Khin, the eldest son of the Nawab of the
Carnatic, sought to interpose between him and
Fort St. George, to the relief of which, from an
attempt at capture by the Muhammadans, he was
advancing from Pondichery. Thisengagement will
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always he conspicuous in Indian history, not only for
the promptitude and boldness with which the attack
was delivered, but alzo as being the first occasion,
as pointed out by Malleson, in his The Decisive
Battles of India, on which the Kuropean trader
agsumed the position of a combatant, and as such,
administered to an Indian chieftain, of the class
whose every word had hitherto been to him a law,
a decided defeat. The tale of the battle of Myla-
pore, as told in the Diary, forms attractive maiter
for any one acquainted with the scene of it and
Southern India. Other points of interest mentioned,
are the intrigues and negotiations which had for their
object, on the one hand, obtaining from the French
possession of Fort St. George, and, on the other,
retaining it, and procuring the retirement of the
troops of the two sons of the Nawib of the Carnatic,
which constituted not only a threat to Fort St.
George, but also a danger to Pondichery ; the attack
made on Paradis when returning from the relief of
Madras ; and the utter failure of the first expedition
sent from Pondichery, to atterupt the seizure of
Fort St. David.

The volume concludes with a description of how
a second expedition, having the same object, and
practically commanded by Paradis, though nominally
under the direction of the incompetent de la Tour,
who had been the leader of its abortive predecessor,
was—when it had carried all before it, when every
work had been captured, and when the storming
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party had actually paraded for the purpose of as-
saulting Fort St. David, itself—compelled, by the
appearance of a British fleet, to retire, spike the
guns previously taken, and destroy much ammunition
and stores; and was pursued, for a time, by troops
which sallied from the fort. The story of these
events is told in a very picturesque manner, the most
striking figure in it being, to my mind, rne French
sentinel, who, standing on the flat roof of the
recently captured garden house, and gazing seaward
across the ever rolling surf of the Coromandel
Coast, suddenly descries in the distance the hostile
fleet and announces to those who are awaiting
below the order to advance, the news which leads to
their hasty and not very orderly retreat.

Exwmovurs, Drvon,

J.F.P.
January 1914.
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h«e makes presents—.And gives his companion a small cne-—"Al Naqi
and others beg him to procure o permit to leave the eity-—0On his
way to ask for this, he meets a party of soldiers—Finds the
Goveérnor ont, bur secs Lim luter—On srating his errand 13 ques-
tioned by the Guvernor—His reply —Governor asks his opiniin ona
point connected with the son of Chanda $alub—Diavist refers to the
debts of Chandd Sihib—Ard 1o the expulsion from Pondichery of
his creditors—And says that these may cause nonble, at Arcoq, to
Chanda 34Lih's som-- Goverror desires him to expliin this to Chanda
S$ahil’s wife— He departs to do so, and the son of Chandd $&lub <et«
out oun his journev—Diarist considers 1t nnwise to zo to the lady’s
house, at night—And coneoets a false tule—Which he tells the
Goverpor—As also, that the danghter of A1l Dést Khiu desires to
send bim cifts—Letters from Guruvapps Chetti—Mention tiade
trunsactions of Messrs, Morse and Monson—And observe on the
amiversul removal of property from Madias—Goods packed for
MM, @’Espréménil and de lu Bonrdonnais --Further lecter from
Guoruvappa Chetti rejeats previous information—Remai ks on M,
Morse’s condurt—And refers to the impending departure of M.
de la Bourdonnais—Diarist records unsertled weather—Akbar 34hib
anxious that diarist should visit him-—3I. de la Gatinais and another
wait on the Governor—2>1. Dupleix <oes, in his sleeping costume, to
the beach—The Bourbon, uuder a jury muun mast. heaves in sight—
ML Dubois and de Rostaing come to diavist's cloth godown—They
ask some questions—Make notes, and give certain orders—
Nainiyappa Mudali hwiries packing, and sendx tickets for each halc
—DPeons, with letters to Fort St. Duvid, wuvlaid—Give a false
account of themsclves, and are scized--Governor questions and
releazes them—Buf, after eonversing with his wife, hiix them
rearrested—sShipment of provisions for the squadion—Governor
busied with this, and wiiting letters—Diatist chuses delivery of
certain long cloth to M. Cornet—Who asks Rdmaiyun what it cost—
T. Arundchalam’s clerk offers cloths of better dye — Presses M,
Corner to see these, but is unsuccessful— This related to diavist by
Lakshmanan—Etiquette oblizatory in commercial eireles, under
cerfain circumstances—Diarist comments on the conduct of the
clertk—And observes that certain merchants are unaware that
M. Dupleix knows of their frauds —Letter from Goruvappa Chetti—
This gives aceount of execrtion of the documetts refeiring to the
ransom of Madras—And states that M. {Espréménil was not
present—Diarist’s remarks—Sepoys sent to caprure a party of
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that his brother rewam~ obdurate =Diarisr teile Governer of
Muttaiyappan’s acceplanre- -Awd tecelves certain mders —Goyernor
asks whether the lettcrs to the Nawdh, cte., are ready—And
dirvects diarist to write to Subhaiyun—-The direerions viven to the
bearers of the letters—Letter to the Nawidb states how the capture
of Madras came ahont—Reminds Lim of promised assistance—
Expresses astonishnient a* his sim’s secking to assisr the Tinglish—
And states what the Freneh will do, if weied with—Forms in
which the letters to rhe Nawib and his zon, were couched—
Additions in that to the latter-—Form and contents of the letrers to
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And veport, from M. Dordelin, ete., avainst M. de 1o Pourdonnais
—Council  cousiders these matters, and despatches  veplies—
Governor inquires wherher Mirvza Al Bég i« a kinsman of the
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madans, at Pondichery — Stairvinent contirmed-—Govainor directs
diarist to write to ML 7Al Bég—Contonts of lerters—Muttaiva Pillaj
viven funds to recruit peoms—Arrivul of the Achd’e—M. de la
Bonrdonnais does not land—MJM. d’Bsprémdnil, and Gandelaire,
arrive from Madras--Diarvist lewins that they came by order of the
Governor—He asks about the capture of M. de Bury's son—His
informant relates what befell the pery scnt to aescme him—
Attributes the raid at Madras, cte., to Peddu Nayukkin —Tells
diarist of the imprisonment of Mr. Morse—And says that he will
visit Thuvéngadam—He, further, mications the escape of Peddn
Narakkan—Aund alleges that all tho<e who went to Madras enriched
themselves—But acquits diarist’s brother of having done so—
Council constders the inteiference of the Mulammadians, at
Madras—And the action of M. de Ja Bourdonnais regarding certain
ships—The captains at Madras write to the Council—The reply—
Governor tells diarist that a man who knows French and
Hindustani must go to Madras—Aud makes a sugzestion, which
includes Muttaiya Pillai—Who had tuld diarist of his reluctance to
go there—But had asked him, for the present, to say nothing—-
Diurist making excuses, suggests Ranguppa Chetti as ynalified—
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captured—And complaine of the acrion ol Mahtuz Khan— Diarise
informs Governor of the ramoured defeai of Mahfur Khan-—Gover-
nor's orders to the Nayindr vegardirg cerruin Josr artidles- e
tells diarist of a battle between M. Paradis and Mahfuz Khan—
Details the particulars of the action—And of the rout of the
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Muhammadans—Iie mentions the sulbsequent movements of M.
Paradis—And Lis junction swith the force from Madras—Hix anger
at the delay in cffecting tuis—Diarist makes son.e svothing and
flattering remarks—>Mme, Dupleix, who is present, speaks in a like
strain— What diarist then said—He talks for two Iudian hours—
His remarks touching M. de la Bourdunuais—Madame coineidos——
The Governor’s observations, on leswrning what they are talking
of —He directs diwist 10 wrirte letters to the Nizdm, cte.—-Aud
to order Muttaiyappan to capture Peddu Niyukkan—DBishop of
Negapatam vizits Mr. Hinde, at Fort St David—Diwist intnnates
this to the Governor—Lefter from V. Subbaivan reports defeat
of Mahfuz Khdn—Diarist despatches circulurs to certain Killedaps
--Is asked to provide supplies, etc., for the marriaze of Chanda
84hil’s daughrer —Weddine gifts made by the (%)Vurnwr—fnquiles
as to the loan of Kannkardvan's hvuse—Arrvanzenments made by him
with Luzar—Governor demands an addirional howse— And obtain-
ing the keys of it sends them to dinrist —The usserriors made
by‘ Ténappa Mudali—Remarks of diavist recarding him —Conrents
of certain officiul litrers wuitten by dimist—In the evening, he
despatches others— Coupluint made to Lim again-r Ténappa
Mudali—Xis remarks on what was written 1 lis horosiope—
Letters to the Governor, ete, from Huosain $3hib, V. Sawha
Aiyan, and M. de¢ Kerjean—The tiist of these threatens foree, if
Fort 8t. George is not smirendeied- Aud puts forward svuomenrs
to induce complinnce—Contents of letters from Asad $d)ib—
Reply of Governor comments on scizure of Fiench ouvOYs—
Thanks Husamm SahLib for his treatment of the captives-——And
rtefmses to give up Fort 8. Gevrge - Orders regarding <npplies for M,
d= Kerjean. ete.—Latest accounts of Muhfus Khin—Of M Puradis
—And of the Governor of Fort 3r. David -Ritwm of fugitives
from Cuddalore, ete.—Repmred theht of the inhabitaut< of Poro
Novo——News of the pavoling of the English at Madrag ~Of there
being no Muhunpnudans at Mylipore— And of the movements of
Asad Sdhib—Tbe message ~ont by the Governot to Hhe werchants
of Madras—And the assurance whiech aceompantcs i He gk
diarist why he bLas not seut bis brothor to Muldras—And orders
that he shall go thither, with certin officials Duwrist fuinishes
Governor with copies of sundiy wtters—and cxplajus the contonts
ot others——Governm’s rew uks thercon — Dhist sends o civeular
to certain poligars, ete.—Contems of thi- -What M, Puradis wrote
to the Governor—Diurist neks. of M Cornet, wheat for Chanda
Saril’s family —Contents of u detter to the Governor from M. °A1
Khan—He causes o comiteous 1oply 1o be sent - Aud takey steps to
supply Chand SihLib’s family—~Departme, for Madras, of eortuin
otficials —Claim made, by M. Dulaurcns, on M. de la Touche—
Who asks diaris% tu satisfy the demund, out of certain tunds—
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Diarist prepares a draft tobe sent to M. Dulaurens—Ditfeulty a~

to paying in »ilver settled—Diirist eoes part o th e way with M.

de la Tcuche—Letter to the Governor from V. Bubbaiyon—Thi~

gives news of the domgs of Muhammad Al Klan—>ays thar

these displeused Mabfns KLin- And speaks of the views Deld, at

Arcot, as to the fights of Malius Kiin wirth the Fresch—

Bemarks of the Governor ou the letrer—Dimisr tells Lim tle

news Tegurding the Governor of Fort St, David- And nmuentions

the march of a force towards Gingee —Reply of the Killenar of

Timiri to the letter vegurding Mahiuz Khan-—Concwrs wirh the view

taken by the Governor— Who usks diarist whetber he should waite

to M. ’All Khin~He counstls delay—Governoer agrees—Duaist

tells him of au wttempt to seize certain postal oiiivials-—And

advises him not to compl:in tu the Nawab-—Plius act of wife of

C. Parasurdma Pillai—Large gifts made by her . S—110

CHAPTER XXXV,
FROYM NOVEMBER 19TH, 1746, TO DFCEMBER 31D, 1746,

Letter tu Goverror, from Muphommad Mivan—Condemus the
attitude of Mabitnz han—And 1efers to seevcts which hie disires
to communicate—Governor takes steyps to uhtain the reliuse of
Chanda Sirab—What the Frincess Marce bror oht from Mudras—
Repor+ recaiding Mr. Baineval, and others— Diarist cocryies 4 new
stcrehouse—And jperforms the usual cerewonies—He viaits the
agent of Kdsi Dds Bukkanji—Conversation between thew —Pro-
mise made by diarist— Governor stguires as to news from Arect—
Converses with diarist—Who t'atters Inm much—Guvernor gives the
pedigrees of many of the French in Pondicheiy— Diuwvist informs
Govervor that 'Alf Naqi desires to visit lim~ Acks yernission to
introduce T.Tarwddi— And ottains loave to direct certain jersons
to depart—V, Sublaiyan writes that the Nawab tlanke of attacking
Madras—Relates a couversarion between Husain Sdkhib and the
French captives—States that Hu<ain S&Lih wishied him to 20 to
Pondichery— And says rhat theidea of wur is dyirg cvt—The seply
which is sent to this—Governor directs dwrist to write to  the
Nuwéb regarding the restoration of Madras—But, at his cucgestion,
defers uny action—=Subscquort eenversation between them—Te e r
fiom the Killedar ot Kurnnguzihi —IHarist translates this to the
Governon—Reyly of M. Gluldin Husuin to the letter snnouncing
capture of Madras—Expresse~ hi1s sutistaction—And 1eters 1o
certain mounctary matters—Governor sends didilst a letter from
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H,’Alf Khin~—The promise. and request, which it conveys—Con-
versation between the Governcr and diarist—Letter fiom the
Killedar of Gingee to the Governor—(Comments severelv on
Mahfuz Khin—And advises maintaining friendship with the Nawéb
—Letters, from Sadiq S&hib. to the Governor. and diarist—The
former of these advises terms with Mabfuz Khin—The latter
urges diarist to semd his children, etc., to Vellore—The veplies
made to these—The agent of Fatteh Sing tendeis the help of
Mahratta horsemen—Reply which Governor sends to this offer
~—Subbaiyan reports that M. Al Khén is camped at Sdtpur—That
his troops fear to do bartle with Europeans—And that Husain
S4bib is sending a t'rihman— He further reports as to release of
the French captives—Refers to certain financial arrangements—
States that Aunwar-ud-din Khén is in a precarious condition—And
asks for some freit—Governor sends letters to Subbiivan, and
Husain Sahib—That to the former, instructs him to tell Husain
Sahib of the proposed capture of Fort St. David— And urges
obtaining leave from the Nawib, to carry this out—Letter to
Hauosain $41ib contains the same news, and refers him to Subbaiyan
—Governor bids diarist write a letter to M ’All KWhién—Conver-
sation arising from his asking how to draft it—He is finally told to
use his own judgment—His draft highly approved—2Mr. Morse,
bis family, and others arrive—M. Barthélemy, and others accom-
pany them—The receytion accorded to them—Council-house
agsigned for their accommodation—They sup with the Governor—
Views of diarist as to the attention paid to Mr. Vorse—Alludes to
the crowd which as<embled to se2 him—And dwells upon the grief
that this must have caused him—Reflections of diarist on this
subject—Search ordered for property set down by the followers of
Mr, Morse—Many cloths found—Comyplaint made that soldiers and
sepoys will not give upcertain property—The orders passed by the
Governor—The articles produced— Propeity of merchants, ete.,
secured at Mylapore when Madras was taken—What thev did on
the arrival there of Mabfuz Khin— Mylapore completely sacked
after the battle—[Plunder thae acquired brought by the folluwers
and guards of Mr. Morse—M. Le Bon detuiled to levy duty on
this—His dishonest conduct—Gross thefts committed hy the
soldiers on duty—Estimated valee of tbe spoil of Mvlapore—
Amount which Muttaiva Pillai, alone, obtained—Remarks as to
others—Diurist’s opinien as to the fate of wealth so acquired—
Reply ot Mahammad ’All Khén to the Governor’s letrer—Sayse that
permission tn attack Madras should have hcen ohtrained from
Nawib—Details the results of failure to do this—And specifies his
conditions f intercession, on the Governor’s behalf— Remark of
Governor on hearing the letter, and reply of diurist—Ccnversation
a8 to capturing Fort St. David— Governor directs diarist to hire
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cattle to carry rice from Fort 8t. David, ete.—This done—Com-
plaint made, by Tinappua Mudali. to the Governor—His object in
doing this —Diarist reports the hiring of bullocks— Informs him as
to the state of affairs at Fort St. David—And gives pirticulars
of artillary and garrison— Mr. Stratton, and fawily, arrive from
Madras—At the desire of the Governor, diarist criticises certain
drafts —And objects to a passage—Governor canses it to be alrered
—Diarist approves, and the letters are made ready—DMescage to
diarist from the wife of Chandd S&hib—This 1efers to cloths
allezed to have belonged to S,’A1l Khin—And states how they,
with certain money, ete.. came into his possessirn—\nd subse-
quently into that of K. D. Bukkanji—It explains how R, 'Ali Khin’s
intentions to make resforation to their owner were not corried out
—Gives the names of thase cognizant of the marter—And promises
a reward if diarist makes recovery—What the Governnr said when
diaviss reported this matter—Directs him 0 obtain the views of
C. 84hib’s wife—Governor asks the news from Fort St. David—
Diavist reports the srate of Cuddalore —The details of gairison, ete.,
at Fort 8t. David—And the force of native troops around it—
Governor then says that he will go to Fort St. David. to eapture it
—Flattering remarks made by diarist ... - 116—144

CHAPTER XXXV
FROM DECEMBER 4TH, 171%, TO DECEMBER I3TH, 1716,

Letters from Subbaiyan and Husain SiLib—~The tormer reports
his attempt to gain the help of ITusnin $&Lib-——The wcotfing langu-
age with which it was received—The sarcastic remark of Sampari
Réo—And the reply that the Nawidb cannot he approached—Ile
refers to the matter of the French prisomers—Aud says that
Husuzin $4hib wishes certain orders issued—What the Governor
directs on hearing this letter—He repeats that he will capture
Tort St. David—What is to he done vwhen M. Parediz reaches
Pondichery—Diavist hsnds certain letters to R&j5 Pandit—And
writes two to M.'Ald Khin—Conteuts of the first uof these-—Rujo
Pandit sent to the wife of Chandd $akib.—-To ask herto in-tigare
MJUAHR KbLdn to attack Avcot—Aud to say that M. Duapleix will
assist him— Why the Governor did not write to MJAE Kian—
Sn den illness of child of Mr. Morse—Prompt atrenticns of M.and
Me. Dupleix— Diari~t's reflections on this matrer—He and Lajo
Pandit visit the Governor—To whom a letter. from Husuin $4hib,
to certain ladies, is read—Governor asks if Bad¢ $dLib’s people
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received g hke letter—-Is answered in the atirmative —He promises
to see to the matter—And directs that Bude Sdhib’s house be
watee l—Concersation resarding Husnin  P&tab--Diarist avks
whether hie shiould drafta reply to MU Al IhAn—TDuasenssion on
this print—The form suzgisted by dlarist adopted—He proposes
a gift of money to MJAL Khdn’s peons—UGovernor agrees. and
reply is despatched —Troops miaach, to and fro, between ceitain
places—This ercates aun idea that 1,000 men are in movement—
Many, conscyuently, desert their homes- Resujt of this, and of
the failure f mousoon—Almrm created by alleged advance of tle
French—"Terror caunsed by 1umours of o possitle attack on Pondis
chery --Remarhs of daarist recarding this—Governor attends mass,
and holds a4 Council—Execution of a  thief--Lerrers from V.
Subbaiyan, and M. dv Kcrjean—The former w.entions continued
illness of the Nuwdb—And ditficuvlties regarding the vele-se of
French prisoners—Remur ks of the Governor, on heniing the letter
— s reply to Husan fabib—TLetter alsesto Vo Sobbaiyan- -This
desires him to see Husuin $1Lib — Chundd $3Lib’ s son asks Governor
to pay certarn money—The prouise made by M. Dupleix— Farther
converzation hetwern them— Governor advises scizvie of Arcot
and the Nawib—-Prondses the aid of troops— vnd tells him thit he
can then subdue all Arcot—Chanéd $aLil's won suggests tha
Muitazd "2 it would cany out this plan—TReport that Mahtuz Khin's
force smrrounded M. Paradis—DMAID KLén saud to be advancing
towards Furt St. David—-Diarist desived to obtain intormation, and
to see to sundry sunplies—Governor asks why certain intimatr o Las
not heen recerved—He decides to send soldiers to Mortindi Chavady
—XNews of Mubammad 'All Kbanreacbes diarist— e reports this
to the Governor, und replies to hus miovmants— By oider of the

Governor, diavist issues ins‘ractions touching certain supplies—
Gouvernot recds 1o ham & letter fiown M. Pavadis— This reports
au attack by Manfnz Than—Wkich he Lad repulsed--And that he
hid reached Sadras—~Governor comments on the rashness of M.
Paradis—and says thut he will send him a reinforcement—He
orders a letter to be written to H. Balib~-Tiis refers tou  the
nmisdecds of Malfuz Kban—Srates that they have been endwred in
the Lope of an amicuble seticmwent—And ofters the alternitive of
compliance with cerrain demands, v wur —Governor speaks to
Quarist concerning one Periya Alyd—Whe iz ¢ mumrwuder-—Adnd
suggoests instigating ham to atrack M. "All Khdn—The version
received by diarise, of the fight repoarted by M., Paradis—Alleged
stiength of atrucking foice and nature of the hghtivg—"Treasue,
etc., kelonging to M. Paradis said to have been captured—And
most ot the other plundor reperted to have heen carvied off—
Value of whaot M. Paradis lost —Reflections ot diarist reguiding
this —What M. Paradis was <aid to have most regretted—His
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escape attributed, by diarist, to Divine favour—Governor’s letrer
to H. 8dlub prepared—Instructions also sent to V. Subbaiyan—
Replies to circular received from certain Kiledurs—The fitst two
approve, but suguest a concthatay policy—hilledar of Mayi Manda-
lam strongly digapproves- -Killedar ot 3yni wiites pohirely, and
advises peace with the Subah—Reinforcement. cte., <ent to M.
Paradis—News of MJAld K
ete, from Sadras—Why M. Purudis, and hi~ men, did not anive
by them—Aalleged acton of the L uteh towards those Who 1emined
bebind—Diari~t hears of a letter from M. Parads, and reply theteto
~—His curiosity as to thew contents—Xon of ITwdm Sdlnb wiites
regarding n visit to Pondichery—And refors to certadn business
nutters— M, P'aradis arrives ut Pundicher: — Diarist notes ther he
did not appeur cheerful—Attitutes this to the luss of Lis plunder
—Makes a Iike remurk touching the Guvernor—3Salbaiyan wiites
that M. Schonunulle has been seut to Arcot—And eonfined with
M. de Kerjeun, ete.—He conveys requests on behulf of Llusam Habib
—And reports arrival of peisuna sent for the tubure due to the
Nizdm—What the Goveruor esclaimed on hearirg the letter—
Arrival at Pondichery of M. Pmaws’ nen—ZLetwr fiom the
Goveinor 1o Subbaiyan deals with the requests made by him— And
directs speedy reply to & certain letter—23, Dupleix sends diarist
a letter fromy one Arvunachslam Chetti—This complams of the
seizure, by M. Paradis’ men, of certuin valuables—And 1ciusal to
g1ve them up without orders, for which he asks—'The 1eply sent
to this—Diarist inforn s the Governor that M. Al Blén has veuched
Tiruviri—Details the rejort as to the destination, and nuwmber ot the
troops—aAnd states what MJAN Khdn did. to aviid the French—
And thut he is in constaut fear of bewny attacked—Ien.ark on this
of Governor—Replies of some Kiliedars, ete,, ty the Governor's
cirenlar—"1hose of Vellore and Sacchar appro ve—But sugrest
concilinting the Nawah—Mir Asud usks the cause of the war with
the English—DPrivate’y, he sends congiatulations—He 1efers cou-
temptuousls to the Nuwdb—And urges not cominyg to terms with
him—Taql $aLib avords all retercnee ta the suijeet of the cirenlar

~-And wiites of the Governor’s kindly feeling towards the Navdits,

Din—Boats arrive with sowe ooy,

ete.—-Governor tells diarist why Mir A-ad sert him a message—
Killedar of Vazhnddvir writes of a quarrel with M "Alt Klan—Wko
charged him with eoliusion with the Frepei--And = now advancing
—Compliments wlich he pays the Govenor—~He sefers 1o the
repulse of the foree rhat attacked M. Paradis- and wi s defeared
by him—And prophesies wurther trimpli—Governer  moch

pleased .. . 145—177
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CHAPTER XXXVIIL

FROJM DECEMBER 11TH. 1716, TO DECEMBER 25TH, 1716,

Diarist reports to the Governor that M.AN Khdn iy at Nelli-
kuppam—And is said to be going to Manjakuppum—Diarist direct-
ed to procure certain inforwation—HKeplies thkat it has been
obtained--Governor much pleased—Military officers ohject to M.
Paradisas a leader—Governor has much rrouble in pacifying them
~-He gives certain ovders to diarist—News of M. All Khan's
movements—And of his reception by the English~~The spot assigned
for his camp— He is displeased with this, and goes elsewhere—
Induced to retuin, and another site is indicuted to him— Asks
that his front may be prorected—Vlinaily camps at Kondir Tope—
He and his men greatly fear a night attack-—Governor causes this
news to verepeated to M, Paradis——Remaiks of the (Governor as
to M. ’Ali Khadn—The observations therempon made by diavist—
Who gives M. Dapleix the news regarding Mahfuz Khidn—3And
says that the Nawab is better—Conversation as to the tenacity
cf tife of the Nawédb—Dashing escape of Enclish piisoners—Eight
recaptured ar once, owing to injmies—Four move 1e-taken in the
afterncon—And, later, ten who were hiding in low jungle—TForce

sent to attack the enemy’s horse, near Azhisapdkkam—The latter
take to flight—The French make a halt, for dinner— Give chase to
some mcre of the enemy—And hals again av Marikiishpdpuoram,
where another skirmish takes place —The oppousing force retreats
to Manjakuppam—A scout says thut he saw this— Letters, ete,
from Surat, to Governor, and M. Dulaurens—1he bearers of these
make contradictory reports concerning the Nizim —They state
also that they were taken to MiLfsz Khan’s camy, but releas. d—
The eneay surprise the camp at Manjakuppam—After a long fight,
the French refreat, with loss of supplies--And are followed as far
as Tavalakuppam—Remarks of the Governor on heuring tlis news
—General impression as to the nature of the defeat —Governor is
glad at the reverse —Says that M. de Bury, and vther officers. refused
to serve under M. Paradis-- And that he is pleased at their discom-
fiture—He reminds diarist of a conversution when the force was
starting out—JAnd says that diarist’s predietion proved correct-—
Details of supplies captured by the English—Mr. Morse’s dubdsh,
waylaid, and robbed of papers, money, etc —This done, as Mr. Morse
wus writing to Fort 8t David—Governor directs diarist to arrange
for seiznre of the letters—The meusures taken to effect this—Dubésh
receives, from DMr. Morse, a letter, for transmission—Four of
diarist’s servants sent to waylay, and rob him—They take from
him, and a companion, letters, etc,—One letter from Mr, Morse,
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and another from the dubdsh to G, Nayakkan—Tte tormer contains
nothing of importance—The latter relates merely to Mr. and Mrs,
DMorse’s private affairs—Disposal of the stelen snonev—Governcr
repeats, to diavist, M. de Bury’s explunation of his defeat— The
reverse attributed to the disobedicuce of his otlicers—The silors
also blamed--Diurist speaks of the eftect which the presence of
M. Paradis would have had——And tells an anecdote, in illustration
of this-—Further couversation—-The matters in charge of which
Governor places diarist—Sfiriya Pillai brought before him—His
insubordinate conduct—The canse of this—Excuse offered by him
—Diasrist refuses to accept it —dAnd has words with Ténappa
Mudali touching the man--TUnder orders from M. Dulaureas,
Kommana Mudali visits diarist—And takes him totask for inter-
fering at Azlnsapikkain—Diatist replies that what he did was nnder
orders of the Governor—He asks why Staiya Pillai, alone, dis-
obeyed—Denies vther allegations wade ageinst him—and chal-
lenges inquity— Reply of Kommana Mudali--Governor decides to
burn all the Nawal’s villages—Diarist’s sugeestion for protecting
ceriain othe18—This upproved—=Tickets, with the Governo’s seal,
ordered — and sent, with a letter, to the Kildedar of Vazhudavlr—
Diusrist wentions others to be similarly triared——And speaks
specially in favour of some—(Governor twits him with having said
the like of a now hostile Redd.—Couversation us to this man's
conduct-- Governor reruses him a ticker, and diarst retires—
Governor sends for him again--And orders gifts tor two Jemadars
— Additions made to these—At the invitation of the Governor,
diaist goes to Ariydnkuppam—The troops there, diawn up, in
review order—Madame Dupleix present—3Speech made by the
Governor when presenting the gifts—Rs, 3,000 distributed amonest
the troops—Governor converses with the officer communding the
sailors-- And then chats with dlarist—XNews, of varicus kinds, from
the camp of M. AH Whin — Diarist tolls all this to the Gevernor
—Who asks regarding the XNizdm, and Nawdb—Report thut
Anwar INhan has deived M. 'Ali Khin to ceage hostilitics—Othe
news —Alleged effect of the mere mention of the French, in M. > Al
Khéin's camp— Movements of M.’Als Khén, and Anwar Whin—
Diarist tells the Governor the route which they must follow, to
reach Pondichery-—Governor questions tim concerning Cuddalore—
His reply—Conversation touching his knowledge ot the place—
Goverpor ditects inguiry to be made—Asks for a planof acert.in
road-—Diniist sketches two different routes—Conversation whiech
ensues — Contents of a letrer to M. 'All Khdn, which awuirs
desparch— Governor bands the lctter, and a presenr, to the mes~enger
—And it beirg Christmas day, zoes to chuich—On his retuin, he
sends for diarist—Conversation as to the lack of rrain for Pondi-
chery—Governor makes a suggestion—Diarist demurs to it—
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VAGE
Mentions what M. Leroh did on a like occasion—And says that
gaving the starving poor will add ro the Governor’s credit—Con-
versation as to the spectal price at which to sell puddy —Governor
fixes this, and orders that any loss shall be debited to him—Ile tells
diarist why he intends to attack M. All Kbiu—Diarss makes o
tluttering speech—Governor departs for Aviydnkuppam .., 178—208

(HAPTER XXXVIIL
FROM DECEMBER 26T, 1715, TO JANUARY 7TII, 1747,

News of the whereabouts of Mahfuz Khan and Anwar Khin—
And that the former intends attacking Pondichery—2JMessage, from
Miydn Sahib, to diarist—Inquites Governor’s views on the war—
And promises to act as he wishes—Diarist veports this ab Ariyan-
koppam, to the Governor—Who asks the uvews fiom Arcot—
And then nids him retiurnto Pondichery—Conversition between
them—Governor, returmng in the evening, asks the newe—Disrist
informs him of the contents of a letrer from Port Novo— And repeats
a series of wild tales told in it—He states to the Governor wheve
Mahfaz Khin is - Further conversation—Harist mmfoinmed thar one
of his spies wai*s ut the city gate—'The Governor orders admission
of two spies—'I'Ley srate that Mahfuz Whan has arrived at iruppa-
puliyfir—Govern v directs them to go there, and report whut occurs
—~He inquires regarding certain messenyers—Diarist explaing the
route by which Mahfur Khan will join M.’Ali Khdu—Conversation
on this suhject-—tiovernor asks diarvist’s views us to attucking
Cuildalore —Dia1ist advise« captare, and adsvance ou Fuat &t, David
——Governor approves, and sends for M, Paradis—Diarist points
out a jossible danger iu the schieme jpropesed—And mukes a
suggestion —Governor acquiesces— M. Paradis arrives, and com-
mends aiarist’s views—Conversution as to prejarations—Diarist
remarks that an attuck as soon as Muadias fell would have succeeded
-—And points our the need for cupturing Firt Nt, David— Governor
¢oincides, and asks M. Puradis—Who agrees--News of the junction
of Mabfuz IKbin, with M.2\Lh Iladu—And partsculurs of che
combined forces—-Neport of a false wlaom in the Mubhammadan
catop— A foree, in bouts, to atrack Cuddalore—Diarist sends letters,
ete., to Arcot—Anwar KWLun wrires that he will come, if Madras
is smirendered to lum,--Letter from  Killedar of Porto Novo—
Diarist reiorts countenr= of thisto the Governvr— A reply sent—
Governn questivns dimist reguiding Cuddalore —Men acquainted
with that place, ete., sent with M, de lu Tonr- Governor orders a
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reply to Anwar Khidn—He regrets inability to meer his reqnest—
But promises writing to the King, on the subjeet —Gorternor explains
matters to the messenger—Diurist forwairds a clock to Anw.r Khin
—Expedition again~t Cuddalore sets our—Jar of filth thrown into a
temple, from enclosure of church of St. Paul—Cowyplaint made tv
Governor, through diarist—Certain persons deputed to hold inqguiry
—Interference of Mme, Dupleix—Speculaticus of dinrist as to the
result of this—Impertincuce of onc Varlim—-Commitree decides
that the jar was thrown from the chimrch--Tt iz sncyested to consul
the priests—The scunivr of these told of the conclusion arrnved ot--
The committee notices damage done to the temple wall—The priest
imputes this to the temple authorities, theiuselves—Reply of the
committee~ -The report made hy it—What the Governor suid, on
hearing this—Diarist wishes M. Barneval a happy new year—Ilis
reply-—Remairk thereon of diarist—D>I. Rarnevul refers to the out-
raze on the temple—Diarirt turrs the conversation—Is summoned
by the Governor—Who tells him that exp ditien to Cuddalere
has returned—He replies that he had jnst heard of this - Conver-
sation regarding the spy sent to Cnddalove--Dhari-t wishes the
Governor a happy new year—And makes a flattering speech—-To
which the Governor replies-~[idarist conuimues his farreries—
Intentions of tae Gouvernor as regards the priests— Rewavxs of diarist
on hearing them—What the Goverror says tonching the prie-ts
—Diarist end he visit the church—Priests behare coldly to the for-
mer—The reason for this—Diarist’s comments—Gaovernor pavs
New Year’s visits—Diarist repores the return of the syy—Goverror
directs that he be Lrought, m the eveniny—-He asks the news from
Cuddalore—-Diarist reports its defenceless conditim~—And +thar the
capture of it would he easv—Remarks of the Governor——e directs
that further information be obtained——And then asks the news of
the Muhammadans— The veply mude by diarvist-—News that troops
are being collected to artacic Pondichery——Diarstincites Periva iy 4
to harry the Muhammadans—1He sends « letter vgrecing ro do so—
Diarist goes to ask the Governor tosec the bearecrs of this—A trooper
from Anwar Ihin stated to be coming—-lzovernor direers diarist to
take him to his house, and report what he suys—-The man delivers
a message from Anwar Khin—He anda fellow servant depart—What
diarist writes to Aasd-ullah Sdhib—Ye arranges a visit f the rabd-
nattars to the Governor—IHe gives the Governornews of the enemy
— And dwells on the fears which fill them—-11e mentions, also, the
efforts of the English, to induce them to remain-~Cony ersation as to
the ttuth of these reparts——Diamist refers to the fumlure of the
Killedar of Porto Novo, to py a promised vizit—And expluins the
reason—What the Governor write to M.” Al Nhdn—The ala.
nattars visit the Governor—Result of their speaking of the outrage
on the temple—News that the Nadwab bas bidden his sons to cense
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hostilities, and return—>M ’All Khén said to have decided to comply
—Governor pleased—Celebration of the Efiphauy--Innovations
on the occasion—Presents sent ro the Newdb, and Gulidb Sipg—
Governor tells diarist that Fiench soldiers had entered the enemy’s
camp by mnizht—Conversation on the subject—-Mandji brings reply
from Anwar Nhan——"This states that it is not possible to ccnclude
peace. at once—And that Mandji will give fwrther detoils——The
statement made by this man--Diarist informs the Governor
what his messenger reported--And explains why the letter was
wiitten~~ Diarist then imparts to him news of varicus kinds—
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And reads a copy of an order issued by the Nizdwm. . 200—235

CHAPTER XXXIX.
FROM JANUARY STH, 1747, TO JANUARY 29ND, 1747.

Message from Periya Aiyd—Expresses his readiness to ottack
the Mehammadans— And arks assistance, and protecticn, for his
family —Ammunition sert—Governor consents to accede, secrctly,
to Periya Aiyd's request—A presert to the Poligar is suguested,
and given—Arrangements to tucilitate co-operation with Perrya
Alyd—Another man given a yresent, and instigated to make 1aids—
The orders issued, by JMr. Hinde, to certain merchants— 3mouns
finaily due by them tfoile Company— Difficulty with regard to
adjustment of it—Consequences of thi-—M. Dupleix asks dimrist
what the mctive of Mr. Hinde's acticn was—He suggests possible
expectution of the anival ot Fuglish men-of-war—and goes iuto
the question of these teing the fleet of Mr. Peyton--Or ships
from Enpgland—He deals with the possibility of this teing the case
—And next suggests the possibibity of sales of cloths to the Dutech—
Or of the Enclish desiring Fort St. David to be empty, if tuken—
Or of thewr wishing to borrow on their goods—Governor directs him
to azcertain which is the correct cause-—Remarks of diarist on receiv-
ing this order— Governor asks the news of the enemy—Diurist
replies that they are ina state of constant alarm—And further
menticns the loans. ete., made by Mr. Hinde—Governor say+ that
he is cnaware how affairs stand at Arcot—Diarist tells him what
Anwar-ud-din IKKhdn wrote to his sunms—Cenversation as to why
they tad not returned to Arcot—Governor speaks to diarist regard-
ing a Reddi whose arrest he had avertedi— He offers excuses—
Governor says that he is always reacy with jeasons—Liarist’s
furthier excuse—The Governor will not admit this—And directs
him to have the man captured—Diarist goes to see M. Desmaréts
—Who says that M. Dupleix has destr«yed the treaty ransoming
Madras—=Speaks of the possible result of a complaint by M, de la
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Bourdonnais—Gives reasons why the treaty may not be cancelled
—And expresses the beliet that the recall of JM, Dupleix is likely
—A litter, the property of the church of ¥t. Paul. used 10 cirvy
a wounded soldier—And left reara certain Louse—Par surfma
Fillai questioned by one Prakasan denies all knowledge of 16—
Prakédsan then reports to his priest—Who writes a complaiut to the
Governor—This stutes th.t the litter hag been Lefouled, cte.—Gover-
por sends for him and certsin officials—.And holds o persomal
inquiry —Parasmriman makes a statement—Governor dncets the
officials to make personal inquiry—1hey find that therc are no murks
of 111 usage—-The priest, Leing asked for yproot, says that the dur
bas dricd— Comments ot the oificials, on his assertion—They make
their report—Gaoverncr churges the piest with  falsehood—
And 1ecters him to tne tCouncil—Tue priest desires to diop
the complaint—Governor refuses to allow this—What T, Mudali is
alleged to have told the pniests, regarding diari~c—They repeat it to
otlier Emopeans, who question him—Diarist 1epadiutes it,as ntterly
false—). Lenoir reports a rumour of the capture of M. Faradis, and
siege of Pondichery—DBearer of the letter says that Englishshipsaze
anchored off Pulicut—Governor couthms this—"7The con } luint made
by M. Boutewille—The ovders thereon—News of the failure o1 an
expeditien, to utrack the Mukhamnmiudan camp—The cuuse of this —
Mys. Morse requests the return of certan novey—Repayment
ordered—3hips sighted—Governor and diarist comverse as to the
place from which they come —Diarist concnrs with cerruinrems nks
of the Governor-—Durth ships auchor in the rvoads—The com-
manding officer reports that M. [ ordelin arrived, at Acteci—and
had sailed in pnrsuic of some English sliys—tG vernor dircets
diarist to make this publie—The sguadron of M. Dordelin reaches
Madras— Goverpor sends for diarist, and tel's Lim this—Thes sgree
that it will he a great blow to the enemy—Goveinor gives diamsr
oranges, to be sent to the Muhammadun camp— He de~patches part
there—And the remainder to Arcot—Amaldar of Porto Novo sends
letters to the Governor, and diarist—Governor directs that he be
invited to come-—Diarist hears that valuable English property is
on board a Danish ship—He reports this 1o the Goveinor—Who
refuses to take action—And tells him what the French squadron
did off Pulicat—S8ubsequent cunversation—Arival of one of M. de
la Bourdonnais’ squadron—Another sloop following —"This captuored,
as being English, but found to bhe Dutch—3awmalddr of Purto Novo
writes that h3is coming—Arrives at the choultry und intorms
diarist—The arrangeunients for receiving him—Ee remains, for the
night, as the choultry—XNext morning, diarist brings lLiminto
the town— ‘nd reports this to the Governor—Who instrtets him
to ascertain the amaldér's views—Governor sends for dianist, and
converses with him-—He brings the amulddr, to visit the Governor—
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And they havea long conversation—XNews of the release of the
French prisoncrs—They arrive at Pondichery—History of another
European, who accompanies them-—3M. Tavakkal and V. Subbaiyan
come with them—TFurmer of these exchanges courtesies with the
Governor—Who defers discussing busines<—>3, Tavakkal presents
a lotrer from the Nawé&b —Porport of this—Governor bids diarist
ascertain the Wawib's views—This he adroitly does—Governor
sends bim to offer a hibe to M. Tuavakkal—Rs., 20,000 are
demanded—JM. Tavukkal details the state of affairs—And promises,
a satistutory settlement, if hie demund 38 accepted--lhiarist
evades a dehnite reply—M. Tavakkal objects—-Diarist contrives
to get away, and veports to the (overnor— Crunversation as to
the offer to be made—Governor decides the amount—Diarist
tenders this to M. Tavakkal—Who accepts it with delight—He
states what he will wiite to Husamm Tihir, and Sampiti Rao—
Diarist wices him to do this, at ounce—IFurther conversation
between them—Afrer some polite remarks. diarist departs—And
reports to the Governot—Who decides to send away the amaldir
—Aund divects diatist vo arrance for presents to be given to him,
and M. "All Khan—List of presents to be sent to M, ’All Khin—
Angd of those to be given to the amalddr—Governor asks diarist
whether ceirtain preposals may be muade to M. Al Khian—Eexcplies
in the affirmative, and offers a suggestion —Governor approves
and summors M. Delarche—He says that he is mnable to write
Persian—Governnr directs that the letter be written confiden-
tially ~ This done—Guvernor sends for Shaikh Ahmnad, and rells him
why he did so —Then hands him the letrer, ete.. for M. "AH Khén,
with in~truction~—He receives rhe letteranl presents—The divec-
tions given to Véldyuda Pillai, by the GGovernor —Diarist invites him
to his house—And entertains Lim with masic, ete. ... .. 236—2€8

CHAPTER XIL.
FROM JUANUARY 23RD, 1747, T0O FEBRUARY STH, 1747,

Diwist asks for honours to o departing amalddr—Governor
orders accoraingly—Diarist accompanies the amaldir beyond the
towa—And takes leave of him—Governor asks disrist the news
from Foit St. David—-He says that the Governor there had tidings
of ships—And caused these to be repeated at the Muhaminadan
camps —Governor ashs the news of the Muhammadans, and diarist
gives this-—The Council meets —The cargoes of two homeward
bound ships ordered to be landed - And they to join M. Dordelin’s
squadron, in attacking the Fnglish on the West Coast—Why the
Governor decided not to send these two ships home—He asks



TABLE OF CONTENTS.

diarist the news of the amaldir of Porto Novo—The recall ot the
force at Ariyidnkappam discassed—’Alf Akbar and others, dehver,
to M. Dopleix, a letter from Chandd Sahib ~Who, so they tell him,
has heard that the Nizdm proposes to appoint him Nawdb of Arcot,
—And therefore desires a draft, for the money promised to him, by
the Governor—The news cunveyed to dimist, in a letter from
A. Guldb Sing—He reports tlus to the Governor— A sloop arrives
from Chandernagore~—And brings tidings of projected saiiing~ of
Yrench and Englisk ships—Conditions of the Nawdb for the
recall of Mabfuz Kban anl M. ’AY Ehian—M. Tavakkal tells
diarist, who inforas the Governor—3I, Tavakkal bidden to cowme
next day— He then repeuts to the Governor what l:e had told diarist
—8rates the conditlons under which Vlahfuz Khin and M. *Ali
Khén will depart—And begs permission to hoist the Emperor’s
flag at Fort St. George —Governor asks him when the Mubhammadans
will depart—Conversation between them-—Intimation which M,
Tavakkal is desited to convey to the Nawib—Gouvernor gives
diarist the points of a letter to be written to the Governor of
Mocha—Discussion as to the withdrawal of troops at Arviydnkuppam
—Uovernor asks diurist if certain letters are realy—1lis reply—
Arrangements for conveying the letters—Governor inquires the
news from the camp, and diarist informs him—What he thereupoun
said—The views on the subject expressed by diarist—Orders
regurding a visit by the sons of Chandd $alub, etc, to the
squadron—D>3I. Tavakkal invited to join them, but declines—The
strikingly effective salute tired—Sorrow of \&sudéva Aiyan at
having to sell betel and tobacco, at certain prices—He makes
misrepresentations tu the Governor—And thus obtaius permission
to sell at bigher rutes--Requests diarist to have these otficially
proclaimed—Diarist reproaches him—Andsaysthat he will inform
the Guvernor—Diarist reports to the Governor, who directs
publication to be made—And promises to consider matters,
hereafter—Return of part of the troops at Ariydnkuppam—This
arranged at the reguest of the Nawab— Mr. Monson and others
embark for Karkdl—)M. Tavakkal brings the Governor a letter
from Husain 3ahib—M, Delarche interprets— Questions asked of
the Governor, by M. Tavakkal—Hisreply—Subsequent conversation
—Liability to give presents to the Nawib, ete., denied by the Gover-
nor—Further conversation—Governor finally consents to make

large gifts— Diarist, Tavakkal, and M. Delarche, retire, to discuss
matters—M. Tavakkal objects to the amount propused—And
asks leave to depart, taking the released Europeans—Report
made to M. Dupleix, by M. Delarche--Diarist and he, wait on the
Governor, who asks the opinion of the former-—The advice which
he, thereupon, gives—>ML, Tavukkul instructed to write a letter to
Husain Sahib—This to state the terms offered by the Governor—
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Convey a message, from M, Dupleix, to the Nawdb—Request recall
if the terms are not approved—And attribute the proposals made,
to the friendship of the Governor—Diarist sends certain letters tc
France —Governor asks the news of the enemy--Diarist tells him
what he has heard—-Mentions a report that Nésir Jangis marching
against the Mahrattas—.And a rumour that Pondichery will be
attacked by M. Ali Khin—The conversation that ensues—The
views expressed by diarist—The reply of the Governor—2Jr. Morse
leaves for Europe —The humble character of his departure—The
Deputy Goyernor, alone, present— His family and property, to follaw
in a sloop— M. Malld Reddi requests that V. Ndyakkan may be for-
bidden to raid —Diarist’s reply—D>M. Reddi thereapon complains to
Governor, etec.—And sends the letters through T. Mudali—Diarist
makes a report,to the Governor—Bearer of the letters imprisoned
—Messengers bring letter and presents from Msir Jang—Aud halt
at diarist's garden-house—He reports this to the Governor—Who
directs that they shall be well cared for—The procession to receive
the letter sand presents—The Governor sets out in state— And is
followed by the Deputy Governor and others—He alightsat a
tent outside the town—The rest of the party goes to bring the
messengers—Salute fired when the Governor receives the presents
—He theu enters a carriage, and the procession returns—The
route followed when doing this—Messengers formally received at
the Governor’s house—~M. Dulaurens asks diaiist to acquaint
him with all that is going on—Diarist, knowing him to be a babbler,
considers what to do—And decides to tell him nothing—Why Nésir
Jang sent presents—Remarks on the procession—Jayardw Pandit
brings letters, fiom Ragh6ji Bhiénsla—He delivers ove to the
Governor, with an offering—Contents of a letter, from Husain
Séhib, to M. Tavakkal—Five ships which lay in the rouds, sail—
These all equipped as men-of-war—Objects of the expedition—
6,000 Angrias to be embarked—A sloop sails for Mascareigne
soon afterwards. o ... 269—298
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CHAPTER XLI.

FROM FEBRUARY 9TH, 1747, TO FEBRUARY 15TH, 1717.
PAGL

The request made by Husain S4hib—Governor promises to send
the orders sought—Diarist lays before him a petition from the
English soldiers—He promises to consider it—Conversation regard-
ing a certain Jemadar—Governor directs diarist to employ good
spies —-News from Mahé of the doings of 6,000 Angrias—Letrer
from Mahfuz IKKhén—Arrival ¢f a Dutch sloop with grain—Price
which this realised—Governor’s message to M, Tavakkal—This
points out that the Muhammardans have not carried out their agree-
ment—And repudiates responsibility for the consequences—
M. Tavakkal assures diarist that the necessary orders have been
issued —He subsequently repeats this to the Governir—Exelama-
tion of the latter, on hearing it—Reply of M. Tavakkal—Certain
letters, seized by the partisans of the English —These said to have
been handed to Mahfuz Xhdn—Who caused the airest of the writers
—One of these severely injured by his captors— Alleged contents
of the letters—Some of Mahfuz IXhan’s troops advauce on Arivan-
kuppam—But are beaten off —Autd occupy a tewple at Tirukkinji
—Whither it is stated that the camp of Muhammadans was to move
—Diarist reports this to the Governor—Soldiers sent to Uzhukarai,
and Arivdnkuppam—DI. 1avakkal deputed to ask N. Quli Kién
his intentions—Governor invites him to see the carnival before
leaving—Diarist and he accordingly sttend — He receives a pasz
enabling him to depart, and return-—He doubts the expediency of
starting—Diarist advises him to go—The orders conveyed to him in
a lester, from Husain S4hib—Diarist informs the Governor—Ariest
of certain accountants reported to diarist—News of the rcinforce-
ment of the enemy—And of the sacking of three villages—Coastant
reports of like outrages—DM. Tavakkal reaches the cawp ac
Tirakkdnji—And effects the recall of the raiders—M, 'All Khin
arrives, and inquires concerning the negotiatious at Pondicherv—
M. Tavakkal replies— And mentious the demands of I, Téhir Khan
—He then states why he has heen sent by the French —M. Al
Khén takes him to Mahfuz Ithdn—Who asks if ke has concluded
the treary—And baving heard M. Tavakkal, says that the French
must no longer procrastinate—DM. Tavakkal then gives bim the
message from them—He asks whether they will surrender Medras
—The reply made by M. Tavakkal—Mualifur Khén tukes exception
to the capture of Madri~—D>M. Tavakkal explains —And specifies the
reasous given by the Frenck, for their action—D>I. Kl dn refers to the
attuck on him at Mylapore, and M. Tavalkal accounts for it—Ie
still further objects--M. Tavakkal states what the French assert
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—M. Khin reverts to the question of Loisting the tlag on Fort St.
George—M. Tavakkal replies—IHe repeats the message, from the
French—M. KLaw says that ke will withdvaw—M. Tavakkal reports
this to diarist—Governor decides to invite Malfuz Khan to
Pondichery—M. Tuvabkal mukes a soggestion—Governor having
approved, arrangewments are mude—Arrival of a Portugunese ship
that had previous'y carried French mails, ere.—A force starts to
captore certuin maranders—Thaee taken, and sent te Pondichery—
The ponishment to which the Governor senrences them— M Tavak-
kal sets out on Lis mission to M. Whan wud M.’All KLin—Contents
ot the letters which he tables to them—Dimist usks M, Tavak-
kal to explain the Lurming of Azhisapdkkam--He promises to
take steps to stop further outrages—Is absent when the 1eply
arrives—And diarist opens it—It puis the blume on the Pindarees
and Kdbds— Auother letter, opened and read by diarist, cor tains
nothing—Contents of Lot communicated to M. Paradis—What
he therenpon said- -Governor asks dinrvist if M. Tavikkal reached
the camp-—-And bids Lim let him know when news is received— A
certain agrecment, bearing the Governor’s scul, 1s retmrned in a
letter to diarist-—Hoveinor teferied, by M, ’All K14n, to this letter
—~He questions diwist—IIis reply—Letters  to Governor from
M, Kbén and 30 A Khan—DM. Tavakkal returns—¥e 1epote that
M. Khén and his brother agree to visit Pondichery—And details the
reception they expeet ~——Governor objocts wo leaving the foit, in
order to meet them— But expresses hiz readiness to go to a certain
point—And underwwkes to send ot the Deputy Governor, cte.——
This intimated to M. JLin und M. "All KLin—Who approve, and
direct M. Tavakk.l ro invite diavist to come with him—They, and
M. Delarche accordingly set ocut—Dinrist presents mchurs, on
. appearing before M. KEdn—Who receives him warmly—DBestows
on him a dress of honoar, and lis own dogeer--And custine his
shawl en him, makes a polite epecch--M  Deluclie, also, given a
diess of hononr--M. Iban postjones stmting vntil next worning——
Dimist’s paity retwrns—Govanor admires the dagger mucﬁ—
Discusses with diarist why it was givin—Governor sclects the
Council-house. to accommodate M, Klidn— 1t is shown to M. Tavak-
kal, who approves—Diarst reperts this ro Governor— The deputa-
tion which went to meet M. Kbdn—This joins him ar TiruhkAngi—-
Deputy Governor, ete, receive L, near a certain ¢houliry—1he
nsual ceremonies having been ohiserved. the party proceeds—-Tt
enters a tent pitehed ontside the moat—>M. Dupleix then sets sut,
in stute, f1om o tent within the wout—-Detnilz of the procession-—
Meeting of the Guvernor and the Nawdb— The tormal invitation to
enter Pendichery--The state proces<iom to the Governor's house—
Where M. Khidn alights—And is conducted, by the Governor, to
the Council-house—Uinner is prepared—The Governor entertains
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M. Khan—How he gpent his time, uuntil evening—Governor, and
he, settie the terms of the proposed convention—'ie then cives
presents t» the Govarnor, and Lis family—Supper 1s served at gun-
fire—After it, the party attend< a da-ce. ., v 202326

CHAPTER XLIL
FROM FEBRUARY 2071, 1717, TO FEBLUARY 23RD, 717

fioverLor shows Mahfuz Khdn his house, ete.—Resewater, botel
and nut, are presented—And M. Khidn then departs in state,
accompanied by the Governor—Details of the processicn—CGovernor
takes leave of M. Whéap out-ide the town cate —Diarist bids him
farewell, at the tent beyond the moat—-And derams M. Tavakkal, to
give him presents—The gifts made tu Mahfuz Khan — The
presents given tu Nwzim ’‘All Ilhan—The visitors depurt—Letter
to M. KLén, from his brother—He sends it t) the Governor—-Is
reproaches M. Khia for Lis visit to Pondichery—And intimates
receipt of ord>rs for immediate veturn—Governor 1eturns iv, with
vne from himself—Rewains of the state dinner seut to N, Qul
Khin—Deputation sets out, to invite M. *All Khin tuo Pundichery
—He replies that he doubrs if his bealth will permir an accoptance
—The messengers mention rumours 43 to the return to .\reot
—Presents from M. ’All Khin {or the Governoe, ere.—Thexe left
in a garden vutside the town—0rders of the Gov ruor regarding
thems—M. Delarche and M. Tavakkal come to Pondichery— the
former reports to the (overnor the excuse of M., ’AH ILdn—
Delivers his messave relative to the ndieement made with Mahfnz
Khin—And convess a request for recozawion of M. Tavakkal's
services—The Governor addresses M. Tivakkal by a title . Iready
conferred on him—He also orders, for him, a pahr of bingles—
Procedme to be followed when bringing the presentsinto the town —
M. Dupleix converses wit M, Tavakkal regarding Malifus N!iu's
visit—Anger and threats of the Governor—Peremptory order
given by him to M. Tavakkal—DM. Delarche begs to be excused trans-
lating it— He, howevey, finally does so, 1 a modified form— Governor
mollified by the submissiveness of M. Tavakkal —Who comes, 1 uch
alarmed, to diarist—DBy whowm he is reassured—Diarist asks him what
1, S&hib wrote— His reply-—Diarist tells him that Le already snew—
Explains how this came about—And states why the Governor had
asked to see H. Sahib’s letter— Diarist, acain encourages him—Pro-
cession sent to bring the presents from M. "Al  Khin—Details of
those accompunying it—Presents placed in the Govervor’s palanyuin
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Reception at the town gate, and the Governor’s house--Descrip-
tion of the gifts—The |Governor idistributes them—He puts on
the turban of bhis dress of honour, and the Europeans present
salute him—Bearer of the presents suitably cared tor—Why the
Governor put on the turban—The gzifts made to the messenger
—The presents sent to 3 *AR Khdn—The gifts for Nawab Anwar-
ud-din Khan—During diarist’s absence two persons seek an inter-
view with the Governor—Before whom they present thems lves
—-And prefer a complaint acainst diarist—Governor bids them wait
until he returns—They, unsuccessfully, attempt to force a hearing
-—When diarist returns, the two men visit hum, and make a request
-—He promises to s e to it— M. Tavakkal tells diarist that Le is
much perturbed by his instructions—Reminds him of what pre-
viously occurred—Accuses hin of bieaking faith—And being the
cau;evof his dishonour—Diarist reassires him— And promises a
sati-factory settlement—M. Tavakkal guestions this—Diarist ex-
plains the groonds for his statement—They perconally stite matters
to the Governor—Who questions any  Hahility— Diavist induces
Lim to increase the value of the presents— Governor directs
M, Tavakkal, to see M. NLdn regarding the gifts for the Nawib—
He, also, gives him a messace to M. Khdn—M. Tavakkal departs
with the presents for M. Nhin and his brother— M. "AM Khén sends
presents to diarist—Who las thew takin to the Governor— By
whom they are handed to him, with congratulutions--Madaninda
Pandit tells diarist ot an interview with Mwe Dupleix—In the
course of which she spoke very ill of diarist—Suid that he had
hoodwinked both the Muhammadan envoy, and Gouvernor— And
expressed her intention of expising him—Ie tells diarist what he
suid, in view to defend him—3gtates that Mue, Dupleix adhered tn
what she had alleged—And bade him say nothing to diarist, or
C. Mulali—DNinrist prowises to maint.in <eercey—Asserts his
complete hone sty-—And says that Madame is welcome to carry out
her threat—Madandnda Pandit points ont that she can do nothing
—Diarist’s reply—He reecords how MIue, Dupleix Lad pressed him
for certain information—How, although realising the risks, Le
reszolved not to give it—IIow he effected this—And how he never im-
parted to her any real secret—He refers to other matters which
excited her eupidity—And induced her to intrigue to harm him,
with the Governor——lie cites a recent instance of her vindictive-
ness—RExprusses the idea that Madandnda Pandit may be inciting
her against him—And asseverates his absolute honesty—Two men
ask the Governor for broad cloth—One of them excites his wrath
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CHAPTER XLIII.

FROM FERRUARY 24TH, 1747, TO FEBRUARY 267TH. 1747,
PAGE

M. ThAn writes regarding a missing gift—>M. Tavakkal reports
that the brothers were not satisfied with their presents—Buat, on
his remonstrating, agreed not to ask for more—He states that they
are returning to Arcot—Governor uvreatly pleased—M.’ All Khén
wiites. nccepting the presents—In hisveply, Governor urges him
to visi4 Pondichery—-Rejoicings ot Madras, in honour of the treaty
with the Nawib, ordered—M. Tavakkil reports that the Mukam-
madans are withdrawing—Governor delighted, and crders prescnts
to the messengers—He direcrs diarist to wiite to the Puoligar of
Véttavalam, for 500 men—What Rangappa Niyakkan said to
M. Khén and M.’ 1i Khidn—Their replv—They piomise to ask the
French not to molest Fort St. David—Diarist conjectures an attack
on Fore 8t. David—He arranges for the despatch of certain letters
from the (Governor—These give a false account of what occurred
between the French and the s ns of the Nawib—Ana adwvise the
delivery of certain cluth and cash—D>M. Tavakkal, and V. 3ubbaiyan,
return—Report the retirement of the Muhammadans—And bring
certain  dresses of hononr—-Diarist takes M. Tavakkal to the
Governor—Who is much pleased, and direets that bargles and a robe
be made for him—He also appomts the next Monday to be a
festivul—Details of the arrangements ordered—Whar the Governor
told diarist, before M. tavakkalicturned—Conversation regarding
M. Tavakkal’s visiting M Delarclie before the Governor—Liaist’s
remarks as to intrigues which have been going on—Governor's reply
—Diarist learns that Madame Dupleix has made certain iuquiries—
And hearing that the Muhammadans had not gone, uccuses him to
the Governor of dvuble-deahing—Diazist sets the conversation with
him, previously noted, down to this cause—-Banuer of the Newébh
brought to Pondichery, in view to its being hoisted at Fort St.
George—The bearcrs ordered to halt onrside the town—Governor
hands diarist a medal for M. Tava kal—And direets the issuc of
invitations to witness the presentation of it—Diurist gives orders
as to decorating the town, etc,-—He records reflections with regard
to himself—Reters to the defeat of M, Lbin—Indulges in much
self commerdativn regarding the negotiations arising from this
—And claims for himself an unrivalled reputation—Iie then quotes
what he fancies others say of him—What he 1magines the Nizdm
did on receiving the rveports concerning him—What, the putlic
exclaimed, on reading the accounts of him, circnlated by order of
the Nizdm—And thew opinion as to how hisreputation has arisen
—The contest between the English and French 1n Indw then 1etold
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as follows—The military strength of Madras—The arrival of a fleet.
of Enslish men-of-war—The cipture, by it, of Freuch ships--The
refosal to restore thiem —Preparations by the English for war—
What the French thereupon thought—Their views as to Anauda
Ranga Pillai—They move the Nawéh, and Nizdm, w0 interfere—
But meet with refusal—A, Ranga Pillai and the Governor consulr,
and decile to prepare for war—The French surprise and capture
Madras—The Tungli-h induce the Nawab to aid them—>Mahfuz KLin
besieges Valvas—The French send away their spuil, and destroy
the English tleet—They attack and defear Mahfuz IKban, at
Mylopore—.\nd after seizing much booty. pillage his camp—2>Mahiuz
Khin vows to take Pondichery—Hs father attempts to dissuade him
—But does so in vain—The preparations made for the expedition
—Tae troups comyosing 1t-—The Enghsh auxibiary force at Fort St.
David—Muhamuadans urterly routed by the French—What M Khén
snbsequently xaid to the Enelish—The reply which they maude—A
second advanee cn Pondichery by Mahfuz Kharund his brother —
The action raken hy A, Ranga Pillud, to thwart themm—What M. KXhin
said on hearirg of this—Hesends M. Tuvekkal to open negotiarions
with A. Ranga Pillai—The reply which he received—M. Tavakkal
reports this to his mwaster—-And retarns to Pondichery, with an
invitation to Rinza Pillai—Who asks permission of the Governor to
accept it—=Grant of this denwurred to—Ranga Pillai persists in his
request—Which 13 then complied with—Wh.t M. Khén said, on
hearipg that he was coming——The interview between them—2>I,
LKlin makes ¢ifts to Ranga Pillai, and accompanies him ty Pondi-
chery—The effect of this on ecither pirty—Ranga Pillai biings
about yeace, and sen!s M. KLAn away with many presents—Diarist
writes that such was the public talk regarding him—His belief as to
the extension of his reputation-- He attributes it all to the grace
ct God—What, aceording to diarist, M. Khin said in commendation
of him— The imaginary reply made by M. Dupleix—Concluding
remarks of diarist—Report that M. Tavakkal rveceive:ll a Iletter
from the Nawidb—Alleged coutents of this—What the Nawab is
reported to hive wvitten to his suons—Statement regarding the
Muhammadan forces, made by 2 cowier. ... . ... 355~--383

CHAPTER XLIV.
FROM FEBRUARY £7TH, 1747, TC MAKCH 9TH, 1747,

A large number of natives assemble at diarist’s store-Louse—
He informs the Governor that they desire to pay their respects—
and then brings thewu to him—They present moliurs, and make
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their obeisance —He invites them to be present at a mass in the
church— A state banquet given to all the Europeans—Governor
presents bangles, ete,, to M. Tavakkal—And attends mass ar the
fort—Formalities ohserved on the occasion—Display of firc-works,
illuminations, etc,—Decoratinns most etfective—Gouvernor gives a
supper to the Europeans— After it, there is duncing and music—
Names of Muhawmadaus who were present—The sums given to
the Governor by those who paid their respects to hiw-—2Miyén
Sahib visits him, and receives presents—Governor reads to
diarist a lerter from Madras—This reports the ariival there of
an English ship—Derail- of the deceit practised on her captain—-
The stratagem by whick she was captuved—Ard the value of a
portion of her carco—What the Governor then said to diarist--
His reply—Conversation between them - -Miydn Sdhib  visits
diarist —List of presents sent to Husuin Sdhib—Those forwarded
to Sampdti lao—Gfts for Anwar Whin and others—Two servants
of Imaw Sahib, abour to leave for Arcot, gn ‘o bid the Governor
farewell —Arrangements with revard ro certain money due to
them-—Governor makes them presents—They rhen take leave—
What the Governor said to Avdy Sidbib, before he departed—
Governor writes to M. d’Espréménil that messengcrs will arnive, at
Madras—These to be treated with all honour—Instiuctions as to a
flag which they will bring—These orders communicated to Muttaiya
Pillai—M. Tavakkal tukes leave of the Governor—JArrange-
ments regarding a certain pavment to him—Promise made to him
by the Governor—Salary of V, Subbhaiyan increascd—Governor
directs that he shall keep a palanquin—His remonstrance — Diarist
promises to mention  this favourablv—'Abd-ul-whdh, and 3.
Lawllette’s son, refer a dispute to diavist—The cuuse and parti-
culars of this—Diarist, and two others, hear the parties—Decision
passed, and a deed executed—DM. Tavakkal and others, start for
Arcot— A missionary who is sight-seeing, goes with them—
Diarist makes gitts to Avdy pihib, and others—They then
depart— What AMir Asad wrorte to the Governnr—He sends word,
asking for four cannon— Diarist reports to the Gouvernor a complaint
made by Mir Asad—The reply which was sent to hira—-3I. Tavakkal
begs the Governor to allow V. Nédyakcan to veturn from exile—
Governor cowplies, but excludes V, Ndyakkan’s son—3When on his
way to Arcot M. Tuvakkal writes to the (Governor regarding his
promise—Notice consequently sent to V. Navakkan—Who accord-
ingly returns—1'wo «hips ~ighted, and armed soldrers ave <ent off
to them—=Six French soldiers, said to be goiny to Fort St. David
from Arcot—Arrangements made to capture them—Letter to
diarist, from Madras reports the capture of an English ship—
Mentions the teizible condition ot the crew—The value of the
treasure found on board—And the rejoicings at the capture—A
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craft, laden with rice, taken—A letter, from Madras, mentions the
jssue of a certain order—Reports the uuwillingness of the
merchants to go to Pondicliery— Refers to a distwibance ereated
by the Chettis—-Which wus, however, allayed—And stutes that new
taxes are being demanded —Another letter from Mudras— This ex-
plains an apparent neglect, to communicate with dinrst—3Mentions
pablication «f a notice from Pondichery — And alludes to a concili-
atory letter from M’Ad AR Kl &n--Paiticnlars of the norice—Diarist
wri;es, in the name of the Governor, to the R4j34 of Travancora—
A ship anives at Fort St David, with silver, ete.—Peuns capture the
English mail to Fort 8t. Dwvid—Tiey also scize one Nméndra
Chetti—He sa1d to be indebted to the priests of St. Paul. etc.—
(Grovernor directs that he be delivered to the priesta—=Sivandua keddi
ceeks the intercession of diarist with the Governor—Who had previ-
osusly Lidden diarist to attach him to the Freneh eause.of possible—
Oldéls of the Governor, on hearing the request of the Reddi—
Straragem by wlhich dianzt induced Sivandga KHeddi to scek
mediation—Details of the mes-age by which he alarmed him—The
Reddi desizes to expliin, in p-reon—Ar an interview, attewpts to
esense himself —Bur diatist confronts him with fucts which he has
to udmit - He mokes entne subwission—And suxs that if a certain
permit is grantcd, lie will work tor the Fiench—Diaiist tells the
Governor whnt has occurred—1IHe gives the permit sought—Arrival
of a Frencl ship from Chandernagore, with Company’s goods —The

news Liought by her--Goverwor ditects diirst to wmake certain
preparations— General opinivn that an attack on Fort St. [avit iy
contemplafed—Dmr\sc’s remurks on this subject—His Lopes as
to the success of the expedition —Asnive]l of cargoes of rice—
Messengers from MMalé report that no men-of-war are there—
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Celebration of the Sivardtii festival. .. 8384--411

CHAPTER XLV,
FROM MARCH 101H. 177, TO MARCH 4TI 1747

Pcligar of Alattfr sends 200 peons—M, Paradis appeinted to
commanc, an expedition against Fort St. David—The ocher othcers
disapprove—Their grounds for doing so— Governor argues with
the objectors--And, as they Liold out, nppoints M. de la Tonr, as
commander—Governor very augry, and M. Paradis much
depressed-—{'oveinor question~ diarist regarding coolies, etc.,
for the expedition—And gives him instructions as to the dispusal
of these —He asks about peons from Véttavalam —Diavist expluins
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~—Governor inguires regarding certain spies—Diavist makes his
report —And ardds that certain persons accompunied Mahfuz Khin
to Trichinopoly —Governor asks the reason for this—Diarist replies
—Chances of Mahtuz Khin helping the Buglish discussed—Diarist
expresses a nogative belief—Subsequent conversation— Diarist
ends with a tulsome speech—For which the Governor expresses his
thanks—Governor directs him to send guides, to M. de la Tour
—He does so—Diarist’s version of the news contained in the Fiench
Gazette, as related by the Governor—Who savs that Foat St. David
must he taken before he receives certuin orders—TLe reply made
by diarist-—MM. de la Tour and Paradis set out. to attack Fort
St. Diavid—A report, made by diarist to the Governor, leads tn a
temporary recall-Details of the feree composing the expedition—
Its movements—Governor reccives a letter from M. Delarche—
Which conveys an inguiry from Husain Sdkib—iand veports the
price asked for certan villages—Goveruor tells duntist what his
reply was—The expediion attacked. on crossing the boundary of
Fort St. David—English force repulsei—The Fiench advance to
Tchimddn —The English tzle, after cressing the Penndr-—They
thence re-ive to Manjakuppam-—And tiie on the Freueh, frow the
batteries there— The Joss sustained by the attickers—Practice
made by ths cuns on either side—Iianst crdered to procure, and
arm, forty prons— He does so. and places part with M. Dujuesne--
Capture of ulleged spiex—One of these flngged, in view to obruwm a
confessivn—Dut withonr result—The wen imprisoned—Diarist
recelves news of u doefeat of the English—And that rhe Coffres hail
escaluded a Dbattery~ Which the French then oceupied—IDrarist

awakes rhe Governor to communicate this —onversarion between
them —Governor directs alurist Lo procure transport for ammianition
—And personaily hasteus the preparation of shells, ete.—News of
a further defeat of the Enclish—And the evacuation of ull the
batteries—Incessant sounds of cannon heard at Pondichery—
Some English cannon balls brought in—TLetters from \rcot, tor the
Governor, and diarist—V. Subbaiyan reports delivery of the
presents for the Nawdh—aAnd thar Huosain $akbib had an interview
with M. Delarche— At which Le spoke of the destruetion of his
house at Madras —And refused to take ansther in its stead—States
further, the promise of the Nawdb toaching M. de Bury’s son—And
reports what M. Delarche said, when presents to corrain persons
were suggested— Another letter from Subbuiyan—This complains
that M. lavakkal is deferring a paywent—A third Jetter fiom
Subbaiyan—It « onveys uews of the murder, at Delhi, of Umdar-ul-
mulk—Of the orders of the Empercr regarding his property— Of
the trouble which this occasioned—.f the dizections then :ssued
by the Emperor—Of the burial of the deceased-—And of the sale of
his property, to a very lLigh value—The letter then refers to a
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settlement between K. Ni'amat-ullih Khin, and the Niz@m—And
the reward given to the Diwan, for effecting this--It also states
that Seringapatam has heen leased—That the NizAim will make a
tour to collect arrears-—ind that the Nawdb is, therefore, busy
making up accounts, and collecting arrears—V. Nayakkan tells
dinrist that the French occupied the garden at Manjakovppam—
And were about to attack Fort St. David—When the English fleet
appeared in the offing—That it was thereupon decided that the
force should return—That the supplies were then sent back to
Pondichery-—That the guns, anununition, ete., were destroyed, or
rendered useless—That this was also done at the Horsetail battery
—That a party of pursners was repolsed—And that the froops
finally reached Poudichery—Two FEndlish ships appear off the
anchorage—-Preparations made to resist t!em—They, however,
stand off agnin—Apparently sent to capture two French ships—
Diarist’s remarts as to the eiuse of the fiilure of the expedition—
The gond luck of two French ship-, on their way to Pondichery—
Remarks of diarist on this matter—The force sent by the Poligar
of Véttavalam—TIle promises more men—His contingent, and
another, parade before the Goveruor—Who gives diarist instrue-
tions regarding them—An English ship sighted—Diarist sends
spies to Fort St. David—Goveruvor bewails to diarist the failure
caused by the arrival Jf the English tleet—Diarist replics that the
captare of Fort St. David is merely deferred—And that he only
regrets the probable reumoval of the goods stored there—He
foretells the fall of the fort, at an early dare —The Governor twits
him with the failure of his predictions—Ife retorts that he often
advised an attack on Fort St Duvid —And, particularly, when
the fleet was available—Governor appurently wmolliicd—Diarist
tells the Governor tne prediction of an astrologer —-At which he
langh.d. . . e 412--441
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CHAPTER XXXI.

FROM OCTOBKR 19TH, 1716, TO OCTOBER 2T, 17}5,

Council replies to a letter from M. de la Bourdonnais—Letter from
Gurnvappa Chetti—8pecifies ships at Madras before the storm—
Thouse which returned—And those wrecked—Jentions plans of M,
de la Bourdonuais, conrerning those which remain—\s also, reporred
loss of life hy shipwrecks—Irt further intimates that certain dulashes
started for Pondichery—Tendcer made by Muri Dds—MM. Panon comes
to diarist-—Tells him what M. de la Bourdonneis wrote to the
Council—And what, therenpon, it was decided to do—Conversition
bLetween dinaist and M, Panon—Who offers to do unything that he
can for diarvist, at Madras—Council decides tu despatch a <hip to
Mascareigne—Certain othcials detuiled to proceed to Madras—They
start at once—Flect to sail for Goa. after M. Q’Espréméuil takes
charge—What M. Miran said to diavist, tonching the agreement to
ransom Madras—Grounds for the opmion expressed by him—IHe
states that M. Panon, alone, is not to gon to Madras—News regard-
ing the future movements of M. de la Bourdonnais-—And the probable
recall of Tiravéngadam—RBemarks of diarist with respeet to Lis
brother-— Whose defects he attributes to his |diarist's] evil star
—And regards as bearing out certain predictions of the astrolovers
—Ship sent to Madras, to take cargoes of those damaged—Tnteryres
tor to MM. de la Bourdonnais snd Villebague visits diarist—Te'ls him
what occurred with reference to certain goods—And says that he
will arrange everything connected with them—Diwist visits the
washermen’s quurter,and gives certain orders— K. Nainiyappa Mudali
details to him a conversation with M. Dubois relative to picce-goods
for M. de la Bourdonnais—And alzo suggests that diarist should sce
him—Conversation with Arundchala Chetti—23L Dulois tells diurist
that he has been appointed as agent of M. de la Vallebasue —And aives
orders as to delivery of cerrain eloths—Diarist's reply —Nairiyappa
Mudali and he finally promise certain cloths—M. Dubois agices—
Diarist's remarhs touching N, Mudali—Apparent natere of the work
done at a sitting of the Couneil - Stormy weuther  Ships in the voads
ordered to sen——8ynadron to winter at Achicen—3AL Dordeling to make
certain demands of the king of that place -—And to reqoire the value
of the Pavort of him—The ships prepare to start—"This information
furnished by M. Bussy— Further couversation bhetween them—'Al
Naql sends a present to diarist, and word that he will visit him—
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Diarist’s remarks on this man—To whom, on his arrival, he makes
presents—And gives his companion a small one—’Ali Nagi and others
beg him to procure a permit to leave the city—On his way to
ask for this, he meets a party of soldiers—Finds the Governor
out, but sees him later—On stating his errand 15 questioned by the
Governor—His reply—{Governor asks Lis opinion on a point connected
with the son ¢f Chand4 S4hib—Diarist refers to the debts of Chandd
Sahib—And to the expulsion from Pondichery of his creditors—And
says that these may cause trouble, at Avcot, to Chandd 2dhil’s son--
Governor desires him to explain this to Chunda Sahily’s wife— He
departs to do 80, and the son of Chandd $4kLib sct< out on his journey
—Diarist considers it unwise to go to the lady’s house, at night—
And concocts a false tale—Which he tells the Govercor—As also,
that the danghter of Ali Dést Khén desires to send him cifts—Letters
from Guravappa Chetti—DMention trade transactions of Messrs, Morse
and Monson—And observe on the universal removal of property
from Madras—Goods packed for MM, d’'Espréménil and de la Boar-
donnais—Further letter from Guoruvappa Cheti repeats previous
information— Remarks on Mr. Morse’s conduct—And refers to the
impending departure of M. de la Bourdonnais—Diarist records un-
settled weather—Akbar 84hib auxious that diarist should visit him-—
M. de la Gatinais and another wait on the Governor—M. Dupleix goes,
in his sleeping costume, to the beach-—The Bourbon, under a jury main
mast, heaves in sight—DMJI. Dubois and de Rostaing come to diarist’s
cloth godown—They ask some questions— Make notes, and give
certain orders—Nainiyappa Mudali hmries packing, and sends tickets
for each bale—Peons, with letters to Fort St. David, way laid —Give
a false account of themsclves, and are seized —(iovernoy questions
and releases them—But, after conversing with his wife, has them
rearrested—Shipment of provisions for the squadron— Governor
busied with this, and writing letters— Diarist causes delivery of certain
long cloth to M. Cornet--Who asks Rdmaiyan what it cost—T.
Arundchalam’s clerk offers cloths of better dye— Presses M, Cornet to
see these, but is nnsuccessful—This related to diarist by Lakshmanan
—Etiquette obligatory in commercial circles, under certain circum-
stances—Diarist comments on the conduct of the clerk-—And observes
that certain merchants are unaware that M. Dupleix knows of their
frauds—Letter from Gurauvappa Chetti— This gives account of execu-
tion of the documents referring to the ransow of Madras—And states
that M. d’'Espréméuil was not present—Diarist’s remarks—Sepoys
sent to capture a party of English soldiers. ’

Wednesday, 19th October 1746, or 61h Arppisi of

Akshaye.—'The events of to-day were as recorded
below :



SHIPS WHICH WERE AT MADRAS BEFORE THE STORM. 3

At 8 in the morning, the Council met, to
consider a letter veceived, at 11 last night, from
M. de 1a Bonrdonnais, and sent one in reply. The
contents of this have not yet come to light. As
soon as they are made known, | shall commit them
to writing.

A letter, despatched by Kandil Guruvappa
Chetti, on the 4th instant {17th October], was
received by me, at noon. The substance of this is
given below :

Prior to the storm, the following ships lay in
the roads at Madruas; namely, the Bourbon, Achille,
Neptine, Phéniv, and Duc ( Orleans; also the Marie
Gertride, the Princess Mary captured off Madras,
an HEnglish sloop taken four days ago, the sloop
Andravedi, and about six or seven small craft.
Owing to the violence of the gale, all had to
put to sea. Up to the evening of yesterday, only
those mentioned below had returned ; namely, the
Bourbon, Neptne, Achille, Princess Mary, and two
boats—altogether six. These had lost their sails;
their masts and rindders had been damaged ; and
their guns and a considerable portion of their equip-
ment had been thrown overboard; but the goods
which formed their lading suffered no damage.
Those that werc wrecked were all empty, and had
no cargo on board. Only two ships—the Neptune
and the English Dyinresx Mury—had beeu laden,
and both of them have returned, with but little
injury to their freights. The ships Duc &POrleans,
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Phénir, and Mariec Gertrude, the sloop Ardracedi,
and another which was captured from the English,
four days ago—five sail in all—are those that were
cast away. M. de la Bourdounnais proposes that
such of his fleet as are now in the roads at Madras
should lie up in the harbour at Goa, for pro-
tection from the monsoon, and he contemplates
sailing with them for France, in the month of Tai
[January]. According to the report of a person
who came from the scene of the ship-wrecks,
which took place between the roadstead at Myla-
pore and that at Covelong, there was a loss of
2,000 lives. A large number also perished, owing
to wrecks of country craft. At the instigation of
the cousin of Tiruviti Sé&shichala Chetti, the
amaldir of Poonamallee has forbidden his rcmain-
ing there. He hasconsequently departed, and has
reached Conjeeveram, giving out that he is pro-
ceeding to Arcot. The dubashes of MM. de la
Bourdonnais and de la Villebague, respectively
named KNudaikkira Nainivappan and Vangila
Kuamaran, have been deputed by the former to go to
Pondichery, in view to baling up the goods ordered
by him, packing lis clothes and other property,
and putting them on board the ship bound for
France. Nainiyappan and Kuinaran are accordingly
on their way to Pondichery.

I sent a reply to Guruvappa Chetti’s letter.

It 1s said that, up to date, 500 bales of broad-
cloth have been landed from Madras.



WHAT M. DE LA BOURDONNAIS WROTE TO THE COUNCIL. 5

Muri Dés, who came from Chandernagore at the
same time as the Governor, has made a tender to
the Deputy Gevernor of 135 scores of ordinary, and
26 scores of coarse, long-cloth. The Deputy Gov-
ernor has offered the rate given for Dutch cloth,
but Muri Das demands that for superior long-cloth.
This not having been agreed to, the bargain has
not yet been closed. Ramaiyan, of the fort, sent
me word of this.

Thiesday, 201 October 1746, or Tth Arppisi of
Akshaye.—1 have previously recorded that I had yet
to learn the nature of the deliberations, yesterday,
of the Counecil, with reference to the communication
from M. de la Bourdonnais, received at 11 at night,
of the day before. The following is the news com-
municated to me by M. Panon, who came to see me
at the areca-nut store-house:

M. de la Bourdonnais reported in his letter that
he would hand over charge of the fort to M. d’Espré-
ménil and those with him, and requested that com-
petent officers might be sent to Madras, for the
purpose of administering affairs there. He stated
his intention of restoring the fort to the English, in
the month of Misi [ February | next, and desired that
all matters requiring settlement might be seen to
in the interval. In consequence of this, it was
decided that MM. Barthélemy, Bruyeres, Gosse,
de la Seile, Panon, and Desfresnes, should, for the
present, proceed to Madras. 'They are to start
to-day.
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I asked M. Panon whether the Governor had
approved the proposal to restore the fort to the
English, in Masi [ February] next. He replied : “ At
all events, that is the present idea. But it is im-
possible to form any opinion as to what may actually
occur. Who can foretell what will happen before we
reach Madras? Therefore, one cannot say, with any
degree of certainty, whether this is likely, or that is
probable.”” He further said that if T required his
services in any matter at Madras, whether in
the way of prociring goods for myself, or otherwise,
he would gladly oblige me : and he asked me either
to write to him, or else let him know at once. I
expressed my thanks, and politely informed him that
I would avail myself of his kind offer, and would
write if I needed anything.

I then repaired to the Governor’s house, but
finding that he was engaged at Council, and that
the meeting was likely to last for four Indian hours
more, I betook myself to the areca-nut store-house,
and sat down there. The business of the Council,
to-day, appears to be passing and signing the letters
and accounts which have to go to France. It has
been decided to despatch a ship to Mascareigne,
the day after to-morrow, and she is being laden
with all the goods intended for that place. The
official papers which are to be sent to France will be
conveyed by this opportunity, and they have conse-
quently been signed, and prepared for transmission.



CERTAIN OFFICIALS SENT TO Y ADRAS. 7

The C'ouncil came to an end at half-past 10, and the
members returned home.

A Council was held at 4 this afternoon, at which
it was decided to send the following gentlemen to
Madras ; namely, M. Barthélemy, M. Bruytres the
Procurator of the King, M. Desfresnes, M. de la
Selle, and M. Gosse, who was a Councillor at Bus-
sorah, and who has recently arrived. Their re-
spective duties were also fixed. They started at
this evening. In the course of ihe next five or six
days, M. dela Bourdonnais will deliver over the fort
to M. d’Espréménil, and take all his ships to Goa,
where they will remain during the monsoon. This
information was furnished to me by M. Miran, and
I asked him what had been the end of the agreement
with the English. He replied:

“ What is sold, must be held as sold. The
stipulation, however, is that the fort is to be
restored to them, on their paying, within six months,
a ransom of 11 lakhs of pagodas; failing which, the
arrangement. becomes void. The fort, with all its
coutents, has now passed into the possession of the
French, without any reservation. How, then, can
they pay the ransom unless the money is procured
from England ? Even granting that they do obtain
it thence, is there not the contingency of the ships
bearing the treasure being attacked and captured
by ours, on their way hither? 1In this event, their
money must be regarded as lost. Under these
circumstances, it is next to impossible that they will
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either procure, or pay, the ransom fixed. There 1s,
therefore, hardly any chance of our having to
relinquish the fort. Should they offer to give
a bill on the Company in England for the amount,
such a proposal will not be entertained, as drafts
tendered by persons in captivity are invalid.
Such a course would not be unprecedented, for
the English themselves held this view in a parallel
case in their own country, and we will not permit.
ourselves to be imposed upon, by accepting a bili
from them.”

So said M. Miran, who also informed me that
of the persons whom I have already mentioned,
M. Panon, alone, has been directed by the Governor
not to proceed vo Madras.

1 received, this evening, a letter addressed to
me by Kaudil Guruvappa Chetti, which ran as
follows:

“ M. &’ Espréménil told his interpreter Kandap-
pan that M. de la Bourdonnais would leave for Goa,
in the course of five or six days, after making over
the fort to M. d’Espréménil, and he directed him to
have a table, and other articles of furniture, ready.
This was communicated to me by Kandappan, who
also told me that M. d’Espréménil purposed to
write direct to the Governor, and have your brother
Tiruvéngadam recalled. If you agree to this, T shall
cause the necessary steps to be taken. I request
to be favoured with a reply, in communication with
Tiruvéngadam.”



DIARIST DEPLORES HIS BROTHER'S LACK OF AMBITION. 9

Although my brother is thirty-four or thirty-five
years old, he has no desire to acquire wealth, and
no ambition to figure conspicuously in the service
of the Company. He is, further, too retiring to hold
any iutercourse with Buropeans. Far from accusing
him, however, I can only worry myself with the
thought that God has created him thus, and blame
my own ill-luck, The young men of these days,
become, from their fifth year, thoroughly filled with
aspirations. The great desire for employment,
coupled, as it is, with a strong ecraving to acquire
wealth, that is evinced by them is quite extraordi-
nary, and 1s beyond one’s comprehension and powers
of expression. The very opposite to this, my brother
—who is hard on thirty-five—although naturally
possessed of the gifts of high culture, excellent parts,
guarded temper, winning manners, handsome pres-
ence, and fortunate birth, is not blessed with the
courage and spirit of enterprise which are indis-
pensable to raising oneself to distinction. It is this
defect that induces him to cast aside all aspirations
to greatness, and to prefer to remain at home in
obscarity. This warp in his mind I attribute to
the weak and fruitless star which, according to my
horoscope, will cast its shadow over me for some
months to come. 1 cannot but impute to this eiv-
cumstance his desive to resign his post in that city
of Kuabfra [The God of wealth], which has recently
come under our rule, and to return empty-handed.
This bears out the predictions of astrologers that

2
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my career, up to my thirty-eighth year, will not
bhe marked by success. I entertain no doubt as
to the truth of their statements, and shall, therc-
fore, not lay any blame at his door.

This day, a ship sailed for Madras, to take on
board, so report said, the cargoes of the vessels
which suffered from the storm.

The Deputy Governor has been absent from the
Council for the last three days, apparently on account
of indisposition.

Friday, 21st October 1746, or 8th Arppisi of
Akshaya.—To-day, T did not pay a visit to the Gov-
ernor, and remained at the areca-nut store-house.
He lay in bed until half-past 8, after which there was
a meeting of the Council, at which he had to preside.
As soon as this was over, he retired to his chamber,
where he remained writing letters.

During the time that I was at the areca-nut
store-house, Kudaikkdra Nainiyappan, the interpreter
of MM. de la Bourdonnais and de la Villebague, who
had accompanied them to Madras, vicited me. I
greeted him, asked when he arrived, and whether
his masters were well. I then questioned him about
the recent storm at Madras, and its effects; and his
reply coincided with what has already been recorded.
After alluding to the spoliation of Madras, he said
to me as follows : ‘M. de la Bourdonnais has deputed
me to pack up the stuffs which you caused to be
manufactured for him. As soon as le gave me
instructions to this effect, I requested your brother



WHAT R. NAINIYAPPAN TOLD DIARIST. 11

to intimate them to you. Kandil Guruvappa Chetti
informed me that he had received a reply for
communication to me, and that you had stated in it
that one half of the goods ordered was in readiness,
and that the other portion could be easily completed,
and would be delivered towards the close of the month
of Tai [January] next. Considering it, however,
inadvisable to give so curt an answer to a European,
I told M. de la Bourdonnais that all the stuffs could
hardly be ready so soon, as the weather was rainy,
and the money for the investment had been advanced
only recently ; and I pointed out that the result of
hurrying matters would be that the fineness of the
material, and the dyeing of it, would be affected.
He then suggested that they should, at any rate, be
finished by the time that he left for Mascareigne,
which would be in the month of Tai [January].
ITe has written on the subject to M. Dubois, who
has therefore sent for you in connection with it.
You need not, however, trouble about the matter.
I will make the necessary arrangements to have
the stuffs ready, within the prescribed time.” 1
thanked him, and let him depart.

Ithen wrote two letters; the ome to Madras,
and the other to Chingleput, and returned home, at
noon.

After I had rested, I went, in the evening, to the
washermen’s quarter, made inquiries concerning
bleached cloths, and then proceeding to the laundry,
ordered that the cloths should be carefully pressed
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throughout the night. ThenceI repaired to the place
of business of Nallanna Mudali, of whom I asked
some questions, and finally returned home, at 7.

After T had reached my house, Kudaikkira
Nainiyappa Mudali came to me, at half-past 7,
and said: ““ When I informed M. Dubois of the
probable date of the supply of piece-goods which
were to be dyed blue, he asked why there should be
any delay, for, under the terms of the agreement,
delivery should have been made on the 10th of
October. I replied that the coutractors could fur-
nish the goods even now, but that in that case they
would notbe so fine as might be desired ; and further
that, in consequence of a disturbance amongst the
Poligarsin the interior, there had been some delay in
the receipt of the unbleached cloths. I told him that
this had been communicated to M. de la Bourdonnais,
and that he said that it would suit him if the goods
were supplied iu the month of Tai [January], as he
was not leaving immediately. e then mentioned
that he had not received any advice on the subject,
and desired that at least five or six scores of pieces
of cloth should now be furnished to M. de Rostaing.
In answer, Iinformed him that, if required, even ten
scores could be supplied to him. He was satisfied
with this. It will be well if you speak to him some
morning, on the subject.” Isaid: “ Very well,” and
told him that he might depart.

Aruniichala Chetti then visited me, and said :
“There is no likelthood of any ships leaving for



DIARIST'S INTERVIEW WITH M. DUBOIS, 13

Mascareigne. I will bring you 3,200 rupees. The
Governor will go to Madras, and you may have
to accompany him.” After talking for a while, on
general subjects, he went away.

Saturday, 22ud Octoler 1746, or 9th Arppisi of
Alshaya.— This morning, I waited on M. Dubois, who
addressed me as follows : “M. de la Villebague has
written appointing me as his agent, and has requested
me to take over, from Nainiyappan, all the furni-
ture and cash in his possession. He wishes me to
take charge of all the goods manufactured for him,
and has sent me a letter addressed to you, giving
instructions to make over to me such as are with
you.” He handed the letters to me, and I read them.
He then said: “The date fixed in your agreement
for the delivery of the goods ordered by him is
approaching. You should make them over, for
despatch by the next ship.” T repliel: “I have
already heard that he will depart in the month of
Tai [January] next. The order was only recently
given. It will be very difficult indeed to make
the cloths within so short a period, and, moreover,
there are disturbances in the interior. When these
facts were brought to the notice of M. de la
Villebague at Madras, he assented to the delivery
of the goods, in the month of Tai [January].”
He said “very well ”’, but desired that at least, the
few blue piece-goods which had to be furnished to
M. de Rostaing might, be given. I then asked M.
de Rostaing what quantity was needed by him. He

CHap,
XXX1.

1746.

M, Dubois
tells

diarist

that he has
been ap-
pomnted as
agent of M.,
de la Ville-
bague,

And gives
orders as to
delivery of
certain
cloths,

Diarist’s
reply.



CHar,
XXXI.

1746.
Namyappa
Muadali and
he Lnally
promise
certam
cloths,

M. Dubois

agrees,

Diarist’s
remarks
touching
N. Mudali

Apparent
natuie of
the work
done at a
sitting of
the
Council.

Stormy
weather,

Shipsin the
roads
ordered to
sei.

14 ANANDA RANGA PILLAI'S DIARY.

replied that M. de la Bourdonnais had requested
him to receive as many bales as I could supply.
Nainiyappa Mudali and I thought the matter over,
and considering that it would not be fair to say that
none were ready, we promised to let him have forty
scores of blue piece-goods, nine scorces of picces of
long-cloth, and sixteen scores of pieces of coarse
cloth. M. Dubois then said: ¢ Please have them
baled in your own warehouse.” I agreed to this,
and came away. Nainiyappa Mudali did me a
good turn on this occasion, for which I am much
indebted to him.

After taking leave of M. Dubois, I repaired to
my areca-nut store-house ; it then being nearly half-
past 9. The Governor was holding a Council, and
it appeared to me that the business transacted at this
was perusing and signing the despatches to be sent
to France by the ship sailing for Mascareigne, and
also signing the accounts which were to be forwarded
by the same opportunity. The meeting afterwards
dissolved, and the councillors returned home.

A strong gale, accompanied by rain, blew on the
Ist of Arppisi [14th October], the constellation on
that day being Navami. When the south wind set
in, the storm abated. The weather continued calm
until this morning, when the wind veered to the north.
The result is that the sky has become overcast, and
there is again wind, with rain. In consequence of
this the Governor, at noon, ordered the crews of the
ships in the roads to embark at once, and set sail.



DEMANDS TO BE MADE, AT ACHEEN, BY M. DORDELIN. 15

At the Council held this morning, it was decided
that the vessel bound for Mascareigne was, as 1
have already said, to carry the letters for that
settlement, as well as the despatches and accounts
addressed to the Directors in France, and that the
three ships which had arrived together, one of
which was the Centanre, should proceed to Acheen,
to winter there. It was also ordered that M.
Dordelin, the captain of the Centanre, should demand
payment of what the king of Acheen and his
merchants owed, and likewise of the amount due
by them to the Company and the French nation.
It was further determined that, in view of the
neglect of the king of that country to remonstrate
with Messrs. Barnet and Peyton, of the British
war-ships which captured the Favori, on the lst
of Margazhi of the year Rakidkshi [12th December
1744], when she lay at anchor in the harbour at
Acheen, he should be punished by being required
to pay the value of the ship; and that, on his
failing to comply, war should be declared. The
three ships referred to above, which arrived early
in October, after touching at Mahé, were ordered to
Acheen on this mission. The north wind setting
in, and the sky becoming overcast, all the captains
have embarked on board their respective ships, and
they arve to set out on their voyage to-morrow night.

This information has been furnished to me by

M. Busyy., I asked him whether he was leaving !

for Mascareigne. He replied that of M., de la
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Bourdonnais’ squadron the Armanau,* alone, would,
for the present, sail for that place, and that the Gov-
ernor had consequently advised him to take his de-
parture, in the month of January. I then informed
him that of the cloths ordered by the Governor, in
the list given by him, all had been prepared, with the
exception of twenty-four pieces of a coarse kind, and
that these, too, would be ready in three or four days.
Our conversation then turmed upon the affairs of
Madras, Fort St. David, ete.

This morning, ’All Naqi, the son of Wandiwash
Taqi Bahib, sent a present of a dress of honour to me,
and another to Appavu, with the intimation that he
would come to my house in the evening. His nature
is to offer an earth-worm as a bait, and to carry
away a hig fish. Being aware of this, I had, for the
last four days, been declining his presents, but I
was obliged to receive them to-day, as they were
forwarded to me through Amanida Subramaniyan ;
and, I therefore, could not, with good grace, return
them. I presented the bearer with 6 rupees, and
in the afternoon, when ’Ali Naqi visited me, T made
the following presents to him: One roll of ordi-
nary red broad-cloth, one green silk cloth, four yards
of velvet; total value, 56 pagodas. The dresses

* There was no ship of this name in the fleet of M.dela Bourdonnais,
That which was sent in advance to Mascareiyune was La Renommée,
It has Leen suggested that Armanau is a corruption of this name. This
looks far-fetched, but some extraordinary perversions of French, Persiau,
and Hindustani, words have been found in the diary.
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of honour given by him were estimated to have
cost Rs. 150. As he came in company with the
son of Chandd Sihib, I presented the latter with a
parcel of ordinary red broad-cloth. After talking
for a while, in an exceedingly polite manner, the
visitors took leave of me, and departed.

In the evening, "All Naqi, Razd Sdhib the son of
Chand4 S8hib, and the Diwén Sihib, came to my
honse, and requested me to present their respects to
the Grovernor, and obtain from him a permit to leave
the city, as they proposed to return to their homes.
I accordingly set out for the Governor’s house. On
the way, I fell in with a party of 113 soldiers, mar-
ching out, under the command of Captain duBocage
and an ensign. I inquired of those who followed
the detachment, what their destination was. They
replied that they were in the dark regarding it, but
that the men were to go on to my choultry, for the
night, and that the Governor would send them orders
there. I shall write more about this when I receive
further information in regard to their movements.

When I reached the residence of the Governor, T
was given to understand that he was not at home, and
had gone to the custom-house. At half-past 6,
when he sat down to play cards, I presented myself,
and saluted him, He asked what had brought
me there. I replied: ¢ The son of Chanda Sihib,
’All Nagl, and the Diwan S$ahib, being desirous of

proceeding to Wandiwash, have requested me to con- i

vey their respects to you, and obtain your permission
3
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to depart.” He then asked where they were going,
and for what purpose. I said that the son of
Taqi Sahib, and the Diwdn Sihib, being residents of
Wandiwash, and Arcot,respectively, intended going ;
the one, to the former place, and the other, to the
latter, and added that their object was to convey an
invitation to Muhammad’All Khin, the elder brother
of Chandd S4hib, as also to the wife of Safdar
"All, and the aged Taqi 8ahib. The Governor then
alluded to the ill-will subsisting between Chanda
3ihib and the Nawéb, and expressed his doubts as
to whether Chanda Sahib’s son was likely to remain
unmolested by the Nawib’s men, should they chance
to meet him. He asked my opinion. On this I
snid: “This is not all. When Chandi Sihib was
at Trichinopoly, he was in the habit of giving his
creditors drafts on his wife. For two months, she
continued making promises to them that their dues
woul?d be paid. By that time, the forvat Trichinopoly
had fallen into the hands of the Mahrattas; on
which she refused to meet their demands. There-
upon, the creditors, one and all, appealed to M.
Dumas, alleging that Chandd Sihih owed them not
less than 10 lakhs of rupees. He, however, rebuked
and dismissed them, with the remark that they had
forfeited all claim against Chand4 Sihib, because the
fort at Trichinopoly, in which they had served, had
been captured. Nevertheless, they refused to
depart, and seated theniselves at the entrance of the
house of Chandd Sahib’s wife, awaiting payment of
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their claims. M. Dumas, who was informed by her
of what they were doing, sent a body of soldiers
to drive them beyond the city bounds. On the
occasion of the Niziwm’s visit, some of those so
ejected again urged their claims against the Pathdn.
When this was made known, an order to expel them
was 1ssued, and this was carried into eftect. Some of
the creditors betook themselves to Tanjore, Mysore,
and places thereabout. These persons are mnow
gradually finding their way to Arcot. If they
become aware of the young man’s arrival there, it
might jeopardize his safety.”” Hereplied: ““ True ;
you had better visit the wife of Chand& Sdhib,
present my compliments to her, and explain all the
circumstances which you have related to we, inform-
ing her that you do so at my bidding.”

I accordingly departed on this errand. Chandd
Sahib’s son, however, set out on his jowrney, with
*All Nagi and the Diwdn Sahib. The wife of
Chanda Sahib, so I was given to understand, had
by then, retired to rest. Consequently, I bethought
me for some time as to the best course to adopt
under the circumstances, and 1t suddenly occurred
to me that the most suitable—any other being
likely to give room for gossip, and question as
to how the sentinels at the gate had allowed me
access to the lady’s house at such a time—would
be to say to the Governor that, on my speaking to
them on the subject, they expressed their gratitude,
and explained that it was a long-standing custom
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with them to convey invitations in person, on the
occasions of marriages; that *Ali Naql’s and the
Diwan S4hib’s visit was one of this character, the
invitation being reputedly theirs; and that the son
of Chanda Sahib proposed to travel, under an assumed
name, to Wandiwash and back. I accordingly re-
turned to the Governor, and made this statement to
him. I took advantage of the occasion to inform
him that the daughter of ’Alil Dost Khin had been
anxious, for the last ten days, to send some presents
to him, but at my instance, was deferring doing
this until after the departure of the ships. He
replied: ““ You lave done well. You know how I
am overwhelmed with work. All business dis-
cussions should be postponed until the squadron
has sailed.” T said: ¢ Very well,” took leave of
him, and returned home, at haif-past 8.

In the evening, I received two letters written
by Kandil Guruvappa Chetti, from Madras. The
contents of them were as follows :

‘“ The Governor, Mr. Morse, had by him 1,000
maunds ¥ of silk-thread, of five different kinds; 300
of which have been purchased by people of Lalapét-
tai, and by Andi Chinnaiya Chetti, for 31 pagodas,
payable in six months. Fifty maunds belonging to
the Deputy Governor, Mr. Monson, have also been
disposed of, at the same rate, and on the same
terms. All that remained unsold has been conveyed

* The Madras maund, which is that here alluded to, is 24'685 1bs. av.
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to some place outside of Madras. IEvery one con-
trives, with the approval of Mr. Morse, and the
permission of M. de la Bourdonnais, to remove his
goods thence, in this way. Other matters, too, go
wrong. It strikes me that, before the departure of
M. de la Bourdonnais, everything will find its way
out of Madras.”

Sunday, 23rd October 1746 or 10th Arppisi of

Akshaya.—This being Sunday, the Governor went
to church, and returned, at half-past 8. Nothing
noteworthy has been heard. I was at the areca-nut
store-house untili 12, and then repaired to my
house. Having rested in the afternoon, I went,
in the evening, to the warehounse, where I remained
until 10, packing twenty-one bales of blue cloth,
which contained eighty-four lots of twenty pieces
each—nine bales for M. d’Espréménil, and twelve
for M. de la Bourdonnais.

A letter received from Guruvappa Chetti, to-day,
contains the following intelligence :

“The merchants of Madras are engaged in
sending away their goods, through the medium of
Mr. Morse, and with the permission of M. de la
Bourdonnais. This leads me to believe that, before
the departure of the latter, the merchants will have
removed from Madras whatever still remains of their
wares. Mr. Morse is evidently bent on clearing
out everything, and completing the business before
M. de la Bourdoennais leaves ; and with this motive
he seems to urge the merchants to send off their
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goods elsewhere, as speedily as possible. The
condition of matters is in no way improved by the
proposed return of Tiravéngadam. M. de la Bour-
donnais will leave Madras, in three or four days,
handing over charge to M. d’Espréménil.”

The letter closed with conveying to me the
good wishes of Rédyasam Venkatichala Aiyan.

The weather was cloudy and windy yesterday,
but to-day it is quite clear, and the sun shines
brightly. Last night, the sky was overcast, and there
was thunder and lightning unaccompanied, how-
ever, by rain, for it was the south-west, and nut
the north wind, that btew. The weather continues
clear, but one cannot say what its condition will be
to-morrow.

This morning, Gdvinda Rao informed me that
Dost ’All Khan’s son-in-law, Akbar Sikib, was an-
xious that I should visit him. In the evening, he
said that Akbar Sihib wonld send me an invitation,
on the morrow, after he had procured some suitable
presents to give me. The news furnished by him is
that Akbar S$ahib has been followed by Muhammad
Shafl, the agent of Vellore Raza *Al{ Khan.

This evening, at half-past 5, M. de la Gatinais
and another European, whose name is not known,
paid a visit to the Governor, who is very angry with
M. de la Gatinais.

Mondan, 4th October 1746, or 11th Arvpisi of
Al:shaya.—This morning, as it was cloudy, the Gov-

[l

ernor got into his palanquin clothed in the loose
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trousers, dressing gown, and cap, which he wore
when in bed, and proceeded to the small sea gate,
in front of the Chetti street. Alighting there, he
went straight to the spot where the boats lay, and
saw that they were launched expeditiously. He
then entered the custom-house, to inspect it. The
Bourbon, which lost her main and other masts
during the recent storm at Madras, hove in sight,
under a jury main mast. On perceiving her, the
Governor issued instructions as to the boats and
supplies to be despatched, when she reached the
roads, and then went home.

When I was, as usual, at the areca-nut store-
house, I was informed that MM. Dubois and de
Rostaing were at my cloth godown, in the new
street. I therefore hastened there, and found
them waiting. I saluted them, and conversed, very
courteously, for a while. They did not request me
to show the cloths, or inquire for whom they were
ordered. They merely asked how many bales
of the material could be made up. I replied:
““ About twenty-four or twenty-five, or perhaps
thirty.” They then made a note of the particulars
of the goods lying there, and gave some instruc-
tions as to how the bales should be marked. When
they were about to depart, I begged them to send
some lascars to bale the cloths. They said : ““We can
hardly procure a single hand ; hut youcan get fitty
if you wish,” and they thereupon took leave of me.
Nainiyappa Mudali then arrived, and requested me to
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have the bales made up as quickly as possible. He
also sent me the following tickets for insertion in
each bale : twelve, for blue long-cloth ; six, for coarse
long-cloth ; ten, for unbleached Jong-cloth ; and two,
for the Pondichery coarse checked cloth, making
the total number forwarded thirty. I caused the
necessary tickels to be pushed into the twelve bales
which were closed yesterday, and arranged for the
remaining eighteen being put into those yet to be
made up. I then returned to the areca-nut store.
Two peons from Madras, who were carrying some
seven or eight sealed letters to the English at
Fort St. David, were waylaid by the Company’s peons
at f&lankuppam. On being questioned as to their
destination, they replied that they were on their way
to Tanjore, and were the servants of Sambu Das.
They were, however, seized, and taken before the
Governor. From the superscription, in English,
on the envelopes of the letters, he saw that they
were addressed to Fort St. David, and having
restored the papers to the men, he asked why they
had lied. They replied that they had done so
through fear. On this he said: “Very well; you
may go,” and ordered a peon and a native officer
to take charge of them, and leave them beyond the
boundaries of Pondichery. When conversing with
his wife, the Governor mentioned this incident to
her. It is not known what she advised, but he
ordered that the two peons should be brought back,
and after again taking the letters from them, directed
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that they should be confined in the prison attached
to the court-house. Nothing else worthy of note
transpired.

The ships are being laden with provisions, such
as rice, fowls, and shecp; and the goods for
Mascareigne are also being put on board. The
Governor is engaged with the embarkation of these,
and with writing letters. The affairs of Madras
also occupy bhis attention. I therefore remained
at the areca-nut store-house until noon, thence
proceeded to the cloth godown, where I enjoined on
the men to hurry on with the work of baling, and
I then proceeded home.

I arranged for the delivery, to M. Cornet, of the
nine bales of bluelong-cloth, consisting of thirty-six
packages of twenty pieces each, made up yesterday,
and intended for M. d’Espréménil. He duly took
charge of them. On examining two of the pieces, he
was struck with their fineness, and asked Rimaiyan
whether he knew the cost of the stuff. He answered
in the negative. It is not exactly known what
more M. Cornet said, but it would appear that he
desired Rimaiyan to ascertain the price at which it
wassold. At the time, he was in the company of the
undersized Chetti youth who wears short Vaishnava
caste marks, and is employed under Tadi Arunficha-
lam, and Chinna Parasurdman. The former of these,
it is alleged, stated to the other, for communication
to M. Cornet, that he had in his possession, and could

furnish, cloths of better dye. Chinna Parasurdman
4
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accordingly mentioned this to M. Cornet, who
then asked him the price of them. He replied:
“ Twenty-seven pagodas.” Then M. Cornet re-
marked : ‘“ They could not be so broad as these.
The dyein themis good.” But Chinna Parasurdman
exclaimed : ““If directed, I will send for the cloths
at once.” To this, M. Cornet replied that he did not
want them then, and would examine them later on.
In spite of this, Chinna Parasurdman reiterated his
offer to send for a couple as samples, and submit them
for his approval. M. Cornet, however, dismissed
him, with the remark that he would see about them
on the following day.

All this was told to me, at 7 at night, at the
cloth store-house, by Lakshmanan, the headman of
the fort lascars, when 1 was engaged in writing
this diary. I have, therefore, recorded the incident
in full. The etiquette in commercial circles re-
quires that if a merchant happens to go to another
when the latter is bargaining with a buyer, and if
the purchaser inquires of him the price of the
article which is being negotiated for, he should
make it appear as though he was ignorant of the
actual value. If further pressed, a well-bred
merchant wonld, under some pretext or other, evade
giving a reply. This being the case Tadi Aruna-
chalam’s servant offered to supply cloths, although
unasked by the Kuropean. His doing so was owing
solely to pride and boldness engendered by em-
bezzlement of the Company’s money by Chinna
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Parasurdman, as he had a share both in the dyeing
of the cloths, and the profits realized by the sale of
them. It is this that caused him lose his head.
They are under the false impression that M. Dupleix
18 unaware of all their frauds, which 1s, however,
not the case. Startling disclosures—in ignorance of
which they walk with their noses in the air—will be
brought against them. Oblivious of the saying,
‘To soar too high, leads to one’s fall,” they display
their aggressiveness in other matters, also. The
result remains to be seen.

At noon to-day, the mail from Madras bronght a
letter from Kandal Guruvappa Chetti, written on
the 8th instant [21st October]. The contents of it
are as follows:

“ This is what took place on the evening of the
Sth instant [ 21st October ], at Madras. The English
Governor, Mr. Morse, accompanied by his Council-
lors, appeared before M. de la Bourdonnais, and
exccuted all the necessary deeds with regard to the
ransom to be paid by them. Thereupon, M. de la
Bourdonnais affixed his signature to the document
conveying the fort to the knglish, and also attested
the other deeds containing subsidiary stipulations.
The papers were signed by both parties. When
each took possession of its respective deeds, a salvo
of twenty-one guns was fired, and a feeling of
happiness prevailed amongst those present. When
these documents were executed, M. d’Espréménil
was not present, nor was he asked to be, as those

CHAP.
XXXI.

1746.

And
observes
that certain
merchants
are un-
aware that
M. Dapleix
knows ot
their
frauds,

Lettet from
K. Guru-
vappa
Chettl,

This gives
account ot
exeeution
of the
documents
referiing to
the ransom
of Madras.

And states
that

M. d'Espre-
mem was
not present,



CHAP,
XXXI.

1746.

Diarist’s
remarks,

Sepoys
sent out
to capture
a party of
English
soldiers,

28 ANANDA RANGA PILLAI'S DIARY,

concerned were sure that he would refuse to comply
with their invitation.

“Since the return of Tiruvéngadam, I have
written fifteen letters, but no orders have been
passed on any of them.”

It remains to be seen what turn affairs will
take after the departure of M. de la Bourdonnais,
and the assumption, by M. Dupleix, of the adminis-
tration.

This evening, fifty Mahé sepoys, uuder the
command of the officer named St. Martin, were de-
spatched to Ariynkuppam, in view, so rumour goes,
to waylay and capture 100 soldiers who were on their
way from Madras. These were not at Ariyan-
kuppam, but were marching to Fort St. David, by a
route beyond it. The sepoys were to move from
Ariyinkuppam, to the point near Fort St. David,
where the two roads meet, lie in wait there, and as
soon as the soldiers appeared seize and bring them in.
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CHAPTER XXXII.

FROM OCTOBER 25t0, 1746, TO OCTOBER 2911, 1746.

Letters from Madras to the Governcr and diarist—These mention a
banquet to the Knglish, and M. de la Bourdonnais—The transfer of
the fort to M. d’ Espréménil—The departure of M. de la Bourdonnais
—And other matters—A friend tells diarist that Tdvappa Mudali
is in high spirits—Diarist’s views as to the canse of the elation of
T. Mudali—Which he thinks will not last long— Soldiers sent out
to capture certain Tnglishmen—Parties of sepoys despatched to
Ariydnkuppam—Remarks of diarist touching this expedition—He
visits M. de la Touche—Notes his infatuation for his newly wedded
wife—8ends a soldier to copy a letter for him—The Bourbon
arrives, and the Neptune is sighted—What M. de la Gatinais said as
to the cargo of the latter— Capture of the Englishmen previously
alluded to—Euglish soldiers landed from the Buurbon~-What
occurred when the Englishmen were captored—M. de la Gatinais
imprisoned—Governor tells diarist that Mahfuz Khin is attempting
to seize Madras—And thus harass the Freuch—aAnd that be must
go to him—Objections to doing this made by diarist—Governor
admits these—But urges him to find some one to go to Madras—
Diarist deprecates sending his brother—And says that a very
intelligent person should be deputed—Governor asks him to name
such a man—And, on his evading reply, svggests his brother—
Diarist urges the illness of his relative— Governor bids him find
some one else—Subsequent conversation—Governor having permitted
diarist to leave, recalls him—And consults him as to the terms in
which to write certain letters— Governor subsequently reads the drafts
to diarist—Who complimnents him on them—DM. Delarche directed to
translate tliem into Persian—Governor speuks to diarist regarding
Mahfuz Khdn—At his suggestion, orders certain letters to be written
—And talks with him of M. de la Bourdonnais and his brother—
Diarist tells M. Auger the popular opinion as to the cause of the
recent storm—And makes his comments—Goveruor’s inquiry re-
garding M, de la Bourdonnais’ interpreter— His egotistical remarks—
Conversation touching Muttaiyappan—Governor speaks angrily of
him—Diarist’s extravsgant compliments—The Governor is appeased
—He gives diarist certain orders—Sumatra sails for Mascareigne—
Installation of the head of a matt—Remarks of diarist—Governor
asks him if he has secured a man acquainted with Persian—Objects
to his nominee not knowing French—Asks whether Muttaiyappan
is fi5 to be chief of the peons at Madras-—And heing satisfied, says
that he is appointed—Diarist remcunstrates, on the score of possible
resistance at Madras—But Governor insists—urther objections fuil—
Diarist informs Muttaiyappan, through Arunichala Chetti—Whom he
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requests to urge Tiruvéngadam to return to Madras—Arupichala
Chetti tells diamrist what Muttaiyappan said—Also that his brother
remains obdurate —Diarist teils Governor of Muttaiyappan’s accept-
ance—And receives certain orders—Governor asks whether the
letters to the Nawib, etc., arc ready—And directs diarist to write to
Subbaiyan—The directions given to the bearers of the letters—Letter
to the Nawib states how the capture of Madras came abont—
Reminds him of promised assistance—Expresses astonishment at
his son's seeking to assist the English—And states what the
French will do, if trifled with—Forms in which the letters to the
Nawéb and his son, were couched—Additions in that to the latter
~—Form and contents of the letters to Husain $ahib and 8ampiti Rao
—The warning sent to the amaldir of Mylapore—Diarist tells Muttaiya
Pillai what passed between him, and the Governor—He vainly attempts
to induce his brother to go to Madras—DM. Pillai and A. Chetti also
fail— Conjectures of diarist as to the cause of his brother’s contamacy
— Attributes it to the influence of his (diarist’s) evil star—News of
the ships which sailed for Acheen—Intimation, from Madras, of a
Muhammadan inroad—And report, from M, Dordelin, etec., against M.
de la Bourdonnais—Council considers these matters, and despatches
replies—Governor inquires whether Mirzd Al Bfg is a kinsman
of the Nawdb—Is told that he cannot be—Directs inquiry of the
Muohammadans, at Pondichery —Statement confirmed — Governor
direots diarist to write to M.’ AliBég—Countents of letters—Muttaiya
Pillai given funds to recrnit peons—Arrival of the Achille—M. de 1a
Bourdonnais does not land—MM. d’Espréménil, and Gandclaire,
arrive from Madras--Diavist learnsthat they came by order of the
Governor—He asks about the capture of M. de Bury's son—His
informant relates what befell the party sent to rescue him— Attributes
the raid at Madras, ete., to Peddu Né-yukk:m —Tells diarist of the
imprisonment of Mr. Morse—And says that he will visit Tiruvéngadam
—He, further, mentions the escape of Peddn Narakkan—And alleges
that all those who went to Madras enriched themselves—But acquits
diarist’s brother of having done so—Council considers the inter-
ference of the Muhammadans, at Madras—And the action of M. de Ia
Bourdonnais regarding certain ships—The captains at Madras write
to the Council =The reply—Governor tells diarist that a man who
knows French and Hindustani must go to Madras—And makes a
suggestion, which includes Muttuiya Pillai—Who had told diarist of
his reluctance to go there—But had asked him, for the present, to
say nothing—-Diarist making excuses, suggests Rangappa Chetti as
qualified—And he is accordingly appointed as dubish—Diarist teils
the Governor that the English instigate the Muhammadans—And
being asked what should be done, makes a suggestion—Which is
embodicd i the despatch to Madras—Diarist represents the need
for sending men to Azhisapikkam, etc.—Madame Dupleix proposes
to write to Anwar-ud-diu Khin—Governor spproves—Buat after
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further consideration, she sends a letter to Mahfuz Khin—Remarks
of diarist as to the wisdom of M. Dupleix in permittirg this—What
Madame said to him when about to despatch the letter —His diplo.
matic reply-—He suggests delay in sending. it——Madame Dupleix
objects-—Diarist, unwilling to provoke her, speaks flatteringly—He
then waits on, and converses with the Governor—And suggests his
going to Madras, as once proposed.

Tuesday, 25th October 1746, or 12th Avppisi of
Akshaya —This morning at 9, a runner from Madras
brought a letter to the Governor, as also three to me
from Kanddl Guruvappa Chetti, one of which was
dated the 9th instant [22nd October ], and the others
the 10th [23rd] idem. These contained mention of
a banquet at which the English and M. de la Bour-
donnais were entertained, and of the presence at it
of M. d’Espréménil, who, on the same evening,
perused, for about four Indian hours, the agreements
and other documents executed by the English. They
spoke too of the delivery, on the morning of the 10th
instant [23rd October ], nnder a salute of twenty-one
guns, of charge of the fort to M. d’Espréménil, by
M. de la Bourdonnais, whose embarkation on the
Achille, at half-past 10, was announced by the firing
of twenty-one guns; of the ship having remained
in sight until the evering ; of the conduct of
affairs by M. d’Espréménil; and of the entertain-
ments given every morning and evening to him by
the English. Other matters, also, were referred to
in the letters, which were in Telugu, and will be

s

found transcribed below . . ¥

* Hiatus in the original.
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At about 10 o’clock at night, Nallatambi
Arunichala Chetti came to me, and said that
Tanappu Mudali, the brother of Kanakarfiya Mudali,
had been in high spirits for the last four or five
days, and that there must be something at the
bottom of this. I replied: ¢ There is nothing.
Ere long there will be a solution of the mystery.”
He exclaimed : ‘ Indeed,” and went his way.
The reason for his [Tédnappa Mudali’s] exuberant
spirits is this. Of late, I have been engaged
in shipping merchandise, and the Governor has
likewise been busy with meetings of the Council, in
connection with the doings, at Madras, of M. de 1a
Bourdonnais ; with discussing the measures to be
adopted under the circumstances; and with writing
despatches. I have therefore not been paying visits
to him, and have left it to him to send for me, if con-
sidered necessary. This, coupled with the fact that
no one has yet been appointed to be chief dubdsh,
although, if one should be, the Company must be
advised of it by the ship which will soon be leaving
this, made him think that the chances were in hig
favour. This accounts for the audacity with which
be abused Elaichiyappan, and ill-treated the weavers.
This frame of mind, however, will not last long:
it will be known, in due course, how matters stand.

The following intelligence was received, at 9 this
morning :

Hearing that some Englishmen, who were on
their way to Cnddalore, were following a cross coun-
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try track to the west of Pondichery, the Governor,
on the presumption that they would keep to that
route, sent, on Saturday the 9th instant [22nd
October], a detachment of 100 and odd soldiers to
Ktnimédu, to mtercept and capture them. But
news was brought that they had taken a more dis-
taut path. In consequence of this, the Governor
despatched a party of fifty Mahé sepoys and an
officer, last night, to Ariyankuppam. On receipt
of the post this morning, another party of fifty
sepoys, also under the command of an officer, was
ordered to Ariyinkuppam, beyond which they
were to lie in ambush, clo§e to the road which
leads to Cuddalore, and there intercept the travellers.
How this expedition will end is not known. The
English soldiers, too, number about 100, and are,
I make no doubt, properly armed. To attempt to
carry them off, by force, to Pondichery must lead to
a conflict. The result remains to be seen.

I paid a visit to M. de la Touche, in order to
urge him to write to M. Dumas. He is so much
enamoured with the lady whom he has recently
wedded, and his gaze so frequently wanders towards
her, that he is hardly able to find time to write the
letter. I anticipated this from what Gopilakrishna
Aiyan frequently told me, but, to-day, 1 saw it with
my own eyes. I stayed with him until noon. 1le
requested me to send a KEuropean who could copy
out what he had written. I agreed to oblige him,
and came away. At half-past 5 this evening, I

9
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sent soldier Minot, in company with Gopéalakrishna
Aiyan, to M. de la Touche, and then repaired to the
areca-nut store-house, from which I went home,
following the road around the fort wall.

The ship Bourbon anchored in the roads, and fired
eleven guns, to announce her arrival. The salute
was returned from the ramparts of the fort. It was
reported that the Neptune, too, was approaching.
M. de la Gatinais told me that she had on board
1,500 bales of cloth shipped from Madras, and that
as they were, to some extent, in a damaged condition,
owing to the recent storm, they would be brought
ashore, and bleached at Pondichery. M. Dubois
asked him how many bales there were in the ship.
M. de la Gatinais replied that, including broad-cloth,
there would be, in all, about 2,500.

The English soldiers previously alluded to, to-
gether with two persons in a palanquin, were, when
marching abreast of Kittarambikkam, captured,
to-day, by the French soldiers posted at my choultry,
and were compelled to accompany them to Pondi-
chery. Itissaidthat theyall have been placed under
a guard, in the room at the western gate. I have
yet to obtain an exact account of the new comers.

Twenty-five English soldiers, also, were brought
ashore from the Fonrbon, and theyarc confined in
the hospital.

It is said that when the English soldiers from
Madras were captured by ours, they informed them
that they had a passport from M. dela Bourdonnais,
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but the French replicd to them in very coarse *
langunage.

At half-past 7 this evening, M. de la Gatinais
was taken to the fort, and cast into a dungeon.

Wednesday, 26th October 1746, or 18th Arppisi
of Alshaya.—A letter, written by Kandil Guru-
vappa Chetti, arrived from Madras, this morning.
Its contents were . . . %

A Council was held this morning. The Gov-
ernor sent for me, and said: ““Makfuz Khin, the
son cf Anwar-ud-din Khin, Nawidb of Arcot, is
attempting to take possession of Madras. He has
detailed a small detachment of cavalry, to occupy
Mylapore and the surrounding country. His desire
1s to harass us, by preventing all ingress into Madras,
and by permitting free egress from the town of
all classes of persons, with their valuables. It is
desirable that you should go to him.” T replied
that T had something to say, if he would hear me
patiently. ¢ Well ; what is it 7" he exclaimed. I
then said: “Mahfuz Khin is impressed with the
idea that we have carried away immense wealth
from Madras, and it is obvious that he is making
all this disturbance, in order to obtain for himself
as much plunder as he can. If I should present
myself before him now, 1t is likely that he may
detain me until I accede to all his demands. He
knows that I possess much influence with you,

* The actual expression is nufit for reproduction.
1 Blank in the original,

Cuap,
XXXII.

1746.
M. dela-
Gatimais
imprisoned.

Governor
tells

dharist

that Mahfus
Khan 1 at-
tempting 1o
seize
Madras,

And thus
harass the
French,

And that
he must go
to hum.

Objections
todomg
this made
by duavist,



CHap.
XXXII.

1746,

Governor
adinits
these,

But urges
lum to find
sonie one to
gOtn
Madras,

Diarst
deprecates
sending his
brother,

36 ANANDA RANGA PILLAI'S DIARY.

and that I am a man of very high standing in
Pondichery. Supposing that he treats me as his pri-
soner, it will be a hard matter for me, and I shall be
obliged to accept his terms. I will mention another
point for your consideration. If you send repre-
sentatives to treat with the Muhammadans, they will
think that the slightest display of hostility on their
part causes you alarm, and it will encourage them
to bluster more and more, in the hope of extracting
from you as much money as they can. Anyhow,
it appears to me, at present, impolitic to treat with
Mahfuz Khin. I say soindeference to your superior
wisdom.” The Governor replied : “ What you urge
ig true. It is not desirable to depute an envoy. But
at least, find for me a Brihman, or other intelligent
person, to send to Madras. When the question
of administering affairs there comes up for consider-
ation, it is likely that letters written in Persian
will be received; and when the Muhammadans
approach Madras, some one wili have to be sent, in
order to treat with them. Procure me, thevefore, a
proper person, to accompany your younger brother
to Madras.” My brother,” I said, ¢ is not capable
of acting with tact in the present difficulty. The
man who is deputed should be competent to advise
even the administrator of Madras. It does not
signify whom you have with you, for even the most
incapable man, so long as he is influenced by your
superior skill and guidance, will be taken for
an able person. DBut as Madras is not endowed
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with a Governor such as you, my opinion is that a
very intelligent man should be sent there. You
may do as you think most proper.” ¢ Who is there
here that fulfills your deseription? Consider;
and tell me,” said the Governor. I replied:
“I do not presume to know more than you.” He
rejoined : ““I do not know any man equal in ability
to your brother. Think this over carefully, and let
me know.” ¢ So please you ”, said I, ¢ my brother
has been tormented by piles from the day of his
return from Madras. He has never once set foot
out of doors since his arrival here.” I compre-
hend,” exclaimed the Governor; “finda clever man
who can speak and write Persian, and who will be
to my liking.” We then conversed for two or
three Indian hours, on the affairs of Arcot, the
doings of M. de la Bourdonnais at Madras, and the
way in which he had plundered that city. To give
the conversation in detail, would fill at least twenty
pages. I here refer to it briefly, inasmuch as I
have, elsewhere, on various occasions, shown what
the nature of it was. The Governor again told
me to bear in mind what he had already said, and
permitted me to retire from his presence. I had
walked as far as the gate, when he came out of
the Council chamber, and called me back. I ap-
proached him ; and he then asked me in what terms
the letters to the Nawidb, and his son Mahfuz
Khin, should be written. I gave him the heads.
Telling me that he would have them written in
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conformity with these, he returned to the meeting.
The work of signing the letters for France, and
putting them into envelopes was going on apace. I
thereupon departed, and proceeded to the areca-nut
store-honse, whence I went home. It was then
noon. At half-past 5 in the evening, the Governor
summoned me, and read out the letters which he
had prepared for the Nawib, and Mahfuz Khén.
“ They are capitally written,” I exclaimed ; adding,
at the same time, a few words more in praise of his
composition. He informed me that he intended
employing M. Delarche to translate them into
Persian. I said that this was good. He ordered
M. Delarche to be called. When he came, the
Governor put into his hands the two letters
addressed to Niwab Anwar-ud-din Khin and
Mahfaz Khin, which he had drafted in French, and
desired him to translate them into Persian with
the help of Madaninda Pandit. During the time
that they were both engaged with this work, the
Governor again called me to him, and spoke to me of
the misdeeds of Mahfuz Khin, the son of the Nawab
of Arcot. In the course of our conversation, I
expressed the opinion that it was expedient to write
to Sampdti Rao and Husain Sahib, enclosing copies
of the letters addressed to the Nawib and Mahfuz
Khin. ““Doso,” said the Governor. T accordingly
went out, and having called Madananda Pandit, told
him to draft letters to Sampiti Rao and Husain
Sahib, and to make copies of those written to
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the Nawdb and Mahfuz Khin, for enclosure in
the former. I set him to work, and was sitting
outside, when I was again sent for by the Governor.
I went to him, and he spoke to me of the doings of
MM. de la Bourdonnais and de la Villebague; and
of the storm, which he said was a visitation of the
Almighty as a consequence of M. de la Bourdonnais’
evil deeds. M. Auger now came. I said to him:
* Have you heard what the people of the town say ?
It is very curious.” ‘“What is it?” asked he. I
replied :  ““The popular opinion is that, because the
kindly heart of M. Dupleix was made sore by the
wickedness of M. de la Bourdonnais, God caused a
storm to arise, and through it, pronounced judgment
on that evil man. As surely as God, as we ail know,
has inflicted on the English the just punishment
for their former misdeeds, so surely will He now
certainly visit on M. de la Bourdonnais hig sins.
Just at present, God merely foreshadows what is in
store for those who run counter to the wishes of
M. Dupleix.” The Governor afterwards ordered M.
Auger to despatch a boat to Madras.

He next asked me whether M. de la Bourdonnais’
interpreter had returned from Madras. I replied
in the affirmative. ‘I shall,” said the Governor,
“ presently work some wonders. Mark well. Have
I not said that God will visit with His judgments
those who have disobeyed me?”. He continued
for an houar, to talk to me, in this strain.
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He then inquired how Muttaiyappan was con-
ducting himself. I said that he continued to deserve
his favour. Heasked what advantage Muttalyappan
had gained by cheating him. I replied that hard-
ships and sufferiugs were the only portion that
had fallen to his lot. The Governor then ex-
claimed: ° Look you; he never came, although I
told you, a thousand times, to write to him, and
you did all that lay in your power to induce him to
return ? But now he comes on a very fine errand
indeed ! Isaid: “ How could his misfortunes allow
him to appear, when they had taken full posses-
sion of him? It is only now that good fortune
smiles on him.” ¢ How so?” asked the Governor.
I replied: * Good fortune dawned on him at the
moment when thoughts of him entered your mind.
It was an augury of good, shadowed forth by
Providence itself.” I paid the Governor other
like extravagant compliments. On this he said:
“ My regard for you compels me to forgive any
of your connections for any evil done to me.”
«J and the whole of my family, are your slaves,”
I exclaimed, very submissively, ‘it behoves you
to protect us all.” M. Dubois now arrived. The
Governor directed me to send, forthwith, couriers
with letters to Arcot, and to select some one to
proceed to Madras. I returned home, and chose a
man versed in the Persian language, to accompany
my younger brother Tiruvéngadam to Madras.
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The Suinatra sailed this evening, for Mascareigne,
with the mail for France. Prior to her arrival
here, she had captured an English ship, which -vas
on its way from Bencoolen.

Thursday, 27th October 1746, or Lith Arppisi of
Abshuya.—The following was the principal event of
to-day. This morning, at about five or six Indian
hours after sunrise, Turaiyfir Pachai Kandappaiyar,
who had been leading the life of an ascetic on the
Palni hills, was installed as the head of the matt * of
Balaiyar, at Bommaiya pilaiyam. Owing to the in-
capacity of Bilaiyar, who died on the 11th of Vaigési
[21st May] last, each subordinate Tambirdn ¥ was
allowed to exercise uncontrolled powers, and in
consequence of this, the institution was very badly
managed. The conduct, efficiency, luck, and guality
of the administration, of the man installed, this day,
remain to be seen.

I intended being present at the ceremony, but
could not attend, as I was then very busily engaged.
I, however, forwarded, through Aramuga Pandaram,
two yards of red broad-cloth.

The Governor sent for me this morning, and
inquired if, in accordance with his instructions, I
had secured the services of some one acquainted
with Persian. I replied in the affirmative. He
then vemarked: ““The man whom you have found 1s

* Tide footnote at p. 32, Vol. IT.

¥ According to Winslow, Tambirdn means a g« monk, boand +,
cehbaey ; in token of whien Tie wears 1ed garments, wears his hair tangled,
is generally learned, and is ¢nabtied to perform the Siva-pfijah.
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not of much use, for he does not know the French
language, You say that your brother is lyirg ill.
Ts it not necessary that we should procure a compe-
tent person who is versed in French? How is this
to be effected ? Make inquiries.” I promised to do
so. A little while after this, the Governor summoned
me again, and asked whether Muttaiyappan was a fit
person to be sent as chief of the peons at Madras.
I said that he was. He thereupon said: * Inform
him, then, of his appointment, and let him hold
himself in readiness to proceed thither. Tell him
to engage sixty men. You will, of course, defray
the necessary expenses.” T replied : ¢ The present
chief of the peons at Madras is powerful. Those of
the surrounding country are, also, all men of
influence, and are, moreover, his kinsmen. They
will unite in offering resistance.” ¢ Indeed!”
said the Governor; ‘let Muttaiyappan, however,
go now, and we will hereafter see what is to be
done.” I interposed: ¢ I have a representation to
make. Pleaselend aeartoit.” On his permitting
me to speak, I said: “It will not look well if
Muttaiyappan goes now, and has to return. It
would not signify so much if he had remained in
office. Butas he once vacated it, and has since
returned, he might be treated disrespectfully.”
“ No,” exclaimed the Governor, “ the appointment
is one which will suit him, and he will behave
creditably.” On this 1 vretired, and having
summoned Arunichala Chetti, informed him of the
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instructions which the Governor had given me,
and directed him to go to Muttaiya Pillai, and
communicate them to him. I also bade him see my
younger brother, Tiruvéngadam, who is sullenly
resolved not to return to Madras, and try to per-
suade him to proceed thither.

Having executed the commissions entrusted to
him, Arunichala Chetti returned to me and said:
“1 communicated what you told me to Muttaiya
Pillai, and he replied that the best thing that could
be done was to obtain for him the chief dubésh-
ship at Madras, failing which, the next was the
appointment as chief of the peons. He also told me
that he would come and see you, on your retarn
from attending on the Governor, and he asked me
to say that you are to assent to whatever M.
Dupleix proposes. I also tried to use my influence
with your brother, but he i1s not to be turned from
his purpose. He talks as if he had abandoned all
earthly pursuits, and become a hermit. Muttaiya
Pillai told me that he, Y00, would visit Tiruvéngadam,
and try to induce him to change his mind.” I
went to the Governor, and informed him that
Muttaiyappan submissively held himself at his dis-
posal, and had authorized me to communicate this
to him. He smiled, and said: ““Then arrange for
the speedy appointment of the peons, and do not, for
even an instant, lose sight of the matter, as I have
very much business to attend to. Always keep a
vigilant eye on the affairs of Madras.”
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He next asked me whether the letters addressed
to the Nawdab, his son Mahfuz Xhin, Husain Sahib,
and Sampiti Rao, had been completed. I said that
they had. He directed me to write a letter to Vakil
Subbaiyan, and despatch it. I accordingly did so.
I afterwardssent, by a courier, the letters addressed

" to the Nawaib, Husain Sahib, and Sampiti Rao;

and forwarded the letter to Mahfuz Khau by another.
I directed the first messenger to go to Arcot, and
deliver his letters; and the sccond to proceed to
wherever Mahfuz Khin was to be found, out of Arcot,
and hand him the letter of which he was the bearer.
I then made a report to the Governor of what I
had done.

The letter from M. Dupleix to the Nawib ran
as follows: “ In consequence of the English having
captured a ship carrying your flag, our King sent,
on your behalf, some men of war, with orders to
capture Madras, plant his flag there, and later
on, deliver possession of it to you. The fort is,
therefore, now in our hands. When you came here
last year, you personally urged us to make war
against the kinglish, and promised to render us every
assistance. You said that they must be rooted out
of this country, and that our flag should fly every-
where. When your son Mahfuz Khian came here
in Tai [January] last, he said many things to us.
It is therefore surprising that, standing, as he does,
in the reiation of an elder brother to us, he should
now forget all that he then said, and should seek
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to ussist the cause of the English. The French
have always been a warlike race, and 1t is
impossible to subdue them. It grieves us much
that they should be compelled to turn upon your
son, and bring to bear against him the courage which
overthrew the English. If you, however, should
act without due caution, we are determined to give
you a proof of the power of our valor. We
will then raze the fort and town of Madras to the
ground, and will work out our own policy, as
circumstances may dictate. You will hehold all
these things with your own eyes.”

This letter, although in the form of a son address-
ing his father, was couchedin abrupt terms of this
kind. The communication to Mahfuz Khin was in
similar terms, and was to the same purport as the
other, but the form adopted was that of a younger
brother addressing his elder. The additions in this
letter were, however, the following. In one place
Mahfuz Khin was compared to a man who had
started to plunder a wrecked ship, and he was
asked what he expected to find of value in the
shattered planks. In another, the letter ran thus:
“We hear that you have gone forth with a view to
iterfere, against our interests, in the political
affairs of Madras, and to restore the fort to the
English,” The letters to Husain Sahib and Sampéti
Rao were written in the style of one intimate friend
addressing another, and adjured them, on the score
of their long-standing friendship, to save the son of
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the Nawab from harm, by giving him suitable advice,
and thus putting a stop to his expedition.

The Governor directed me to write to the amaldar
of Mylapore to warn him, in the strongest possible
terms, of the loss of friendship which would result,
and the other consequences which would ensue, if he
persisted in annoying the French when passing in
and out of Madras. In pursuance of these directions,
I forwarded, by post, a letter to this effect.

I afterwards went home, where Muttaiya Pillai
joined me. I sent him and Arunichala Chetti to
my brother’s house, to see if he was there, and on
hearing that he was, I went to see him. I communi-
cated to Muttaiya Pillai all that had taken place
between me and the Governor, as recorded on a
previous page, and he left the management of the
whole affuir to my discretion. 1 then used every
possible argument with my brother Tiruvéngadam,
in view to induce him to alter the resolve which
he had made not to return to Madras. He replied
as though he had taken an aversion to all earthly
concerns. I tried, again and again, to persuade him
to yield, but his resolve was not tu be shaken.
He was recalcitrant, and used provoking language.
Such a thing never happened before. I put it
down to my ill fortune. Having directed Muttaiya
Pillai and Arunichala Chetti to reason with my
brother, and attempt to prevail on him to go, I went
home, bathed, and dined. Having argued with
my brother untilthey were weary, Muttaiya Pillai
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and Arunichala Chetti came to me, after I had
finished eating, said that he would not listen to
reason, and begged me not to endeavour any more
to persuade him. They then departed. My brother
appears to be under the impression that I am
pressing him to go to Madras, merely to suit my
own ends, and to be altogether void of all desires
and attachment to his own interest. But I attri-
bute his unwouted contumacy, and his disiike for
employment to my present evil star, the influence
ot which still operates on the current of my life.
When this terminates, I dare say that he will be
restored to a proper frame of mind.

In the evening, the Governor’s peon communi-
cated to me the news that the five ships which sailed
from here, for Acheen, had joined company with
two of those of M. dela Bourdonnais, which were re-
turning from Madras, and went to Virdmpattanam,
where they all, so he said, are now anchored.

Friday, 28th October 1746, or 15th Arppisi of

Akshaya.—This morning, I went to the Governor’s
house. Just then the mail arrived from Madras,
and brought news that the Muhammadans had
plundered the washermen’s depot, and ill-treated
the person in charge, and that their horsemen were
engaged in pillaging. The letters sent by M.
Dordelin, and other naval captains, stated that M.
de la Bourdonnais had detained the ships which the
Council at Pondichery had ordered to Acheen, and
had directed that they should sail in company with
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his own squadron. The Council met, at 7 o’clock, 1n
order to deliberate on these matters. After a while,
the Councillors adjourned, went to churck, heard
mass, returned, drank coffes, and resumed the sitting,
which lasted until noon. They then addressed letters
to Madras, and to the naval captains.

During the time that the Council was sitting, the
Governor sent for me and Madaninda Pandit, and
asked us whether Mirzd *Ali Bég was a kinsman of
the Nawdb. I replied: ¢ Madaninda Pandit con-
siders that the names Bég, and Mirzd, are borne
onlv by the Moghuls, and, therefore, that Mirzd
Al Bég cannot be related to the Nawéb, who is
a Shaikh.” T further said: “ Madarinda Pandit
informs me that there are two or three brothers
who are officers in the army of the Nawib, and that
one of them, Mirzd ’All Bég, is employed under
’Abd-ul-Jalil at Vizhuppuram.” He directed us to
make inquiries on this point of the Mubhammadans
residing at Pondichery. Madaninda Pandit went
out to do this, returned, and confirmed what is
stated above. I communicated his report to the
Governor, who, without saying why he wanted the
information, repeated the mames three or four
times, varying the pronunciation on each occasion,
and he then asked us whether such names were
common. We said that they were.

At noon, Tanappa Mudali and I went to the house
of Ariyappa Mudali, to condole with him on the loss
of a son, 1ged three. [ then went home.
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In the afternoon, the Governor sent for e,
and directed me to write to Mirzd ’All Bég, who
is encamped near Madras, informing him that he
should represent his grievances in person to the
Governor at Pondichery, and not commit robbery or
depredations at Madras, and that if he continued
to act in that way, he would incur the serious dis-
pleasure of the Government. T wrote this letter,
and sent it by Fazl Muhammad.

Under my instructions, Virdgu went to Muttaiya
Pillai, and handed to him Rs. 150, to be expended
in recruiting sixty peons. Muttaiya Pillai sent me
word that he had succeeded in obtaining a few.

Two letters, both dated 12th instant [25th
October], written by Kandédl Guruvappa Chetti, from
Madras, arrived to-day. I transcribe below the
contents of these . . *

To-day, M. de la Bourdonnam ship, the Achille,
announced her arrival, by firing fifteen guns. The
salute was returned by one of the same number.
M. de la Bourdonnais did not land. His baggage,
and that of the ship’s crew, was put on board.
The Coffres also embarked.

Saturdan, 29th October 1746, or 16th Arppisi of
Al:shaya.-—M. @’ Espréménil, who is the official in
chief charge at Madras, and M. Gaudelaire, who is
employed at the Port Office there, arrived by boat,
at 5 this morning; and as I was pondering over
what brought them here, Kandappan, the interpreter

* Blank in the original.
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of M. d’Espréménil, arrived. I asked him the object
of his master’s visit. He replied: ¢ The Governor
wrote to M. d’Espréménil, asking him to come to
Pondichery. The letter was received at Madras, at
10, the night before last. We at once took boat, and
arrived here this morning, before day-break. Prior
to starting, my master delivered over charge of the
fort to M. Barthélemy.”

I asked him what he knew about the seizure of
M. de Bury’sson. He replied as follows : *“ When
M. de Bury’s son was being led away by his captors,
M. de Kerjean, the nephew of M. Dupleix, and M.
Gosse, with thirty Mahé sepoys, were sent to rescue
him. They were strictly ordered to avoid coming
into collision with the opposite party,and to accom-
plish their object only by persuasion and fair words.
‘When the sepoys approached, they were surrounded
by a body of thirty horsemen and fifty foot soldiers.
As, notwithstanding their repeated solicitations,
M. d’Espréménil had prohibited all hostilities, on
the score that he had no ordersfrom the Governor
of Pondichery permitting them, the two Frenchmen
and the Mahé sepoys accompanied their captors
without resistance. They were imprisoned at
Mylapore, along with M. de Bury’s son.” “Tt is at
the instigation of Peddu Ndyakkan,” he continued,
“that the town is now being pillared. The rob-
bery of cloths at the washermen’s depot was planned
by him. The ill-treatment to which the adherents
of the French are subjected is due to his orders.”
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He further mentioned that much valuable property
had been carried away from Madras, and expressed
curlosity as to what would happen in conse-
quence of M. d’Espréménil’s having left the
place. He said that even this was a good oppor-
tunity for acquiring plunder. He next detailed the
circumstances ot the imprisonment of Mr. Morse and
his companions. He also said that Malaikkozhundan
has amassed much ill-gotten wealth. Having told
me that he was going to my brother, to communicate
this news to him, and induce him to go to Madras,
he took his departure.

Kandappan also told me the following: * One of
the men engaged in pillaging the washermen was
captured, and admitted that he belonged to Peddu
Niayakkan’s gang. The moment that it was decided
to seize and imprison Peddu Nayakkan, he got wind
of what was about to be done, and fled to the country
in the vicinity of Saidapet and Mylapore.” He
further said that all who went to Madras had
enriched themselves by unfair means, but that he
and my younger brother, Tiruvéngada Pillai, alone,
were, in that respect, guiltless. He, however, whilst
acknowledging that some of the plundered property
might have stuck to his fingers, exculpated my
brother completely, and said of him that he came
away with hands as clean as if he had washed them
after eating Bengal gram.

This morning, after M. d’Espréménil had
conversed with the Governor, and gone home, a

10794
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Council was held. The subjects for consideration
were the political interference of the Muhammadans
with regard to Madras, and the following matter.
The three ships which arrived at Pondichery, under
the command of M. Dordelin, and two belonging to
the squadron of M. de la Bourdoxnnais, namely, the
Lys and the St. Louis, had been ordered te proceed
to Acheen. But M. dela Bourdonnais directed the
captains of all these to accompany him to Goa. They
at first refused, on the ground that they were hound
to obey the orders of the Council at Pondichery.
He thereupon summoned them to a meeting on
board his own ship, and having explained to them
that the instructions which he had received from the
King’s Mirister gave him the complete command of
everything sailing under the Company’s flag, he put
to them the question whether they meant to comply
with these. They agreed to obey his orders, -and
those of the Minister. Thereupou, they wrote to
the Council at Pondichery, to intimate that they were
proceeding to Goa with M. de la Bourdonnais.
Having considered this letter from the captains, the
Council despatched a reply stating that they might do
as they pleased, and that the Council would write to
the Directors on the subject. Further deliberations
were proceeding, when a letter from Kandil Guru-
vappa Chetti arrived. The contents of this were as

recorded below ¥

* Blank in the original.
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When the Council was being held to-day, the
Governor said to me : “* You allege that your brother
is ill. We must send a clever man, who knows the
French and Muhammadan languages. Whom shall
we depute *”’ I replied that 1 would find some one.
The Governor remarked that Sinappaiyan would do
well as interpreter of the Muhammadan language, if
Muttaiyappan was sent. Now, Muttaiya Pillai had,
four Indian hours before this, communicated to me,
through Arunichala Chetti, his reluctance to go to
Madras. He represented that the Muhammadans
were bent on besieging Pondichery, and planting
their flag there, that Madras was, at present,
beset by from 100 to 150 horsemen, who had carried
away M. de Bury’s son, M. de Kerjean, and M.
Gosse as prisoners, and that it was, therefore, not
safe for him to proceed thither, unless accompanied
by a strong escort; and he asked me not to say
anything to the Governor regarding his willingness
or unwillingness to go to Madras, until I heard
further from him. I accordingly told the Governor
that Muttaiyappan had written to various places in
view to recruiting peons, and that there would
consequently be a delay of some days before he
could start for Madras with his men, but that Ran-
gappa Chetti, whe had accompanied my brother,
was at present there. ITadded that he knew both the
French and Muhammadan languages well,and under-
stood, also, the ways of the Vaddandi and Lédandi,
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Muhammadans.* The Governor asked me whether
I considered him fit for the office of dubésh. I re-
plied that I did. He then said that Rangappa Chetti
was a clever man, and that he would appoint him.
It was accordingly ordered, in a letter addressed by
the Council to Madras, that Rangappa Chetti, who
was there, was to be employed as dubésh.

The Governor now walked out of the room, and
asked me whether 1t was not at the instigation of
the English that the Muhammadans were acting as
they at present were doing in Madras. I assured him
that it was so. ‘“ What shall we do then ? ”” asked the
Governor. Irephed: ¢ If we hold out to Mr. Morse,
and the other Englishmen who are with him, the
threat that if they persist in invoking the aid of the
Muhammadans, in connection with politics at
Madras, we shall alter our present treatment of them,
and subject them to indignities, they will write to
the Muhammadans beseeching them not to interfere
any further, and will also forbid their chief of the
peons to cause trouble by colluding with the horse-
men who beset Madras. If we do that, I think the

* No entirely satisfactory explanation of these phrases has been found,
They are Telugu, and respectively mean I do mot want, sir, and No sir.
The language spoken between themselves (known by natives as the
“house talk ) by people of the Che i (merchant or trader) caste is
Telugn, which was a good deal affected at Pondichery. The Lubbays—
for an acconnt of whom ride footnote at page 53, Vol. I—are, to this day,
noted as being tight hands at bargaining, and as the two Telugu words
used in the text frequently occur in the course of driving a bargain
between native traders, it seems probable that they were applied as a
nickname to the Lubbays, to distingnish them fromn the Hindustani
8peaking Muhammadans.
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unrest there will be put an end to.” The Governor
at once went to the Council chamber, and having
cansed what I had suggested to be embodied in the
despatch for Madras, returned to the room where I
was. Then Tanappa Mudali suggested to me to
represent to the Governor the importance of sending
men to Azhisapidkkam, and other villages. I did so;
and he informed us that he had despatched parties to
those places with orders to tear down the flags
that might be displayed there by the Muhammadans,
and to seize those who attempted to display them.
When M. d’Espréménil was talking with the Gov-
ernor, at day-break this morning, Madame Dupleix
was present, and said to her husband: “ When
Nawidb Anwar-ud-din Khén came here, he called
me his daunghter, and laying his hand on mine,
expressed his desire to see us drive out the English.
and hoist our flag at Madras. As he said this, I
will now write to him.” ““Do,” replied the Gover-
nor. After further consideraticn, they summoned
Madandnda Pandit, at 6 o’clock, and bade him
compose a letter purporting to he from Mademe
Dupleix, to Mahfuz Kbhin. The first draft was
destroyed; the second was fair copied, and Madame
Dupleix sent it by her mace-bearer, accompanied
by a present consisting of two portraits, and two
china plates, not worth four cash in all. Now,
what shall I say as to the good sense of the husband
who allowed his wife to write to Mahfuz Khan,
without a thought of the fact that the rules of
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Muhammadan etiquette regard with but scant
favour a woman as a correspondent ; and without
considering whether a mere letter from her—wife of
the Governor of Pondichery though she be—was the
most likely means of diverting from his purpose one
who, to punish the French for having, so he alleged,
plundered Madras of 15 or 20 crores of pagodas,
directed the coramanders of his garrisons to occupy
the suburbs of Pondichery, and blockade the town
itself so closely that neither a basket of corn, nor
a bundle of straw or firewood, can be carried into
it unperceived ; and who, at the same time, had
ordered the blockade of Madras, and the capture
of its suburbs, and was himself marching thither
with that very object? When Madame Dupleix
was about to despatch her letter to Mahfuz Khén
by her mace-bearer, she called me to her, and ex-
claimed : ¢ Rangappa, my letter to Mahfuz Khin
will set mattersright.” ““Who doubtsit?’’ said I.
“The only cause of delay is that your letter has
not vet reached the hands of Mahfuz Khin. The
moment that he receives it he will either order it to
return, or he will put a stop to the war, and treat for
terms.” < Order what to revurn ? >’ asked she. ¢ His
army,” replied I.  ““That is true !” she exclaimed.
I now ventured the remark : ‘Had you nov better
delay sending vour letter until we see the effect of
that of the Governor? T think that you ought to
address the old man first, and ask him to write to his

2

son.”  She replied, with « little severity in her look :
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“ When Mahfuz Khin came here, he, too, compli-
mented me, by calling me his sister. What does
it signify whether a letter is despatched by me, or
the Governor ?” Unwilling to provoke her on this
account, and considering that it was none of my busi-
ness to interfere, when the master himself did not
see anything wrong in her proceedings, I flattered
her without stint or measure, and took leave.

T then went to the Governor, who conversed
continuously with me regarding the movements of
Mahfuz Khin, and the capture of MM. de Kerjean,
and Gosse. I thereupon made a suggestion to him,
saying : ‘“ Whoever goes, none other than you can
bring matters to a proper conclusion. You once
proposed that when Madras was captured, we
should repair thither, remain a month, and arrange
everything. Let us accordingly . . .*

* Blank in the original,
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CHAPTER XXXIII.

FROM OCTOBER 30TH, 1746, TO NOVEMBER 5TH, 1746.

Letters written on the previous night despatched—Governor gives

sundry directions to diarist—Who comnmunicates certain news to
him—Téanappa Mudali and diarist ask M. Paradis for time to
make a payment—Iis conditions—They promise a reply later
on—Diarist consults a friend, and consents—A mixzed force starts
for Madras-- Krimdsi Pandit goes as interpreter—Muttaiya Pillai
accompanies it-—Letters from the amalddr of Mrlapore, and Dastgir
Sahib—Contents of these—Governor jeers at the amalddr’s letter—
What diarist thereupon says, angers tbe Governor —On which diarist
withdraws— Governor snbsequently recalls him—Bids him forward a
letter to M. Martin—And then directs him to draft a lecter to Mahfuz
Khian—The threats which this conveys—And the demand which it
makes —Orders as to certain letters—Envoy from the R&jd of Kolatri
presents himself—What the Governor said to him—Pachai Kandaiyar
visits Pondichery—Governor converses with diarist regarding the
party at Villiyanallfir—Diarist relates what took place between the
amaldar of that place, and Abd-ul-Jalil—And states that Mir Husain
Khin has demanded large reinforcements—And has deprecated at-
tacking the village—Governor cancels his previous orders—He speaks
to diarist regarding his former idea of visiting Madras—And certain
shipments of cloths—Governor revives, and again defers, the idea
of capturing the party at Villiyanallir—Report of the movements
of Mahfuz Khén—And of his advance to attack Madras—Letters
from ’ Abd-ul-Jalil to the Governor, and Tdnappa Mudali—What he
gsaid in the former of these—What he wrote in the latter—The
reply sent by M. Dupleix—It suggests a persvnal discussion with
? Abd-nl-Jalii—Letter to the Governor from M. Martin—In it he
reports his retreat to Arivdnkuppam—®Governor’s anger at this—
Diarist finds that M. Martin’s interpreter was chiefly to blame—
M. Martin and his men recalled—He, the interpreter, and Virappan,
examined—Interpreter contined, and Virappan censured—Men
sent to intercept letters between the English «nd Mahfuz Khin—
Governor questions diarist as to the movements of Mahfuz Khén,
cte.-—And talks again of going to Madras—Diarist dissuades him from
capturing the sepoys at Villiyanalllr— Meets M. Desmarets—Goes to
the Governor's honse —Informs him that a reply from Husain S&hib
has arrived—aAnd reports what Vakil SBubbaiyan wrote—The reply
gsent to Subbaiyan—Diarist tells Governor that there s no news
from Vizhuppuram—Goveraor orders certain cloths—Diarist states
where the merchants of Madras are said to have secored their
goods—Diarist reports what he heard from Vizkuppuram—=over-
nor decides to despatcha force thither—Men gent to collect news—
The bearers of gifts from Bilaiya Tambirdn brought to the Governor—
He asks diarist where the Eunglish hid their treasore at Madras—
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Conversation on this subject--Strange tale told to diarist by M. Bussy  Cgap.
—News received by diurist concerning the English postal runners XXXIII.
—Remark of Governor onlearning strength of the force at Vizhuppu- _—
ram—Flattering reply of diarist—Conversation touching the trea- 1746.
sure at Madras—Widow of Dést’All Khdn prepares presents for the
Governor —Description of these—Formalities with which they are
brought—Reception by the Governor of them and the bearers—Letter
from Madras to the Governor—This reports an attempt by Mahfuz
Khén's men, to open the bar of the river—The failure of the steps
taken tu hinder them—A subsequent engagement—The total rout of
the Muhammadans—The immediate flight of Mahfuz Khin—And
the sack of his camp—This news told by the Governor, to diarist—
Who enumerates the previous reverses of Mahfuz Khin—And ex.
Presses his opimon as to what he will do—Ezxultation of the Governor
~—Diarist receives details of the battle—Governor proposes to go to
Madras, and diarist approves—Governor’s plans as to his march—
Says that "Abd-ul.Jalil muost be captured—IIis scheme for effecting
this—Diarist points out an oversight—Governor promises to remedy
it—ODbtains from diarvist a plan of a certain route—Writes and sigus
certain orders—And personally instructs the officers concerned
—V. Reddi asks diwist, as waris certain, how to secure his family
—1Is reassured by diarist—Who reports to the Governor the defec-
tion of the Killedar of Gingee—Capture of the man ordercd—Governor
gives special orders to diarist-—Who sends out three men, with stiict
instructions—V. Aiyan brings news of the Killedar—Is urged to
capture ’ Abd-ul-Jalil—Diavist obtains orders for free transit of certain
articles— He sends orders as to the duty on some rice—Visits Pachat
Kandaiyar—Diarist’s description of him—A peon comes to diarist—
And reports that Mahfuz Khén dismissed him without a reply to the
letter delivered by him--That be was robbed—That a priest at
Mylspore assisted him—That he returned, to again ask an answer—
But was turned away—That he saw M. de Kerjean, in confinement—-
Witnessed the attack made by the French—Returned and tcld the
priest what he had seen—And came back by way of Covelong—Diarist
takes him to the Governor—And when telling the news supyresses
particulars as to M, de Kerjean —He aftervards reports touching the
Killedar of Gingee—Mme, Dupleix sends N. Pillai to ask the news—
Diarist’s sarcastic reply—N. Pillai tells him that she sent costly gifts
to Mahfuz Xhdn—That, on arrival, the bearers were told to come to
Mylapore—That M. Khén then ordered their execution—And that,
overhearing the order, they fled—He also says that the Governor
asked ubout M. de Kerjean—And enjoined secrecy on the peon.

Sunday, 30th October 1746, or 16th* Adrppisi of
Akshaya.—The following is an account of what took

% ¢ 16th” in the Tamil copy. The correct date is 17th.
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place this morning, when I went to see the Governor.
The three letters written last night were delivered
to two couriers, one of whom wasto convey to Arcot
those addressed to the Nawib, and Husain Sahib;
and the other was to carry to Conjeeveram the letter
written to Mahfuz Khin, who, it was said, was on his
way there. I afterwards reported to the Governor
that I had forwarded the letter to the amaldar of
Mylapore by post, and having done this, I stepped
aside, and sat down. He then directed me to send
for Tanappa Mudali, and to write and despatch a
letter to Imam Sahib. I complied with his orders,
and delivered the packet into the hands of Imam
Sahib’s messenger, a Muhammadan who had come
to purchase brocade. In compliance with the in-
structions of the Governor to prevent the seal being
seen, 1 erclosed the letter in another which the
messenger was carrying, so that the only seal visible
was that on the latter.

This evening, I communicated to the Governor
the intelligence brought by Husain, from Vizhup-
puram. He said that he would give a reply
to-morrow. Atmnoon, Tanappa Mudali andI waited
on M. Paradis, and requested him to permit us to
pay, in March next, the instalment of rent falling
dne in November for the villages farmed by us at
Karikal. He said that if we each would, at once,
deliver grain to the value of 1,000 pagodas, he would
write telling his servants to receive the balance
of 750 pagodas, in March, provided that we paid it,
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also, in kind, at the rate of half a measure in excess
of the then market rate per pagoda. As this would
entail loss, Tanappa Mudali was unwilling to accept
his conditions. Considering it, however, impolitic
to tell him so, we said that we would think the
matter over, and give a reply in the evening. I
consulted Séshaiyangir. Agreeing with him in
the view that, in the event of the proposed terms
not being accepted, M. Paradis might trouble us
very much, I immediately repaired to him, and
intimated our consent.

Monday, 31st October 1746, or ITH* Arppisi of
Akshaya.—This morning, at about five or six Indian
hours before day-break, 3500 French and 200
East Indian soldiers and Mahé sepoys; 600 in
all, marched from Pondichery for Madras. Ten
horses were also sent; seven of these belonging to
Tamilians, and three to the Company, Krimési
Pandit and a writer accompanied the force, the
former to act as interpreter between the French and
Muhammadans, and the latter to read and write
letters in Persian.

I informed the Governor that Muttaiya
Pillai, also, desired to go. He then gave me a letter
to be taken by him to M. Paradis. I stated that
he wished to see him before leaving. In reply, M.
Dupleix said that he would experience a hundred-
fold more pleasure to hear of his having joined

% ¢ 17th” in the Tamil copy. The correct date is 18th.

Cuar,
XXXIII.

1746.

They pro-
miseareply
later on.

Diarist
consults
a friend,
und
consents.

A mixed
torce

sturts

for Madras.

Krimasi
Pandit
goes as in-
terpreter,



CHAP.
X XXTII1.

1746,
M. Pillai
accom-
panies it,

Letters
from the
amaldar of
Mylapore,
and Dastgir
Sahib.

Contents of
these,

Governor
jeers at
amaldar’s
letter,

‘What
diarist
thereupon
BAYS,
angers the
Governor.

69 ANANDA RANGA PILLATLS DIARY,

M. Paradis, at Madras, than to see him. Muttaiya
Pillai started in the afternoon, with forty peons.
Tuesday, 1st November 1746, or 19th Arppist of
Akshaya.—~This morning, I went to the Governor’s
house. Letters arrived from the amaldar of Myla-
pore, and Pir Sa’dat Dastgir Sihib. The amaldar
intimated that Mylapore was no longer under his
control ; that some days previously Mirzi Hadi Haj:
Bég, a Jemadar, had encamped there, with 200
horse; that this was probably the same individuai
who, for the last ten or twelve days, had been captur-
ing and harassing the French, and committing other
excesses ; that Mahfuz Khin, with a large force,
which included 200 matchlockmen, had also arrived
at Mylapore ; aud that as his master, Mahfuz Khén,
had assumed the conduect of affairs, he, himself, could
not be held responsible for any acts of the Muham-
madans. Dastgir Sahib wrote: *““ I have renounced
the world, and am sitting apart. I know nothing
of these disturbances.” When the letter from
the amaldir was interpreted to him, the Governor
spoke jeeringly of the “large force of 200 men,”
led by Mahfuz Khin. I thereupon informed him
that the post runner had brought news that 4,000
armed men, consisting of Europeans, East Indians,
and sepoys, had marched from Fort St. David, for
Madras. He exclaimed, in an angry tone: ¢ The
man who told such a false tale as this should
have his ears cropped, receive 100 stripes, and be
driven out of the town. He magnifies a body of
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200 or 300 men into a force of 4,000.” On this
I remarked : “ He mentioned double that number
to me, but when telling you the news, I reduced
his figure by one half.” ¢ 'What ought I to do to
you for indiscreetly making a report of this sort ?”’
exclaimed Le. On hearing this, I withdrew. Aftera
while, however, the Governor sent for me, and said:
“ As was decided yesterday, we must send the men
who were ordered to remain at Ariyinkuppam, to
Vizhuppuram, to seize ’Abd-ul-Jalil. Mahfuz Khan
troubles such of our people asfall into his hands, and
is intent on plunder. Despatch two men, with a
letter which I will presently give you, to M. Martin,
the officer stationed at Ariyinkuppam, directing him
to proceed to Vizhuppuram. They will also act as
his guides.” I thereupon sent Gopilakrishna
Aiyan and Virappan, to conduct M. Martin to
Vizhuppuram.

After this had been done, the Governor again
summoned me, and ordered the drafting of a letter
to Mahfuz Khin, in the subjoined terms: * Yeu
ill-treat those of our people whom you meet,and even
threaten them with death. This is not right. As
we look upon you as our elder brother, wearedesirous
of saving you from harm. Many Muhammadans who
are members of your family are residing at Madras, as
well as at Pondichery. If you permit harm to befall
the three men whom you have imprisoned, these
thousands of Muhammadans will have to pay for it.
Very many of them will die by our bands, and we
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shall shed their blood until it flows like a river.
To avert this calamity, you should send the three
prisoners back to Madras, under the escort of the
Jemadar who captured them, and should furnish us
with hostages for your good faith. It will be only
after you have adopted this course, that there will be
peace between us.”’

Twelve letters came by post from Madras. The
addresses on them were written in Persian. I in-
formed the Governor that they were sent from
Acheen to Surat. He ordered me to keep them by
me until 1 could forward them, with other letters,
to their destination.

The Bhattan who came on a mission from the
Raja of Kolatri next presented himself, though the
occasion was not a favourable one. The Governor
handed to me the double cadjan letter from the
R4j4, addressed to him, and said : ¢ Tell the envoy
that we know the circumstances in which the R4ja is
at present placed. He requires our help to drive out
the pretender who 13 now in possession of his country,
and the English who have befriended his rival.
Inform bim that we will expel the English, and seize
their possessions; that we will support his master;
and that the R4jd, himself, must set about collecting
the force requisite to overthrow his opponent.” I
communicated the Governor’s speech to the Bhattan.

I then went to attend the marriage ceremonies
of Muttukrishna Chetti’s son, and afterwards
retarned home.
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Pachai Kandaiyar of Turaiyfir, who had come
to assist at the installation of Bélaiya Swami, and
who was on his way back to Turaiytir, intimated
his desire to visit Pondichery. I obtained a pass
for him, to enter the town, and he accordingly came,

At 3 inthe afternoon, the Governor sent for me,
and asked whether, in accordance with the direc-
tions given by him yesterday, I had ascertained the
strength of the party posted at Villiyanalltr, in
view to capturing it. I stated that I had received
information that only ten or twelve horses were
picketed there, but that forty or fifty sepoys were
encamped near them. On this, the Governor ex-
claimed : * Then we will take the men prisoners.”
I said: “<’Abd-ul-Jalil has sent instructions to
the amaldar of Villivanalllr, to hoist the war-flag,
and to prevent supplies coming into the village.
The Nawidb has also despatched a similar order
to Mir Iusain Khin. In reply, the amaldar of
Villiyanallir has written to *Abd-ul-Jalil that the
enemy are fearless, and would fall upon him, at once,
if he attempted to surround the village, but that
he, ["Abd-ul-Jalil], might advance against it with
a large force. Mir Husain Khin, of Vazhudivir,
has also written that he would require large
reinforcements for the purpose of surrounding the
village, and has at the same time represented that it
was not expedient to attack it, as the enemy might
offer a determined resistance, and might seize the

castom-house which has been established there. Mir
9
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Husain Khén has further represented that although
he was averse to acting on the aggressive, he was
prepared to abide by the orders of the Nawdib.
This is how matters stand at present.” ¢ Then let us
not think of seizing these men,” said the Governor;
and he countermanded his order to make them
prisoners.

He then conversed with me concerning the
1dea which he once entertained of going to Madras,
and the subsequent abandonment of it, owing to the
opposition of M. dela Bourdonnais. He afterwards
said: “ You know the Dutch ship that is bound
for Mocha. B8he is to sail next Tai |Januaryl. I
intend sending, by her, 300 scores of coarse blue
[cotton] cloth.  Will each score cost 28 pagodas ?”’
I intimated that the cost would be one pagoda more ;
namely, 29. The Governor replied :  Then, the
300 scores will cost 10,000 pagodas. 'There is only
a period of two months and ten days between now,
’ He next
asked me whether [ was sending any piece-goods
for the C'ompany. I informed him that I intended
to despateh fifty bales,—thirty containing 100 scores
of coarse blue cloth, and twenty of fine muslin—
and that I would ship them when M. Legou, who
was ill, returned. He replied: “Well; do so.”

As I was eating my supper, at Y, I was summon-
ed by the Governor who told me, that the men who
were at Villiy wmallir must, somehow or other, be
captured. I gave him the same reasons as I had

and then. T will give you the money.’
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before, to dissuade him. He then dropped the
subject, saying: © We will see about 1t when *Abd-
ul-Jalil returns.” I went home, at 10.

Wediesday, 2nd November 1746, or 20th Arppisi of
Akshuya. —Venkatachala Aiyan came to me, this
morning, and said : ““ My elder brother has arrived
from Conjeeveram. He states that, on the evening
of Wednesday last, Mahfuz Khin arrived there, with
490 horse, 1,000 foot, four or five pieces of artillery,
and about ten elephants; that making no halt, he
marched on, and pitched his camp at Bala Muttu
Rédma Chetti’s choultry; that he 1s advancing to
aitack Madras; that he has written to the Poligars
and Killedars directing them to join him with their
men at Mylapore ; and that he will leave Sriperum-
btdlir to-morrow, on his way to Madras, and will
encamp there the day after to-morrow.”

Two letters arrived from ’Abd-ul-Jalil ; the one
addressed to the Governor, and the other to Tanappa
Mudali. In the former, ’Abd-ul-Jalil wrote: 1
am, even now, engaged i annexing territory. DBut
do not take that to heart. I act only under the
Nawib’s orders. I do what I can, which 1s to look
to God, and beseech Him to bring about peace
soon. Let there not be a breach in our friendship.
I have with me onc Mirzd, a trustworthy man,
whom I will send to yvou, if you are inclined to
come to terms.” ’Abd-ul-Jalil wrote to I'dnappa
Mudali thus: “In your letter you state that the
Europeans are many, that they are bent on war
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alone, and think of nothing else, and that you have
not communicated to the Governor what I said,
because, so you allege, the Kuropeans will not
even listen to his words. Of what concern is 1t to
us if they make an attack, in ever so large numbers
What are they to us? A single word to the Nawib
will suffice to scatter them like gossamer. We can
carry out anything that we desire. I have, Just now,
sent a letter to your Governor. Tell him to effect a
peaceful settlement.”” On this being communicated
to M. Dupleix, he directed the following reply to be
sent: “We are always at peace with the Muham-
madans. They, alone, are the aggressors. In the
fiery ardour of youth, Nawdb Mahfuz Khin acts in-
considerately. The Nawéb of Arcot has very kindly
feelings towards us. He never does anything violent.
If you will visit us, we will personally talk over
these matters, and bring them to a peaceful issue.”
A letter in these terms was accordingly sent.

M. Martin, who had advanced with twenty-
five soldiers, twenty-five sepoys, and ten of the
Nayinir’s * peons, to the neighbourhood of Vizhup-
puram, wrote to the Governor to inform him that the
news brought by Ranga Pillai’s men was to the effect
that ’Abd-ul-Jalil was holding a fort, and had with
him 200 or 300 sepoys, three elephants, and half-a-
dozen camels; that a force of 200 or 300 men would
be required to dislodge him; and that he was

* Karuttambi Nayinir, the chief of peons.
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consequently obliged, as his men were also fatigued,
to fall back to Ariyinkuppam. The Governor sent
for me, and exclaimed angrily: ‘“ Your spies first
alleged that *Abd-ul-Jalil was occupying a house,
and now they have affirmed that it is a fort.
Hence, they have lied.” Ireplicd that I must make
inquiries of my people when they arrived. On
questioning Virappan, the physician, and others, 1
ascertained that the mistake had arisen from the
incorrect interpretation, by an Hast Indian, of what
was said to him, and that Virappan, also, was
somewhat to blame. I communicated this to the
Governor, who wrote to M. Martin, recalling him
and his detachment, and directing him to bring
the East Indian who had acted as interpreter.

At 4 in the afternoon, M. Martin arrived with
his detachment. He, the LBast Indian interpreter,
and the physician Virappan, were confronted with
one another,and examined. The Governor ordered
the East Indian to be kept under a guard. He
found, also, that the physician was to blame, but
let him off without punishment. He afterwards
asked me whether it was publicly known that a
party of soldiers had accompanied M. Martin. I
caid that it was not.

He directed me to detail men to intercept such
letters as might pass between the English and Mahtuz
Khan. 1 sent six, namely, Tondaminattam Venka-
tichala Aiyan, Husain, Swiminddhan, etc., and gave
them Rs. 24.
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At 9 at night, I was summoned by the Governor,
who questioned me regarding the movements, in
the vicinity of Madras, of Mahfuz Khin, and the
distribution of his troops. I gave him the informa-
tion. He next asked me whether any messenger
had come from Vizhuppuram. I stated that no one
had. He then spoke of his intention to proceed to
Madras, and of what he proposed to do there ; and 1
gave him replies suited to the occasion. When he
said that he was determined to capture, at all hazards,
the sepoys who were at Villiyanallfir, | dissuaded
him by saying that he ought tc leave them alone,
unless they openly manifested signs of hostility,
and that it would be better to wait, with a view tco
ascertain what course ’Abd-ul-Jalil would adopt.

Thursday, 3rd November 1746, or 21st drppisi of
Akshaya.—-1 was going, this morning, in the direc-
tion of M. Desmaréts’ house, to attenda sale,
by auction, of young elephants. He met me on
the way, and said that this had been postponed, but
that twenty candies of cinnamon bark, two bales of
coarse cloths, and four rolls of silk taffeta, were to
be put up to auction, in two lots. T thereupon went
to the Governor’s house, where a sitting of the Coun-
cil was being held. When this was over, I intimated
to him that Husain 8dhib had now replied to the com-
plimentary letter concerning the capture of Fort
St. George. Heasked me what Vakil Subbaiyan had
written. I informed him that he stated that Husain
Sahib had directed him to beg us to conciliate
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Mahfuz Khin, who was marching towards Madras,
and to presecve friendly terms with the Nawib; and
that the letter further contained news of the army,
and also mentioned that field pieces were being con-
veyed to Madras; that eight field guns brought from
Malabar to Trichinopoly had been sent for, and that
the Nawib had, as requested, sanctioned an increase
of cavalry. The Governor ordered the following
letter to be sent to Subbaiyan: ““ You say that Husain
Sahib has desired you to request us to conciliate
Mahfuz Khin. How can we do so unless we know
what his intentions are? Ascertain, and inform us
as to these, and ask him whetherit is right for rulers

2

to seize and imprison envoys.” This was done.
The Governor afterwards inquired of me
whether [ had received any news from Vizhuppuram.
I replied that I had none to tell him. I then in-
formed him that M. Bussy had given me a list, of the
goods which he wished sent to Mascareigne. He
authorized me to deliver the articles, as specified in
it. e also directed me to make ready 300 scores
of coarse blue cloth, valued at 10,000 pagodas, for
shipment to Mocha in the Dutch ship leaving in Tai
[Junuary] next, and gave me 5,000 Pondichery
crescent pagodas, in part payment of the order. He
next sat down to write a despatch to Madras, and
calling me up, asked where the mevchants at Madras
had secured their goods. T replied that I had heard
it reported that they had done so at Saidapet,
Karukampikkam, St. Thomas’ Mount, the Little
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Mount, and Mylapore. The Governor wrote to
M. Paradis accordingly.

In the afternoon, Dharmaiyan arrived from
Vizhuppuram. The Governor having sent for me
at 4, I presented myself before him. [ told him
that the whereabouts of the spies who had been
sent to reconnoitre remained unknown, that it was
reported that ’Abd-ul-Jalil had with bim a body of
fifty or sixty men, and that we might safely put
the number that he had with him at a hundred.
He thereupon deciaed to send, to-morrow afternoon,
fifty French soidiers, fifty sepoys, and twenty
Poligar peons. He also told me that he would
direct M. Duquesne tc despatch one half of the men
from Ozhukarai, and the remainder from Ariyinkup-
pam. I deputed Yegyam, Pattavaidyan, and a few
others, to collect news. Subsequently, 1 brought
before the Governor the Pandirams * who were the
bearers of gifts of fruit, sugar, and sugarcandy,
which Balaiva Tambirdn, of Bommaiyvapilaiyam,
had sent to him on the occasion of his installation.
I obtained for them permission to take away the
contributions to the matt, which had been detained
at the custom-house. The Governor directed me
to 1ssue the neceszary notice to the officer in charge.

At half-past 7, the Governor summoned me, and
desired to know whether I had any information as
to where the English had hidden their treasure at,

* Hindu mendicants in the south of India, of the Sddra caste; ofien
officiating as ministrant priests in the temples of Siva,
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Madras. I mentioned to bim one or two places where
I had heard that they had concealed it. ¢ Have
you been told,” he asked, ¢ that the English have put
it in a weli in the fort?” I said that the treasure
was hidden in the part of the fort where the English
resided.

After this, M. Bussy gave me an account of how
600 dogs had killed 2,500 Dutchmen in Europe.

Friday, 4th Nocember 1746, v 22:d Asppisi of
Alrshaya.—This morning, I deputed Venkatichala
Alyan and some peons, to accompany the man who
came to me with the news that he had succeeded in
inducing the postal runners of the English to deliver
their letters to him. I gave him Rs. 5, and after-
wards sent Gopilakrishna Aiyan to Vizhuppuram.

When 1 waited on the Governor, he asked me
how many men there then were at Vizhuppuram.
I said that there were about 100. He thereupon
exclaimed: “ Even if there were 400, fifty of cur
soldiers would easily defeat them. You know very
well the disposition, and quality of the courage,
of the people of this country.” I said, flatteringly,
“ A hundred French soldiers are a match for 1,000
men of this part of the world.” The Governor then
told me that he had heard, last night, that thie English
had concealed rhewr treasnre at the bottom of a well.
I said, ir accordance with what Krishuaiyan the
Hasty had stated to me, that the treasure was hidden
in the well of the English church. I then mentioned

the copper which had been brought from Madras.
10
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At 5 this evening, the widow of Dost ’Ali
Khin made ready the following presents for the Gov-
ernor; viz., two breast-ornaments—ocne set with an
emerald, and the other with a ruby in the centre—
two embroidered shawls, with borders in two colours,
one woman’s upper cloth, one atlas,* two upper
coats, one silk head cloth, with long embroidered
ends, and an ornament to be worn on the turban,
worth, in all, Rs. 1,000, or more. These were
laid out, on two trays. I had previously repaired
to the Governor’s house, and directed the Nayi-
nir to have in readiness musicians, nautch girls,
and all the spears, maces, and other articles,
required for the occasion. The procession was
drawn up at the Governor’s house, and I went
with it, accompanied by the Governor’s palan-
quin, mace-bearers, flags, the Company’s peons,
and a native captain, to Chandi Sahib’s house. 1
placed the presents in the palanquin, and returned
with trumpets sounding, and drums Dbeating, to
the house of the Governor, who advanced to receive
them, When they were taken out, and laid before
him, twenty-one guns were fired. Réighava Pandit,
who accompanied us, with the gifts, was presented
with betel and nut, sprinkled with rosewater,

* It is not quite clear what is meant. Hobson Jobson says of it that
it is an obsolete word for satin. Spelt atlass, it is still the German name
for that article. The Drapers’ Dictionary says that this word was also
applied tc a * silk stuff wronght witl threads of gold and silver, exported
from India,” A piece of this latter is, very probably, what is referred to
here,
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and politely dismissed. The Governor then drove
to the beach, and whilst he was there, a letter
from M. Barthélemy was brought from Madras, by
a catamaran, and delivered to him. It ran as
follows :

“ Mahfuz Khan was encamped on the foreshore
of the Nungambikkam tank. His army lay at the
Governor’s garden. Some Muhammadans were
sent to open the bar at the mouth of theriver.* Fifty
Mahé sepoys were despatched to prevent their doing
this, but were strictly ordered to fire only blank
ammunition, in order to put the enemy to flight.
M. de la Tour was directed to encamp near the
Governor’s garden-house, with 200 soldiers and fifty
Mahé sepoys, in view to obstructing the advance of
the Muhammwadan trcops. The sepoys sent to
hinder the cutting of the bar, discharged their
muskets, which were loaded with powder only.
The enemy fled, but discovering that the fire opened
on them was harmless, returned, and resumed
operations, regardless of the fire which was again
directed at them. I was informed of this, but
strictly enjoined on our troops that they should
not engage in a rcal conflict, unless they were
themselves attacked, and I even ordered M. de
la Tour’s men to desist from attempting to
prevent the Muhammadans from opening the bar.

#* This was the Cooum, which tlows into the sen about a third of a
mile or so south of Fort St. George.
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At 5 in the morning, some Muhammadan troops
were observed south-west of the fort walls. To
drive them away, two pieces of artillery, which were
not loaded with shot, were fired in their direction,
M. de ia Tour, who was in camp with 200 soldiers
and fifty Mahé sepoys, hearing the report of the
cannon, concluded that it was a signal for himto fall
upon the enemy. He accordingly attacked the troops
encamped in the Governor’s garden and to the west
of it, and opened a fire of musketry on them. This
engagement took place on the morning of Wednes-
day, the 20th [2nd November]. Grenades, also, were
thrown into the Muhammadan camp. Secing thata
battle was. being fought in earnest, the men on the
ramparts discharged several pieces of cannon at the
enemy’s camp. Some of these were shotted, and
others not. The artiilery fire did vast execution
amongst the troops encamped in the Governor’s
garden, and the temple behind it. Some men had
their legs shot off, others had their heads blown
away. Some took to their horses, and some to their
heels. Many horses were killed under their riders.
The entire Muhammadan force was put to total ront.
Before a shot could reach his camp, Mahfuz Khin
mounted his elephant, and escaped. After pursuing
the fugitives for upwards of five Indian hours, the
French troons returned to the camp from which the
Muhammadans had fled, and plundered the valuables
found there. They nextAset fire to some property
which they found in the Iswarun temple.”
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This news was communicated to me, with every
indication of joy, by the Governor, who sent for
me at 6, on his return from a drive. 1 said:
“Did I not tell you that your good fortune
would enable you to vanquish your enemies? When
Mahfuz Khin went to fight in Malabar, he was
defeated, and escaped to Trichinopoly, with only
twenty-five horsemen. In the Tanjore campaign,
also, he was, as you know, worsted, and put to flight.
When he went to the north, to offer battle to the
hill tribes, he was again overcome, and fled to Arcot.
He has had lessons of this kind, on half-a-dozen

. oceasions, and it is no new thing for him to sustain
defeat. Consequently, he was routed at Madras,
too. I have already told you that he would come
to his serses, and sue for peace. You will see my
prediction fulfilled. His father will write to him,
saying : ¢ You have not listened to my advice. I
have had enough of your exploits ; you must return.’
To avoid scandal, Mahfuz Khin will give out that he
is going back to Arcot, becanse his old father is ill
there.” The Governor then spoke witu exultation
of tho victory, and with scorn of Mahfuz Khan.

I afterwards received a letter from Guruvappa
Chetti, giving details of the battle. In this, it was
stated that 100 men, and fifty or sixty horses had
been killed. In every essential, it agreed with what
the Governor had told me. I have caused a copy of
it to be made in the correspondence register, for the
purpose of reference.
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At 7 at night, the Governor, after describing to
me the exploits performed during the battle with
Mahfuz Khin at Madras, intimated his desire to pro-
ceed there in the course of the week. I said: «If
you had gone earlier, you might have done much.
Even now, it is not too late. You can settle matters
there, and return quickly.” "The Governor then
said: “I will take 250 or 300 soldiers with me, as
far as Sadras, where I shall be joined by 250 men
from Madras, to which I will then move on with
the combined force. Hold yoursclf in readiness
to accompany me.” I replied : ¢ Very good, sir.”
He continued: “We must, at all hazards, cap-
ture’Abd-ul-Jalil. Twenty-five soldiers, twenty-five
Mahé sepoys, and ten of the Nayindr’s peons, are
stationed at AriyAnkuppam, and a similar number at
Ozhukarai. I will depute an officer to go, at day-
break to-morrow, to both of these places, and march
with the men, in the afternoon, to Vizhuppuram.” I
interposed, as follows: “ My people went to Ozhu-
karai to-day, and when they invited the troops
encamped there to accompany them te Vizhuppuram,
representing to them that it was a fit time to strike
the blow which had been planned, the sergeant in
command 1s reported to have said that he had no
orders to move from where he was.” I had for-
gotten,” said the Governor, “to send instructions
to-day. I will now write directing him to march
to-morrow, at 1 in the afternoon.” “ Very good,” 1
replied. He next asked me for a plan of the route
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between Ozhukarai and Vizhuppuram. I prepared
one, and handed it to him. He then wrote out an
order giving instructions that M. Caussinet was to
march by way of Ariyinkuppam,and M. . . . ¥
the officer commanding the western gate, by
way of Ozhukarai. This he signed, and delivered
to M. Duquesne. He next called both M. Caussinet
and the officer commanding the western gate, and
having personally given them his orders, dismissed
them, at half-past 9. T also took leave and returned
home at 10.

For the last two days, Tanappa Mudali has
failed to attend at the Governor’s house.

Saturday, [5th November 1746, o] 28rd [Arppisi
of Aksha yr].—Muttu Venkatapati Reddi, who arrived

at Pondichery the day before yesterday, came to &

my house this morning, and said : ¢ Itis certain that
the Nawdib is about to make war. What shall [ do
for the safety of my children?” I replied: ¢ Our
city will in no wise suffer, but will emerge from the
struggle with more glory than ever. If the worst
should happen, it shall fare with your children, as it
does with mine.” With these words, I comforted and
dismissed him, I then went to the Governor, and
reported to him that Nizim Muahi-ud-din, the Kil-
ledar of Gingee, had joined ’Abd-ul-Jalil at Vizhup-
puram, with fourteen horsemen, and twenty or
thirty foot. Hethereupon wrote an order directing

¥ Blank in the Tamil copy.
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the two officers who had been deputed to capture
’Abd-ul-Jalil, to scize Nizim Muhi-ud-din, also ; and,
in view to doing this, to set out for Vizhuppuram,
at 1 1in the afternoon, with the troops stationed at
Ariyinkuppam and Ozhukarai. This was delivered
to M. Duquesne. 'The Governor then desired me to
instruct my men, carefully,as to what they had to do,
adding that when once they had got the soldiers into
the fort, the capture of the two men would easily fol-
low. For this purpose, I sent Husain, Gopalakrishna
Aiyan,and a peon. Theyhad strict orders to assist,in
every way, in effecting the proposed capture. I gave
Husain a very libera] present, and held out promises
to him of future preferment. He was to indicate
to the soldiers the persons who were to be arrested.
After I had despatched these men on their mission,
Tondaméinattam Venkatichala Aiyan came to me,
and said that his spy had returned with the news
that Nazim Muhi-ud-din was preparing to start for
Gingee. I, however, strictly enjoined on him to
spare no effort to effect the capture of ‘Abd-ul-Jalil,
ever though he had left Vizhuppuram. I sent him
off, at half-past 1.

As, for the last seven or eight days, the officers at
the custom-hounse had heen prohibiting pilgrims and
other wayfarers, from bringing in with them, when
passing through the customs, their brass, copper, and
iron, vessels, I obtained an order to permit the free
transit of these, and forwarded it to the officials
concerned. I mext sent instructions to the officers
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of the custom-house to permit the admission, free of
duty, ot the bags of rice which had been consigned
to Khan Sihib. The Governor now left, to preside
at the Council, and I went to the areca-nut store-
house, where I stayed for some time, and afterwards
went home.

In the afternoon, I went to the gardens, and
thence to Kambélaiyar’s house, to visit Pachai
Kandaiyar, who was staying there, and who had
come from Turaiyfir, to assist at the installation of
Balaiya Swimi. I took with me two yards of broad-
cloth, which I presented to Pachai Kandaiyar, before
whom I prostrated myself. He isa man of pleasing
manners, a great scholar, and possesses a deep
knowledge of Sanskrit and Tamil. I therefore
conversed with him for about two Indian hours.
Having obtained his permission to depart, I went
at 6, to the Governor’s house.

Some hours prior to this, Muttu, a Christian
peon in the service of the Company, came to my
house, and related the following story: *In ac-
cordance with the directions which I received, I
proceeded to Conjeeveram, to deliver to Mahfuz
Khian the letter for him which had been en-
trusted to my care. But he had already left that
place, and was encamped, with his followers, to the
westward of Madras, where he had planted his
standard. T repaired thither, and delivered the
letter to him. Hziving read it, he told me that he

would send a reply by hLis own messenger, and bade
11
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me depart. [ represented to him that I could not
go without his answer. ‘You have nothing to
fear,” said he; ‘I will send it presently. You
may go.” I quitted his camp, but was at once
surrounded by the Muhammadans, and despoiled of
my clothes, turban, and badge of office. I therenpon
went to Mylapore, and told my story to a priest
of the Church of St. Paul, who was the only person
at liberty ; all his fellows being in confinement.
He gave me an old cloth,a turban, and two fanams
as batta, and advised me to present myself to
Makfuz Khin once more, before I returned to
Pondichery, and ask for his reply. I followed his
advice, and repaired to the camp of Mahfuz Khin,
to whom I preferred my request. His answer
was ¢ I have already told you that I would send
a reply by my own messenger. Go away. A
mace-bearer at once came forward to lead me
from the presence of Mahfuz Khin. I set out,
and when 1 approached the sweet-meat bazaar,
I saw M. de Kerjean, confined in a tent. He
was dressed in pantaloons and a shirt, had a
cap on his head, and was continually weeping.
The son of the Roman physician * came to speak
with the prisoner, but before he could exchange
any words with him, he was ordered away, and
M. de Kerjean was ill-treated by the armed attend-
ants. His lot is a hard one. A plate containing

* This refers to Frarcisco Pereira. Vide foot-note, p. 160, Vol. I,



STORY OF THE BEARER OF A LETTER TO MAHFUZ KHAN. 83

the small quantity of rice and meat that forms
his only food, is handed to him, and having
eaten it, he wipes his hands, and commences
to weep again. Whilst I was standing in the
sweet-meat bazaar, the French soldiers fell upon
the Muhammadan troops, who gave way, and
rushed to their camp. I cannot describe the rout of
the army, or the flight of Mahfuz Khin. I, too,
fled. I do not know what happened afterwards. I
heard that the Muhammadans encamped a league
further off, to the westward of Madras. I repaired
to Mylapore, and told the priest what I had
seen. He gave me a letter to a priest living in
Pondichery, whom I met as 1 was returning by
way of Covelong. I was telling him of all that
had occurred, when we encountered the ship-
wrecked men whom the Killedar of Covelong
had released, and whom he, very kindly, had
permitted to carry away the property saved from
the wreck. I afterwards resumed my journey, and
have brought with me the letter which M. Paradis
handed to me for delivery to the Governor.”” 1 gave
Muttu foed, and said that in the evening I would
conduct bhim to M. Dupleix, to repeat hLis story.
In accordance with my promise, I took him with
me to the Governor, whom I saw at half-past 6.
When I told him of the flicht of Mahfuz Khan, and
the release of the ship-wrecked crew by the Killedar
of Covelong, who had also permitted them to take
their property with them, he was delighted. But I
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cusar.  did not mention to him all the particulars that
XXXIIL . . e
— " Muttu had given me regarding the captivity in

Aul wien which M. de Kerjean languished. I did not tell

telling the . . .
news, sup-  him that he was continually weeping, or that he

presses
particulars

w0l de Was loaded with chains, or that he was ill-treated.
I drew a mild picture, and merely said that if
the French troops had only pursued the Muhammad-
ans a little further, they would have succeeded in
rescuing M. de Kerjean. The Governor, however,
did not dwell much on this subject. He retired to
his room, and when he came out again, I informed
Hoatter. him that I had received reliable information that
%E%E:ing the Killedar of Gingee, who arrived at 3 o’clock
oot yesterday, had started this morning. He inquired
mEif T knew the object of the visit. I said that I did
not. I then obtained a permit for the rice consigned
to Khin Sahib, and afterwards went to the areca-nut
Mue. Dup- godown, where I met Nirdyana Pillai, who came
Sopmai - from Madame Dupleix, to ask me what the news
e brought by the peon [Muttu] was. I directed him
Diarist's  t0 tell her that her elder brother, Mahfuz Khéin, had
relv.  fled, that his army was routed, and that he had
promised to write a reply to the Governor by and
by. Ithen went home. Nérdyana Pillai came again
to me at 10, and said as follows: “* Madame wrote
a letter to Mahfuz Khén, and sent it by her mace-
N.pusi - bearer along with presents consisting of one golden
zggﬁs%*g‘gﬂy spittoon, one nicely carved box, bound with gold,
iz and fitted with golden handles, one drinking cup,

Khan.
richly chased in gold, with a saucer which was made
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of the gold of Sandr coins, and valued at 500 pagodas.
A peon, who accompanied the mace-bearer, has now
returned, and has related the following to Madame
and the Governor. ‘Ten days after the fight, as
Mahfuz Khin was seated in his tent, the mace-bearer
presented to him the letter and gifts. Having read
the former, Mahfuz Khéin said that he was about to
go to Mylapore, and required us to follow him there.
We accompanied his camp, and when he halted at
Mylapore, he caused the presents which we carried
with us to be brought into his tent, and summoning
a Jemadar, directed him to behead all four of us.
Before the Jemadar could leave the tent to execute
the order which he had received, the mace-bearer,
who had heard 1t given, whispered it into my ears
and those of the coolies, and fled. We followed his
example. He ran eastwards, and when we lost
sight of him, owing, probably, to his having hidden
himself in a house, we took to our heels in the
direction ot the Little Mount, and had just struck
a path leading hither, when we were set upon, and
robbed of our clothes. It was with difficulty that
we escaped with our lives.” Having heard this, the
Governor asked the peon where M. de Kerjean was.
He replied that he did not know, but that he heard
that he had been conveved to Arcot. The Governor
enjoined on the man to keep the matter secret, and
dismissed him.” Having given me this news,
Nardyana Pillai took his departure.
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CHAPTER XXXIV.

FROM NOVEMBER 6TH, TO NOVEMBER 18TH, 17.6,

Meeting of Furopeans held—Petitions Government to annul the treaty

made by M. de la Bourdonnais—This request complied with—Attempt.
to capture ’Abd-ul-Jalil—His hurried flight to the zenana --Failure of
the French to find him —He makes good his escape—Ilis household,
etc., seized, and taken to Ariydnkuppam-—23. Duquesne sent there,
with his soldiers—And directed to release the prisoners—Letter from
the Governor to ' Abd-ul-Jalil—This alleges that the Freunch were in
search of English fugitives—And acted as they did, through misappre-
hension—It expresses the deep regret of the Governor—And begs
that the error may be excused—Diarist directed to see to the release
of the prisoners—And to tell them the same tale as that written to
’Abd-ul-Jalil—The letter for whom, he is bidden to deliver to them—
Cowmplies with the order—And makes a report to Governor—
Madanidnda Pandit sends u oney to diarist—They take to M. LeBou a
circular from the Governor—'lhis translated into Telugu, and Persian
—TIt states why Madras was captured—And complains of the action
of Mahfuz Ehén—Diarist informs Governor of the rumoured defeat
of Mahfuz Khdn—Governor’s orders to the Nayindr regarding certain
lost articles—He tells diarist of a battle between M. Paradis and
Mahfuz Khan—Details the particulars of the action—And of the rout
of the Muhamwadans—Iie mentions the sabsequent movements of
M. Paradis—And his junction with the force from Madras—His anger
at the delay in effecting this—Diarist makes somn.e soothing and
flattering remarks—2Mme, Dupleix, who is present, speaks in a like
strain—What diarist then said—He talks for two Indian hours— His
remarks touching M. de la Bourdonnais—Madame coincides—The
Governor’s observations, on lesrning what they are talking of —He
directs diarist to write letters to the Nizdm, etc.—And to order
Muttaiyappan to capture Peddn Néayakkan-—Bishop of Negapatam
visits Mr. Hinde, at Fort St. David—-Diarist intimates this to the
Governor—Letter from V. Subbaiy an reports defeat of Mahfuz Khin—
Diarist despatches circulars to certain Killedars—Is asked to, ;;ovide
supplies, etc., for the marriage of Chand $Sahib’s daughter —Wedding
gifts made by the Governor—Inquires ns to the loan of Kanakardvan’s
house—Arrangements made by him with Lazar— Governor den;ands
an additional house—And obtuaining the keys of it sends them to
diarist —The assertiors made by Tdnappa Mudali—Remarks of diarist
regarding him —Contents of certain official l:tters written by diarist—
In the evening, he dJdespatches others—Complaint muade to Tim
against Ténappa Mudali—THis remarks on what wus written in his
horoscope—Letters to the Governor, ete., from Husain S4hib,
V. S&mba Aiyan, and M. de Kerjean—The titst of these threatens
force, if Fort 8t. George is not surrendered—And puts forward
arguments to induce compliance—Contents of letters from Asad
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S4hib-—Reply of Governor comments on seizure of French envoys
~—Thanks Husain 8&hib for his treatment of the captives—And
refuses to give up Fort St.George —Orders regarding supplies for M.
de Kerjean, etc.—Latest accounts of Mahfuz Khéan— Of M. Pacadis
—And of the Governor of Fort St. David—Retarn of fugitives from
Cuddalore, ete.—Repurted flight of the inhabitants of Porto Novo—
News of the paroling of the English at Madras —Of there being no
Muhammadans at Mylapore— And of the movements of Asad Sahib
—The message sent by the Governor to the merchants of Madras—
And the assurance which accompanies it—He asks diarist why he
has not sent his brother to Madras—And orders that he shall go
thither, with certain officials — Diarist furnishes Governor with copies
of sundry letters—And explains the contents of others —Governor’s
remarks thereon-—Diarist sends a circular to certain poligars, ete.—
Contents of this—What M. Paradis wrote to the Governor— Diarist
asks, of M. Cornet, wheat for Chanda Sdhib's family—Contents of
a letter to the Governor from B, ’All Khin—He causes a courteous
reply to be sent— And takes steps to supply Chand4 S4hib’s family——
Departure, for Madras, of certain officials—Claim made, by M.
Dulaurens, on M. de la Touche—Who asks diarist to satisfy the
demand, ont of certain funds—Diarist prepares a draft tobe sent to
M. Dulanrens—Ditliculty as to paying in silver settled—Diarist goes
part of the way with M. de la Touche—Letter to the Governor from
V. 8vbbaiyan—This gives news of the dumngs of Muhammad ’Ali
Khin—Says that these displeased Malfuz Khin— And speaks of the
views held, at Arcot, as to the fights of Mahfuz Khdn with the
French— Remarks of the Governor on the letter— Diarist tells him
the news regurding the Governor of Fort St. David—And mentions
the march of a force towards Gingee —Reply of the Killedar of
Timiri to the letter regarding Mahfuz IKhén---Concars with the view
taken by the Governor— Who asks diarist whether he should write
to M.’ali Khin ~He counsels delay—Governor agrees— Diarist tells
him of an uttempt to seize certain postal officials-—And advises bim
not t6 complain tu the Nawab-—Pions act of wife of C. Parasurima
Pillai—Large gifts made by her.

Sunday, 6th November 1746, or 24th Arppisi of

Akshaya.—A public meeting of the Europeans was
held this morning, after the Governor had returned
from church. As Irecord that the priests of the
three churches attended this, it would be superfluous
for me to say that others were present. At this
gathering, iv was declared that the European com-
munity had convened a meeting at which it had bzen
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resolved to address a memorial to the Governor and
Council of Pondichery, requesting that the treaty
with the English at Madras, entered into by M. dela
Bourdonnais, shonld be annulled, on the score that
all the terms of it were mischievous, and some
even treasonable ; inasmuch as they unduly favoured
the English, who were the enemies of the French,
and thus tended to lower the dignity and reputation
of the French, in the eyes of the Muhammadan
rulers of the country. On presentation of the
memorial, the Council considered whether it was
reasonable or not, and decided to cancel the treaty
made by M. de la Bourdonnais with the English.
Such was the news that 1 heard from the Europeans.

Between 10 and 11, news of the party which
had been sent to effect the capture of *Abd-ul-
Jalil arrived. On the previous night, at 10, having
partaken of supper, he was reclining on a cushion,
and conversing with two or three of his friends,
when the French soldiers, acting on information
conveyed by spies, presented themselves at the house
in which he was residing. When they attempted
to enter the gate, the guards posted there drew
their swords, to oppose them. M. Caussinet and the
dunder-headed officer in command of the Vazhu-
diviir gate, ordered the soldiers to fire. They
thereupon discharged a volley along the passage,
and the reports of the muskets startled ’Abd-
ul-Jalil, who left his turban and overcoat, his
sword and Korfin, his hookah, and his rosary of



FAILURE OF THE ATTEMPT TO CAPTURE 'ABD-UL.JALIL. 89

beads, at the spot at which he had been sitting, and
fled, half-naked, to the women’s apartments, where
he hid himself in a chest. The Frenchmen were
lacking in sense and tact, and understood nothing
but fighting in the open field. There were
no lights in the apartments; and to add to the
bewilderment of the soldiers, the passages leading
to them were, as is the case in Muhammadan houses,
intricate, whilst the rooms themselves had various
outlets. The party had neither torches with them,
nor the means of striking a light; and they accord-
ingly did not spend any considerable time seeking for
their intended prisoner. The Mahé sepoys and the
Nayinir’s peons, who had been stationed around the
house, left their posts, and entered the building,
in view to plundering it. In consequence of this,
"Abd-ul-Jalil managed to make good his escape
from the zenana. Ths French soldiers reported
to their officers that they had searched every-
where, but that ’Abd-ul-Jalil had fled some time
previously. They next made his servants and
peons prisoners, and took possession of the over-
coat, sword, dagger, hookah, Kordn, and rosary,
left behind by him when he made his escape.
They also seized the carpet on which he sat when
engaged in his devotions. The French scldiers re-
turned, at once, to Ariyankuppam, with the muskets,
swords, and daggers, taken from the attendants;
twenty-one prisoners who consisted of the servants

and others; and all their booty. Such was the
12
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report made to me by Virappan, and I communi-
cated it to the Governor. Remarking that the
project had failed because smarter men had not
been employed, he sent for M.Duquesne, and directed
him to take his company of soldiers to Ariyankup-
pam. He also desired him to give food to the
servants and peons, whose detention served mno
useful purpose, and to set them at liberty, after
restoring all the property taken from them. At
half-past 2, the Governor sent for me, and instructed
me to write the following letter to ’Abd-ul-Jalil:
“ Our soldiers, who were on the look-out to arrest
English fugitives, heard a false report that two
persons of rank had taken refuge in your palace.
They questioned the sentinel at the gate ; but instead
of replying in a civil manner thatthere were no
Englishmen within the building, he exclaimed, in an
insolent tone, ‘ There is no coming into or going
out of this place’; ‘and then drew his sword in a
threatening manner. Our men being new to this
country, and not understanding its customs; and our
national code of honor authorizing any person to
shoot down an opponent who draws a sword on him,
thought that this was a signal for them to use their
muskets, and therefore fired a volley. They then
entered the palace, seized the servants who were
there, ard commanded them to show the Englishmen
who were reported to be concealed therein. They
brought away the attendants as prisoners. As
soon as I heard this, I was overwhelmed with
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inexpressible grief. You will duly learn the punish-
ment that I am about to mete out to the men who
snisbehaved in this manuer. I exceedingly regret
that anything should have arisen to endanger the
more than brotherly affection that exists between us.
But what is past is past. Let there be no bresch
of that friendship which has hitherto been so
sincere, and which will, I trust, last for ever. At
times, mistakes arise through the stupidity of the
agents whom we employ, and it behoves us to
overlook these. Excuse now the error of my men.
I implore you not once, but a thousand times,
to regard, for my sake, this accident with forbear-
ance.” It was in polished terms such as these, and
even yet more polite, that the Governor directed
me to write; and I did so. After the letter had
been prepared, he desired me to go to Ariyinkuppam,
and see that the prisoners were fed, and that all
the property that had been brought away by the
soldiers, sepoys, and the Nayinir’s peons, was
restored to the proper owners. I was also instructed
to give each of the prisoners a present of a rupee or
two, and to conciliate them by saying that the
mistake arose owing to a false report received by
the French soldiers, to the effect that some English-
men lay concealed in the palace; that no such
mishaps need be apprehended in the future, as
brotherly affection existed between the Governor
of Pondichery and ’Abd-ul-Jalil; that the recent
misapprehension must be attributed to the freaks of
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fortune ; that the Governor was much annoyed at it ;
and that he had decided to inflict severe punishment
on the transgressors. He moreover directed me to
deliver to them the letter addressed to ’*Abd-ul-
Jalil, and to send the twenty-one prisoners back
to the place from which they had been brought.
I accordingly went to Ariydnkuppam, and, in the
presence of M. Duquesne, spoke to the prisoners in
accordance with the directions which had been given
to me, and distributed amongst them Rs. 40. T also
gave them the letter to ’Abd-ul-Jalil, and wished
them a prosperous journey. At 7, I returned to the
Governor, with M. Duquesne, M. Caussinet, and the
officer commanding at the Vazhudivlr gate, and
reported all that had been done, as also the flight
of the inhabitants of Villiyanallir, Kédapikkam,
and other villages, on hearing the tidings of the
captures made by the French soldiers. We then
went home. The Governor handed to me the list,
prepared in French by M. Duquesne, of the articles
which had been restored to the Muhammadans.
I delivered it, for safe custody, to Madaninda
Pandit.

At 8 at night, Madaninda Pandit forwarded to
me a bill of exchange, accepted by Tarwidi, for
Rs. 50. He had written to Subbaiyan regarding
it. The amount covered by this was required to
pay the expenses of the European who was sent to
Arcot, in view to procuring the liberation and
return of his countrymen there.
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Monday, Tth November 1746, or 25th Arppisi of

Al:shaya.—This morning, Madaninda Pandit and I
went to M. LeBon, with the circular letter to
the Killedars, Jagirdars, and Munsubahdars,
which the Governor had drafted, yesterday, in
French. We translated it into Telugu and Persian,
and then prepared the number of copies required
by the Governor. This occupied us until noon.
The circular ran thus: ‘ When Nawdb Anwar-
ud-din Khin, and his son Mahfuz Khin came
to Pondichery last year, they, of their own accord,
suggested to us the expediency of attacking the
English, and capturing their fort. They requested
us to expel them from India, and promised to help us
with 5,000 cavalry, and 10,000 infantry. They
authorized us to capture Madras, at any cost, and to
hoist the French flag there. The royal word was
passed in the presence of many men of rank. We
accordingly took Fort St. George, and now Mahfuz
Khin comes, and tells us to restore it to the English.
To enforce his demand, he proclaims war. This
commuuication is intended to set forth to all people
the existing circumstances of the case.”” The argu-
ment adduced in this letter will be better under-
stood when the events detailed under thisday’s date
have been perused.

I returned to the Governor the draft which
he had written in French, and informed him that
I had made the required number of copies in Persian.
He then asked me why news from Madras had not
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yet arrived. T replied: ¢ It is rumoured in the town
that M. Paradis attacked Mahfuz Khén, and put him
to flight, and that after giving Mylapore over to
pillage, he returned to Madras. No messenger or
letter confirming this report has arrived from there.
Definite news will be received to-day.”” There-
upon, the Governor suggested a reason explanatory of
the delay of the mail from Madras, which was that
negotiations for peace might be going on. I did not
like to contradict him, and therefore said that it
must be as he suggested. He afterwards sum-
moned the Nayinir, and strictly ordered him
to recover the palanquin and censer which had
been lost at Vizhuppuram, or the value thereof.
He then permitted him to depart. 1 obtained
leave of the Governor to retire, and went to my
house. I had only just washed my hands, after
having eaten my dinner, when a peon, sent by the
Governor, summoned me. I asked him whether
letters had arrived from Madras. He replied in the
affirmative. I went to the Governor’s house, at 2.
* He at once said : “ Tidings have come from
Madras. When on the march with his troops, M.
Paradis encountered the army of Mahfuz Khén, who
had drawn up his men in four parties around the
four sides of the bungalow on the sea-.shore, near
the estuary t at Mylapore, and had marshalled

* See Appendix.
+ The mouth of the Adyar river, which was evidently then considerably
nearer Mylapore than it now is.
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his matchlock-men, cavalry, and artillery, in battle
array.

“On approaching this force, M. Paradis con-
structed a breast work of palmyra-trees, formed the
goldiers and Mahé sepoys who accompanied him into
four divisions, and ordered each of these to engage
a separate body of the enemy. Ie placed himself
at the head of the foremost party. On this, three
Réachlr rockets and four cannon were fired by the
Muhammadans. Their contents fell into the sea and
river, and caused no damage. The French opened
a fire of musketry on the enemy, killing numbers of
them. The Muhammadans threw down their arms,
and fled, with dishevelled hair and dress. Some fell
dead when in the act of flight. The loss thus
caused to them was immense. Mahtuz Khin also
ran on foot, until he reached his elephant, and
mounting this, made his escape. He and lis troops
did not cease their flight until they reached Kun-
nattGr. The rout was general, so much so that not
a fly, not a sparrow, not a crow, was to be seen
in all Mylapore. M. Paradis remained there for
an hour, and then permitted his soldiers and sepoys
to sack the town. After it had been pitlaged,
he marched with his men towards Madras On
the way, he was joined, near Triplicane, by M. de
la Tonr, with 200 soldiers and 100 Mahé sepoys,
and the combined force then entered Madras. Our
troops seized thirty camels, sixty or seveuty bullocks,
and forty or fifty horses. The camels and bullocks
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were laden with cloths and utensils, and some specie,
in pagodas and rupees. If the troops with M. dela
Tour had effected a junction a little earlier, the
Muhammadans would have been completely crushed.
As it i3, they have yet some life left in them.
Want of promptitude on his part spoiled the under-
taking.”

The Governor uttered these last words angrily,
On this, T observed : ““Our victory, as it stands, is
a sufficient one. What has never before befallen
the Muhammadans, has now overtaken them. No
greater evil could have occurred to them. You said
that the number of the wounded on our side was only
two Mahé sepoys, and that, with this exception, not
the slightest harm was sustained by our men. Isnot
that the result of your good luck ? Providence
completely protects your interests, for not one single
life has been lost in the French force, whilst of the
enemy two or three hundred men have fallen. Itis
by the grace of God that you are able to congratulate
yourself on having vanquished such a man as the
Nawéb. The capture of Madras was planned by you;
but this victory comes to you without your even
thinking of it.”” In these terms, did I sing the praises
of the Governor. Madame Dupleix, who was stand-
ing by, observed in Tamil : “ It is indeed wonderful
that not one single soldier of ours should fall in the
fight! It is all due to him who is here.” Tt ig,
indeed,” replied 1. ¢ Ttis not in the least surprising
that not one Frenchman was killed in this action
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with the Muhammadans. Take, for instance, the
capture of Fort Saint George. The English de-
fended it, with a thousand soldiers. The arms and
ammunition,shot, shell, and muskets, collected in the
fort exceeded, a hundred-fold, what were in Pondi-
chery. They were fighting behind walls, and our
army had to advance in the open field. The attack
continued for three days, and the fort surrendered;
and yet not one of our men was killed. Which do
you consider the more remarkable? To me 1t
appears more wonderful to gain a vietory over
Europeans, without the loss of a single life, than
over the Muhammadans, with the same good result.”
In this strain did 1, for two Indian hours, laud
the good sense, skill, and valour, of M. Dupleix,
and then remarked : “1 take to myself the credit
of having predicted, in Méirgazhi [December] of
last year, the capture of Madras, by M. Dupleix, in
that now current.” ¢ Besides, did I not tell you,”
said I te Madame Dupleix, ‘that the Governor
would, by and by, obtain the credit of having
vanquished the Nawidb also?” She replied:
“Truly, you did.” “Now,” I said, *‘ see what
has befallen M. de la Bourdonnais. Because he
resisted the Governor’s authority, God raised a storm
to discomfit him. He will not escape; the halter
which is to encircle his neck is being prepared.”
“ True, true ; ” replied Madame Dupleix, ¢ whatever
you have foretold has, so far, come to pass. I have
no doubt that the rest of your predictions will be
13
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fulfilled. All the Earopeans say that they will prove
correct.”” “ What are you talking about,” asked the
Governor. His wife then repeated to him in detail
all that T had said. He thereupon observed: It is
indeed true that all that he has predicted bas come to
pass. But Muattaiyappan, who has been away for four
years, and has now returned, and who . . 0

Thursduy,[ 10th) Norember 1746,0r 281h Arppm of
Akshaya.—This morning, I went to see the Governor.
He directed me to write letters to the Nizim and the
Killedars, and to despatch them without delay. He
also instructed me to write to Muttaiyappan informing
him of what had occurred at Madras,and of the defeat
of Mahfuz Khin, and ordering him to effect the
capture, by any means in his power, of the poligar,
Peddu Niyakkan. The rest of his counversation
with me was, as usual, on miscellaneous subjects. 1
wrote a letter to Muttaiya Pillai instructing him to
arrest Peddu Néyakkan; and to keep order, and
maintain peace, in the town of Madras, and des-
patched the letter by post. 'There is nothing more
that 1s worthy of record.

The Bishop of Negapatam, who came to see M.
Vermont, the Governor of the factory at Porto Novo,
near Cuddalore, paid a visit to Mr. Hinde, at Fort
St. David ; he being his friend. He was asked to
dinner, and when he sat down at table, two or
three salutes were fired in his honor. Information

# Incomplete in the Tamil copy.
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of this reached me to-day at noon; and I reported
1t to the Governor, this evening.

This morning, Mahddéva Aiyan delivered to me a
letter, from Vakil Subbaiyan, which he had brought
from Arcot. It informed me that Mahfuz Khin was
defeated on Friday, the 22nd [4th November], in an
action fought at Mylapore, and that he had fled, not
even taking his upper garment with him, and had
written as follows to his father . . .*

Fiiday, 11th November 1746, o 29th Aippisi of
Aksl.ana.—Heard nothing of consequence to-day. I
despatched circulars to the Killedars of Porto Novo,
Chidambaram, Vazhudivir, Timir,, and another
place, the name of which has escaped my memory.

Some men came to ask me to provide supplies
and louse-room, on the occasion of the marriage of
Chanda Sahib's daughter. Iinformed the Governor
of this request. He took six little phials of attar of
roses from a case which he had, and presented them
to the men. He promised to cause a search for a
nackage of twenty durions,t which he knew to be

* Incomplete in the Tamil copy.

t This word occurs again at p. 110, and, from the context, there,
evidently refers toa fruat,—apparently the durian, which, as tar as cun be
ascertained, is a fruit contined to Assam, Burmah, and Malaya. It is closely
allivd to the jacs fruit, and is noted for ats utterly abomivable, penetrating,
and all-pervading odour. Kaning it requires a special education but the
habir, when once acquired, becomes a passivn. [ have never heard of s
being eaten in Sonthern India. It is difficult to undeirsrand how durians
could have found their way to u storehouse at Pondichery, and still wore
so to compiebend how a package of twenty of them could have gone
astray in such u place. The presence of one in a house 1ssufficient to
make the whole of the building unbearable to the unspecialised nose.
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lodged in the Company’s warehouse, and to give it
to them when found. When they asked him for the
double-barrelled gun, and the single-barrelled one,
which he had agreed to give to Chand4 Sahib’s
daughter, he sent an order to M. Cornet to provide
them. Heundertook to send to Madras for almonds,
and other articles, and directed me to make a list
of what was required. ¢ Very well,” said I. The
Governor asked me whether the inmates of Kana-
kardya Mudali’s house would be inclined to let him
have the use of it. ““I do net know if they would,”
I replied. He desired me to send for Lazar, and
when he came, the Governor questioned him. He
said that he was ready vo place at the Governor’s
disposal his own very humble dwelling, as also the
house opposite to that of Kanakardya Mudali, which
was the out-house belonging toit. I wasthen atthe
areca-nut store-house. The Governor sent for me,
and intimated that Lazar had consented to make
over his own house, and that in front of Kanaka-
riya Mudali's. “ You must ask,” said he, *for
the use of the building which Pedro gave to
his wife, and in which Husain Sahib’s wife was
residing.” I replied that when I asked them for it,
the owners refused to lend it. He thereupon sent
for Malaiyappa Mudali, and demanded of him the
keys of the building. He delivered them to the
Governor, who sent them to me.

Tanappa Mudali, who, for the last twenty days,
was ashamed to appear in public, because all the
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business connected with his office had devolved on
me, now grew a little bold, and thinking, per-
haps, that the excuse for a blind horse was that he
stumbled, now showed himseif, and told Vird Chetti
and others, in confidence, that the Governor had
sent for him, and directed him to inquire into the
affair of the washermen’s depdt. There are people
who think that he will yet obtain an appointment,
forgetting that if he was to have had it, he would
have been confirmed nine monthsago. There are
some, too, who are perplesed, and do not know
what to think, when they remember that his elder
brother was chief dubdsh for twenty years, and that,
compared with his brother, this man was what the
pot is to the asafeetida kept in it, the odour of which
it retains long after that substance has been
removed, They are also puzzled by the fact that
the appointment yet remains vacant, and Tdnappa
Mudali adds to their astonishment by behaving
as if he virtually held it. All will come to light
in a few days’ time. There is nothing more of
consequence to relate. As for DMadras news,
Monsienr . . . *

Saturday, 12th Nocember 1746, or 30th Avppisi
of Al:shaya.—For the last three days, I have been
engaged in writing letters. Omne was addressed
to the Nizdm, and contained the following items:
the doings of Mahfuz Khén, in defiance of his father’s

# Blank in the Tamil copy.
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aunthority ; the defeats sustained by him in two
battles; the taking of Madras by the French, under
the authority of Anwar-ud-din Khin ; the capture of
French vessels by the English, and their tricks;
and the seizure of a ship bearing the Emperor’s
flag. A letter was also written to Imam Sahib
in reply to that offering congratulations on the
capture of Madras. A copy of that addressed
to the Nizdm was enclosed in this, with the
request that Imim Sahib would be pleased to
explain the contents thereof to him. I wrote
also to Imam S4hib’s son, who is at Mylapore,
enclosing the abovementioned letters, requesting
him to forward them to his father at the Nizdm’s
camp, and asking him to come to Pondichery.
I despatched these at half-past 10 this morning.

This evening, I forwarded the letters written
to the Killedars, and to Mir Ghulim Husain, who
is at Tinnevelly, concerning the doings of Mahfuz
Khan. T delivered to the three peons who went to
Tinnevelly the letter for Mir Ghulim Husain, and
another addressed by Simba Aiyan to Gbvanadi
Bali Chetti.

Ponna Pillai, the son of Nérfyana Pillai, came
to me, and said that Tanappa Mudali had sent Gana-
pati and Kouda Reddi, to deprive him of the
accounts which he had in connection with the washer-
men’s depdt, and had directed him to take charge
of a particular section, but that he had refused to
accept the new appointment because he was asked to
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do this work for a single section, although he was
formerly engaged in keeping the accounts of the whole
depdt. What was written in my horoscope has now
been confirmed ; namely, that I should live to the
age of ninety-nine years, for this day has clearly
revealed the enemy who has been so long doing
me mischief. What still remains for me to see 1s his
speedy downfall. T have no news of importance
to record.

Sunday, 13th Novemher 1746, or 1st Kdrttigal of

Alkshaya.—The follnwing letters were received at 9,
this morning : —Three from Husain S8hib addressed
to the Governor, Ténappa Mudali, and me res-
pectively, three from Asad Sihib similarly directed,
one from Vakil Simba Aiyan, aud one to the
Governor from M. de Kerjean. The letter from
Husain 84hib ran as follows: I have with me, in
my house, the three Huropeans, whose release 1
procured by standing surety for them. I struck off
their fetters, had them taken to the bath, washed,
and clothed, and I give them good food every day.
Your people in Madras, and those who came from
Pondichery, instead of accepting proposals for peace,
attacked the Muhammadans. It is not yet too late
to bring about a settlement. One can be effected
by delivering Fort St. George into the hands of
His Highness Muhammad Mahfuz Khén. If this
is not done, the Subahdars of Cuddapah and other
places ; Ydachama Nayakkan and other poligars ;
and the munsubahdars, are prepared to attack you
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by land. The English will do so by sea, with thirty
ships. Youwill then have to surrender the fort.
But if you now give it up to Mahfuz Khin, you will
be regarded as having doune us a favour, and the good
understanding at present existing between us will
continue unimpaired, from generation to generation.
How can you hope to carry on your business,
if you make an enemy of the ruler of this country ?
It is on the score of our long-standing friend-
ship that I now address you. Do not imagine thav
thig letter is written in a spirit of bravado. When
the ruler of a kingdom is bent on accomplishing
an object, he is not easily to be diverted from his
purpose.” In his letter to the Governor, Asad Sahib
earnestly entreated him to return a favourable
answer to the demands made by Nawib Husain $ahib,
and in his letters to me and Téanappa Mudali, he
asked us to prevail on the Governor to accede to
them. I read and interpreted these letters to the
Governor, who directed me to write a reply to Husain
Sahib, as follows: ‘We have never before seen
European envoys seized, chaived, and otherwise mal-
treated ; neither have we ever heard of such a
thing having been done, nor do we imagine that
it can occur in the future. We have now seen
this atrocity committed. In no country, however
high inimical feeling may run between nations,
or to whatever excesses they may carry the
violence of war, has such a thing been seen or heard
of as the fettering, imprisonment, and subjection
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to a thousand other indignities, of those who are
peacefully travelling as envoys. We have, how-
ever, now beheld this done by His Highness
Mahfuz Khin. But we rejoice to hear that you
have taken the French envoys out of durance,
brought them to your house, given them clothes, and
otherwise treated them with courtesy, and have sup-
plied all their wants. For this your kindness, we
and our descendants are beholden to you. An act of
this kind is as though ithad been done to us and ours,
and we shall not forget it. We entreat you to set at
hiberty the three men whom you now have with you.
As for Fort St. George, it having once passed under
the flag of our King, we cannot give it up without
orders from him. The restoration of the fort does
not rest with us. So longas we have life left, we will
not surrender it.”” The Governor then directed me to
write to Vakil Subbaiyan authorizing him to furnish
M. de Kerjean, and the other captives, with what-
ever they required from the thousand rupees that
he had been ordered to draw. 1 sent these letters
by Husain $dhib’s messengers, to whom I gave a
present of Rs. 10. M. de Kerjean’s servant, an Arab,
accompanied them, with his master’s clothes.
According to the latest accounts, Mahfuz Khin

is encamped with 300 horse, and 1,000 foot, at X

Muttu Rimu Chetti’s choultry, which lies to the
westward of Sriperumbiidtir, and eastward of Con-
Jeeveram. M. Paradis, the Commandant of Madras,

isliving on plunder, and taking his ease. Mr. Hinde,
14
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the Governor of Fort St. David, who was once
alarmed for the safety of his fort, and then
directed the merchants who had contracted to
supply cloths to the Company, to sell these outside
the fort, and bring the proceeds to him, has now
recovered heart a little, and having ordered that
the cloths remaining unsold should be brought to
him, has examined them, and given directions that
they should be bleached. He has disbanded 1,000
of his native troops, which at first numbered
3,000 men. The people who had fled panic-stricken
from Cuddalore and Fort St. David, have now
returned, bringing with them, little by little, their
valuables. These items of news have been received
here, from a reliable source.

It is said that the inhabitants of Porto Novo have
betaken themselves to . . . .* As the
French soldiers attacked Vizhuppuram, killed ten
men, and sacked the town; as Mahtuz Khin has
been defeated in battle at Mylapore; and as the
amaldirs and all the heads of castes under the
Nawdb’s Government are in hiding, not daring
to show their faces within four leagues of their
houses, all the inhabitants of Porto Novo have fled
in abject terror; some to Chidambaram, and others,
temporarily, to Fort St. David, on the ground that
that i3 a safe place of refuge; at least in the existing
state of affairs. We must await the course of events.

* Blank in the Tamil copy.
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Monday, 1ith Novewmber 1746, or 2nd Kdarttigni
of Akshaya.—To-day, a letter was received from
Madras, in which it was stated that the English had
been ordered, according to the custom obtaining m
Europe, to undertake not to wear swords, or to
fight against the French, and to present themselves
before their conquerors whenever called upon to
do so. It further intimated that the English were
preparing to leave Madras. News also arvived that
not a vestige of the Muhammadans was to be seen
in Mylapore, that the inhabitants of that place,
including Pathans, Guzeritis, Navidits, Tamilians,
Telugus, and others, had fled with their little
children, and with the property which they had
succeeded In saving from plunder, to the Chingleput
pilaiyam; that Asad Sahib, the son-in-law of Husain
Sahib, had gone as far as Tindivanam, for the purpose
of bringing back with him Badé Sahib’s wife and
others, but, on receipt of a letter from her stating
that she did notintend to accompany him, and that
he need not trouble to come, had returned to Arcot,
whence he had set out. There is nothing more of
importance to relate.

I went, as usual, to the Governor, conversed
familiarly, with him on the customary topics, and
then proceeded to the areca-nut store-house. After
a while, he sent for me, and said: “As you
know, ali the merchants of Madras have left
it, and have dispersed in various directions.  Write
to the whole of them, and invite them to settle
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at Pondichery. Tell them that the English have
lost all hope of recovering Madras, and are quit-
ting it; and that they must give up aany hope
that they may have entertained that Madras would
yet be restored to the English. Assure them that
if they desire to settle at Pondichery, such of their
houses and property in Madras as have escaped being
sacked and pillaged will be restored to them.” I
answered that 1T would write accordingly. The
Governor then said : “ Why have yvou not sent your
brother to Madras? Would he not be useful in
drawing up engagements with the merchants, and
granting them leases, etc.?” I replied: ““ Yes, sir.”
He continued: I will hold a Council now, and
arrange to send MM. de la Touche, Cotterel, Lhostis,
and Herigoyen to Madras. Tell your brother to be
ready to start with them.” 1 will do s0,” I said ;
and then came away. The Governor afterwards sum-
moned M. Cotterel, M. de la Touche, and the other
two gentlemen, and directed them to be prepared to
start for Madras.

Tuesday, 15th November 1746, or 3rd Kdrttigar
of Alshaya.—When I went to see the Governor,
to-day, he ordered me to bring to him the copies
which had been made, for record, of the letters sent
two or three days previously to the Nizdm and Imém
Sanib. 1 put them into covers, and handed them
to him. He took them, saying that he would send
copies by way of Masulipatam. I nextexplained to
him the contents of the letters received from Mir
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Husain Khin, the Killedar of Vazhudivir, and
Miydu $ahib of Perumukkal. The Governor was
pleased, and said: ‘ From their letters, it appears
that these people are not annoyed at what we wrote
concerning the misdoings of Mahfuz Khin.” He
continued to talk with me, as usual, concerning the
affairs of Madras, and the Muhammadans of Arcot.

To-day, I sent a circular to Qadir Husain Khin,
Killedar of the Mahé circle, Zafar Qamr *Ali Khin
the poligar of Karunguzhi, . . . .* the Killedar
of Kévéripakkam, Srinivisa Rao the Killedar of Arni,
and Mun Roup Sing the Killedar of old Gingee,
complaining of the unjustifiable conduct of Nawib
Mahfuz Khin, in having provoked the French to
war, and having imprisoned their envoys and loaded
them with chains.

When I visited the Governor, he mentioned to
me that M. Paradis had written to him that the
Armenian inhabitants of Madras had promised
to settle permanently at Pondichery, andto persuade
the other merchants to do the same.

Wednesday, 16th November 1746, or 4th Kdrttigai
of Akshaya.—This morning, I went to M. Cornet, to
ask him for a supply of superior wheat for
the use of Chavnda Sahib’s family. He showed me
samples of the wheat and paddy in stock, and said
that there were no other grains m the market.
1 afterwards went to the Governor’s house, and

* Blank in the Tamil copy,
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Cuse.  whilst I was there, a letter arrived from Muhammad
XXXIV. ) .
— ’Ali Kbian. The writer characterised the defeat

contentsof of Mahfuz Khin as a judgment inflicted on him by

a Jetter

tothe Providence, through the instrumentality of the

Governor,
from M.

Ankmm  French, for having murdered Safdar *Ali Khén
and his son, and entreated that the measures set on
foot for effecting the liberation of Chandid Sdhib
should not be lost sight of. He also observed that
the French should teach many other lessons to the
son of Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khéin, and that they
would hereafter be regarded with esteem by both
the Nizdm, and the Emperor. He paid many more
compliments to the French. I interpreted all thig
to the Governor, who was greatly pleased, and

Hecausesa Odirected me to write, 1n very courteous terms, that

%%gslrg:{‘l’s he was making every endeavour to effect the
liberation of Chand$ Sahib, and that Muhammad *All
should, personally, do what he could in the matter.
I prepared a reply in accordance with these orders,
and despatchedit. The Governor afterwards directed
me to tell Ranga Pillai to make out an indent for

Andtakes china, and other ware, for the use of Chanda $ahib’s

steps to

ly . 1 - o @
%‘;}’gﬂ;‘éa family. He also wrote to Madras for a supply of
amiy.  almonds, raisins, dates, and Bengal durions.*

3 b 3 (=]

At 5 this evening, MM. de la Touche, Lhostis,
Departwre, - Cotterel, and Herigoyen, started for Madras.

for Madras,
of certain

oicils, Prior to his departure, M. de la Touche went at
4 o’clock, to bid farewell te M. Dulaurens, who, in

* 8ec note at p. 99,
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sharp lunguage,demanded of him immediate payment
of athousand pagodas which he owed to M. Dumas.
M. de la Touche pleaded hard for time, but
M. Dulaurens would not listen, and insisted on
instant settlement. I was then summoned by M. de
la Touche, who, prefacing that I had with me the
gold obtained by trade with Acheen last year
and the Colombo arrack supplied this year, desired
me to satisfy the demand of M. Dulaurens. “ We

> said he to me, ‘“settle

will, at some future time,’
the balance of our accounts. Plesase, now, put a
stop to the clamour of M. Drlaurens, who, as though I
was a perfect stranger to him, claims a payment from
me, just when I am about to start on a journey.”
I prepared a draft for Rs. 3,200, payable at two
months’ gight, to be sent to M. Dulaurens.
Before I wrote it out, an objection was raised to the
return, in silver, of a loan contracted in gold, and it
was urged that pagodas, of eight touches, should be
paid, in satisfaction of the elaim. M. Nicholas was
called 1n to settle the difference, and he decided that
Rs. 3,200 should be taken in full discharge of the
gold debt, and I thereupon drew out the bill in
favour of M. Dulaunrens. After this, I accom-
panied M. de la Touche as far as Nainiya Pillai’s
choultry, and then bade him farvewell. [ next
visited Perumil Néayakkan, Vird Niyakkan, and,
Tiruvéngada Niyakkan, who were living there, and
after chatting with them, returned home.
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Thursday, 17th Nocember 1746, or 5th Kdirttigai
of Akshaya.—This evening, I interpreted to the
Governor the contents of the letter sent from Arcot
by Vakil Subbaiyan, In it he stated that as Nawéb
A$a.f Jah had ordered all the subahdars, south of the
Krishna, to hold the bank of that river against
the Mahrattas, and check their further advance, His
Highness Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khén had sent his
son, Muhammad ’Ali Khéin, with 1,500 horse and a
small body of infantry, to oppose their progress;
that Muhammad ’Ali Khén, after marching north-
wards, returned to Arcot, with 1,000 horse and
a small detachment of foot, and having visited his
father, who, for the last three days, had been in a
precarious condition, owing to an attack of diarrhcea,
went home; that news of Muhammad ’Ali’s arrival
was conveyed in writing to Mahfuz Khin, at Con-
jeeveram ; that the future course of events would
be as Mahfuz Khin directed ; that the return of
Muhammad ’Ali Khin was displeasing to Mahfuz
Khin ; that an order from the latter, directing the
troops of the former to join him, was daily expected ;
that 1,000 horsemen had been recruited at Arcot ;
that Husain Sahib was treating the three Europeans
with consideration ; that some peoplein Arcot blamed
Mahfuz Khén for his battles with the French, and
the defeats which he had sustained; that others
predicted that he would incur further disgrace,
should he still persist in fighting; and that there
were not people wanting to proclaim his foolishness
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in having acted in contravention of the orders of
the subah [the Court at Arcot]. After I had stated
what was contained in the letter, the Governor said
to me: ‘“We, however, did not provoke the war.
It is they who did so. Send some more suitable
men

say five or six—to Arcot, and obtain further
intelligence.” ¢ Iwill do so,” I replied. He next
asked me the news regarding the Governor of Fort
St. David. T told him that it was reported to me
that he had directed the merchants to bring him
goods, in discharge of the debts still due by them;
that, in consequence of this, one hundred scores
of pieces of unbleached cloth were taken to him
for inspection; that he had ordered these to be
sent out, in order that they might be bleached ;
that the people of Fort St. David had now recovered
a little from their alarm; that a company of 100
soldiers, and 400 sepoys, with muskets and ammuni-
tion, had marched towsards Gingee, the man named
Kadayam Venkatichala Niyakkan accompanying
the party on horseback; and that their object was
to bring back, in safety, a few Englishmen who
had fled from Madras and taken refuge mm Gingee.
“Iverily believe it,”” quoth the Governor. As it
was 10 o’clock, T wished him good night, and returned
home.

Friduay, 18th November 1748, or 6th Kdrttigui of
Alshay.—To-day, the reply of the Killedar of Timiri
to the letter intimating to him that Muhammad

Mahfuz Khin had, without the consent of his father
15
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Anwar-ud-din Khén, and for no sufficient reason,
attacked the French at Madras; that he had seized,
fottered, and imprisoned the Europeans who had been
sent as envoysto him; and that he was protracting a
useless war, arrived. In this, the Killedar wrote: <1
have perused all the information conveyed in your
letter. What you say init is just. The proper course
for the Muhammadans to follow is to be on friendly
terms with you, always. It was wrong of them to
have imprisoned the envoys. I will communicate
these remarks to Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khin.” I
interpreted the contents of the letter to the Gov-
ernor. He then said to me: ¢ Now that Muhammad
’Ali Khiin has returned, shall we write to him?”
I replied: ¢ Of what use would that be? Is henot
the younger brother of Mahfuz Khan? You will
probably receive, either to-day or to-morrow, areply
to the letter already addressed to the Nawib, and it
appears to me desirable to await this, before writing
to Muhamm:d’All. You can, however, act as seems
fit.” The Governor rejoined: I agree with you,
and will do as you say.” I then reported to him
that the Muhammadan officials had attempted to
arrest the postal servants at Méttupilaiyam and
Tiravéudiprram, who belonged to the establish-
ment of Iarikal, and that the men had succeeded
in escaping.  The Governor said to me: ¢ Shall we
write a letter of complaint to the Nawab?’ ¢ Not
now,” I replied: ‘it does not seem to meto be
the wisest course to follow.” “Then send to me
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the persons who made their escape,” exclaimed the
Governor. I promised that I would, and having
directed the native guard to place the men before
the Governor, I went home. On this day, [ engaged
50 peons, and sent them on to Muttaiya Pillai.

To-day being that of the skust/ * observed in
honour of the God Subramaniyan, the wife of Chinna
Parasurima Pillai set up six Aalasas t in view to
invoking the presence of the deity, and religiousiy
performed all the ceremonies fixed for the fast. The
gifts distributed on this occasion were liberal, and
amounted in value to 400 pagodas, the income of the
lady being enormous. Chinna Parasurdma Pillai has
been lying unconscious for some time past.

* A fast on the day of the sixth phasis of the moon, in her increase.

(Winslow).
1 Water pots.
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CHAPTER XXXV.

FROM NOVEMBER 19TH, 70 DECEMRER §RD, 17/6.

Letter to Governor, from Mohammad Miydn—Condemns the attitude of
Mahfuz Kh&n—And refers to secrets which he desites to com-
municate—Governor takes steps to obtain the release of Chanda Sahib
—What the Princess Marie broaght from Madras—Repor® regarding
Mr. Barneval, and others—Diarist occapies a new storehouse—And
performs the usual ceremonies—He visits the agent of Kisi Dis
Bukkanji—Conversation between them —Promise made by diarist—
Governor inquires as to news from Arcot —Converses with diarist—
Who flatters him much—Governor gives the pedigrees of many of
the French in Pondichery— Diarist informs Governor that "Al{ Naqi
desires to visit him —Asks permission to introduce H. Tarwddi-—
And obtains leave to direct certain persons to depart —V.Subbaiyan
writes that the Nawdb thinks of attacking Madras-—Relates a con-
versation between Husain Bahib and the French captives—States that
Husain $4hib wished him to go to Pondichery—And says that the
idea of war is dying out—The reply which is sent to this-—Governor
directs diarist to write to the Nawab regarding the restoration of
Madras—Bat, at his suggestion, defers any action—Subsequent con-
versation between them—Letter from the Killedar of Karunguzhi
—Diarist translates this to the UGovernor—Reply of M. Ghulim
Husain to the letter announcing capture of Madras—Expresses his
satisfaction—And refers to certain monetary matters— Governor
sends diarist a letter from H. Alf Khin-—The promise, and request,
which it conveys—Conversation between the Governor and diarist
—Letter from the Killedar of Gingee to the Governor—Comments
severely on Mahfuz Khin—And advises maintaining friendship with
the Nawdb—Letters, from Sidiq Sahib, to the Governor. and diarist
—The former of these advises terms with Mahfuz Khin—The Iatter
urges diarist to send his children, ete., to Vellore—The replies made
to these—The agent of Fatteh Sing tenders the help of Mahratta
horsemen—Reply which Governor sends to this offer—Subbaiyan
reports that M.’Ali Khédn is camped at Sdtpur—That his troops fear
to do battle with Europeans—And that Husain $ahib is sending a
Iirdhman— He further reports as to release of the French captives—
Refers to certain financial arrangements—States that Anwar-ud-din
Khén is in a precarious condition— And asks for some frait—Governor
sends letters to Subbaiyan, and Husain $ahib—That to the former,
instructs him to tell Husain $ahib of the proposed capture of Fort St.
David—And niges obtaining leave from the Nawdb, to carry this out
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—Letter to Hasain 84hib contains the same news, and refers him to
Subbaiyan—Governor bids diarist write a letter to M ’Ali Khin—
Conversation arising from his asking how to draft it— He is finally
told to use his own judgment—His draft highly approved—2>My. Morse,
his family, and others arrive —M. Barthélemy, and others accompany
them—The reception accorded to them—Council-house assigned for
their accommeodition—They sup with the Governor—Views of
diarist as to the attention paid to Mr. Morse —Alludes to the crowd
which assembled to see him—And dwells upon the grief that this must
have caused him—Reflections of diarist on this subject—Search
ordered for property set down by the followers of Mr. Morse—Many
cloths found—Complaint made that soldiers and sepoys will not give
ap certain property—The orders passed by the Governor—The articles
produced —Property of merchants, etc., secured at Mylapore when
Madras was taken—What they did on the arrival there of Mahfuz
Khin—Mylapore completely sacked after the battle—Plunder thus
acyuired brougkt by the {followers and gnards of Mr. Morse—M, Le
Bon detailed to levy duty on this—His dishonest conduct—Gross
thefts committed by the soldiers on duty —Estimated valoe of the
spoil of Mylapore—Amount which Mutiaiva Pillaj, alone, obtained—
Remarks as to others—Diarist’s opinion as to the fate of wealth so
acquired—Reply of Mahammad ’Alli Khin to the Governor’s letter
-—Says that permission to attack Madras should have been obtained
from Nawidb-—Details the results of failure to do this—And specifies
his conditions of intercession, on the Governor’s behalf—Remark of
Governor on hearing the letter, and reply of diarist—Conversation
as to capturing Fort St. David—Governor directs diarist to hire
cattle to carry rice from Fort St. David, etc.—This done—Com-
plaint made, by Tinappa Mudali. to the Governor—His object in
doing this —Diarist reports the hiring of bullocks—Informs him as
to the state of affairs at Fort 8t. David—And gives particulars
of artillery and garrison—Mr, Stratton, and family, arrive from
Madras—At the desire of the Governor, diarist criticises certain
drafts—And objects to a passage—Governor canses it to bealtered
—Diarist approves, and the letters are made ready—Message to
diarist from the wife of Chandi4 S&hib—This refers to cloths
alleged to have belonged to S. ’All Khdn—And states how they,
with certain money, ete., came into his possession—And subse-
quently into that of K, D. Bukkanji—It explains how S. ’Ali Khén's
intentions to make restoration to their owner were not carried ount
—Gives the names of those cognizant of the matter —And promises a
reward if diarist makes recovery—What the Governor said when
diarist reported this matter—Directs him fo obtain the views of
C. 34hib’s wife—Governor asks the news from Fort St. Dayvid—Diarist
reports the state of Cuddalore—The details of garrison, ete., 1t Fort St.
David—And the force of native troops around it—Governor then says
that he will go to Fort St. David. to capture it—Flattering remarks
made by diarist,
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Xg;;; Saturdan, 19th November 1746, or 7th Kdrttigal
1_;)' of Akshaya.—The reply of Muhammad Miyan of
b,

Letter to Chidambaran: to the letter addressed to him in a
from ’

M an,  Style similar to that of those written to the Kille-
dars, was received to-day. It said: *¢ Your letter
has reached me, and I have perused it with much

Condenns. pleasure. The attitude of Mahfuz Khéin is certainly

the attitude . . .

of Maifwz unjustifiable. Tt appears that God has ordained
the overthrow of his kingdom. You must be as

And refers watchful as ever. [ have a few secrets to intrust

Q secrets

suebhe  to you. They are not such as can be committed to

destres
to com-

wunieate.  Writing. Send persons, in your confidence, to whom
1 may communicate them.” The Governor listened,
with satisfaction, to my interpretation of this letter,
which also made mention of some other matters.
He then requested R4j0 Pandit, the accountant of
the household of Chanda Sihib, to write, in suitable
terms, to Fatteh Sing, Ragh6ji Bhonsla, Sripati Rao,

fiovemor  Sau Bhaji Rao, and Aménat Khin the son of Shih

Eifi{';;i{gie Ahmad Khin, who was in the service of the Nizim,
Sahub. negotiating for the liberation of his master. RAjd
Pandit agreed to do this,
Wat the The ship Princess Mary arrived to-day, from
rincess

Marie Madras. She is reported to have on board the mer-

ﬁl‘:‘:?t chardise of the English Company, which was seized
there ; the goods and effects of Mr. Barneval and his
followers, those of (‘oja Petrus, Coja Tatouse, and a
Repore few others; the personal effects of M. Barthélemy,

Mi.bune M. de Bury, and others; and twenty-five English
soldiers. It is also reported that Mr. Barneval,

othery,
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M. Barthélemy, M. de Bury, Petrus, Tatouse, Mr.
Morse the Governor of Madras, Mr. Monson the
Deputy Governor, and other Englishimen, are coming
from Madras to Pondichery, next Monday.

1 gave up the lease of Nallanna Mudali’s house,
in which I hitherto stored piece-goods, and engaged
the house of Bilaiyappa Mudali, in Riju Street, to
which T transferred my merchandise, to-day. This
evening, at the time of the rising of Taurus, I
performed the ceremony of occupying the house for
the first time. I presented betel and nut to the
guests whom [ had invited, and having duly com-
pleted the ceremony, went home at 8.

Sunday, 20th Noceber 1746, or 8th Kdrttigai of

Al:shaya.—This morning, I went to the house of
Harisankar Tarwadi, who acts as agent for Kasi
Dés Bukkanji, and who arrived here the day before
yesterday. I paid my respects to him, and said: ““1I
heard that you arrived here the day before yesterday,
and that you are unwell.  You have been away for
two years and a half. I am glad that you have
returned here after so long an absence. Your
younger brother, who managed your affairs, during
your absence, has conducted himselt creditably.”
Harisankar spoke to me of s journey to Tirapati,
and of his illness.  He said that he was now better,
and expressed the hope that KNisi Dis Bukkanji
and I would be friends for ever. e presented me
with two shawls, worth 20 pagodas. 1 accepted
them, with suitable acknowledgments, and as I was
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preparing to go to the Governor’s house, Tarwadi
asked me to introduce him to the Governor. I
promised to do so, and departed on my errand.

The Governor asked me whether any news had
arrived from Arcot. I replied that some might
be expected, in the course of the day. I then con-
versed with him on the affairs of Madras, and those
of Anwar-ud-din Khan of Arcot, Mahfuz Khin, and
the English! I spoke to him of the high point
which his good fortune had reached, of the success
which attended all his undertakings, and of the
defeat of his enemies; of bis own high birth, and of
the low parentage of those associated with him in
the Government. He execlaimed : ¢ What you say is
true; all the Councillors of Pondichery are of very
low estate in their own country.” He gave me the
pedigrees of most of the Frenchmen in Pondichery.
“But you must remember,” said he, *that of all
the men here, M. d’Auteuil is the first as regards
family. You, however, cannot know who are of
high birth, and who are not.” I confessed my
ignorance, and seasoned my speech with suitable
flattery. This conversation between me and the
Governor lasted for nearly four Indian hours. At
the end of it, I intimated to him that ’Ali Naqi
desired to pay him a visit of ceremony. * What
should be done?” asked he. T replied: ¢ A salute
of fifteen guns should be fired in his honour.
Presents of broad-cloth, flasks of Hungary water,
and so on, should be made to him in accordance
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with custom.” ¢ Do as you think fit,”” said the
Governor. I next asked permission to introduce
Harisankar Tarwidi, to him, at some future time.
“ Do as you like,” he eoxclaimed. I next requested
instructions in certain matters. ¢ Do as you will,”
said the Governor. I then spoke to him on behalf
of the postal servants belonging to Kirikil, and
asked whether I might send them away, as they
desired to return to the places from which they
had come, on the score that they were urged to do
so by the people living there, who were amicably
disposed towards them. “If you see no e¢bjection,
you may tell them to go,” replied he. Taccordingly
directed the men to depart. It being now midday,
I obtained leave to go home.

At 4 in the afternoon, the Governor summoned
me to translate to him a letter which had been re-
ceived from Vakil Subbaiyan of Arcot, who wrote as
follows: *“ Husain 84hib has informed me that Anwar-
ud-din Khén is planning an advance against Madras,
as the Governor of Pondichery continues firm in his
refusal to restore it. He asked me if it was true
that one of the French ecaptives here is the son of
the elder sister of the Governor of Pondichery. 1
replied that M. de Bury’s son was so related. Husain
Sahib thereupon sent for the three French prisoners,
and made themn give him an account of the cap-
ture of Madras. When they deseribed the effect of
the shells fired during the siege, he was greatly
astonished. He asked them to write a letter to the
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Governor of Pondichery, but they declined, saying
that they were not worthy to do so. He thereupon
considered whom he might send as his agent to
Pondichery. He asked meif I would go. Ireplied
that I could not do so without the Governor’s per-
mission. I request that twenty candles may be
forwarded for the use of the prisoners, and also that
an interpreter, who knows Irench, may be sent.
The idea of war is not now so hotly discussed as
it was ; they are growing cool with regard to it.
Anwar-ud-din Khin has returned from Trichinopoly,
with 300 horse.” I told all this to the Governor,
who directed me to send a reply to Subbaiyan,in
the following terms: ‘Do not return to Pondi-
chery, even though you are desired to do so. See
carefully to the welfare of the three Frenchmen.
Twenty candles are sent, as requested. Keep us
correctly informed of everything that occurs in
Arcot.” I despatched the letter, as well as the
candles; and I also sent an interpreter acquainted
with French. When the Governor and I were
discussing the affairs of the Muhammadans—Mada-
ninda Pandit being at the time present—-he directed
me to write tothe Nawib saying that he was willing
to restore Madras if he would, on his part, grant
territory, including VilliyanallGr and tbe surround-
ing taluk, yielding a revenue of 20,000 pagodas
a year. I suggested that the proposal should not
emanate from us mow, but that we should wait
until it was made by the other side. The Governor
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agreed with me. ‘I cannot,” he said, accept
the terms which the Muhammadans may propose to
me, merely because my nephew 1s a prisoner in their
hands. I must follow the course which I have laid
down for myself, irrespective of the interests of the
persons concerned. This is ir accordance with the
code of hononr of the French nation.” In illustra-
tion of this, he told me many anecdotes bearing on
the point. “ We must, however,” he continued,
“use every endeavour to induce the merchants
of Madras to come to, and settle at, Pondichery.”
I listened to all that he said, making, from time
to time, such replies as were expected. He then
went out for a drive, and 1 betook myself to the
areca-nut store-liouse. Whilst I was there, a letter
came from Khin Bahiddur Rahim Zafar > Ali Khan the
Killedar of Karunguzhi pélaiyam and son-in-law of
Hirasat Khin, in reply to the circular sent to him. I
went to the Governor, and translated the letter
to him. It ran as follows: “I have perused your
letter. I have nothing to write to you. Whatever
God has foreordained will assuredly come to pass.
Justice leads to victory ; injustice to defeat. The
truth of this maxim is borne out by the events that
have occurred.” The Governor listened, with satis-
faction, to what I read.

Monday, 21st Noveiwber 1746, or 9th Kirttigal of

Akshaya.—Mir Ghulam Husain’s reply to the letter
of courtesy, informing him of the capture of Fort
St. George, arrived this evening, from Tinnevelly,
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and was forwarded through his father. It expressed
the writer’s extreme satisfaction at the taking of
Madras, and conveyed the wish that the French
might gain many such victories. ‘ The faces of
your enemies,” continued the letter, ¢ have been
blackened. 1 rejoice in your victory, as though
it were my own. As regards the payment of
interest due on the debt, my father has not com-
municated anything to me. If you have already
liquidated it, well and good. If not, do so at once.”
I conveyed all this to the Governor, who directed
me to remind him on the morrow regarding the
payment of the interest.

He sent me a letter which he had received, by the
Madras post, from Hasan ’Ali Khén the son of Imim
Sahib, who wrote as follows : “I have forwarded
your letters to the Nizim, and Imim Sihib. As
yours to me was put into my hands when I was
about to start for Tydgar, and had already sent my
baggage in advance, I have been compeiled to post-
pone my journey to Pondichery, for which T shall
start in a few days’ time. Send me a draft for
Rs. 10,000, to meet my expenses.” I interpreted
this letter to the Governor, who directed me to
obtain, from the merchants, a draft for Rs. 16,000.
I replied that I would ask Hasan *Al’s people at
Pondichery to mnegotiate for it. The Governor
agreed to my suggestion. We then discussed,
amongst ather subjects, the best means to indnce
the Madras merchants to settle in Pondichery ;
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the confusion into which the Nawib’s court at
Arcot had been thrown by a false report that the
French were marching to surprise the town; and
how, when it tarned out that the supposed troops
were nothing more than a hundred fugitive English
soldiers who were passing Arcot, the Nawdb, Anwar-
ud-din Khén, dismissed his fears, and regained his
equanimity. At the close of our conversation, I
took leave, and went home.

Wednesday, 23rd November 1746, 00 11th Kdrttiyai
of Akshaya.—This morning, I translated to the
Governor a letter from the Killedar of old Gingee.
This said: “I was greatly rejoiced on reading your
letter. Mahfuz Khin’s conduct canunot be justified.
Heaven will mete out retribution to him. Youth,
wealth, or power, each one alone, is sufficient to
bring the possessor of it to ruin. Mahfuz Khén,
however, has all three of these. To crown his other
failings, he has, also, an evil disposition. What
more can [ say to account for his conduct? [t is,
however, well to maintain friendly relations with
the Nawdb.” 1 explained to the Governor these
remarks, and the other friendly terms in which the
letter was couched, and he was pleased.

Sadiq Sahib sent, from Vellore, a letter addressed
to the Governor, and another to me. To the
Governor he wrote: “ I am grateful for the pro-
tection which you extended to me, in Pondichery,
during the time of the Mahratta inroads. Mahfuz
Khan swears that he will capture Madras, and

Cirar.
XXXV,

1748.

Letter,
frow the
Killedar of
Gingee, to
Governor,

Comments
stverely on
M:thiuz
Khan.

And adviges
mamtaining
friendship
with the
Newab,

Letters,
trom Sadiq
Rahib,

to theg
Goveinor,
and diarist.



CHaP.
XXXV,

1746.
The former
of these
advises
terms with
Mahfuz
Khan,

The latter
urges
diarist to
send his
children,
ete., to
Vellore,

The replies
made to
these.

Agent of
Fatteh Sing
tenders the
help of
Mahratta
horsemen,

126 ANANDA RANGA PILLAD'S DIARY.

Pondichery. I would advise you, therefore, to make
peace with him, or if you will not, to be on your
guard.” He dwelt further on this subject. In his
letter to me he wrote: “ It would be well if you
send your children and valuablesto Vellore. Iwill
depute horsemen and peons to protect them on the
way. [ will also provide carriages, and dhoolies to
carry your children. Nawdb Mahfuz Khan has
reached this, after his defeat, and has not aban-
doned the idea of capturing Madras and Pondichery.
Come if you can; but if you cannot, at least send
your children here, in order that they may be in
safety.” 1 interpreted these friendly letters of
Sadiq Sahib to the Governor, who, with a smile,
directed meto write in acknowledgment, assuring
him of the continuance of good feeling between
them, and stating that the time would come when
he, too, would write to the Governor as a friend, con-
gratulating him on the successes which he would, by
the favour of Heaven, gain over Mahfuz Khin,
even though the latter should come at the head
of all his forces, and be supparted by all his allies.
I wrote a reply accordingly; I also wrote another,
couched in due termsof regard, to the letteraddressed
to me, and despatched them both.

Some time ago, one Késava Rao, who came
from the Mahrattas, as the agent of Fatteh Sing,
arrived here to treat touching the affairs of the
Raji of Tanjore. Ile now sent a letter in the
subjoined terms: ‘ Mabfuz Khin and Muhammad
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’Ali Khén are both collecting troops to attack you.
If you will send me 5,000 pagodas, I will come
with 2,000 Mahratta horse, and put to rout the
whole of the Muhammadan army.” On my trans-
lating this to the Governor, he told me to write
in reply, acknowledging the courtesy, and declining
the offer of aid, on the ground that troops had
arrived from France in great numbers, and that
the Governor of Pondichery was at a loss to know
how, or where, to employ them. I wrote accord-
ingly, and despatched the letter.

A communication arrived, to-day, from Subba-
iyan. It stated that Muohammad ’Ali Khan’s camp
was pitched at Satpur, which he had occupied with a
thousand horse, on the 8th instant [20th November];
that the talk of the camp was of an advance
against Pondichery, but that the behaviour of the men
gave the lic to their words, for the troopers, the
Jemadars, and their commander Muhammad ’Ali
turned pale with alarm, and looked as if they had
been overwhelmed by the incarnation of misfortune,
whenever it was seriously proposed to them to do
battle with the Europeans; and that they talked
bravely, though their hearts were quaking with
exceeding fear. Husain 3ahib, so the writer stated,
was sending a Brahman to the Governor, who was
requested to show the new comer some civility, and
to look to his wants. Subbaiyan further said that
the liberation of the F'rench captives was not of easy
accomplishment, that he was continunally considering
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the subject, and that he would let the Governor
know when the undertaking appeared likely to
succeed. He also mentioned that he would draw
on the agents at Lilipéttai, in Arcot, for 1,000
rupees ; that he would pay 100 to Guldb Sing, that
he was supplying all the wants of the French
prisoners, that he iutended to take out of the 1,000
rupees only the amount now absolutely required,
leaving the remainder in the hands of the agents, to
be drawn whenever it was wanted, and that Anwar-
ud-din Khin passed sixty or seventy motions a day,
and was not likely to live much longer. I told this
to the Governor. Subbaiyan further said in his
letter that when Kanakariya Mudali was living, he
used to receive fruit, but that he got none now.
He asked that a basket of guavas might be sent.
The Governor accordingly ordered that one should
be forwarded.

He then summoned me, and told me, in private, to
write to Subbaiyan, and Husain Sahib. The letter to
the former was to the following effect : * Let Husain
S4hib know, that, to put an end to the ill-fecling
which exists between us and Anwar-ud-din Khén,
we propose to attack and capture Fort St. Darvid,
and te give the Mnhammadans possession of the
adjoining villages and country. We contemplate
occupying the fort for a time, and then trans-
ferring it to them. Tell Hurain $S4hib that they
need not restore the fort, or villages, to the English,
after they have passed into their hands, and urge
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him to conciliate the Nawib, and spzedily obtain
from him an order for us to attack Fort St. David.
Explain all this to Husain $ahib, and let us know, as

3

soon as possible, what he says.””  The Governor fur-
ther directed me to write to Husain Sahib the details
conveyed in the letter addressed to Subbaiyan, and to
add: ““Our vakil will visit you, and explain every-
thing, fully. Ifyou accede to our request, and effect
the accomplishment of our object, it will redound to
your credit, and there will be no friendship lost
between us. We will continue to be at peace with
Anwar-ud-din Khin Sahib.”” After I had written
these two letters, I sent them away by messengers.
The criginal drafts were lodged in the custody
of Madandnda Pandit. Thus much for the news of
to-day.

Thuvsday, 24th November 1746, or 19th Kirttigai
of Akshaya.—-The Governor said to me, to-day :
“ Muhammad ’Ali Kbin, son of Anwar-ud-din Khin,
bas, as you know, returned from a campaign on the
banks of the Krishna, beyond the Pass. Now write
a letter to him.” I replied: “T will, if you so
desire, but give me instructions how to draft it.”
“For the last forty days,” exclaimed he, “you
bave, at my bidding—which has been to use your
diserction—written letters to various persons, and
even to the Nigim, without once asking for any
hints from me. Tlow is it that, in this instance,
you scek for directions to guide you in draft.
ing cne?” “Hitherto,” I replied, “I had no
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occasion to ask for express instructions, as your
custom has been to hold a conversation with me
on the subject of a letter, before requiring me to
write it, and, from that, I gathered your views on
the matter, and framed my communications accord-
ingly.” ¢ Well, well,” said the Governor, ¢ write
now without having obtained any such clue to my
ideas. Use your own judgment in drafting the
letter. This will be a test of your ability.” 1 did
so, and read it out to him. He approved highly of
it, and ordered me to despatch it, which I did by
two peons.

At 5 this evening, Mr. Morse, the Governor of
Madras, with his wife and children, Mr. Monson,
Deputy Governor of Madras, and five or six more
Englishmen, arrived, accompanied ny MDM. Barthé-
lemy, de Bury, de 1aVillebague, and Delarche ; a few
other Europeans, 200 soldiers, and 100 sepoys. One
hundred soldiers, fifty Mahé sepovs, and a few offi-
cers, went out from Pondichery, as far as Kalapéttai,
to meet them. The party, having dined there at
noon, ‘set out in the evening. M. Dupleix and the
Councillors joined it, at Minfikshi Amméal’s choultry,
and returned with it. As they passed through the
Madras gate of the town, a salute of twenty-one guns
was fired ; and a similar one was accorded when the
whole party entered the Governor’s house. A third
salute was fired when they sat down to drick wine.
The conversation at table continued for two Indian
hours, and at the end of that time the Governor’s wife
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took the guests away, to show them the building
agsioned for their accommodation. This was the
Council-house, situated to the west of the Gover-
nor’s mansion, and it had already been furnished,
with bedsteads and other requisites, for the use of
its occupants. Having seen their apartments, the
guests veturned to the Governor’s house, where
supper was served, and when this was over, they
went to the Council-house for the night.

Now, all the attention paid to the ex-Governor
of Madras, and his party, was uncalled for. Tf Mr.
Morse had visited Pondichery during the time that
he still held the Governorship of Madras, so much
respect would not have been shown to him, but,
on the contrary, much less. Because M. Dupleix
received Mr, Morse with great honour, the whole
town praised his magnanimity. The number of
those composing the crowd which gathered along
the road from the boundary hedge to the Gover-
nor’s house, to see Mr. Morse pass, was beyond all
calculation. The people were so densely packed that
room could not have been found sufficient to let
fall even a grain of gingelly-seed amidst them. It
may be imagined, then, how much Mr. Morse must
have felt his position, when the eyes of all the
people in the town were thus concentrated nipon him.
To picture the grief which he must have experienced,
and the measure of it, is not in my power. Joy and
sorrow are twin-born in this world. A reverse of
fortune is, in the eyes of the wise, no disgrace.
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The downfall of Fort St. George, and the sufferings
inflicted on its defenders, are only the inscrutable
dispensations of Providence. But evil should not
befall even our enemies.

At 8 at night, the Governor summoned me, and
said : ¢“ Many goods, and property of various kinds,
have been set down all along the road between your
choultry and DMuttiydlpéttai, by the people who
accompanied Mr. Morse’s party. Order the poli-
gar’s * men to institute a search in the houses in
that direction, in case any goods should be secreted
within them ; and let everything that is found be
brought to the town-gate.” In consequence of this,
innumerable cotton cloths were taken there, and the
Governor directed M, Le Bon to inspect them, and
order their removal,

Friday, 25th Novewmber 1746, or 13th Kdrttigai
of Alshaya.—~The poligar’s men complained to the
Governor that some of the French soldiers and
Mahé sepoys refused to deliver up their goods and
baggage, and even assumed a threatening attitude,
when askel for them. Thereupon, the Governor
ordered M. Duquesne, with twenty soldiers, to
accompany the poligar’s peons, and to have all
the baggage, whether it belonged to the I'rench
soldiers, or to the sepoys, or was the property of
the English, or of their Governor, conveyed to the
Madras gate. When the refractory soldiers heard

* The ohief of the peona.
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that the goods found were being inspected at the
Muttiyalpéttai gate, they brought out those which
they had secreted in the mnative houses in that
quarter, and took them to the gate. M. Le Bon
was deputed to inspect the articles that had been
brought to, and deposited at the town-gate, both to-
day, and yesterday. He made an inventory of them
all, and allowed them to be carried into the town.
When Madras was captured, the merchants of
that town, as well as many inhabitants, including
Mubammadans and  Guzerdtis living therein,
fearing that 1if they asked for the protection of
the police, their property would be stolen by them,
deposited it for safety at Mylapore, which was
in Muhammadan territory, and where they had
long-standing business relations, and they continued
in hiding in the surrounding villages, including
Nungambiakkam, Saidapet, Kodambiakkam, and
Poonamallce. When Muhfuz Khin, the son of
Nawiab Anwar-ud-din Khin, arrived at Mylapore,
some of the merchants shonok off their fears, and were
confident that, with his army, he would wrest Madras
from the French, and vestore it to the English.
In this hope, some allowed their goods to remain at
Mylapore, but a few, who were doubtful as to the
course of events, caused their goods and families to
be removed, for safety, to the Chingleput pilaiyam,
the fort at Poonamallee, and other places, and they,
themselves, remained in Mylapore. After defeating
Mahfuz Khan, and putting him and his army to flight,
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M. Paradis gave the Muhammadan camp, and
Mylapore, over to plunder. The French soldiers,
sepoys, and camp followers, then set to work in a
methodical manner, and completely gutted the town.
On Saturday, the 23rd instant [5th November],
Mylapore was again sacked by the French troops,
on their own account. The Pariahs, Pallis, Muham-
madans, and other people of Mylapore, ag well as the
populace of the surrounding country, joined in
pillaging. Thus, between them, the spoil was exten-
sive. That of Madras when it was seized by the
French, was nothing compared with it. Many of
the Madras merchants were ruined by the sack of
Mylapore. What the people of Pondichery ac-

quired by the pillage of that town was conveyed by
porters, carriers, and peons, in the train of Mr.

Morse, and by his guard of 200 soldiers and 100
Mah¢ sepoys. Even Muttaiya Pillul, Arumpitai
Pillai, and others, who went to Madras from Pondi-
chery, took this opportunity of sending away their
ghare of plunder.

As directed by the Governor, M. Le Bon took
post at the town-gate, to assess the goods and
other articles thus brought away, and to levy
duties thereon, previous to their being taken into
the town. He valued property worth 100 pagodas,
at only 10 pagodas, or even less; but never more.
He even permitted the removal of goods, without
assessing them at all. It would take up much
time to relate all the irregularities practised on
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this occasion. The goods brought by the soldiers
ard sepoys were passed duty free, and they were
not even examined. Whilst this sort of thing was
going on, a few soldiers were busily engaged inlay-
ing hands on whatever they could, before the very
eyes of M. Le Bon himself; and he kept his tongue
between his teeth. Two or three I'renchmen who
were with him followed his example. The quantity
of property which stuck to the fingers of the twenty
French soldiers who were ordered to pass goods
through the Muttiyalpéttai gate, was beyond all
bounds. The work of pillage was carried out in
many different ways.

It was estimated that the spoil of Mylapore
amounted in value to ten lakhs of pagodas. If this
figure is too high, it may safely be put down at half
that amount. Muttaiya Pillai,* alone, obtained by
plander 10,000 rupees. Such was the estimate of the
merchants. Indeed, those who saw his goods when
they passed through the hands of M. Le Bon valued
them at much more. It must be borne in mind that
this was the value set upon what Muttaiya Pillai
sent to Pondichery. Who knows what he obtained
in ready money, or the amount of goods he laid by
mm Madras ? If this man, who went to Madras but
yesterday, hasacquired so much wealth,what consider-
ing the extent to which that place had been abandon-
ed, must have been the riches that fell into the hands

* Chief of the peons (Police),
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of those who accompanied the French, on the original
expedition, and who continue to dwell in Madras
to this day. Such ill-gotten wealth, however, will
never prosper in the hands of its possessor. Even
that which he previously had will be taken away
from him. So it has been; and so it will be. 1
cannot form an idea as to how many men have becn
ruined, and driven to cry aloud in their distress.
The whole of the property thus infamously acquired
will, ussuredly, melt away.

Thursday, 1st December 1746, or 19th Kdrttiyal of
Alkshaya.—This morning, the reply of Mubamwad
*Ali Kbhéin, son of Nawib Apwar-ud-din Khan,
to the letter addressed to him about a week ago, was
brought by our Company’s peons and some of his
messengers. Ireadit,and communicatedthecontents
to the Governor. Muhammad’ Ali Khin, after
expressing a desire to preserve alliance with the
French, wrote as follows: At the time that you were
about to advance on Madras, it was imperative on
you to obtain the permission of the Nawéb $ihib, and
to accompany the troops sent by him to assist you.
Buat as you failed to do so, you should have captured
Madras from the sea. Since, however, it was attacked
by you, both by land and sea, it has become incum-
bent on us to ask you to justify your proceedings.
Mahfuz Khin went to Madras,in order to effect a
reconciliation between you and the English, but your
soldiers attacked him. AsT had been dirccted by the
Nizim to advance against the Mahrattas, with a strong
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force, I marchedto the scene ofaction, in command of
a large army fully equipped with cannon, muskets,
and other arris.  Peace being restored, I returned to
Arcot, and am now making a tour in these provinces.
As you have always manifested friendship for, confi-
dence in, and respect towards, the Nawib, ever since
he became the ruler of Arcot, and as he, in return,
has always endeavoured to promote friendship and
alliance with you, he would readily and cheerfully
have aided yon with as many contingents of
cavalry and infantry as you required, if you had
asked for his help. Dut you never did this. You
have even plundered Mylapore. You have caused
disturbances at Vizhuppuram. But; let by-gones
be by-gones. If you really desire to preserve the
good will of His Highness, and alliance with him,
specify to me, in writing, the acts by which you are
prepared to show your loyalty; and I will intercede
for you with him, and effect a reconciliation.”
When Tinterpreted this spiritless and undignified
epistle to the Governor, he smiled with disdain,
and exclaimed: ““See how actively he is preparing
for war!”’ Tanswered: “ Did I not tell you, before
this, that your fortune is in the ascendant ? Either
Anwar-ud-din Khin, or Nizim-ul-Mulk, will die.
Their territories will be taken possession of by
Murtazd *Ali Khan, or Taql $ihib. If neither
Anwar-ud-din Khin, nor Nizim-ul-Mulk should
fali, they will at least be involved in a war, and

will be worsted. Fear will then induce them to come
18
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to terms. I do not apprehend any danger. Hold
to your own line, without hesitation, and God will
favour your undertaking. Did I not say this long
ago? Shape, however, your policy to fit existing
circumstances.” “ True;” replied the Governor,
¢ unless Fort St. David soon falls into our hands,
trade at Pondichery caunot be expected to flonrish.”
On this I exclaimed : “ Now that its existence is felt
by you to be inimical to your interests, consider it
as good as taken.” *“ How s0?” asked he. * The
present course of events,” I replied, ¢leads me to
say so. Matters are also ripe for the capture of
the place.” The Governor smiled at my conjecture,
and gave me orders to secretly hire 150 bullocks,
for the purpose of bringing in all the rice that
could be obtained from Fort St. David, Cuddalore,
and the adjoining villages. He said that, at all
eveuts, they must be sent there with some merchan .
dise, and should carry back grain. 1 accordingly
despatched Muruga DPillai to engage bullocks for
the purpose of fetching the paddy, which T said
had been consigned to me from outlying places.
He returned, and reported that he had obeyed my
instructions.

Tanappa Mudali, who had not been seen outside
his house since the 5th Arppisi [18th October],
went to the Governor to-day, and complained that
attempts were being made to extort bribes from the
weavers of Azhisapikkam, who lay in prison. His
object in doing this was that I should take the matter
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up, and, by my representations, induce the Governor ~ Cusr.

to order the release of the weavers. But I was o

not inelined to help him,

Friday, 2ud Decender 1746, or 20th Kdirttigai of
Akshaya.—No news of greater importance to-day
than the following. I conversed freely with the
Governor, and informed him that I had settled the y,..

reports

hire of the 150 bullocks engaged to go to Cuddalore, thehivus
OChS.

at & *fanam a day, for each bullock. Ialso reported
to him the present state of Fort St. David, and told .

him as to

him that the houses there were now being levelled the state ot
anusirs
Fort st.

to the ground, and that the people, disquieted by 1V,
the rumour that the French at Pondichery contem-

plated an attack on their town, were leaving their
houses at nightfall, and returning to them at day-
break. The unguarded condition of the fort, the andgives

partiealars
of artillery

number of the guns mounted in it, and the strength ;%
of the garrison—which consists of 500 Europeans,
East Indians, and sepoys—were all made known to
the Governor.

Mr. Stratton, third member of the English w.,

. . . . . Stratton,
Council, at Madras, and his family, arrived in a boat, nd family

arrive froin
to-day, on a visit to Mr. Morse. A bronze mortar M

was landed from the boat.

Saturduy, 8rd Deceiber 1746, or Z1st Kdrttigai
of Alshaya.—To-day, I went to see the Governor.
Five or six days ago, he said to R4j0 Pandit, the

* The value of this was a trifle more than three farthings.
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accountant at Chanda Bahib’s house : ¢ In case that
[ have to write to Raghdji Bhonsla, [atteh Sing,
Bhaji Rao, Sripati Rao, and Sdhu Rajd, please pre-
pare drafts; I will revise them, and send the letters
on.” Rajo Pandit accordingly brought certain drafts,
which he read to the Governor, to-day. The latter
asked my opinion of them. I replied: ‘ They, very
properly, mention the fact that since the removal of
the Naviit family from the Subah, and the accession
of Anwar-ud-din Khin, not only has the country
been ruined, but, owing to this unjust war with
the French, the Subah has lost an annual profit of
two lakhs of pagodas, which were made through
trading in the towns on the sea-board, and many
people have been deprived of their means of liveli-
hood. With reference, however, to the words in the
draft ¢If yoa send Chandd 8ahib, I will be responsi-
ble for the money payable by him, ete’, T submit
that yon should not commit yourself in that way.
The remainder is good.” The Governor agreed with
me, and desired the substitution of the words ¢ As
regards the amount for which Chand& Sahib holds
himself liable, [ will endeavour to collect it, as your
agent. I will use all my influence to ensure that this
money reaches you, Without my help he would
not be able to collect a cash.” When he asked me
to give my opinion regarding this, I said: ““It is
quite proper; we can write in thosc terms.” The
Governor then instructed me to prepare the letters
accordingly.
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The wife of Chandi Sahib sent word to me as
follows:

“Harisankar Tarwadi, the agent of Kasi Dis
Bukkanji, came here, and reported that cloths of
various qualities had disappeared during the battle
at Mylapore. He asked the Governor to give him a
letter of recommendation to the authorities at
Madras. It seems that the Governor said to him:
* Bring me a list of the cloths that are missing ; Twill
send it to Madras, and see to the restoration of
your property.” Those cloths do not belong to him,
but to Safdar *All Khan., This is how they fell into
the hands of Harisankar TarwAdi.

“ Some two months before his death, Safdar *All
Khin came to see his mother at Madras. She said
to him: ¢If there is ill-fesling between you and
Chandid Sahib, his son ’Abid $ihib is mnot your
enemy; please, then, see to the release of ’Abid
8ahib, who is in the hands of the Mahrattas.” She
made this request very sorrowfully. Safdar ’All
Khéo replied: ‘Yes, I will procure his freedom,
provided that you pay me five lakhs of rupees,’
She agreed to this, and gave him one lakh and
80,000 pagodas in cash, and some rupees, some
jewels, and cloths worth Rs. 12,000; in all about
five lakhs of rupees. Safdar *Ali placed these in
the hands of Kisi Das Bukkanji, and told him he
must pay double the value set upon them. He,
further, took a receipt from him, in his own hand,
with a specific note that this was in connection with
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’Abid S4hib’s affair, and he gave it to *Ali Dost
Khin’s wife. After he reached Vellore—whether it
occurred to him that if he should get ’Abid Sihib
released for a consideration of five lakhs of rupees,
he would appear a mean fellow in the eyes of his
mother and other relations, or for some other reason,
we know not—he wrote to his mother saying: ‘I
have directed Kisi Dids Bukkanji to hand over
to you those five lakhs of rupees.  He will bring the
money, and the articles pledged; you can receive
them, and return his receipt to him. I will arrange
that *Abid Siahib is set free, and will send him to
you.” He wrote in these terms to his mother, but,
within ten days of doing so, he was killed at
Vellore by Murtazd ’Ali Khén, and since then his
instructions to Kisi Dds Buakkanji, have remained
unfulfilled.

“’Ali Naql was present when all these trans-
actions took place: Mir Asad also knew of them.
’Ali Naqi, Kist Das Bukkanji, and he, had intended
to divide the cloths and money between them. Itis
not known whether they have since changed their
minds. But Kési Dis Bukkanji recently asked,
through *Ali Naqi, for a copy of the list, as drawn up
by 'Ali D6st Khin’s son, of the articles pledged,
alleging that that which Lhad been placed in a box had
disappeared. One was accordingly furnished to him.
Should you be instrumental in the recovery of the
five lakhs, ’Ali Dost Khin’s widow will give you
ove-fourth of the amount.”
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I reported this to the Governor. He said: It
18 not 20,000 or 3,0000 rupees, but a matter of
five lakhs. What can we gain by taking action
agamst the servant ¥ At the most, there can hardly
be more than 10,000 or 15,000 pagodas of his here.
1t will, therefore, be of little use to deal with him.
If, on the other hand, the master himself be proceeded
against, it would be a profitable affair. If you can
tell me how this could be effected, I shall interfere in

b

the matter.” He bade me have an interview with
Chanda 8ahib’s wife, and tell her a3z much on the
subject as I considered desirable. I accordingly
directed R4j6 Pandit to go to her, and report to me
what her opinion was.

The Governor asked me for the news from Fort
St. David. I said to him: ‘ Cunddalore 1s left
unprotected, for cach of the four gates is guarded
by only ten Englishmen and ten Kast Indians.
There are no Europeans, at all, in the town, but
there are native troops to the number of 500. A
petty Poligar named Malrdjd, who came from the
north, is there. In Fort St. David, therc are from
300 to 400 English soldiers, and 200 East Indians.
Besides these, there are, of course, the Company’s
officials. As regards guns, there are only [00,
including those mounted on the walls of the fort,
and those on the ground. Of supplies there are 120
garce of paddy, 25 to 30 garce of rice, and 100
candies of powder. At Cuddalore there are only 200
garce of paddy. There is some rice in a store-house.
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The native troops posted around Fort St. David,
and as far as the custom house, number about 1,000.
This is the information that I have received. 1
cannot say what will happen hereafter. I have had
news that all the bouses situated on the north-western
side of Fort St. David, as far as the house of Mut-
tiydlu Ndyakkan, are being demolished, and levelled.”

The Governor remarked: “This is true; what
else could there be there? I am going to Fort St.
David, to capture it.” I said: “If you but go
there, God will surely grant you the victory. He
ig prepared to crown your efforts with every success.
You have only to despatch the troops, and the
capture of the place is certain ; there can be nothing
to hinder it.” On my flattering him in these terms,
he attributed everything to me. On hearing this 1
said: “I cannot claim any share in your glory; I
am but a servant ready to obey all your behests.”
I then took leave of him, and want home.
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CHAPTER XXXVI.

FROM DECEMBER 4TH, 1746, TO DECEMBER 13TH, 1746.

Letters from Subbaiyan and Husain Sdhib—The former reports his
attempt to gain the belp of Husain Sdhib—The scoffing language with
which it was received—The sarcastic remark of Sampéti Rdo—And
the reply that the Nawib cannot be approached—He refers to the
matter of the French prisoners—And says that Husuain Sihib wishes
certain orders issued—What the Governor directs on hearing this
letter—He repeats that he will capture Fort St. David—What
is to be done when M. Paradis reaches Pondichery—Diarist hands
certain letters to R4j6 Pandit—And writes two to M’.Ali Khdn—
Contents of the first of these—RA4j0 Pandit sent to the wife of
Chandé $ahib.—-To ask her to instigate M’.All Khén to attack Arcot
—And to say that M. Dupleix will assist him— Why the Governor
did not write to M’.Ali Khin—-Sudden illness of child of Mr. Morse—
Prompt attentions of M. and Me., Dupleix— Diarist’s reflections on
this matter—He and R&j6 Pandit visit the Governor—To whom a
letter, from Husain $8hib, to certain ladies, is read —Governor asks
if Bade Sahib’s people received a like letter—Is answered in the
affirmative —fle promises to see to the matter-—And directs that
Bade Bihib’s house be watched—Conversation regarding Husain
Sahib—Diarist asks whether he should draft a reply to M’,Ali Khin
—Discussion on this point—The form suggested by diarist adopted
—He proposes a gift of money to M. Ali Khins’ peons—Governor
agrees, and reply is despatched—Troops march, to and fro, between
certain places—This creates an idea that 1,000 men are in movement
—Many, conscquently, desert their homes—Result of this, and of
the failure of monsoon—Alarm created by alleged advance of ike
French-—Terror cansed by rumours of a possible attack on Pondichery
—Remarks of diarist regarding this—Governor attends mass, and
holds a Council—Execution of a thief--Letters from V. Subbaiyan,
and M.de Kerjean—The former mentions continued illness of the
Nawib—And difficulties regarding the release of French prisoners—
Remarks of the Governor, on hearing the letter—His reply to Husain
Sahib—Letter alse, to V. Sabbaiyan—Tis desires him to see Husain
Sahib —-Chandd $ahib’s son asks Governor Lo pay certain money—The
promise made by M. Dupleix—Further conversation between them—
Governor advises seizure of Arcot and the Naw&b—-Promises the aid
of tvoops—And tells him that he can then subdue all \rcot —Chandi
Sahib's som suggests that Murtazd *Ali would carry out this plan—
Report that Mahfuz Khdn’s force surrounded M. Paradis—M’ Al Khan
said to be advancing towards Fort 8t. David—Diarist desired to obtain
information, and to see to sundry supplies—Governor asks why certain

19
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intimation has not been received—He decides to send soldiers to
Mortdndi Chivadi—News of Muhammad ’Ali Khin reaches diarist—
He reports this to the Governor, and replies to his informants—By
order of the Governor, diarist issues instractions touching certain
supplies—Governor reads to him a letter from M. Paradis-—This
reports an attack by Mahfuz Khén—Which he had repulsed—And that
he had reached Sadras—Governor comments on the rashness of M,
Paradis—And says that he will send him a reinforcement —He orders
a letter to be written to H. S$ihib—This refers to the misdeeds of
Mahfuz Khin—S8tates that they have been endured in the hope
of an amicable settlement—And offers the alternative of compliance
with certain demands, or war—Governor speaks to diarist concerning
one Periya Aiydi—Who is a marauder—And suggests instigating
him to attack M’. Ali Khin—The version received by diarist, of the
fight reported by M. Paradis—Alleged strength of attacking force
and nature of the fighting—Treasure, etc., belonging to M. Paradis
said to have been captured—And most of the other plunder
reported to have been carried off—Value of what M. Paradis lost
—Reflections of diarist regarding this—What M. Paradis was said to
have most regretted—His escape attributed, by diarist, to Divine
favour—Governor’s letter to H. $4hib prepared—Instructions also
sent to V., Subbaiyan—Replies to circular received from certain
Killedars—The first two approve, bnt suggest a conciliatory policy-—
Killedar of Mayi Mandalam strongly disapproves—-Killedar of Arni
writes politely, and advises peace with the Subah—Reinforcement, ete.
sent to M, Paradis—News of M Al Khin—Boats arrive with some
goods, etc., from Sadras—Why M. Paradis, and hi< men, did not arrive
by them—Alleged action of the Dutch towards those who remained
behind—Diarist hears of a letver from M. Puradis, and reply thereto—
His curiosity as to their contents~-Son of Imam $S4hib writes regarding
a visit to Pondichery—And refers to certain business matters—M,
Paradis arrives at Pondichery—D)iarist notesthat he did not appear
cheerful-—Attributes this to the loss of his plunder—Makes a like re-
mark touching the Governor—S8ubbaiyan writes that M. Schonomille
has been sent to Arcot—And confined with M. deKerjean, ete.— He
conveys requests on behalf of Husain $ihib--And reports arrival
of persons sent for the tribute due to the Nizim-—What the Governor
exclaimed on hearing the letter—Arrival at Pondichery of M. Paradis’
men—Letter from the Governor to Subbaiyan deals with the requests
made by him—Aund directs speedy reply to a certain letter-—
M. Dupleix sends diarist a letter from one Arundchalam Chetti—This
complains of the seizure, by M. Paradis’ men, of certain valnables—And
refusal to give them up without orders, for which he asks— The
reply sent to this—Diarist informs the Governor that M’,Ali Khin has
reached Tiruviti—Details the report as to the destination, and number,
of the troops—And states what M’.Ali Khan did, to avoid the French
—And that he is in constant fear of being attacked—Remark on this
of Governor—Replies of some Killedars, ete., to the Governor’s circnlar
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—Those of Vellore and Sitghar approve—But suggest conciliating
the Nawdb—Mir Asad asks the cause of the war with the English—
Privately, he sends congratulations—He refers contemptuonsly to the
Nawédb-—And urges not coming to terms with him—Tagi $4hib avoids
all reference te the subject of the circular—-And writes of the Gover-
nor’s kindly feeling towards the Navéits, etc.—-Governor tells diarist
why Mir Asad sent him a message—Killedar of Vazhudévir writes of
a quarrel with M’Alf Khin—Wko charged him with coliusion with the
French—And is now advancing—Compliments which he pays the
Governor— He refers to the repulse of the force that attacked AL
Paradis-—And was defeated by him—And prophesies further triumphs
—Governor much pleased.

Sunday, 4th December 1746 or 22nd Kdritigai of
Akshaya.—This morning, I went to the Governor’s
house. A letter from Vakil Subbaiyan, and another
from Husain Sahib, had arrived from Arcot. The
former contained the following :

“You wrote to me that it was intended to attack
Fort St. David, to capture it and the surrounding
villages, to, at once, make over the latter to the
Nawib, and, after a time, the fort, also. You further
stated that the object of this was to effect an alliance
between the Governor and the Nawib, and that 1
should obtain, through the influence of Husain Silib,
a letter conveying the sanction of the Nawib to
the proposed expedition. I accordingly spoke to
him on the subject; on which, he laughed, and
said : “When we ask the Governor to restore
the fort at Madras to the English, he writes to say
that he is preparing to capture Fort St. David.
This reminds one of the stery of the woman who,
when she prayed to God for a son, lost her husband.
Did you ever hear the like of this?’
Rao then arrived. The proposal was mentioned to

Sampiti
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him. He, too, laughed at it, and said: ¢ When -
a man lost one eye, and felt that the other was
cather painful, he sent for a doctor to have the
lost eye restored, but the surgeon told him that if
this was attempted he would ruin the eye which
was in a good condition. The attempt of your Gov-
ernor to capture Fort St. David is som>thing lke
this.” These are the opinions of Sampiti Rao, and
Husain Sahib, who have desired me to say that
the Nawéb cannot be approached on this matter,
without evoking his displeasure. They state that
it would be absolutely impossible to obtain the
requisite permission, and that consequently the idea
of capturing Fort St. David must be entirely
abandoned. Husain $4hib says that he will re-
lease M. de Kerjean and the others, and send them
away in two or three days. On private inquiry,
I understand that the Nawib has ordered the release
of these three Europeans ; and that the delay is on
the part of Husain 8ahib who detains them saying
he will think about the matter, and give them their
liberty later on. I shall take steps regarding this,
and will see to their release, in five or six days.
Having heard that his dwelling house at Madras
is being demolished, Husain $4hib desires that the
Governor may be requested to issue an order
forbidding this.”

I read the letter which contained this to the
Governor, on which he said to me: It is likely
that the same thing; that is, that I should not
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interfere with Fort St. David, appears in the letter
from Husain Sihib. Madaninda Pandit should not
know this; so secure these letters in your cup-
board.”” I promised that I would. Then he again
said: “At any rate, T am determined to
capture Fort 8t. David. You must be on the alert,
and assist by obtaining for me prompt information
regarding it. Please see to this very carefully.”

To-night, M. d’Espréménii departed for Madras,
as Governor, and so soon as he arrives there
M. Paradis will return to Pondichery. It has been
decided that when he reaches this, war against
Fort St. David shall be declared. It was on this
understanding, that M. d’Espréménil was sent to
Madras.

Monday, 5th December 1746, or 23rd Kdrttigai
of Akshaya.—This morning, the weather was cloudy
and drizzling, I handed to Rajé Pandit, the writer
at Chandi Sahib’s house, the letters of the Governor
to Satdra Sihu R4jd, Sampiti Rao, Fatteh Sing,
Raghéji Bhonsla, Sau Bhiji Rao, and Amanat Khin
son of Shih Ahmad Khin, who is in the service
of the Nizim. They were not gummed, but sealed.
1 addressed, to Satéra, a letter to Mubammad ’Ali
Khin concerning his younger brother, and another
regarding himself. In the first of these I wrote :
“1send these letters to you. I forward them
through R4j0 Pandit. See them despatched soon.
Try to recall your brother quickly.” The Gover-
nor then said to me: *“Please send R4j6 Pandit
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to the wife of Chand4 $4hib, in order that he may ask
her to write to Muhammad *Ali Khan, as follows:
¢ Anwar-ud-din Khén is ill, and his two sons, with
their troops, are marching near Madras, on their
way to Pondichery. This is the proper time for you
to advance, with your army, against Arcot, and seize
and imprison its old and infirm chief. The Governor
of Pondichery will supply you with the requisite
guns and powder, as well as Mahé sepoys, and some
soldiers. 1If this plan is carried out with the help of
Vellore Murtazd *Ali Khin and Taqi Sahib, success
will be certain. You must give effect to it without
delay.”

As, in a previous letter, Muhammad’ Ali Khin
had stated to the Governor that if he would only
help him, he would seize Arcot, M. Dupleix did not
like to mention these matters in a reply from
himself, but asked the wife of Chandi Sahib to write
the letter. I have noted down only the important
portion of our conversation. Nothing else of conse-
quence occurred to-day.

Mr. Morse, Governor of Madras, is here. At
10 this morning, his son, aged five or six years, had
an attack of convulsions, and his eyes started out
of their sockets. The grief experienced by Mr.
Morse was indescribable. Having heard of this
calamity, M. Duplex and his wife, ran at once to the
patient, sent for the doctor, asked him to attend to
him, and prescribe medicines suitable to the case.
They did their best to soothe the feelings of Mr.
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Morse, and having stayed at the house for a watch,*,
and ascertained that the child was a little better,
they returned home.

There is a common saying that it is the stumbl-
ing foot that stumbles again, and that calamities
come not singly, but in succession. This is not
untrue. One has seen it so often. But God, in
His mercy, should save those who are in opulent
circumstances from disasters. What, however, lies
within the power of man, who has but to endure with
patience ? It is God alone that can divert the
destined course of events.

Tuesday, 6th December 1746 or 24th Kdrttigai
of Alshaya.—This morning, I went to see the Gov-
ernor. R4)0 Pandit, the accountant of the house-
hold of Chandi S&hib also came, and read to him
a letter written by Husain Sahib to Bi Bi Sahiba,
and the daughter of A1l Dost Khin, which was to
the following effect : I may mention that a great
fight is impending at Pondichery; a serious cala-
mity will, in consequence, befall you who dwell there.
It will be a handred times worse than that which
overtook the daughter of *Alf D6st Khin when she
had to quit Madras. You will lose all your pro-
perty, and experience much misery. The fort at
Ranjanghar, the Chingleput péilaiyam, and other
places, arein my possession, and to any of these you
are welcome to go, and remain.  If you do not, you

* A Jémam or watoh = 7§ Indian hours ; three English Lours.
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will be deprived of all that you possess, and suffer
much. As Tam your relative, I tell you of all these
things.” The letter described the predicted war
in all its horrors. When all this had been read
to the Governor, he said to R4j6 Pandit: ¢ Has
the household of Badé Sahib, also, been written
to in like terms P” He replied in the affir-
mative, and then exclaimed: “Is there any omne
who, on reading such a letter, would not lose heart ?
We, however, do not. Our Bi Bi Sihiba has taken
care to warn the guards at Badé Sahib’s house lest,
under the influence of fear, any property should be
sent therefrom.” The Governor replied: ¢ We will
see to this ecarefully. You had better also keep
an eye on the property.” He then took me aside
and said: *“ Post spies about the house of Badé
S4hib, and try to obtain timely information of what
happens there. Husain $ahib has a mind to get
hold of these three families, if he possibly can,
and swindle them of their money. It is with this
view that he is predicting an outbreak.” "I replied :
“ At the very commencement of this affair I told
you that Husain S8hib was siding with the people of
Madras, but you were then of opinion that he would
never behave treacherously. Did I not tell you that
the truth would come to light, by and by P Have not
my words come to pass?” He answered: ¢ Yes;
but, as he couched his letters in the most compli-
mentary terms, I was under a different impression.
Now I understand him. There is a God above us.”



REGARDING DRAFTING A REPLY TO M. ALl KHAN. |53

I asked the Governor whether I should draft
a reply to the letter of Muhammad *Ali Khin, the
son of Anwar-ud-din Khin, and brother of Mahfuz
Khin. He then asked me as to how it should be
worded. 1 said: ¢ We should be somewhat guarded
in our answer. He wrote that if you communicated
to him any wish of yours, he would give effect to it.
Now you have nothing more to do than address
him in complimentary words, and say that your
sole desire is to retain his friendship, and that
he ought to see that vhis grew stronger, and
that his people did not suffer, but were happy.”
I was then told to draft a letter in these terms.
I remarked: * Sir, if we make a present, of 5
rupees each, to the two peons who came from
Muhammad *Ali Khin, they will be much pleased,
and when they return home they will tell their
master, in highly laudatory terms, how soldiers are
entertained here, that we have in readiness arms
and ammunition, and that this place is well fortified.”
He concurred. and asked me to despatch a letter
to the effect already soggested. I accordingly
wrote an answer to Mubhammad ’Alf Khin, son of
Anwar-ud-din Khén, delivered it to the peons,
presented to each of them 5 rupees, and let them go.

Under instructions of the Governor, soldiers
and Mahé sepoys have been marching for the last
fifteen days, to and fro between Pondichery, and
Arivinkuppam, Azhisapikkam, and places even
between two and three miles beyond these,
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Similarly, 100 men mancevred to the westward, as
far as Kfodapdkkam, Vazhudivir, and Tiravak-
karai; and another 100 northward, as far as
Kilapéttai. This has given rise to an idea that
1,000 soldiers are in movement. The amaldirs and
nittirs residing in those parts have raoved away from
there to a distance of one to two leagues. Some have
gone into the jungle, and to the forts of the poli-
gars ; and, for a radius of about three leagues round
about Pondichery, some Muhammadans, néttirs,
and other respectable people, have abandoned their
homes. This circumstance is enough to cause
neglect of cultivation. Add to this, the failure of the
monsoon. Throughout the country, there is abso-
lutely no sign of any agricultural operations. The
residents of Porto Novo, including the merchants,
have left the neighbourhood, and have gone to
settle at Chidambaram. FEven the Furopeans who
reside at Gingee and Arcot are, it is said, affected
by the rumour of the approach of the French;
and the terror of the Muhammadans is past de-
scription. . In spite of all this, the Chettis, Kémuttis,
and a few other inhabitants of our city, are frightened
out of their wits by rumours that the Muham-
madans are besieging the town to the westward,
and that the English are coming by sea to attack
them ; and some of them, actuated by fear, have even
cleared off their property, whilst others have sent their
families away. These people are needlessly alarmed.
They neither regard thesigns of the times, nor bear
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in mind that the French captured Madras, which was
a city belonging to a European race, without loss of
life, or any trouble whatever. Have they not seen
that even the ruler of a Subah, who attacked them,
was vanquished, and fled. Being, however, unable
to realise all this, the common folk have left their
homes, and will, by and by, discover their mistake.

Wednesday, Tth December 1746, or 25th Kdrttiga:
of Akshaya.—This morning, the Governor went to
church, and heard mass, a Council being held when he
returned home. Two months ago, a couple of thieves
entered the Mission church opposite to my residence,
and committed a theft. One of them was caught,
but the other escaped. Now the thief who was
captured and kept in custody, was sentenced by
the Council to be hanged on the scaffold near the
court-house. At half-past 5 in the evening he was
accordingly executed. He was taken down after 6,
and buried in the graveyard.

Thursday, 8th December 1746, or 26th Karttiyai
of Al:shaya.—To-day, a letter written, from Arcot,
by Vakil Subbaiyan, and one from M. de Kerjean,
were received. Lhe latter was delivered to the
Governor, and the contents of the letter of Vakil
Subbaiyan were as follows: ¢ Nawab Anwar-ud-
din Khin is suffering from diarrheea ; he retires fifty
times a day, and has changed his doctor. This news
was received through the Nawib’s vakil, Krishniji
Néiyakkan. Written instructions not to move to
any distance, were received by Mahfuz Khin and
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Mubammad’ Alf Khin, but the former would not
listen to the order given, and, leaving Sriperumbf-
dfir, marched ten miles to the eastward. It is
not the intention of Husain Sahib to release the
European prisoners, until the invalid’s case takes
a turn, one way or the other. It is rumoured
that Jemadar Muhammad Sharif Khin has re-
moved M. de Bury’s son to a more distant place of
confinement.”” When this news was read to the
Governor, he observed that all these difficulties
were caused by Iusain $ahib, and he therefore
instructed his clerk, Nagdji Pandit, to write to
him the following letter: ¢ Three of our people
were unjustly arrested, ana kept in custody ; you
pleaded, on their behalf, with Nawdb Anwar-ud-
din Khén, had them released, lodged them in the
upper story of your house, supplied them with cots
and bedding, and served them with meals and fruit
three times a day ; you frequently conversed with
them, and you distinctly promised to send them to
me, but never did so. I am much obliged for your
kindness, but I am surprised at your not restoring
my men. What does the Nawib gain by keeping
them where they are ?  Although I have often asked
him to send them to me, he ignores my demands,
and detains them. I regard these three as having
fallen in the batile at Madras.” 1told Nagdji Pandit
to prepare a letter to Husain Sahib, as dictated by
the Governor. He accordingly wrote one, which was
shown to me, and despatched. Another letter was
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alse sent to Vakil Subbaiyan, the contents of which
were to the same effect, except that a few additional
matters were included. One of these was that he
was desired to have an interview with Husain Sahib,
on the subject. The Governor gave me eight books,
to be sent to the Furopeans referredto. This was
also mentioned in the letter, and T delivered them
and it, to the peons who had come from Husain
Séahib.

At 11 in the forenoon, the son of Chandi Sahib
came to see the Governor, and asked him to pay
the lakh of rupees which he had promised. The
Governor replied: ““If 1 receive positive news of
the arrvival of your father, [ will, without fail, pay
the money.” The other said : ““ If, by the favour of
God, a letter is received stating that he is certainly
coming, will you assuredly pay me the amount ?”
M. Dupleix answered: ‘ Yes, I will surely pay
it.” The son of Chandi 84hib then addressed some
complimentary words to him, saying: “If the
letters which you sent to Sihu R4jA and others at
Satara reach them, they will be very pleased, and
you will thereby gain a good name.” The Governor
replied: “You know that I am doing my best
to induce your father to come here. All your
people should unite, and act together, as Anwar-
ud-din Khin is at the point of death. His sons
have gone with their followers, in the direc-
tion of Madras and Pondichery. You should now
collect your troops, advance against Arcot, seize
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Anwar-ud-din Khén, and place him in confinement.
A leader should be appointed, and stationed at
Arcot, and separate bodies of troops should be sent
against the two sons. I will aid you with two con-
tingents, which, by advancing from the eastward,
will disperse their men ; and the two sons of Anwar-
ud-din Kbhén will either be captured, or killed. You
can then include the whole province of Arcot under
yourrule, and if you write to the Nizim promising
that you will pay him tribute, he will readily accept
the offer, and, as the proverb says: ¢the nut that
cannot be chewed is the best gift’; he will ask you to
send him the tribute money, and you can accordingly
do so.” Chandid S&hib’s son made answer: ¢ By
your favour, Sir, what you suggest can be done.
There is Murtazd’ Al Khin, who will carry it out
judiciously.” The Governor said to him : ¢ What are
the intentions of Murtazd ’Ali? Does he intend to
govern in person, or does he propose to send for
Chandi Sahib?” The son replied: “ He means to
govern in person, and never to appoint any one
else.” Thereupon ’All Naqi*

Saturday, 10th December 1746, or 28:% Karttigai
of Akshaya.—This morning’s post brought the
foiiowing news: ¢ After M. Paradis had left
Madras, and was marching on this side of Tirup-
porfr, the troops of Mahfuz Khin, which comprised
500 horse and 1,500 foct, surrounded him.”

* Blank in the orginal,
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I, reported this at ouce, to the Governor. Again,
my correspondent wrote to me to say that, at the
request of the inhabitants of Fort St. David, Muham-
mad *Alf Khin had quitted Gingee, and, with his
troops, was advancing, yesterday, towards the fort.
I reported this, also, to the Governor, who instructed
me to obtain information as to the object of the ex-
pedition, and the places at which Muhammad ’Alf
Kbhan was likely to halt. For this purpose, I accor-
dingly despatched two Governinent peons, and four
of those of the Nayinir—in all six men. The
Governor then told me that the supplies for the
camels had run short, and asked me to see to the
matter. I therefore sentfor the camel-keepers, and
questioned them. They said they had no food for
certain of their animals. On this, I directed Ramai-
yan the son of Gopilaiyan, to ask Parasurima Pillai
to procure what was needed. After this, the
Governor asked me how it was that no intimation of
the arrival of Mubhammad 'Ali had been received from
the Killedar of Vazhudavtr. Ireplied: ¢ If there is
any such news, it will certainly be known.” He then
said: “ I will send some soldiers, to occupy Mortindi
Chévadi, from which they can scout around the fort
at Vazhudaviic, See tnat such sheep, pigs, and
fowls, as may be required for them arve procured.
These will be paid for.”

Meanwhile,Venkatichala Aiyan, of Tondaménat-
tam, came, and told me, at the instance of the
Killedar of Vazhudivir, and Pachaiyappa Mudali
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and Rdmabhadra Chetti, that the forces of Muham-
mad ’Ali were marching in that direction, and that
if soldiers were sent, as before, to surround the
fort at VazhuddvQr, his men would be alarmed.
He asked me to report all this to the Gov-
ernor. I did so, and having sent for Venkati-
chala Aiyan, of Tondaminattam, told him what the
Governor had said to me, and asked him to convey
the whole of this to the Killedar of Vazhudivir and
Pachaiyappa Mudali. Then, the Governor, after
walking through the ranks of soldiers drawn up on
the eastern side of the fort, went on to the ram-
parts, and said: ¢ To-morrow, the detachment will
start for Mortdndi Chévadi; please ask Parasuriman
to send all the provisions and supplies necessary for
it.” Hethen departed, and as soon as 1 reached my
areca-nut godown,l summoned Chinna Parasurdman,
and directed him to despatch the food and other
articles needful for the troops that were going to
Ariydnkuppam and Mortindi Chivadi. At 8, after
he Liad returned home, the Governor sent for me, and
said that he had received a letter from M. Paradis,
which he read to me. The contents of it were : < On
the night of Thursday, the 26th [8th], I left Madras
with fifty soldiers and thirty sepoys, and reached
Tirnppbrir on the folloewing morning, i.e., Friday.
I started thence, and had marched for an Indian
hour, when the troops of His Highness the Nawéb
Mahfuz Khian, consisting of 500 horse and 1,000
infantry, surrounded me. 1 then distributed the
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thirty sepoys around the camp, and taking with me
my fifty soldiers, I got out of my palanquin, mounted
my horse, and when the Muhammadans fled, pursued
them for some distance. I then returned, to rejoin
the men who were in the rear. The enemy again ap-
peared, and were dealt with as before. In this way,
moving backwards and forwards, I reached Sadras
during the night.” The Governor said: *“As M.
Paradis is a bold man, and as he is favoured by
God, he escaped from his difficulties; had it been
otherwise, it is not likely that he would have
overcome so large a forceas that which attacked him.
It was a rash act on his part to be as adventurous as
he was, knowing full well, as he did, his own weak-
ness and the numerical superiority of enemies, fired,
as they were, with a spirit of hatred and revenge.”
He then said he would send, on the following day,
troops to the assistance of M. Paradis.

The Governor desired that a letter, addressed to
Arcot, should be written to Husain $4hib, in the
following words : *“ Mahfuz Khén, the son of Nawib
Anwar-ud-din Khén, has wrongfully made captive
the envoys whom we sent to him for the purpose
of making ourselves acquainted with his affairs.
Though, with your approval, we took Madras, after
a fight with the English, he has unjustly waged
war against us. He has been maltreating our sub-
jects, when on their way between Madras and Pondi-
chery. We have long endured all this misdoing,
and there is still no sign of its abating. On
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the other hand, the help received at our hands
by you and your family; and indeed by all your
people, is beyond measure. Seeing that you express
yourself with impartiality in this affair, we have long
borne with the affronts of Mahfuz Khan, in the
hope that an amicable settlement might be arrived
at. But they seem to grow worse and worse.
War and strife are on the increase, and have not
diminished. Anwar-ud-din Khén, and his party, who
are now at the head of the Subah, are new-comers,
and are consequently but slightly acquainted with the
manners of Europeans, with whom, however, you
have long had intercourse ; and you have reigned in
this part of the country so long that you must be
quite conversant with the manners and customs of
our race, and of those of other Kuropean nations.
We presumed that your knowledge of them would
very much reduce the probabilities of war. But
what is actually taking place, and the manner in which
you behave, are both opposed to our anticipations.
Unless, therefore, you release the three captive
Europeans, and withdraw the mounted men infesting
this neighbourhood, we will devastate your country,
as far as Arcot. We can no longer forbear.”

The Governor strictly enjoined that the letter
should be couched in strong terms. I said: “ So
let it be.”

He then called me aside, and said as follows :
“ You told me that Periya Aiyd the son of Vétta-
valam Pandiri, who was captured and converted by
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the Muhammadans, had escaped from the fort in
which they had detained him . . . . .* You
said, also, that he had since gone southwards,
where he collected a band of men, and having re-
turned, seized his father and brother, and placed them
in confinement ; and that he was pillaging the whole
district of Ginjee. You had better send for his
people, and instigate them to attack the army of
Muhammad ’All Khéin, harass it, capture his horses,
and destroy his followers. You must take proper
steps to bring this about.” I promised fo do so,
and took leave of him.

I have already stated what the Governor said
concerning M. Paradis. 1 will now relate what I
have heard from independent sources. A hundred
soldiers, forty or fifty Coffres, and thirty Mahé
sepoys, were marching, in advance, with Jemadar
Shaikh Hasan. The soldiers and the sepoys, as
also some of the Coffres, had each powder and ball
sufficient for six charges. They had, also, some re-
serve ammunition. Protected in this way, the gains
of many men, in the shape of goods, money, and
cloths, acquired in Madras, were being brought
to Pondichery. After it had passed through Tirup-
poriir, the convoy was surrounded on all sides by
Anwar Kbhin, and his force, which consisted of
1,000 horse, and 2,000 foot. After an engagement in
which thirty or forty of the Muhammadan horsemen,

* Torn in the original,

CHar.
XXXVI,

1746,

Whoisa
marauder.

And
suggzests
instigating
him to
attack 3.
Al Khan,

The version
received by
diarist, of
the fight
reported hy
M, Paradis.

Alleged
strength of
attacking
force  and
nature of
the fighting.



164 ANANDA RANGA PILLAI'S DIARY.

cusr. a Mahé sepoy and a Coffre were wounded, the

XXXVL, party, accompanied by M. Paradis, reached Sadras,

Tresou, having been much harassed by the way. 1t is said

ete,,

belongingto that boxes containing some treasure, valuable
M. Paradis o

e been precious stones, and cloths of different kinds, the

rptaes property of M. Paradis, which were being carried
in rear of the force, hy coolies, escorted by six
or seven soldiers and six or seven Mahé sepoys,
anamost were carried off by some Moghul horsemen. It is

of other

plonder further said that of the property of the sepoys and
oot some others from Pondichery, which consisted
of what they had actually pillaged, or had purchased
from the plunderers and which was at a short
distance behind the troops, all, with the exception
of a small portion carried by the men who accom-
panied M. Paradis, was borne off by the Muham-
madan cavalry, who beat and drove away the bearers.
vameof  Some say that the loss sustained by M. Paradis
phati  would amount to 10,000 pagodas, and a few others
o aver that it would be more. The saying is: *Ill-
gotten gains will disappear in some foolish way or
other.” The property went in the same way as that
in which it was obtained. It is of no moment what
Reflections  L12€ Value of it was—10,000 or 20,000, or may be, only
%’é%?&ﬁfg 100 pagodas. Imagine what toil and trouble the
articles must have cost the owners, and what grief
and anxiety must have been caused by the loss of
them. Would not the flame which was created
in their hearts accompany the property to what-

ever house it might go, and reduce to ashes even
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what had previously been acquired? Take the
instance of the ship fromm Pondichery, which was
seized on her way back from Manilla. How many
lamented then? Isnot that the flame that set Madras
ablaze, and reduced it to its present condition ? Now
that a fire, a hundred thousand times more powerful,
is seizing hold of Pondichery, I leave it to the wise
to form an idea of what may happen to it.

It was in this state that M. Paradis reached
Sadras, and encamped at Velli Iswaran Kovil. Those
who came with him told me that he did not regret
so much the boxes and goods that he lost, as
he did four sheets of glass half as high again as a
man, of which he was also deprived. M. Paradis
would not have escaped from the predicament in
which he found himself on this occasion, had it not
been that God 1s favouring the French with success.

At 9 this morning, a letter was addressed to
Husain $ahib on the lines dictated by the Governor,
to whom it was read. Another was also written,
for despatch to Vakil Subbaiyan, in which the con-
tents of the communication to Husain Sahib were
embodied. Subbaiyan was requested to explain mat-
ters to him clearly, and to precure, and promptly
forward, a reply from him. He was also desired
to look to the comfort of the French who were in
captivity at Arcot. 1 entrusted the letters tocertain
servants, and sent them off.

In reply to the letters addressed to Killedars,
communications have been received, to-day, from
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those of Kévéripikkam, Kalavai, the hill-fort of
Mayi Mandalam, and Arni. The first two of them
wrote to the following effect :

“ Your letter has made us acquainted with all
the measures taken by you, and with the conduct
of Mahfuz Khin. The action which should have
been taken, has been. It will be well if, at any rate
for the future, your proceedings are governed by a
policy which will not prejudice your friendship with
the ruler of the Subah. In the event of your adopt-
ing this course, even the Nizim, when he becomes
aware of what you have done, will view it with
great approbation.”

The following is the purport of the reply from
the son of Qidir Husain Khin, of the hill-fort of
Mayi Mandalam: ‘ You have broken your pro-
mise, inasmuch as after effecting a sale to the Eng-
lish, you failed to honour it. Merchants that you
are, how could you be justified in attacking the
Subah.”

The reply from the fort of Arni was couched
in the following complimentary terms: ¢ We have
already heard of your bravery, and what has tran-
spired confirms the report. Courageous as you are,
there is justice on your side; hence you have been
victorious. Being in the full enjoyment of God’s
favour, you may be sure of more victories, but we
would advise you to be at peace with the Subah, so
that the country may be saved from ruin. You are
wise men, and there is hardly anything that you
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do not know. Is it not, therefore, presumptuous on
my part to point out what is advisable 2

After explaining the contents of the foregoing
letters, I returned home.

At 3 this afternoon, a reinforcement of 200
soldiers and 150 sepoys, with powder, ball, and
provisions, was sent to M. Paradis, at Sadras. It ig
said that Captain de la Tour, who went in charge of
it, would halt to-night at my choultry.

The news, to-day, is that Muhammad ’Ali Khin
is encamped, with his army, at Kakkalrpéttai.

At about 6 this evening, five boats arrived from
Sadrag, having on board Shaikh Hasan, who is Jema-
dar of the Mahé sepoys, some goods which formed a
portion of the plunder of Madras, some more belong-
ing to M. Paradis, his dubashes and peons, and a
kettle-drum which was taken at the battle with
Mahfuz Khin. The rumour is that the property now
landed was what remained after Mahfuz Khin’s men
had pillaged the goods and baggage of the French
force, when they surrounded it on its way from
Madras. The reason why M. Paradis and the soldiers
did not arrive by these boats seems to be that, when
they got into them, and were about to start, the
boatmen decamped, on the approach of some horse-
men. Thereupon, M. Paradis, the soldiers, the Mahé
sepoys, and the Coffres, considered it inexpedient to
travel by them, and disembarked. But the articles
already shipped, including muskets, were left in
charge of native peons, who were allowed to proceed
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with them. Those who stayed behind encamped at a
church hard by. It is said that the Dutch closed
their factory against them, on the score that it is
built on land belonging to the Nawéb, and, there-
fore, that they could not be accommodated in it.

Monday, 12th December 1746, ov 1st Mdrgazhi of
Alshaya, consteilation Kéttai, New Moon.—The news
which I heard this morning is that a letter was
received last night, at 1, from M. Paradis, to which
areply was at once written, and despatched at about
half-past 1.  What has he to write about? I sup-
pose that hs said that he intended returning. The
Governor must have replied that he could do so, and
that a reinforcement was being sent to him. What
is there to communicate specially to him?

At 9, a letter arrived from the son of Imém Sahib,
the contents of which were as follows: “If your
invitation had been delivered to me before I reached
Arcot, I would have complied with it. As I have
arrived there, I will meet your wishes in due
course. I note your decision not to put a stop to the
demolition of the houses at Madras. Please write to
the commanding officer at Madras to give me a
permit to remove my piece-goods. 1 have sent,
through ’ Abd-ul Karim, a receipt for Rs. 10,000,
which please have transferred to the agent of
GOvardbana Das, and obtain an acknowledgment
that it has reached him. Kindly pay to Gandu Bélu
Chetti such amount as may be due after the accounts
of the mint have been closed.”
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When I mentioned all this tc the Governor,
he asked me whether the receipt had arrived.
I answered in the affirmative, and said that, before
replying regarding it, the agent of G&vardhana
Dis should be communicated with. He desired me
to do this.

At half-past 5 this evening, M. Paradis arrived
at Pondichery, having left the soldiers, Mahé sepoys,
and Coffres, who had accompanied him from Madras,
at my choultry. It is said that the troops de-
spatched from here, to his assistance, met him at
Achikkidu Chévadi, and that, under his instructions,
they accompanied him as far as my choultry, where
they will halt for the night, and come on here to-
morrow morning. He did not, however, appear
cheerful ; although one would have expected it to be
otherwise, inasmuch as, with a handful of men, hehad
routed a large Muhammadan army. This I attri-
bute to the fact that the spoils from Madras have
been carried away by the Muhammadans. The face of
the Governor, also, looked gloomy. He apparently
expected a share in the booty, and the loss of it
must have been communicated to him by M. Paradis.

A letter has been received from Arcot from Vakil
Subbaiyan, which contains the following news : “ M.
Schonomille,* who was captured by Mahfuz Khén at
St. Thomas’ Mount, has been sent over to Arcot,

* It has been ascertained that this individual was employed by
‘I. de la Bourdonnais, as an English interpreter.
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where, under instructions from the Nawib, he is to
be detained, in custody of the local Kotwil. At
the intercession of Subbaiyan, Husain Sdhib has
transferred him to his own house, where M. de
Kerjean and two others are already in confinement,
and keeps him in honourable captivity, providing
him with a cot and quilt. Having heard that his
house in the fort at Madras is about to be demolished,
Husain S8hib desires that the Governor there
should be addressed, in view to its preservation.
He further asks that what was plundered from
Mylapore Dastgir Sihib, after the battle there,
should be restored to him. The expenses incurred
for arranging the confinement of M. Schonomille in
Husain S4hib’s hoase, instead of in the Kotwél’s
prison, amounted to Rs. 25, and a liberal present has
been promised in the event of his release. Five of
the chief Subahdars, and a messenger bearing a
letter, have arrived from Nizim-ul-mulk, to receive
the tribute due from Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khin.
The Nawib, who has had an attack of diarrheea, is
now improving, and heis to be confirmed in his
present position.”

I read the foregoing letter to the Governor, at
8 at night. He exclaimed: “ We must fight on,
use our muskets, and sack the country as far as
Arcot, This can no longer be tolerated. The
more 1 forbear, the more do the Muhammadans
foment discord.” Then bidding me go, he went to
supper.
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Tuesday, 13th December 1746, o 2nd Mdrgazhi of
Akshaya.—The detachment of soldiers and Mahé
sepoys, which went to the assistance of M. Paradis,
returned this morning, having marched as far as
ﬁchikkﬁdu. Within half an Indian hour of their
arrival at about half-past 7, the force which accom-
panied M. Paradis returned, with Jemadar Shaikh
Hasan, who rode in a palanquin bearing the flag
and kettle-drum captured from Mahfuz Khan, at the
battle of Mylapore.

At 9, the Governor summoned me, and desired
that a letter should be addressed to Vakil Subbaiyan,
in the following terms:

“ As regards the request of Husain $4hib that
the authorities in Madras be told not to destroy his
house there, he is to be informed that we mnever
intended to demolish any of the buildings, and that
it was the Muhammadans who compelled us to adopt
that course, for if they had refrained from having
recourse to arms, there would have been no need on
our part to cause the destruction of their houses.
Why,indeed, should we demolish the structures which
ornament our own city ? Itis the Muhammadans
who oblige us to do so. If, even now, they will
bring the war to a close, and set free our people,
whom they have wrongfully imprisoned, we will stop
the further destruction of the buildings in question.

“As to the request that the goods lost by
Dastgir Sahib be restored. it is well known to Husain
Sahib that the Pallis, Pariahs, and other tribes of the
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place, and of the adjoining villages, plundered them,
and threw the blame on us.

“ You are further to obtain and forward, as soon
as possible, a reply to the communication despatched
the day before yesterday.”

I accordingly sent a letter to Vakil Subbaiyan,
written on the lines indicated.

Sixteen of the camels forming part of the spoil
in the recent battle, accompanied the force that
followed M. Paradis.

At 2 this afternoon, M. Dupleix received the
following letter from one Arunichala Chetti, a mer-
chant of Madras, which he sent to me by his peon,
with instructions to read it, and inform him as to it
contents, which were :

‘“ From Madras Arunichala Chetti, to M. Dupleix,
Governor-General. For a long while, you have
treated me very kindly. As regards my mercantile
dealings, I need hardly say more than that my food
was there [ Pondichery], and water here. During the
time that disturbances were goingon, I placed my gold
and silver articles in a copper pot, which was buried
in my store-house. As the building was being demo-
lished, I caused the pot to be dug up, and when
it was being removed to my house, the subordinates
of M. Paradis seized and carried it away to the fort,
saying that the permission of the Governor of Pondi-
chery was required for the delivery of it. Kindly
write to M. Paradis, instructing him to hand over my
property to me.”
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I reported this to the Governor, and he desired
me to prepare the following reply : I have received
your letter, and have mnoted its contents. If you
come in person, and have an interview with me, I will
do my best to meet your wishes.” I wrote a Tamil
letter in these terms, and gave it to the Governor.

Last night, at 8, I received information that
the army of Muhammad ’Alf Khén, the son of the
Nawib, had reached Tiruviti. I communicated this
to the Governor. He asked if the troops mentioned
by me were on their way to Fort St. David, and I
replied that the common report was that they would
march there to-morrow, When he questioned me as
to the strength of the force, I said that I had heard
that there were 1,500 horse, 2,000 infantry, 100
camels, 15 or 20 elephants, and 19 large and small
guns, each on a bullock. I told him, also, that
although the direct route from Gingee to Fort St.
David lay through Tiruppipuliy@r, Vizhuppuram,
and BahQr, Muhammad ’Al{ Khin had made a detour
of three leagues to the westward, skirting Tiruvitiand
Panruti. He exclaimed “ Why ?”. Ireplied: ¢ As
our soldiers are moving about the country as far as
Vizhuppuram, his men are afraid of a sudden attack.
He, himself, hardly sleeps during the night time, even
for half an Indian hour,and he constantly moves from
one tent to another. Day and night, he is haunted by
the apprehension of being attacked by the French.”

I added that this was the decided opinion of the
people ; on which the Governor, accepting this as
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true, remarked that Muhammad ’Ali Khin was a
timid man.

Some forty days ago, letters were written to the
Killedars, Jaghirdars, and other notables, wherein
complaint was made that Mahfuz Khin had unjustly
arrested the envoys sent to him by the French,
and had imprisoned them ; that he was preparing
to wage war against the French; and that he was
guilty of other wrong doing. Replies from some of
them ; namely, Taql Sahib of Wandiwash, Killedar
Mir Asad-ullih Khin of Chétpattu, Murtazi All
Kbhian of Vellore, and Killedar Hirdsat Khin of
Satghar, were received this evening.

Those of Vellore and Sitghar respectively wrote
as follows: ““I have received your letter, the perusal
of which has given me great pleasure. Mahfuz Khén,
also, has written to me,in detail, how the Nawéb dealt
with you, and how you behaved. This was to my
satisfaction. It would, however, be better for you
if, baving regard to the friendship of Nawib Anwar-
ud-din Kbin, you act in conformity to his wishes.”

The answer of Mir Asad ran thus: I have
read your letter, and it has caused me much gratifica-
tion. Please let me know the origin and cause of the
war between you and the English. As we have
been on good terms with each other until now,
I wish you to continue your friendship with me, to
the end.” He wrote in general and respectful terms
of this nature; but through a peon, Manian, and
another man—name unknown-—, who brought the
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letter, he sent word to the Governor privately:
“You have done exceedingly well; you have
acquired undying fame for yourself and your
posterity. What Anwar-ud-din Khin does is but
an empty threat; you need not concern yourself
about him. Nizim-ul-mulk will also be pleased with
you, as he bears ill-will towards this Subahdar.
You will, no doubt, be quite successful. I have
also written regarding the matter to the Nizdm, from
whom I expect a reply which will be agreeable
to you. You should, on no account, come to any
terms with him. If the money given as presents
to these people was expended in collecting troops,
and driving them away, it would prove a far more
glorious concern,

To the letter of the Governor representing that
Mahfuz Khin was behaving unjustly towards him,
Taqi Sihib sent an answer in which he evaded any
reference to the complaint, but observed as follows :
“I have received your letter, with much pleasure.
I learn that, in continuance of the friendship which
existed between you and Nawib S’aadat-ulldh Khin
and other Naviits in former days, you still deal very
kindly with the Navait class; I have been told
that you have a special regard and respect for the
households of Chandi S4hib, Badé Sahib, and ’Ali
D6st Khan, and have been informed from time to
time, to my exceeding satisfaction, of the help which
you invariably render them. For this God will
favour you with every success; and greatness.’
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Smae By the time that I had read all the details to the
—  Governor, it was 10 at night. He was pleased;
g?llv?:& and spoke well of the Navéits. He told me that it
diarist vhy wag through fear of Anwar-ud-din Khan, that Mir
messnge. - Asad had written one thing in his formal answer,
and caused a different communication to be made to

him orally.
Eilledar The reply of Mir Husain Khén, Killedar of
davr ot Vazhuddvfr, ran thus: “When Muhammad Al
%ﬁ;ﬂﬂﬁ Khéin was marching by way of Chétpattu he told me
that he was about to attack the fort of Pondichery,
and wished me to place the fort which 1 command,
at his disposal, as a halting place. I replied that as
it was the property of the Emperor, he should obtain
the previous permission of Nizdm-ul-mulk. Muham-
Who mad ’All was offended at this, and said: ‘I know

charged

hmwith you are acting in collusion with the Governor of

Frnch.  Pondichery, and mean to defy me. Very well; I

will capture Vazhudivlir, and confiscate all your
andisnow jAghir villages.’ He is now advancing, full of ancer ;
advancing. (=] 3 =} 4

but this is a matter of little consequence to you.

Compti-  (rod has favoured you with the courage and strength

e necessary to overcome these Muhammadans. You

foTernot il acquire the reputation that throughout Hindu-
stan there iz no one who can conquer the French,
and no nation so bold as they; either in these
parts, or in Hurope. Your deeds will raise your
descendants to great distinction. Close friendship
having long existed between you and our Nawéb,
Mir Asad-Ulldh Khén, our fort is yours, and we
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regard all your concerns as our own. When
M. Paradis came, with only 150 men, Anwar Khén,
the son of Mahfuz Khin’s elder brother, surrounded
him with a force of 1,500 cavalry and 1,000
infantry. We were then very apprehensive as to
his safety. Being Saiyeds, we offered up prayers
that God might bless him with success and our
petition was heard.  With but a small force M.
Paradis attacked and drove away the vast army of
the Moghuls, killing some, and gaining a victory.
This is a matter for congratulation. God seems to
favour your enterprise, and He will bless you with
many similar trinmphs.” When I read this to the
Governor, he spoke, for an Indian hour, in high
terms of Mir Asad, and desired me to write an
answer to him, on the following day. Asit was
then 11, I took leave, and went home.
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CHAPTER XXXVIL

FROM DECEMBER 147d, 1746, TO DECEMUBEER
25TH, 1746.

Diarist reports to the Governor that M.’ Ali [{han is at Nellikuppam—And

is said to Le going to Manjakuppam—Diaiist directed to procure
certain information—Replies that it has been obtained—Governor
much pleased—Military officers object to M. Paradis as a leader—
Governor has much trouble in pacifying them—-He gives certain
orders to diarist—News of M. Al Khan’s movements—And of his
reception by the English—The spot assigned for his camp—He is
displeased with this, and goes elsewhere—Induced to return, and
another site is indicated to him-—Asks that his front may be pro-
tected—Finally camps at Kondfir Tope—He and his men greatly fear
a night attack-—Governor causes this news to be repeated to M,
Paradis-—-Remarks of the Governor as to M. ’All Khidn—The obser-
vations therenpon made by diarist— Who gives M. Duapleix the news
regarding Mahfoz Khdn—ind says that the Nawdb is better—
Conversation as to the tenacity cf life of the Nawdb - Dashing
escape of English prisoners—Eight recaptured at once, owing to
injuries—Four more re-taken in the afternoon—And, later, ten who
were hiding in low jungle—Force sent to attack the enemy’s horse,
near Azhisapdkkam—The latter take to flight—The French make a
halt, for dinner—Give chase to some more of the enemy—And hals
again at Marikiishpdpuram, where another skirmish takes place —
The opposing force retreats to Manjukuppam—A scout says that he
saw this—Letters, etc., from Surat, to Governor, and M. Dulaurens —
The bearers of these make contradictory reports concerning the
Nizdm —They state also that they were taken to Mahfaz Khin's
camp, but released—The enemy surprise the camp at Manjakuppam—
After a long fight, the French retreat, with loss of supplies-~And
are followed as far as Tavalakuppam-—Remarks of the Governor on
hearing this news—General impression ag to the nature of the defeat
—Governor isglad at the reverse—S8ays that M. de Bury, and other
officers, refused to serve under M. Paradis— And that he is pleased at
their discomfiture—He reminds diarist of a conversation when the
force was starting out—And says that diarist’s prediction proved cor-
rect-—Details of supplies captured by the English—Mr. Morse’s dubash,
waylaid, and robbed of papers, money, etc.—This done, as Mr. Morse
was writing to Fort 8t David—Governor directs diarist to arrange
for seizure of the letters—The measures taken to effect this—Dubash
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receives, from Mr. Morse, a letter, for transmission—Four of diarist’s
servants sent to waylay, aud rob him—They take from hiw, and a
companion, letters, etc,—One letter from Mr. Morse, and unother
from the dubash to G, Néayakkan —Tle tormer contains nothing of
importance —The latter relates merely to Mr. and Mrs. Morse’s
private affairs—Disposal of the st.len money—Governcr repeats, to
duavist, M. de Bury’s explanation of his defeat— The reverse attributed
to the disobedience of his officers—The saiilors also blamed--Diarist
speaks of the effect which the presence of M.Paradis would have had—
And tells an anecdote, in illustration of this~~Further conversation—
The matters in charge of which Governor places diarist—-Striya Pillai
brought before him-—His insubordinate conduct—The carse of this
—Excuse offered by him-—Diaiist refuses to accept it —And has
words with Ténappa Mudali touching the man-—Under orders fiom
M. Dulaurens, Kommana Mudali visits diarist—And takes him to
task for interfering ai Azhisapdkkam—Diarist replies that what he
did was under orders of the Governor —He asks why Stfiriya Pillai,
alone, disobeyed—Denies other allegations made against him—And
challenges inquiry— Reply of Kommana Madali —Guvernor decides
to burn all the Nawdb's villages——Diarist’s suggestion for protecting
certain others—This approved—Tickets, with the Governor’s seal,
ordered — And sent, with a letter, to the Killedar of Vazhuddvlr—
Diarist mentions others to be similarly treated--And speaks specially
in favour of some—Governor twits him with having said the like
of a now hostile Reddi—Conversation as to this man’s conduct
-~Governor refuses him a ticket, and diarist retires—Governor sends
for him again—And orders gifts for two Jemadars— Additions made
to these— At the invitation of the Governor, diarist goes to Ariyénkup-
pam—The troops there, drawn up, in review order—Madame
Dapleix present—Speech made by the Governor when presenting the
gifts—Rs, 3,000 distributed amongst the troops--Governor converses
with the officer commanding the sailors--And then chats with
diarist—News, of various kinds, from the camp of M.’ Al Khén
— Diarist tells all this to the Governor—Who asks regarding the
Nizém , and Nawdb—Report that Anwar NWhin has desived M. Ali
Khan to cease hostilities—Other news —Alleged effect of the mere
mention of the French, in M.’ All Khin’s camp-—Movements of
3. AN Khin, and Anwar Ihidn—Diarist tells the Governor the
route which they must follow, to reach Pondichery--Governor ques-
tions him conceruing Cuddalore —His reply—Conversation touching
his knowledge ot the place—fiovernor ditects inquiry to be made—
Asks for a plan of a ceitain road-—Dimist sketches two different
routes— Conversation which ensues—Contents of a Jetter to M. Al
Khan, which awaits despatch—Governor hands the letter, and a
present,to the messenger—And, it being Christmas day, goes to church
—On his return, he sends for diarist—Conversation as to the lack
of grain for Pondichery—Governor makes a suggestion—Diarist
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demurs to it—Mentions what M, Lenoir did on a like occasion— And
says that saving the starving poor will add to the Governor’s credit
—QConversation as to the special price at which to sell paddy—
Governor fixes this, and orders that any loss shall be debited to him—
He tells diarist why he intends to attack M. ’Ali Khin—Diarist makes
a flattering speech—Governor departs for Ariynkuppam,

Wednesday, 14th December 1746, or 3vd Mdrgazhi
of Akshnya.—Having received news that Muhammad
* Ali Khin halted last night at Tiruviti, and
reached Nellikuppam, at 10 this morning, 1 reported
this to the Governor, and further informed him
of the rumour that he would go, in the afternoon,
to the Company’s garden at Manjakuppam, which
1s inside the boundary of Fort St. David. The
Governor asked me whether the authorities at
Fort St. David had funds to meet the expenses
of these troops. I told him that the Dutch at
Negapatam were assisting them. He directed me to
send spies to ascertain how many guns, peons, sol-
diers, and East Indians, there were in Fort St. David
and the batteries round about, and also in those
at Cuddalore. I replied that I Lad already obtained
particulars. He desired me to record these in
French. I promised to do so. He asked me how
I managed to procure the information, even before
it was demanded. I said that I knew he would
require iv, and that I had therefore secured it,
and wade a record in writing. He was very much
pleased, and began to praise me. I refrain from
committing to paper what he said, as I might be
charged with egotism.
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* As the captains of the soldiers, the officers,
ensigns, and lieutenants, protested against being
placed under the command of M. Paradis, in view to
the proposed attack on Fort St. David, a meeting of
the Council was held, and the Governor was occupied
in summoning the captains and officers, and MJM. de
Bury, de la Tour, and Plaisanes, singly, and two and
four at a time, pacifying them by pointing out similar
instances in Kurope,and showing them statements
on record, as well as papers, to prove that there had
been precedents. He then sent for me, and bade me
instruct the Nayindr t to be ready to start with sixty
peons, and also to procure provisions, which were to
be laden on the camels that had come with M.
Paradis.

This evening, the following news was brought to
the Governor, by one of the Nayinir’s peons, when
I, two of the Company’s peons, and four of the
Nayindr’s, were present. Muhammad ’Ali Khin,
whose following consisted of 1,500 horse, 19 guns,
large and small, 100 rocket men, 500 matchlock men,
100 camels, and 10 elephants, set out, in company
with ’Abd-ul Jalil, each riding on an elephant.
They first halted at Tiruvéndipuram, and then
proceeded to the garden at Manjakuppam, where

* This list of officers is a literal translation of what appears in the
diary, and the sequence 1s the same,

¢ The whole of the Military Officers "’ would, no doubt, be an appro-
priate free rendering.

t Karuttambi Nayindr ; the head of the police,
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Mr. Croke, the Deputy Governor of Fort St. David,
who was escorted by some Europsans, received
him. A salute was then fired, in honour of the
arrival of the party. Four Englishmen, in carriages,
accompanied Muhammad ’Alf Khin’s force, from
Gingee, and they are now with him and the
Deputy Governor. When the KEnglish assigned the
road between the Pennir and Pondichery for the
encampment of the army, Muhammad ’All Khén
asked them whitheritled. Their answer was: “To
Pondichery, and Madras”; on which he inquired
what the distance was between the spot where they
were, and Poundichery. They replied thatit was a
little less than a league. He then became incensed,
and exclaimed : ¢ You have arranged that my camp,
and that of my troops, shall be on the road by
which the French are expected to advance from
Pondichery to attack this place. We will go
to Tiravéndipuram.” So saying, he promptly
departed. An Indian hour after he had gone, the
Deputy Governor, with Rangappa Niyakkan and
others, went to him, appeased his wrath, and brought
him back, proposing to accommodate him and his
followers on the banks of the Pennér, to the north-
west of Manjakuppam, near T iruppipuliylir, some-
where between that village, and what is known as
the “horsetail ’ battery; it being an out-of-the-way
place, about a mile distant from the west of the
public road. Regarding even this as too unsafe,
he desired that some guns and a force of sepoys,
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from Fort St. David, should be posted in frout of
hismen. The English acceded to this. On recon-
sideration, however, he was dissatisfied with even this
spot, so he decided to quit it, and to pitch his camp
at Kondtr Tope, which lies further from the suburbs
of Fort St. David. Here, he and his whole force
were encamped together. They were exceedingly
afraid that M. Paradis might set ubon them that
night, with a body of 500 soldiers.

On hearing this, the Governor desired the man
who had brought the news to repeat it briefly
before M. Paradis and a few others, and he
requested me to translate it into French. After I
had done this, the Governor said that it was all true.
He further remarked: ¢ Mubammad ’Ali Khén
oucht not to have shown his lack of courage, in the
way that he has. Could he not have maintained
his prestige by suppressing the motives which led
him to betake himself within the limits of English
territory ? 7 I thereupon observed: Tt is due to
vour remarkable good fortune that apprehensions of
this nature have arisen in the hearts of Muhammad
Al and his men. With all their advantages in
armament, they cannos, when your troops actually
take the field, hold out wgainst them.” The Governor,
and all the Europeans who were there, unanimously
said that I was right.

M. Dupleix then inquired whether any news
had been received regarding Mahfuz Khin’s move-
ments. I replied: ““He is now at Amarampét. It
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is said that, after having advanced as far as Sadras,
Anwar Khan fell back, and joined Mahfuz Khén.”
'The Governor remarked that a letter which he had
received from Madras corroborated my statement.
He then asked me how Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khin
was faring. My reply was that, from what T had
heard, he was improving. On this, he said : *‘ His
end seems to be as far off as ever. It is certainly
remarkable that this man, who iz eighty-six years
old, still survives so many maladies.” I observed:
“Can one’s life come to an end unless the appointed
time arrives: until then, one must linger on in that
way.” ¢ True,” he exclaimed, and then retired.
Monday, 19th December 1746, or 8th Mdrgazhi
of Alkshaya.—At about seven Indian hours after
sunrise, the chief of the peons furnished me with
the news that thirty of the Englishmen who were
imprisoned in the fort, had escaped by leaping over
the wall, after having severely beaten the guard,
and that they were then pursued, with the result
that eight were picked up on the bank of the salt
river, with injuries to their hips and legs, which
rendered them unable to walk further. I said:
“Very well. Send out more men in search of
others.” At about 3 in the afternoon, some peons
from Nayinir told me that four more had been
caught, of whom two had been sent to Ariyén-
kuppam, and the other two would have to be carried
here. I desired them to bring the men. Again,
at 4 o’clock, the watchman of Kuppam, a village
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to the west of Villiyanall@r, informed me that ten
unarmed Englishmen were hiding amongst some
date-palms and sangam * bushes. I at once reported
this to the Governor, and caused twenty musketeers
to be sent out. They captured the ten Englishmen,
brought them in at 8, and left them in custody of
the guard at the fort gate.

Information having been received, through our
scouts, that a detachment of 300 horse, from the
Muhammadan army which had encamped west of
Cuddalore, was hanging about Azhisapikkam, a force
was despatched from Ariyinkuppam, and sighted
the enemy as they were marching abreast of
Muttirusa Pillai Chivadi. The Mahé sepoys, and
some of the soldiers, at once gave chase to them,
on which they fled. Two or three Englishmen,
mounted on horses, entered the village of Azhisa-
pikkam, and shot two cows. When they were
purstued, both they and 100 horsemen, who were in
the neighbourhood, decamped. The French troops
thereupon marched on to Kattupillaiyar Kovil,
where they halted. As the men composing this
force were eating their dinners, 600 mounted men
from the camp of Muhammad ’Alf Khin came in
sight, on which the Mahé sepoys, a few soldiers,
and ten horsemen, set off in pursuit of them. Not
being able to offer any resistance, they fled, and were
chased as far as Bahfir. Our men then went on to

* A thorny shrub named Azima tetracantha
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Marikrishnfipuram, where they halted. Here, again,
the enemy, including some Englishmen, appeared
and, from the cover of the boundary hedge, fired
innumerable shots at our men, who, in return,
discharged four or five cannon. The Mahé sepoys,
and some of the soldiers, then charged and attacked
them. The outcome of this skirmish was that the
enemy retreated to the garden at Manjakuppam,
carrying with them four wounded. Our men, none
of whom were injured, encamped near the boundary
hedge.

Malaiyappa Mudali, a scout, said that he had
seen all these doings, with his own eyes.

This evening, some messengers from Surat
brought letters addressed to the Governor, and
M. Dulaurens, and also some despatches from the
authorities in France. The subject of these is not
known. The men who brought them made the
following statement to the Governor:

“Having received a report of the death of
the Subahdar of Surat, Nizim-ul-Mulk, escorted
by a merchant of Surat named Mulld ’Abd-ul-Shih
Ahmad Khin Biqar-ud-din, has left Hyderabad,
and is on his way thither, by way of Aurangabad.
It is said, that Nésir Jang, also, is about to go
thither. There is however a more recent rumour
that Nizdm-ul-mulk has arranged matters amicably
with Nasir Jang, who has in consequence aban-
doned visiting Surat. On our return from Satéra,
whither we went to see Sau Bhiji Rao, we were
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taken by a custom-house officer to the camp of
Mahfuz Khin who permitted us to go on our way,
on production of a certificate bearing the seal of
Nigim-ul-mulk.”

Tuesday, 20th Decemnber 1746, or 9th Mdirgazhi of
Alshaya.—The news received, to-day, from our
troops is as follows :

When encamped near Manjakuppam, the force
was, at about four Indian hours before sunrise,
surrounded on all sides by the Nawéb’s horse, and
the English, who fired on them with cannon, mus-
kets, and rockets. They then prepared for action,
and leaving 200 men in the garden, to guard the
stores, the remainder fought very wvaliantly, in
close order. The engagement continued for about
ten Indian hours after day-break. On our side,
one European was killed, and ten were wounded,
whilst of the Mahé sepoys seven or eight were
killed, and ten were wounded. On the side of the
enemy the number of men and horses killed amonobt
the Muhammadans was respectively
and that of men wounded was . oL Fy
whilst amongst the English . . . . # were
killed and . . . . * wounded. Eventually,
the supplies of the I'rench fell into the hands of
the enemy, and our men not being able to hold their
ground, retired to the east of Marikrishnapuram,
with their cattle and camels, and, marching along

* Blank in the oviginal.
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the beach, arrived at Ariyinkuppam, at 4 o’clock.
Two of the camels, which were not able to get out
of a mire at a water-course near Marikrishnipuram,
were killed by our men. The Muhammadan horse-
men, with whom there were also a few English,
followed as far ag Tavalakuppam, and then fell back.

The Governor and I were receiving infor-
mation of all this after 12 noon. On arrival of the
news, he sent for me, and said as follows: * For
four days, I urged that M. Paradis should be
appointed to the command. But M. de Bury would
not listen. Now see how he comes hurrying back.
All this is due to his not taking my advice. Some
do not understand, unless they are hit on the head.
Note how things will go in future, and the course
that they will follow.”

Most of the townsfolk were under the impres-
sion that the whole force hLad been destroyed,
and rejoiced very much when it became known that
it had returned in safety. I spoke to the people, in
encouraging terms, explaining to them what had
taken place. I then returned home, had supper,
and went to bed. Neither the Governor,nor I, were
cast down by this discomfiture. The supplies, alone,
fell into the bands of the enemy and no other damage
was sustained. All have returned. I have recorded
what I was told had actually occurred.

The following is what the Governor said this
afternoon: “I am very glad that our people have
sustained a reverse. I spoke ss earnestly as 1 could
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to M. de Bury, and other officers, in view to M.
Paradis being appointed to the chief command, but
they refused to serve under his orders, on the plea
that he was but an engineer, and they asked me to
give them a trial, und see whether they would not be
as victorious as he had been. It wasthen my hope
that they might return discomfited. This is what
has actually come to pass, and [ am pleased, although
I am somewhat cast down at the thought that our men
have sustained a defeat. When M. de Bury and his
fellows were starting on the expedition, you, on
noticing that M. Paradis was not accompanying them,
asked me to whom intelligence should be furnished by
the scouts. I told you that M. de Bury was going,
and desired that they should continne supplying him
with news, and at the same time mentioned that
M. Paradis would go later on, and could then be
communicated with. You, however, said to me:
‘It would be well if M. Paradis took the command.
The very mention of his name, will cause men to
tremble. If he does not go, neither the Muham-
madans nor the English will have the least fear.’
Your prediction has proved correct.”

On this occasion, the Governor talked to me for
about four Indian hours, and to record all that he
said would fill, at least, 100 pages. I have given
the gist of the conversation.

The following is a list of what the English
captured at the fight near Marikrishndpuram:
Company’s cattle, ete., about 250, or 260 ; tents
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e about 120, or 130; muskets 250, in five boxes;
. Sopper jugs for pouring out brandy 60; kegs of
" spirits 100 ; kegs of powder 50; pigs 100 ; sheep
1,400; and fowls 2,000; besides bread, biscuit,

dishes, and plates. )
My. Morse’s I noted in the diary of the * 8th instant that, on

dubash
e that might, at about 10 o’clock, Lakshmana Mudali,

and robbed

Tonéy, ete. the brother of Perumal Mudali, who is the dubash of
Mr. Morse, and one Kandappan were, when on their
way home, waylaid, to the west of the Deputy
Governor’s house, by five or six men, and deprived
of what money, goods, and papers, they had in
their possession. I will now record all the circum-
stances connected with this affair, as it might be
thought strange that such a daring robbery should
have heen perpetrated on a high road, when it was
but 10 at night, and also near the house of the
Deputy Governor. When it came to the knowledge
of M. Dupleix, about fifteen or twenty days ago, that

This Mr. Morse and the authorities at Fort St. David

done, as
Mr. 31 riti
Mr Moo were writing to each other, and that MM. de Bausset

to Fort . . ey .
st.owid. and Friell were constantly visiting and speaking

to Mr. Morse, he, reprimanded the last named,
asking what business they, as Frenchmen, could
have with that gentleman. He called them dogs;
and used other abusive language of a similar kind
towards them. He then sent for me, and said:
“] hear that Mr. Morse is communicating with

* There is no such entry in the diary of this date.



MEASURES TO SEIZE CERTAIN OF ME. MORSE'S LETTERS. 191

Fort St. David, by means of letters. 1 wish you
to depute proper men to seize, and bring them to
me.” He then went on to say: Thisis a master
which should not be entrusted to the chief of the
peons. e cannoi carry it through. He would
spoil the whole thing. You must arrange it your-

2

self, by employing suitable men.” He gave me
these instructions about fifteen daysago. T at once
employed two agents, each on a salary of a pagoda
a month, and desired them to ascertain everything
that took place at Mr. Morse’s residence, and to
make prompt report to me. I have accordingly
been kept informed, daily, of every transaction there,
and of the letters received from Fort St. David.
Yesterday, a young Brihman brought one from
there, and delivered it to Mr. Morse, who, after
reading it, told him that he would give a reply. His
dubash Lakshmanan then instructed the young
Brihman to go to the house where he was living,
and where he proposed bringing Mr. Morse’s letter
to Fort St. David. As soon as this news reached
me, I arranged for the Bridhman being seccetly
soized, and confined in the house of the clief of the
peons ; and deputed four of my palanquin bearers,
who were accompanied by Azhagiri Chettl, to take
possession of, and bring away, the letters carried
by Lakshmanan. To make it appear that this
was done by robbers—Ilest the abstraction of the
papers, alone, might create suspicion—I instructed
them to take from him, by violence, whatever money
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and other articles he had about him. Lakshmanan
and another person who accompanied him, were
accordingly waylaid, at the bridge to the west of
the Deputy Governor’s. The money they had,
namely, 10 pagodas, fanams to the same amount, and
some rupees, making in all 27 pagodas; and the
letters which they bore, were snatched from them;
and their clothes, including their coats, were torn.
The sham robbers at once brought the money to me,
as also the letters, amongst which was one addressed
by Mr. Morse to the authorities at Fort St. David,
and another, in Tamil, written by Lakshmanan
to Guruvappa Nayakkan. I handed these over to
the Governor, who transferred them to M. Mathieu,
bidding him examine the contents of the English
letter. He said that there was nothing particular
in it, and that it ran thus: 1t is my fate that has
subjected me to the miseries which have come upon
me. I pine here, drinking my own blood. This
being the will of God, what can we do? I hope you,
at least, will act with judgment, and continue to
govern your settlement.” T then explained to
the Governor the contents of the letter from
Lakshmanan, which was addressed to Guruvappa
Néiyakkan. They were to the following effect :
“Be good enough to take out and forward Mrs.
Morse’s boxes inlaid with ivory, her clothing, and
other articles. Please furnish information as to the
prices of the piece-goods purchased, and sent from
Cuddalore. As regards debts due to Mr. Morse,
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by merchants, rigorous measures should, if neces-
sary, be taken to enforce payment. All the money
available, and all the goods and other articles
belonging to him, should be kept in Fort St. David.”
He then desired that the 27 pagodas which the
peons had brought should be distributed amongst
them. I have, however, kept the money with me,
as he is likely to ask me for it again. All this
thieving has been perpetrated in view to procure
the letters.

I give, below, the purport of a conversation
which took place between meand the Governor, this
evening. Hesaid: ““ M. de Bury has related to me
the particulars of the recent expedition. Seventy or
eighty of the Muhammadan horsemen fell. Of the
native sepoys, 200 or 300 were killed. If the action
bad continued for two Indian hours longer, many
more Muhammadans would have been slain, and our
force would have reached Arcot. The officers who
accompanied the expedition would not obey their
commanding officer, and each persisted in having
his own way. It is to this that he attributes the
reverse. He said that as a strong force could not
be detailed for the protection of the spare ammuni-
tion and supplies, which were consequently carried
off, our men had not enongh powder and ball, or
provisions, to enable them to continue the struggle.
M. de Bury, and the officers who were with him,
charged the men of the navy with disobedience, and

partly imputed the failure to their couduct. I,
25
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however, imputed it to theirs.” T replied: M.
Paradis’s name is held in such dread there, that if he
had gone with the expedition, and remained inactive,
the enemy would have fled merely on the strength
of his presence. I cannot adequately describe how
they tremble at the very mention of his name.
There was a man in our comraunity known as ¢ Gun-
Lakshmana Nayakkan’. It is said that, during his
time, when the horses of Muhammadans were taken
to be watered they would not drink, but lifted up
their heads, and looked back in the direction from
which they had come, until they were told ‘Gun-
Lakshmana Néyakkan is not here. Go on; drink’
Just in this fashion, do the men of the Muhammadan
army shake at the very name of M. Paradis. More
on the subject might be regarded as flattery. When
you hear further, from other sources, you will be
convinced of the truth of my statement.” He
exclaimed : ““ It is true. In future, I will send M.
Paradis.” He further added : ““ You must ascertain
all the news, and keep me informed. You had
better take charge of all matters connected with the
supply of cattle, coolies, and peons, and so save me the
trouble of attending to them.” Isaid ¢ Very well.”

Wednesday, 21st December 1746, or 10th Mdrgazhi
of Akshaya.—This morning, Swiminidhan, whom 1
had sent to Azhisapikkam, to bring Sfriya Pillai,
returned with him. For four days prior to the des-
patch of the expedition against Fort St. David, the
authorities of the villages within which French
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territory lay, had, by order of the Governor, been
called upon by me to procure and supply coolies. 1
wrote to Ozhukarai, and other villages, including
Azhisapikkam, on the subject, but no coolies
were received from the last mentioned of these,
nor did Striya Pillai attend, when summoned. This
led to my sending a Company’s peon, to: fetch
him. When he arrived, I asked him why he had not
complied with the demand for coolies, or appeared
when sent for. His answer was that everyone had
absconded. Speaking in severe terms, I pointed out
that 150 men had been received from the adjoining
village of Ariydnkuppam, which is not a tenth of
the size of his, and that it was an impertinence on
his part not to have sent any. Bidding him present
himself before the Governor, I went to my areca-nut
store-house, and during the time that I was there,
I was sent for by M. Dupleix, on whom [ accord-
ingly waited. As I was on my way back, I came,
at the entrance to Governor's house, on Tinappa
Mudali, who was talking to Azhisapikkam Striya
Pillai. On seeing me, he said: * Please send
Striya Pillai back to his viliage.” Believing that he
was a gentleman, 1 made bim acquainted with every-
thing done by the man, and remarked that he did not
deserve to be excused, and that his conduct ought
to be brought to the notice of the Governor, and
an adequate punishment awarded to him. Tanappa
Mudali exclaimed : ¢ This is notin your power.”” 1
replied : “You will soon know whether it is, or not.”
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As I was about to see the Governor on the
subject, Kommana Mudali came to me, and said as
follows ; premising that he did so at the bidding of
M. Dulaurens: “ You have called away all the in-
habitants of Azhisapikkam. You have, it is said,
not only obstrusted the collection of taxes, but also
hindered the supply of water to the rice fields.
You have further, it would seem, used abusive langu-
age towards the men there. It must be remembered
that Azhisapikkam differs from other villages, in
that it belongs to M. Dumas, and not to the
Company. It, therefore, should not be interfered
with ; and, if necessary, the Governor will be ad-
dressed on the subject.” To this I retorted, saying :
“Tt was not on my own account that [ wrote
for them. No village was called upon to supply
coolies, without orders from the Governor. In each
communication on the subject, there was an express
note that action was taken under his instructions.
It was nowhere said that it originated with me. Did
not the villages so addressed send a reply, and also
supply men by hundreds, and fifties ? Why did
Striya Pillai, alone, abstain from replying, or furnish-
ing coolies, or even from attending when summoned
to doso? On previous occasions, did not Kanakariya
Mudali and Tanappa Mudali write to Azhisapikkam,
and procure coolies? It was apparently because
the requisition proceeded from me, that some one
desired to create ill-feeling between me and M.
Dulaurens, and therefore imputed to me things
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which I never did ; such as that I had prevented
the collection of taxes, had hindered the distribu-
tion of water to the fields, and had dissuaded
the local Reddis from returning to their village.
Should there be truth in any of these statements, I
am willing to be treated as an offender, and to be
fined. Let an undertaking to the same effect be
taken, in writ:ng, from the person who furnished
the information, and let the matter be formally
investigated.” Saying that he took my side in the
matter, Kommana Mudali promised that he would
speak to M. Dulaurens, requested me to do so too,
and then departed. He visited me again in the
evening, and repeated his request.

The Governor sent for me to-day, and said : «“1T
am determined that all the villages belonging to the
Nawib shall be burned. What distinguishing mark
shall T give to the jaghir villages appertaining to the
fort at Vazhndavir, so that they may be unmolested.”
I replied : “ Anything that may appear agreeable to
you.” He then said : ¢ Would it not do to hoist a
white flag, in each of them.” T answered: ¢ Other
villages may do so. You might furnish each with
a ticket bearing your seal, impressed on wax, just in
the same way as you do for the guidance of the
postal anthorities, when despatching your letters to
Madras. The villages concerned should be desired
to produce these, on tbe arrival of our troops, to
whom instructions shouid be given that places
where the ticket is shown, should not be molested.
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This appears to me to be a more feasible plan.”
On this, he said : “ What you have suggested
seems to be the proper course: we must adopt it.
Please tell Mathieu to make up fifty tickets, affixing
to each a wax seal.” I gave orders accordingly.
The Governor then summoned me, and gave direc-
tions to write a letter to Mir Husain Khin, the
Killedar of Vazhudévlr, sending him as many scaled
tickets as he had villages. I said that I would do
so, and wrote the following letter: ¢ Muhammad
’Ali Khin has arrived in these parts, and is giving
much trouble to our people, and doing harm in our
villages. We have patiently waited until now, but
he does not seem to abate his evil ways. We have
therefore no other alternative than to sack and
burn all his viliages, and to make the inhabitants of
them prisoners. But as we are mutual friends, and
as we regard your villages as though they were our
own, please distribute these sealed tickets through-
out them.” With this communication, we sent him
forty-five of these. 1 then said to the Governor:
“ Sir, there are now the villages belonging to Nava-
mél, and those of Murtazi *All Kbhin ; we shall have
to send tokens to them, also.” He replied: ““ Very
well; do 80.” 1 next told him that there were some
Jaghirdars who were of much help to us, and that
protection should be accorded to them likewise.
He asked me who they were. | answered : ¢ Their
names are Perumukkal Miydn Séhib, Muttu Malla
Reddi, and Muttu Venkatapati Reddi. We must
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send tickets to their villages; they are of much use
to us because we obtain paddy from their lands, to
the value of two lakhs of pagodas, and their wives
and children, too, are with us. As we are at war
with the Muhammadans, Mahfuz Khin wrote to
these men not to send any of their grain to Pondi-
chery. They, however, have taken no notice of these
orders, but continue to supply us, as usual.” I
mentioned to him some other points in their favour.
He then remarked: ¢ Some time ago, you gave me
the same advice with regard to a certain Reddi
belonging to Villiyanalllir; but now this very man
is doing us harm from the camp of Muhammad ’Alf
Khan.” T replied: “ Sir, how could he help him-
self ? When his master sends for him, and personally
gives him orders, how can he avoid compliance with
them.” T spoke in terms that were favourable to
the Reddi. But the Governor said: ¢ Your Reddi
cannot disobey his master’s orders; but when our
men marched against Villiyanalllr, he offered resist-
ance, and attermpted to attack them. The friend-
ship of such a fellow will not suit ns. If there are
persons other than he, to whom you may desire
to send tickets, you may do so.”” I said: “ Very
well,”’ took leave, and went to dinner.

At 2 in the afternoon, the Governor sent for me
again. I presented myself before him, and he then
said: ¢ There are two brothers, Jemadars of the
Mahé sepoys. I wish to give them a present;
please send for two shawls.” I replied that 1
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would, and gave orders accordingly. After doing
this, T remarked to him: “Sir, as these men are
sepoys, it would look well if you presented them
also with swords, pistols, and muskets.” He asked
me to bring him a couple of swords and a brace of
pistols, which were in my custody. I produced
them as directed, and he showed them to me. I
said that they were good, and, after looking at the
pistols, he handed them to Diego, and sent word to
M. Cornet to bring him two other pairs of pistols,
which he did. He next summoned his accountant,
and ordered him to take 3,000 rupees, at once, to
Ariyankuppam, Then he desired me to approach,
and said: * You have never seen our soldiers; you
had better come to Ariyinkuppam, and have a look
at them.” He asked his lady to start first, and
then followed her. T also went to Ariyinkuppam.
On our arrival there, the Frenchmen and the Mahé
sepoys were drawn up in review order, and when the
Governor, after alighting from his carriage near
the Christian church, walked towards the battery,
the drums were beaten. He halted not far from
the bungalow of Madame Albert, which is close
to the battery. Madame Dupleix was seated there
in a chair, and as the Governor was inspecting
the sepoys, ’Abd-ul-Rahmin and his younger
brother, Shaikh Hasan, advanced, and saluted
him. He presented to each of them a pair of
pistols, a sword, and a shawl, and said: *‘If
you exert yourselves to your utmost in the interests
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of the Company, God will bless you, and favour you
with further honours and rewards.”” They replied
in polite language: * Sir, we have always behaved
so as to deserve well of you. We will continue to
work unflaggingly for you.” The Governor then
ordered M. Duquesne to distribute the Rs. 3,000
amongst the troops, and this was domne. After
this, escorted by soldiers, he went to the Christian
church, where the sailors were, under their captain,
M. Benoin. Having had a conversation with
him, the Governor left the church, and Madame
Dupleix joined him. She, however, went on in
advance. The Governor then said to me: * How
do you like the plan of giving presents, just now ?
Do you approve of it? ” I told him that it was
but proper that people should be encouraged in
time of war. We also conversed about Fort St.
David, and the camp of Muhammad ’Ali Khidn. The
Governor then entered his carriage, and went to
Pondichery, whither I followed him.

The following news was received during the
night. About 100 horses, as also about 200 or
250 sepoys and Jemadars, have died in the camp of
Muhammad *All Khin; Anwar-ud-din Kbin has
instructed his son to discontinue the war ; Muham.
mad ’Ali Khin leaves his camp at night, and betakes
himself to the neighbourhood of the hill at Tiruvéndi-
puram, and to the Akkal Nayakkan jungles; 400
or 500 horsemen are kept mounted at the camp, with

their faces towards Pondichery, for fear that the
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French might come upon them from there; there
are many dead, and wounded, in the camp; and
the elephant which was injured by a cannon ball,
but escaped at the time, is dead. By the time I
had told all this to the Governor, it was 9 o’clock.
He asked me what the news was regarding Nizgim-
ul-mulk, and whether Anwar-ud-din Khin was not
yet dead, and conversed on like general matters.
I gave him the necessary replies, and went home.
Thursday, 22nd December 1746, or 11th Mdrgazhi
of Akshaya.—To-day, news came, by one of our
spies, from the camp of Muhammad ’Ali Khén,
that a camel driver had brought a letter to him
from Anwar Kbhin, wherein it was written: <1
intend to discontinue the war, and to make peace;
you need not continue hostilities.”” The men who
brought this news then said:  The rumour there
is that M. Paradis is about to fall upon the army.
Whenever his name 1s mentioned, there is great alarm
throughout the camp.”” Another man came, and
reported to me that the English, and Muhammad
All Khén, seemed not to be on friendly terms, and
that the latter was very much annoyed with the
Governor of Fort St. David, and had said: ¢ When
we, who have come to help you, are attacked by
the enemy, and have to fight them, you remain
shut up in your fort. Your people are not brave;
they are only fit for trade, and not at all for war.”
Tt is said that he spat in his face, and refused to
accept the present that was sent to him; that the
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mere mention, in the camp, of the name of the French
inspires terror to such a degree that even pregnant
women miscarry ; and that Muhammad ’Alf Khin
pitches his tents at a distance from the camp, and
visits it only after daybreak. I took the Pariah spy
who brought this news to the Governor, and made
him repeat it in his presence ; and, after hearing it
all, he exclaimed . . . .%

Sunday, 25th December 1746, or 14th of Mdrgazhi
of Akshaya.—This morning, our spies brought the
following information: ¢ Mahfuz Khin, with his
followers, left Amarampét, and has halted near
Sattanchéri, and Pandytr. Muhammad ’All Khén,
whose camp was near Fort St. David, has asked
Mahfuz Khin to join him ; his intention being to
advance against Pondichery. Anwar Khinis also
coming with them. They are accompanied by about
2,000 horse.” T reported this news to the Governor,
and he desired me to give him a description of
the route referred to. I explained that the road
lead both to Arcot, and to Pondichery. He said
to me: “Which is the direct road from here to
Arcot ?” Ireplied as follows: * To come here, from
Amarampét, one must go by way of Chingleput,
Karunguzhi, Madurintakam, Pulampikkam, and on
to Stindmpét, reaching this after passing Alatttr and
Vazhuddvlr. Instead of taking this line, they are
inclining to the westward. They must, therefores

* Blank in the criginal,
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either go to Arcot, or, impelled by their fears,
move further westwards, and turn from there
eastwards.” He exclaimed: * Yes, it must be
as you say ; else, why should they keep at such a
distance ? ” He thensaid: ¢ How many boats are
there at Cuddalore ? In what state is the river?
Is there any bridge by which it can be crossed ?
On which side of the stream is the battery ?”
I replied : ¢ Thereisa battery on the southern
bank of the river, and another on the northern.
On the western side of the river, there are boats,
ete., and near the water’s edge there are the dwell-
ings of fishermen and East Indians.” On hearing
this, he said : ¢ Are you well acquainted with
the locality ?”” I answered: ‘I have travelled,
by boat, from Cuddalore to Fort St. David, some
ten or twenty times, and I have been from
Fort St. David to Cuddalore, by the same kind of
conveyance. Isaw the place on these occasions,
but did not take any special notice of it.”” He
then said: ““I visited it once, when Mr. Pitt was
there, and I have the same recollection of it as you.
With all that ; as these matters must be properly
inquired into, send fitting persons to do this.”
He then asked me for a plan of the road lead-
ing from Kondir Tope, where Muhammad ’Ali
Khin had his camp, to Ariydnkuppam. Iaccordingly
gave him a sketch of two different routes between
those places; the one a little circuitous, without
marshy ground, and fields ; the other short, but
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across fields and channels ; the former being about
ttvo leagues in length, and the second about four and
-a third. Having looked at the plan, he said that
oneroad was very much longer than the other, and
that he intended going to Ariydnkuppam that night,
in order to frighten the enemy a little. T replied :
“Sir; you recollect the man who came from
Muhammad Ali Kbén last night; a letter is ready
for him, and you wished to send him away.” When
he asked me what the substance of this was, I said
that it ran as feilows: ¢ We are in receipt of your
letter, and have understood its contents. Now,
in it, you say that you desire our friendship, and
await our reply. You allege that you do not tres-
pass in our villages, or annoy our subjects and that,
although this is the case, our men, when your
troops halted near Fort St. David, outside our
boundary, suddenly assailed them. This, however,
is not what actually occurred. When we were
advancing against our enemies, your soldiers fell
upon, and attacked, ours. We never trespassed
in your camp, or interfered with your people.
Further ; you say ir your letter: ¢ What is past is
past. I now desire your friendship exceedingly.
Such being my wish, I am quite ready to make
peace.” Inlike manner, we wish for your good will,
and nothing more. If you write to us what can be
done to further this, we are prepared tomeet your
wishes, provided that they are reasonable.” He
then said : ““ You told me that two yards of cloth
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were to be presented to the man who came from
Muhammad ’All ; are they ready ?”” Ireplied in
the affirmative. He then bade me call him ; and
when he appeared, the Governor handed him the
present, put the letter into his hands, gave a rupee
to the man who accompanied him, and told me to
send two peons with them, as far as Azhisapikkam,
This I did. Asit was the festival of Christmas, the
Governor went to church, and Ito my areca-nut
store-house. After he returned, and had drunk
coffee, he sent for me, and said: “ Rangappa, there is
no grain in the market here ; have you considered this
matter 7> I answered: ““ Sir, I anticipated that
you would question me on this subject, and therefore
made inquiry as to supplies, to the value of 2,000
pagodas, from Kakkal@rpéttai and PennitQr, in the
taluk belonging to Mir Ghuldm Husain, and I settled
the price ; but the grain will have to be brought
through Vizhuppuram, and as I failed to see how
this can be done, I have let the matter stand.”
He asked me whether the supplies could not be
brought by some stratagem, or other, I told him
that if we gave out that they were intended for
Fort St. David, we could get them in, but not
otherwise. He then questioned me as to whether
there was no other route. I replied: “I do not
know what other line the cart-drivers could suggest.
Whatever they do, they must cross the Nawib’s
ground.” He observed : ¢ Suppose we assure them
that the consignment is intended for Fort St. David.
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When they arrive within a short d.stance of this,
cannot we compel those in charge to bring the carts
here ?”’ I replied: ¢ Sir, I will attempt to carry out
your snggestions, but as oar men are not brave, it
will be rather difficult to carry them into effect.”
He exclaimed : ¢ That is true ; please consider how it
could be managed.” Isaid: “ Sir, you may be sure
that I will exert myself; you have already earned
fame in every respect all over the country. 1 pray
to God day and night that this affair, too, may
contribute to it. In former days, M. Lenoir, when
similarly circumstanced, acquired repute by a gene-
rousact; for he cancelled the tax, imported provisions
at his own cost, and gained the credit of having
saved the people from famine. It would signify but
little what policy you might adopt in other matters.
That youhave saved the poor in a time of want, and
have made them happy, will redound much to your
credit, and my prayer to God is that this, also, may
be the means of spreading your renown far and wide.
Paddy which is obtained at the rate of 3 measures is
sold at 3%. People residing here, as well as those
living so far away as twenty leagues to the north and
south, are blessing you, and their number is beyond
calculation. To say more on this point, might be mis-
counstrued as flattery, but upon inquiry yoa will learn
the truth.” He remarked: ¢ All that you say is
correct ; but if the paddy imported from outlying
places be sold at 3 measures, will this cover the
entire cost P’ T said: “I am afraid Sir, that it
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will not, for we must include the charges and ex-
penses of import.”” The Governor replied: ¢ Let
the cost be what it may, paddy must be sold at 3§
measures. Any loss that may arise from this, can be
entered in my account ; it is of no consequence if
there should be a loss of even 4,000 or 5,000 rupees.
We must import paddy, and sell it at 3% measures.
Please take the necessary steps with regard to this.
I leave the matter entirely in your hands. To-night,
I intend to beat up the forces of Muhammad ’All
Kbhin. I propose adopting such measures as will
divert the attention of the Muhammadans, and
cause Mr. Hinde, the Governor of Fort St. David, to
believe that he is in danger, and so induce him to
surrender his fort.” 1 said: ¢ Sir; God stands by
you, and punishes those who have transgressed;
what doubt can there now be as to the accomplish-
ment of your designs P’ We then went on to
converse on various topics, some of them being, as
usual, of an insignificant nature, and of these I have
omitted to make mention, as they are not worthy of
record. After a while, the Governor said: “ I am
going to AriyAnkuppam. Please remain here, conti-
nuing to make all necessary inquiries, and if there
is anything important, you must cometo me.” He
then took his departure. I went to my areca-nut
store-house, and thence home.
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the former intends attacking Pondichery—DMessage, from Miyan Sahib,
to diarist—Inquires Governor’s views on the war—aAnd promises to
act as he wishes—Diarist reports this at Ariyinkuppam, to the
Governor—Who asks the news from Arcot—And then bids him
return to Pondichery—Conversation between them—Governor, return-
ing in the evening, asks the news—Diarist informs him of the contents
of a letter from Port Novo—And repeats a series of wild tales told in it
—He states to the Governor where Mahfoz Khin is— Further conver-
sation—Diarist informed that one of his spies waits at the city gate
—The Governor orders admission of two spies—They state that
Mahfuz Khin has arrived at Tiruppdpuliyfir—Governor directs them
to go there, andreport what occurs—-He inqniresregarding certain
messengers—Diarist explains the rounte by which Mahfuz Khin will
join M.’Ali Khédn—Conversation on this subject-—Governor asks
diarist’s views as to attacking Cuddalore—Diarist advises capture,
and advance on Fort St. Darid—Governor approves, and sends for M.
Paradis—Diarist points out a possible danger in the scheme propesed
—And makes a suggestion —~Governor acquiesces—M. Paradis
arrives, and commends diarist’s views—Conversation as to prepa-
rations—Diarist remarks that an attack as soon as Madras fell
would have succeeded—And points out the need for capturing Fort
St. David—Goverror coincides, and asks M. Paradis—Who agrees—
News of the junction of Mahfuz Khdn, with M.’ Ali Khidn—And
particulars of the combined forces—Report of a false alarm in the
Mehammadan camp—A force, in boats, to attack Cuddalore—Diarist
sends letters, ete., to Arcot—Anwar K hdn wrires that he will come,
if Madras is sarrendered to him, —Letter from Killeaar of Porto
Novo— Diarist reports contenis of this to the Governor—A reply
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But promises writing to the King, on the subject—Governor explains
matters tothe messenger—Diarist forwards a clock to Anwar Khin
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CHAP. notices damage done to the temple wall--The priest imputes this to the
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priests— Diarist and he visit the church—Priests behave coldly to the
former—The reason for this—Diarist’s comments—Governor pays
New Year’s visits—Diarist reports the retirn of the spy—Governor
directs that he be brought, in the evening—He asks the news from
Cuddalore--Diarist reports its defenceless condition--And that the
capture of it would he easy—Remarks of the Governor—He directs
that further information be obtained—And then asks the news of
the Muohammadans—The reply made by diarist—~News that Lroops
are being collected to attack Pondichery—Diarist incites Periya Aiya
to harry the Muhammadans—He sends a letter agreeing to do 50—
Diarist goes to ask the Governor to see the bearers of this —A trooper
from Anwar I{hén stated to be coming—-Governor directs diarist to
take him to his house, and report what he says——The man delivers
2 message from Anwar Khin—He and a fellow servant depart —What
diarist writes to Asad-ullah S4hib—He arranges a visit of the mahi-
nattirs to the Governor—He gives the Governor news of the enemy—
And dwells on the fears which fill them~-He mentions, also, the
efforts of the English, toinduce them to remain-—Conversation as to
the truth of these reports--Diarist refers to the failure of the
Killedar of Porto Novo, to psy a promised visit—And explains the
reason— What the Governor wrote to M.’ Ali Khin—The mahinittirs
visit the Governor—Result of their speaking of the outrage on the
temple— News that the Nawab has bidden his sons to cease hostilities,
and return—M 'All Khin said to bave decided to comply—Governor
pleased—Celebration of the Epiphuny-—Innovations on the occusion
—Presents sent to the Newdb, and Guldb Sing—Governor tells diarist
that French soldiers had entered the ¢memy’s camp by night—
Conversation on the subjecl-—Mandji brings reply from Anwar Khéin
——This states that it is not possible to conclude peace, at onece—And
that Mandji will give further details—The statement made by this
man--Diarist informs the Governor what his messenger reported—
Apd explains why the letter was written-— Diarist then imparts to
him news of various kinds—And reads a copy of an order issued
by the Nizim,
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Monday, 26th December 1746, or 15th Mdrgazhi
of Akshaya.—The Governor went to Ariyinkuppam
yesterday, and remained there to-day. DMeanwhile,
I had news that the troops of Mahfuz Khin and
Anwar Khin had arrived at Salapikkam, whick
belongs to Utramalllir, and had encamped there.
In addition to this, Perumukkal Miyadn S&hib sent
me word that Mahfuz Khin was on his way to
attack Pondichery, and that he had been asked to
accompany him. Periya Pillai, to whom Miyin
Sahib had written, gave me the following message
from him : ¢ Forupwards of thirty years, your Gov-
ernor and I have been on terms of great intimacy;
let me know his opinion in this matter. As we also,
are close friends, you must clearly explain the
circumstances to him, and write to me. 1 will act
in accordance with his wishes. If he desires me not
to join him, I will stay away. If, however, he
permits me to go tohim, [ willdo so.” I repliedto
Periya Pillai: ¢ Very well; I will place the matter
before the Governor, and let you have an answer.”
In view to reporting this news, Krishna Rao,
Madaninda Pandit, and I, proceeded to Ariyén-
kuppam, at 10 in the morning. I then had an
interview with the Governor, and told him all that
is written above. Having listened to me, he said :
It is well. Is there no news regarding Arcot ?”
I replied that up to that moment I had received
none. He then said. ‘“ Be off with you, Sir.” I
replied: “ Very well, Sir, I will depart. When
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will you be returning?” He smiled and exclaimed :
“ Seeing that I have come here, as a military com-
mander, for the purpose of making war, how can I
be expected to go back to Pondichery? You must
remain there, inquiring regarding all that goes on,
and when there is anything of importance, please
come to me: if there is nothing, continue where
you are.” I then took leave of him, and reached
Pondichery before half-past 11.

This evening, the Governor returned from
AriyAnkuppuam, immediately sent for me, and asked
what news I had. I replied that I had received a
letter, written on palm leaf, from our doctor at
Porto Novo. He inquired what it was about. 1
told him that its contents were as follows: “ The
Dutch and Engiish, acting in concert, are spreading
the rumour that a fleet of twenty-five English ships
has arrived at Anjengo, and Tellicherry;that eleven
more are expected from Bengal ; that store-sheds are
being erected at Cuddalore; that all the garrison
of Pondichery has marched out to encounter the
army of Muhammad ’All Khidn, and invest Fort St.
David, and, that as there are no soldiers in the fort,
it could, if attacked, easily be taken; that even
the inhabitants of Pondichery are reported to be
on friendly terms with the English; that Muham-
mad’ Ali Kbin is raising a very strong force, as
he is quite determined not to depart without cap-
turing the fort at Madras: and that Mahfuz
Khin is advancing.”” He said to me: * Well, what
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do they say as to the whereabouts of the army of
Mahfuz Khin?” 1T told him that it had reached
Maduridntakam, and that the rumour was that it
was moving in this direction. He next inquired
whether I had despatched men to Cuddalore. I
relied that I had sent some, and had promised them
50 pagodas if they bronght me reliable information.
On this he said : ** You have done well ; you may
go home.”

As I wasreturning from my areca-nut store-house,
at 10 at night, M. Courblan, and an East Indian
who is the watchman at the Vazhudivir gate, came,
and said to me: “ One of your servants has arrived,
and, standing outside the gate, has told us that he
brings news from the army. We have come to ask
the Governor if we may admit him.” I requested
them to follow me, and sent word to the Governor,
who had retired for the night. Having obtained
permission, I entered his apartment, and told him
that two of our spies, who were bringing intelligence,
had approached the gate, and had informed the
sentinel of their errand. He thereupon ordered M.
Courblan to let them in, and asked me to remain
until they arrived. The watchman accordingly
opened the town gate, and brought the two men to
the Governor’s house. They made the following
statement : ““ The army of Mahfuz Khin reached
Tiruppippuliydr last night, and will join that of
Muhammad *Alf Khén to-morrow morning.” When I
Interpreted this to the Governor, he said : “* Send,
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at once, two men to accompany these persons, and
instruct them to go to the camp of Mahfuz Khin, and
report to us whatever transpires there.” I detailed
two Government peons, and one Venkaiyan, to go
with the spies. At 11, the town-gate was opened,
and the men were despatched. I then went home.
Tuesday, 27th December 1746, ov 16th Mdrguzhi
of Akshaya.—This morning, M. Dubois sent for me,
and I accordingly proceeded to his house. Asl1
found that he was not at home, I went to the
Governor, who asked me whether the men sent
to Anwar Khin had returned. I replied that
they were expected, in the evening. He inquired
in what direction the army was moving. [ said
that it would start from Tiruppippuliylr, and
marching by way of Vizhuppuram, would join the
forces of Muhammad ’Ali Khin, which occupied
Kondfir Tope, near Fort St. David. He asked me
whether the junction would be effected to-day. I
replied in the affirmative, on which he remarked:
“ How could that be? You said that the distance
was three leagues; would the army get over this ?”
I said : ¢ The march would be rather difficult, but
owing to fear of attack by you, it would start
at ten * Indian hours before dawn, and moving
very speedily, would reach its destination.” He
accepted my suggestion. He then said: I must
capture Cuddalore. What is your advice ; shall I

* Le., four English hours,
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make the attempt?” I replied:  Sir, there are
at Cuddalore only peons, and no Europeans. At
the gate, there are but five Kast Indians, and one
European ; inthe battery near the seashore there
are only two Europeans, ten East Indians, and some
peons. You can go there by sea, in a boat, and reach
the town by the estuary. As soon as you appear,
the 300 Carnatic peons, and the northern man,
Malrdja, will decamp. You can then seize the
town, and afterwards attack Fort St. David.”” He
approved of my plan, and bade me summon M.
Paradis. [ told him that an idea had struck me,
and he asked what it was. I replied: *¢There
is no objection to your attacking Cuddalore; but
it the fleet of the enemy surrounds you at sea,
and the Muhamwmadans encompass you on shore,
you will be in a critical position. If the attack be
made on one side only, there will be no reason to
fear the ships: you can face them. So, too, if the
Muhammadans attack you only on land, you can, no
matter what their strength may be, hold your own
against them; but to be assailed on both sides
appears to me likely to create a difficulty.” He said
that I was right. As we were conversing in this
manner, M. Paradis joined us, on which the Gover-
nor asked me to explain to him all that we had been
discussing. I did this, as well as I could. He
approved of what I had put forward, and told me that
we must have supplies. Isubmitted that I had them
ready. The Governor then said: ‘“ He has already
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given me a list of the provisions ; we, therefore, need
not concern ourselves about this matter now. How
much water is there in the river?” T replied that
it was not less than waist deep, and might, possibly,
be two feet more, and added: Sir, if you had
carried out this scheme immediately after the eapture
of Madras, you would have succeeded very easily ; but
M. dela Bourdonnais stood in the way. The result
has been that a matter which could then have been
disposed of in o time, engages a very large share
of our attention, and the enemy is now aided by a
strong foree of Muhammadans. On the other hand,
if you do not set about the capture of Fort St. David,
Pondichery will always be exposed to annoyance.
If Fort St. David becomes ours, the English will have
no harbour in which their ships can lie; aud their
power at sea will be unworthy of consideration.
This is what strikes me, but 1 do not know what
your views may be.” He remarked that my sugges-
tions were reasonable, and then asked M. Paradis for
his opinion. M. Paradis said: “It is quite right,
Sir; the plan can be carried out if the Muhamma-
dans retire, or if the English fleet refrains from
attacking us.” Tt being high time to take food, they
withdrew, and 1 proceeded home.

To-night, between 9 and 10, two of our spies
arrived, and reported that, at 6 in the evening,
Mahfuz Khin had joined the camp of Muhammad
* All Khén, who went out to receive him ; that when
they met, salutes of twenty-one guns were fired from
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the battery and the fort ; that three guns were fired
from the camp of Muhammad ’Alf Khin; that the
camp of Mahfuz Khin was pitched just behind that
nf Muhammad *Ali Khin ; that 500 horse were ready
for immediate service ; that more than 1,000 mounted
men were at his disposal ; that 1,500 horse, in all,
had come with Mahfuz Khin ; and that there were
4,000 or 5,000 infantry, 10 or 15 guns, and 400 or
500 rockets. I communicated this news to the
Governor, at 10, and then went home.

Friday, 30th December 1746, or 19th Mdrgazhi of
Akshaya.—In the afternoon, I received information
that Mahfuz Khin and Muhammad ’Alf Khin had
heard that their army had been thrown into confusion
by a sudden attack of the French, under M. Paradis,
and had sent spies to ascertain whether this was
true ; that these men reported that it was not; and
that a present of 5 rupees had been given to four of
them. At a Council which was attended by MM.
Paradis and dela Tour, it was decided that a force,
in boats, should attack Cuddalore. Having been
asked to collect information, I engaged a man for
that purpose, promising to give him an appointment,
if he bronght me reliable intelligence. He said that
he would return with news, by the third watch of
the following day, and departed. :

To-day, I despatched a letter to Arcot, for Husain
Sahib, one to Vakil Subbaiyan, and another to M. de
Kerjean, with which were fifteen books to read,
writing paper, and a box of tea.
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This evening, a letter came from Anwar Khin.
My man Mandji, and one of Anwar Khin’s named
Désinji, who had, on a former occasion, received from
me a present of Rs. 20 and four yards of broad-
cloth, subsequently arrived. The contents of the
letter were : *‘If a father asked his son for anything,
would the son refuse it? I have begged of you the
fort at Madras, and you neglect my request ; if T
come, and am met by a refusal, will that not be a
great disgrace tome ? If, therefore, yo1 write to me
that you will hand over the fort to me, I will come.”

Tinformed the Governor of this. Shaikh Adam,
the Killedar of Porto Novo, sent a letter to me by one
Vélayuda Pillai, wherein he said that if his request
did not meet with success, the bearer must not be
detained. T reported to the Governor the contents
of this, and mentioned what Véldyuda Pillai had
told me personally. I procured for him a letter
from the Governor, and, informing him that a full
reply would be found in it, sent him away,
accompanied by a Company’s peon.

Saturday, 31st Decenilber 1746, or 20th Mdrguzhi
of dl:shaya.—This morning, the Governor sent for me,
and in the presence of MM. de la Tour and Paradis,
questioned me closely regarding Cuddalore, and
the route thither. He desired me to send ith
M. de la Tour the two men who, some time ago, had
collected information regarding the geography of
Cuddalore, the rivers, batteries, etc. In compliance
with his instructions, I despatched them, as also
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Company’s peon Uddandi. I gave 3 pagodas to the
three, and promised them 25 move.

The Governor then bade me write a reply to
Anwar Khin, in the following terms : “ I was much
pleased with your letter. Itis truethata sonshould
give what his father asks of him, but I am extremely
sorry that I cannot comply with your request, with-
out the permission of our King. I may not remove
the flag hoisted on the fort : if I did so, my head would
be cut off. If this misfortune befell me, would it not
be the same as if 1t had overtaken your own son, and
would it be agreeable to you? I will write to the
King touching what you ask, and will endeavour to
meet your wishes.” He introduced friendly expres-
sions of this sort into the letter; and, in addition,
sent for Anwar Khin’s man Désinji, explained the
matter to him in very kind terms, and asked me to
do so also. He pointed out to bim, too, that what
with fawine and want of rain on one side, and war
on the other, the country was being laid waste, and
the inhabitants were distressed. Further, as
requested by Anwar Khin, I bought a clock from
M. de Bausset, for a hundred pagodas, and forwarded
it to him. OUn my own account, I wrote a polite
ietter to him, and sent Mandji and a Gorvernment
peon, with the bearer.

This evening, twenty boats, bound for Cuddalore,
took wheir departure, and headed for the Ariyén-
kuppam river. 1t was arranged that the Europeauns
occupying ArigAnkuppam should embark on these,
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and proceed to Cuddalore. The only delay is on
account of the absence of the messenger sent to
bring intelligence, whose return is awaited by the
Governor.

It was reported to-night, at 7, that an earthen
jar, filled with filth, was thrown from within the
grounds of the church of St. Paul, into the temple of
Védapuri fswaran. It very nearly fell on the head
of Sankara Aiyan, who was at the shrine of the god
Pillaiydr, on his way round the temple, in the per-
formance of religious duties. When the jar struck
the ground, and broke to pieces, the stench emitted
was unbearable. This matter was represented to me
by ten men, including the following heads of castes,
namely, Tillai Mudali, Peddu Chetti, Arumugattin
Mudali, and Andaniyaga Pillai. On my reporting
the matter to the Governor, he sent for MM. Le
Maire and Desmaréts, and T4nappa Mudali, who all
arrived, at half-past 9. He deputed them to inspect
the place, in company with M. Paradis. Before they
set out, Madame Dupleix sent for M. Paradis, and
M. T.e Maire, and advised them. I cannot imagine
what false report they will make at her instigation,
and what action the Governor will take on it. Her
nature is too well known. 1t remains to be seen
how the Governor will acquit himself in the affair.
I will write touching this, when I know the result.

When MM. Paradis, Le Maire, and Desmaréts,
accompanied by Téanappa Mudali, approached the
temple, Malaikkozhundan’s son, Varldm, who was



REGARDING THE DEFILEMENT OF A TEMPLE. 221

standing there, in company with some Pariah lads,
told them, in French, to enter the temple. M.
Le Maire, who heard this, reproved him, and asked
him why he had come, and what business he had
there. Varldm said that he would go away, and
accordingly departed. The gentlemen then entered
the temple, smelt the broken jar, pronounced that it
had contained filth, and judging by the position of the
scattered fragments, arrived at the decision that it
must have been thrown from the church, and that
there could be no mistake on that point. M. Paradis
proposed that this should be reported to the Gover-
nor, on which M. Le Maire suggested that the
priests should be consulted. In reply, M. Paradis
said that he had no authority to do this, but M. Le
Maire averred that he had. All of them then went
to the church, and rang the bell, by pulling the
cord to which it is attached. On hearing the sound,
the senior priest, Father Cceurdoux, came out, and
opening the door, asked the business that had
brought them there. They then explained what had
taken place. They remarked that, from the position
of the pieces of the broken jar, and an examination of
the ground about the temple and church, there
could be no doubt that the direction from which
the jar came was that of the latter. They also noticed
that the stones at the base of the temple wall on
the side of the church had all been palled down.
Wkhen those holding the investigation urged that
this was not right, the priest exclaimed: It was

CHap.
XXXVIII.

1746.
Imperta-
nence
of one
Varlam.

Committee
decides
that the
jar was
thrown
from tne
church.

It iy sug-
gested to
consult
the priests.

The senior
of these

told of the
concluston
arrived at,

The com-
mittee
notices
damage
done to
the tenuple
wall.



CHAP.

XXXVIII,

1746,
The priest
imputes
this to the
temple
authorities,
themselves,

Reply of
the com-
ittee.

The report
made by it

What the
Governor
said, on
hearing
thas,

Diarist
wishes

M. Barne-
val a happy
new year.

His reply.

Remark
thereon
of dianst,

292 ANANDA RANGA PILLATS DIARY.

not our doing. They, themsclves, must have dug
themn out, with the view of lodging a complaint,
and getting the wall, which is in a ruinous state,
restored.”” They replied: ¢ Everybody is aware
of your intrigues. The perpetration of acts such as
these, gives cause for much discord and wrangling.”

The persons deputed to hold the enquiry then
repaired to the Governor, and reported to him that
the complaint made was true, and that the priests
of the church of St. Paul were responsible. There-
apon, he desired them to commit this to paper,
and exclaimed: ‘I will not only write to France
regarding this affair, but will also take such action
with respect to it, that the priests of the church of
St. Paul will ever remember it.”” They talked for
about two Indian hours on the doings, in the town,
of the priests and then dispersed; the Governor
going to bed. Tanappa Mudali and I returned
home, at 11 o’clock.

Sunday, Ist Junuary 1747, or 21st Mdrgazhi of
Akshaya.—This being New Year’s day, T went to
visit M. Barneval. He said to me: “ You wish me
a happy new year, a happy festival day, and much
prosperity ; but, owing to the eapture of Madras, I
have lost everything.” I replied to him: ¢ Sir,
what does it signify to merchants whether Madras,
or any other city, be taken?” He said that the
intention of the Governor, M Dupleix, was to
make Pondichery a city like Madras, but that that
would never come to pass, because at Madras each
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merchant was an influential gentleman, equal in rank
to our Governor. He added that, last night, some
filth had been thrown into the Hindu temple, and
that justice would be done to the merchants only if
the culprits —be they missionaries, or others—were
detected, and adequately punished. T thought it
wise not to talk any further on this subject, and
turned the conversation to the news from Europe,
and various other topics; and after having paid my
respects to his wife, also, I wuas about to depart,
when a man came, and said that the Governor
wanted me.

As soon as | presented myself before him, he said
to me: ‘“ You know that, last night, we despatched
100 soldiers and Mahé sepoys *o Cuddalore, with
M. de la Tour and Shaikh Hasan. I have received
a letter stating that they set out from Virdm-
pattanam last night, at half-past 7; that three of
the boats leaked, thus wetting the powder and
muskets ; and that the partv then landed, abandoned
the expedition, and reachel Ariyankuppam. by 10.”
I replied that I had just received similar intel-
ligence. He asked me whether the man who went
to Cuddalore had returned. I replied that he had
not. He then said : ““ You know that he promised
to be here by yesterday afternoon ; as he has not vet
arrived, could he have been captured!” I answered :
““ T do not know : there 1is no news whatever ”
On this he seemed to be considering something or
other,
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I exclaimed : ¢ Sir, may this be a happy new
year; a happy festival for you! Last year you met
with success everywhere; you earned, all through
the country, a reputation which has extended even
as far as Delhi. Through you, the whole of your
family has gained a great name. The rumour is
that should even such a warrior as the Emperor is,
go to war with you, he would only be defeated. 1
trust that during this year you may have a hundred
fold more success than in the past. God will, indeed,
bring this about.” Hesaid to me: ‘ You see, Ran-
gappa, how He favours me. At the very mention of
my name, the Muhammaudans begin to tremble.”” On
this, I set to work to compliment him still more, and
told him, for an Indian hour, how people were
extolling his fame and valour. If I were to put into
writing all that I said in commendation of him, it
would occupy ten or fifteen pages. After I had flat-
tered him in these very extravagant terms, he told me
that, with the view of making the people of the church
ot St. Paul smart for the wrong that they had done, he
would consult with the members of the Council, and
take measures accordingly. I said to him: ¢ Sir, if
you do not take the necessary action to punish the
evil done, the good name which you have acquired
will be tarnished. Besides, you have invited all the
merchants of Madras to Pondichery, and have a
mind to make it a rich city, like Madras. If you
take steps such as those you mention, you will obtain
help in the direction at which you aim, and the
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merchants will have confidence in you. Isthereany-
thing that escapes you? I only say what occurs to
me.””  He replied : ¢“ What you say is correct: the
people of the church of St. Paul are mischievous.
Seeing that they have done so many things to annoy
me, can there be any doubt they will do much more
to irritate others ? I know it full well. 1T shall take
measures to make them regret their conduct, for
ever, and also to do justice to other people.” All
this conversation took place this afternoon. Irecord
it here, with our conversation in the morning.

We then went to the church, and every token
of respect was, as usual, shown tous. Butwhenever
I visited the priests, it was customary with them to
embrace me, praise me, and show me all manner of
respect. Attentions of this description were, however,
not shown to me onthisoccasion, thereason being that
they thought it was I who had brought the matter
of the filth being thrown into the Védapuri Tswaran
temple, on the previous night, to the notice of the
- Governor, and had caused him to send the Council-
lors, to inquire regarding it. It seemed to me that
this was what led them to fail in their usual kind-
ness to me. But it was not I who specially brought
this deed to the Governor’s knowledge. He took
notice of it, only on the complaint made to him by
the heads of castes, and I merely interpreted to
him. I did not make the charge, myself. But if
the priests thought so, how could I help it.
Besides, the Governor is not in the habit of acting
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on other people’s opinions, and this was known to
every body. If, being aware of this, the priests
bear me malice, what can I do? We next went
to the mission church, and from there T let Tanappa
Mudali go home, and returned to my house.

The Governor went to wish a happy new year to
the Europeans; and, when he left the house of
M. de 1a Touche, I presented myself before him, and
said thatI had brought the man who had arrived with
news from Cuddalore. He asked me why he did not
return on the previous day. T replied: ¢ When
disturbances are going on, it is not a very easy task to
enter an enemy’s town, and gather intelligence.
He had to remain hidden ; now in one place, now in
another, and get information, and this took a day.”
“ It is well,” he observed . ““it is enough that he did
not fall into the enemy’s hands ; please bring him to
me, to-night.” When, in accordance with this order,
I waited on him again, he said : ¢ What news has he
from Cuddalore.” I replied : ¢ Sir, the information
which we had some time ago, regarding Cuddalore,
was not incorrect. We were told that the peons
and Malrdjd had been transferred from there, to
Manjakuppam, and that the guns in the batteries at
Cuddalore, as also those on the bank of the river,
had been spiked. This man now makes a similar
report, and says that if you go there, you can easily
take possession of the town.” He replied : *“ Well ;
this is the news of the day before yesterday; it
may be that of yesterday morning. Last night,
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our men from Ariyinkuppam started, in boats,
from Virdmpattanam, and as two or three boats
leaked, they turned back. [t is just possible that the
people at Cuddalore, having heard of this, may have
placed soldiers and guns in ambush. What do you
say to this? Send your men to procure information
regarding the matter.” I directed the man to go
again. He said that he would, the day after to-
morrow, bring news, and departed. The Governor
then asked me if any news had been received regard-
ing the forces of Muhammad *Ali Khin and Mahfuz
Khin, and the watch kept by them during the hours
of darkness. I told him that the entire camp re-
mained awake all night. and that the horses, with
saddles . . . .*

Wednesday, 4th January 1747, or 24th Mdrgazhi
of Alshays.—At 8 this morning, just before I went
to the Governor, I heard the following news: The
local Muhammadan commander, named . . . *,
together with Shaikh Hasan, and ’Abd-ul Rahmén,
two brothers who are Jemadars of the Mahé sepoys,
had an interview with Govinda Rao, through Kisi-
kAnsu Sing, and they are jointly collecting troops,
and preparing to attack Pondichery. Some ten days
ago, at the bidding of the Governor, I sent word to
Periya Alyd, son of the Poligar of Vettavalam, as
follows : ¢ You must raid and burn in the Muhamma-
dan country, and attack and destroy their troops : we

* Blank in the original.
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will, for this purpose, help you with the necessary
men and supplies,” Periya Aiyd agreed to this
proposal, and sent a Brahman, and a monegar of his,
with a polite letter. When I reported to the Gover-
nor the arrival of these men, and told him of the letter
which they had brought, he said : ¢ Let them lay the
country waste.”” I informed the men of this order.
They,however,desired to see the Governor, and speak
to him in person. Iaccerdingly promised to introduce
them, and asked them to wait. As the front gate of
the Governor’s house was not opened until 11 o’clock,
I went in by the back way, and had an interview
with him. Just then, a man of Anwar Khin’s, and
one of the Company’s peons arrived, and told me
that a trooper from the master of the former was
on his way. I intimated this to the Governor, who
wrote a letter to the gate-keeper saying that the man
might be admitted, by the Vazhudivir gate. He
further said to me: ¢ When the messenger arrives,
take him to your house, let no one have speech with
him, listen to whatever he has to say, report it to me,
and bring him here at 9 to-night.” I replied that I
would do so. I then despatched native captain
Séndappan, and a Company’s peon, to receive the
messenger. They accordingly brought him. I asked
him hisnews. Hegaid: ““ Anwar Kbin directed me
to go to you, and told me to say that, as desired by
you, he was willing to send a respectable man, but
in the meantime, at Madras . . . *

* Incomplete in the original,
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Thursduy, 5th Janwary 1747, or 28th Mdrgazhi of
Alshaya. —The messenger from Anwar Khin took
leave of the Governor last night, at 11, and was
with me this morning, as was also a revenue officer
of Anwar Khén’s, who arrived here sowme three
days ago. I sent both of them off, accompanied by
my man, Mandji, and a Government peon. I then
went to see the Governor. He was unwell, and as
he was not dressed, his doors were shut. 1 went to
my areca-nut store-house, and caused the following
letter to be written to Asad-ullah Sahib, in Persian :
“ You are demanding of my servants taxes in respect
of Vannippét, near Arcot. Are you justified in
doing this? Have I ever taken a lease from you, or
have I, at any time, paid rent to you? It is Muttu
VenkatapatiReddito whom I am directly respounsible.
I took no lease from you. Bipv Rao can vouch for
this; as can the Reddi mentioned above.” 1 had
this letter sealed, and despatched it by ;\r_lc.liyappan.
A Telugu copy of it has also been kept for record.

*

This being the day appointed for visit of the

mahanittars +, to the Governor, i gave instructions i

that all of them should attend, at 4 in the afternoon.
Meanwhile, the Governor sent for nie, and asked if
I had any news of the army. Isaid: ““I have. The
whole of the enemy’s horsemen have mutinied owing

* There is an incomplete sentence here, the sense of which cannot
be ascertained, us most of the words have disappeared in the original.
1 Heads of castes.
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to non-receipt of their pay; Mahfuz Khin is still
undecided ; Muhammad ’Ali Kbin is bent on
making peace, and departing ; 600 or 700 horsemen
are patrolling, day and night, for a distance of over
5 miles from their camp; the leaders, such as
Mubammad Al Khin, Mahfuz Khbin, ’Abd-ul-
Jalil, Anwar Khin, and Perumukkal Miyin Sahib,
have had no sleep, and, owing to lack of courage,
have abandoned the camp; the troops are filled
with the idea that at any moment the French
may fall upon them, and the state of alarm in
which they are baffles description. The English
visit them, now and then, and telling them that
their ships are hourly expected, ask them to wait
for a while. You know that, during the last war,
the English paid them 3,000 pagodas; they now,
too, have paid them a like amount. They tell
the Muhammadans that, as they have come so far,
it would be a disgrace to them, if they retreated ;
that great enmity has arisen between them and the
French, owing to the latter having made their ap-
pearance; and that they could not foretell what
would befall them in the future. These are the
rumours now current in the army, and I believe that
they are genuine.” The Governorsaid: “ This may
be trie.” Ireplied: ¢ It must beso. We obtained
the same information from so many sources, that I
do not doubt the truth of it.”’

The Governor then asked me when the mahai-
dsttirs would be coming. I said: ‘They will

.
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~

probably arrive at half-past 4 or 5 in the after-
noon” 1 added: *8Sir, you will remember, in
connection with Muhammad ’Ali Khin, that the
Killedar of Porto Novo wrote to us that he wished
to come here, and we asked him to do so. But he
never came, and the reason why he did not is this.
1t seems that Mubammad *Ali Khéin is displeased
with us for, in spite of his utmost endeavours to get
the management of our affairs into his own hands,
transacting them through Anwar Khéin, and he
mentioned this to the Killedar of Porto Novo, who
asked Véldyuda Pillai to write all this to us, which he
has accordingly done.” The Governor desired me to
intimate to Mubhammad *Alf Khin that in future all
our negotiations would be carried on through him
alope, and not through Anwar Khan. I did this.
At 4 in the afternoon, I waited on the Governor, and
presented Sungu Séshidchala Chetti to him. At half-
past 4, the mahdnittirs arrived. I introduced
them to the Governor. The latter knew beforehand
that they would certainly raise the question of the
temple, and he therefore had asked me not to let
them doso. I accordingly spoke privately to three
or four of the mahinAttirs, and also to Arunichala
Chetti, requesting them not to enter uponit. In
gpite of my advice, they began to doso. The
Governor, therefore, rose up, addressed a few kind
words to them, and went into his wife’s room.

At 8 at night, the following intelligence was
communicated to me by Periya Pillai, who had been
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sent by Perumukkal Miyin Sahib. Nawib Anwar-
ud-din Khin wrote to his two sons, Mahfuz Khéin
and Muhammad ’Ali Khén, that the whole country
was ruined, owing to failure of rain. He therefore
bade them come to some terms, break up their
camps, and return to Arcot. Having received these
instructions, Muhammad ’Alf Khin is determined
apon making peace. Miyin Sihib’s accountant,
Periya Pillai, farther informed me that he was in-
structed by his master to state that he was present
when this decision was arrived at. I conveyed the
news to the Governor. He was pleased at it, and
sald to me: ¢ Good ; let us see how it will all turn
out. Please send 200 mangoes * to the Nawéb, and
100 pagodas to Guldb Sing.” T said to him that
I would make these ready, and despatch them the
next day, and then came away. :

Friday, 6th Januwary 1747, or 26th Mdrgazhi of
Al:shaya.—To-day was the festival of the Epiphany.
On this occasion, it was observed with more solemn-
ity than usual. One peculiar feature of it was
that when the three kings entered the church door, a
line of sepoys was formed, and drums were beaten.
The second was that Madame Dupleix presented a
waxen image to the church, this morning. The
Governor and his wife went there, in order to witness
the ceremony. There were no other innovations
than those mentioned above.

* January is not the season for mangoes, but a particular, but in-
different, variety of this fruit, much liked by nartives, is to be had then,
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To-day, 200 mangoes were despatched to Nawéb
Anwar-ud-din Khén, with a polite note from the
Governor. Without the knowledge of Madaninda
Pandit, a letter, with 100 pagodas, was sent, in my
name, to ©ulib Sing, These were forwarded
through my clerks, so that Vakil Subbaiyan, against
whom there is an unfavourable report, might not be
aware of it. 'The Governor then sent for me, and
asked if T had any news. I replied that I had none.
He then said: ¢ Last night, our European soldiers
entered the enemy’s camp, and examined it. They
say that they could have burnt it in a very short
time ; but, as they had not my permission to do so,
they came away.” 1 observed: “8ir; it would
pot be right to do this, as they are treating for peace.”
The Governor remarked that as they had behaved
reasonably tous, we, also, must treat them with con-
sideration. Irejoined: * Sir, as you act justly, God
grants you success, and, as they behave inequitably,
they meet with failure.” Just then, M. Paradis
arrived, and I took leave of them.

Saturduy, Tth Janvary 1747, or 27th Mdrgazhi of
Akshaya.—This morning, my servant, Mandji, and
Company’s peon, Mangéin, came from the Muham-
madan camp with a letter sent by Anwar Khén.
The contents of this were: ‘I have received your
letter, and the information sent verbally through
my mounted messenger. It, however, does not
appear to me that peace can be concluded at once :

to do so would require about four days. I could then
30
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arrange matters in accordance with your wishes.
But I have a great regard for your good-will. You
must act in such a way as to promote my friendship.
I have sent you further details through Mandji;
and from him you may learn my views.” T com-
municated all this to the Governor. He thereupon
said to me: ““ What particulars has he sent through
the messenger?’’ I questioned the man, and this
was his reply: “ Anwar Khin desired me to give
you his compliments. He is anxious to settle
matters at once, but Mahfuz Khin and ’Abd-ul
Jalil, are not inclined to do so. If you would
wait patiently for four days more, he could, by that
time, bring them to your way of thinking : mean-
while, he wishes you not to send him any letter.
Ever since the time that he formed a friendship
with you, he has been saying that he is but one of
your servants.” The man added some more polite
words. I interpreted all this to the Governor.
He asked me what report had been made by the
messenger who went from here. T replied: ¢ He
informed me that he had communicated to Anwar
Khin all that we had bidden him say, and had
pointed out to him that if he entered on a war with
us, he would never succeed ; on which he told him
to go. After his departure, Anwar Khin wrote,
in consultation with Muhammad * Ali Khén,
’Abd-ul-Jalil, and Mahfuz Khin, the letter which
you have received.” After this conversation was at
an end, I communicated to the Governor the tidings
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brought by S4mfd Rao, the Treasury Officer of
Chand4 $4hib; the news from Arcot as received by
Taqi S4bib, through his Vakil there; the contents
of a letter from Muhammad > Al Khén, to his father,
in which he set out particulars of the contest with
the French, and what took place between him and
them; and the fact that Anwar-ud-din Khin for-
warded copies of this to all Killedars, including Taqi
Husain, who has transmitted one to his son ’Alf Nag{.
I read to the Governor a copy of the order
regarding Anwar-ud-din Khin, sent to the Tahsil-
dars, by the Nigam. All these papers are in Telugu,
and reference can be made to them.
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CHAPTER XXXIX.
FROM JANUARY 8TH, 17}7, TO JANUARY 225D, 17/17.

Message from Periya Aiyi—Ezpresses his readiness to attack the

Muhammadans—And asks assistance, and protection, for his
family—Ammunition sext—Governor consents to accede, secretly, to
Periya Ailyd’s request—A present to the Poligar is suggested,
and given—Arrangements to facilitate co-operation with Periya
Aiyd—Another man given a present, and instigated to make raids—
The orders issucd, by Mr. Hinde, to certain merchants—Amount
finally due by them to the Company—Diflicnlty with regard to adjust-
ment of it—Consequences of this—M. Dupleix asks diarist what the
motive of Mr. Hinde's action was— He suggests possible expectation
of the arrival of Eoglish men-of-war—And goes into the question of
these being the fleet of Mr. Peyton--Or ships from England—He
deals with the possibility of this being the case —And next suggests the
possibility of sales of cloths to the Dutch—Or of the English desiring
Fort 8t. David to be empty, if taken— Or of their wishing to borrow
on their goods—Governor directs him to ascertain which is the correct
cause-—Remarks of diarist on receiving this order— Governor asks
the news of the enemy—Diarist replies that they are in a state of
constant alarm—And further menticns the loans, etc., made by Mr.
Hinde—Governor says that he is omaware how affairs stand, at Arcot
— Diarist tells him: what Anwar-ud-din Khin wrote to his sons—
Counversation as to why they bad not returned to Arcot—Governor
speaks to diarist regarding a Reddi whose arrest he had averted—
He offers excuses—Governor says that he is always reaay with
ceasons— Diarist’s further excuse—The Governor will not admit this
—And directs him to have the man captured—Diarist goes t) see
M. Desmaréts—Who says that M. Dupleix has destroyed the treaty
ransoming Madras—Speaks of the possible result of a complaint by
M. de la Bourdonnais—Gives reasons why the treaty may not be
cancelled—And expresses the belief that the recall of M. Dupleix is
likely—A litter, the property of the church of St. Paul, used to carry
a wounded soldier—And left near a certain house—Parasurima
Pillai questioned by one Prakisan denies all knowledge of it—
Orakdsan then reports to his priest—Who writes a complaint to the
Governor—This states thut the litter has been befouled, ete.—Gover-
nor sends for him and certain officials—And holds a personal
inquiry—Parasurdman makes a statement—Governor directs the
officials to make personal inquiry—They find that there are no marks
of ill usage——The priest, being asked for proof, says that the dirt
has dried —Comments of the officials, on his assertion—They make
their report—Governur oharges the priest with falsehood—
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And refers him to the Council--The priest desires to drop
the complaint—Governor refuses to allow this—What T. Xudali is
alleged to have told the priests, regarding diarist—They repeat it to
other Buropeans, who question him— Diarist repudiates it, as ntterly
talse—M. Jienoir reports a rumour of the capture of M. Faradis, and
siege of Pondichery—Bearer of the letter says that English ships are
anchored off Pulicat—Governor confirms this—The complaint made
by M. Bouteville—The orders thercon—News of the failure of an
expedition, to attack the Muhammadan camp—The cause of this —
Mrs. Morse requests the return of certain money—Repayment ordered
—Ships sighted—Governor and diarist converse as to the place
from which they come —Diarist concurs with certain remarks of the
Governor-—Dutch ships anchor in the roads—The commanding
officer reports that M. Dordelin arrived, at Achcen—And had sailed
in puorsnit of some English ships—Gcvernor directs diarist to make
this public—The squadron of M. Dordelin reaches Madras— Goverpor
sends for diarist, and tells him this—They agree that it will be a great
blow to the enemy-—Governor gives diarist oranges, to be sent to
the Muhammadan camp—He despatches part there—And the
remainder to Arcot—Amaldir of Porto Novo sends letters to the
Governor, and diarist—Governor directs that he be invited to come—
Diarist hears that valuable English property is on board a Danish
ship—Ue reports this to the Governor—Who refuses to take action
—And tells him what the French squadron did off Pulicat—Subse-
quent conversation—Arrival of onme of M. de la Bourdonnais’
squadron—Another sloop following—This captured, as being English,
but found to be Dutch—Amaldir of Porto Novo writes that he is
coming—Arrives at the chounltry and informs diarist—The arrange-
ments for receiving him—Fe remaius, for the night, at the
choultry —Next morning, diarist brings him into the town—And
reports this to the Governor—Who instructs him to ascertain the
amaldir’s views—Governor sends for diarist, and converses with him
—He brings the amaldér, to visit the Governor— And they have a long
conversation—News of the release of the French prisoners—They
arrive at Pondichery—History of another European, who accompanies
them—M. Tavakkal and V. Subbaiyan come with them—Former of
these exchanges courtesies with the Governor—Who defers discus-
sing business—M. Tavakkal presents a letter from the Nawdb—
Parport of this—Guvernor bids diarist ascertain the Nawab's views—
This he adroitly does—Governor sends him to offer a bribe to
M. Tavakkal—Rs. 20,000 are demanded—DM. Tavakkal details
the state of affairs-——And promises, a satisfuctory settlement,
if his demand is accepted——Diarist evades a defimite reply—
M. Tavakkal objects—-Diarist contrives to get away, and reports
to the (Governor— Conversatiom as to the offer to be made—
Governor decides the amount—Diarist tendeis this to M. Tavakkal—
Who accepts it with delight— He states what he will write to Husain
Téhir, and Sampédti Rao—Diarist urges him to do this, at once—
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Further conversation between them—After some polite remarks,
diarist departs—And reports to the Governor—Who decides to send
away the amaldir—And directs diarist to arrange for presents to
be given to bim, and M. *Ali Khin—List of presents to be sent to
M. ’All Khin—And of those to be given to the amalddr—Governor
asks diarist whether certain proposals may be made to M.’Ali Khin
—ZHe replies in the affirmative, and offers a suggestion —3overnor
approves and summons M. Delarche—He says that he is unable to
write Persian—Governor directs that the letter be written confiden-
tially —This done—Governor sends for Shaikh Ahmad, and tells him
why he did so—Then hands bim the letter, ete., for M. Al Khan,
with instructions—He receives the letter and presents—The direc-
tions given to Véliyada Pillai, by the Governor—Diarist invites him to
his house—And entertains him with masic, etc.

Sunday, 8th Jamuary 1747, or 28th Mdrgazhi of
Akshaye.—This morning, messengers came from
Periya Aiy4, the Poligar of Véttavalam, and this is
the news that they brounght from him: “If you
desire it, I am ready to storm the camp of your
enemies, and to bring you their heads; or to force
the troops of Mubammad ’Ali Khin, and Mahfuz
Kbéan, to retire to Arcot. In this case, you must
give shelter, in Pondichery, to my wife and children,
and must provide for their maintenance and other ex-
penses ; and I shall also expect some assistance from
you in carrying out the undertaking.” This news
was communicated to the Governor yesterday, and
2,000 cartridges, and a permit allowing him to pass
the city gate, were given to the messenger. To-day,
I took the monegar who came from Véttavalam,
and one Venkatichala Aiyan of Tondaminattam,
to the Governor, and bade them tell him all that
they had to relate. I interpreted their statements
to him, and he then said: “Very well; I will
give you any help that you may require, but must
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do so secretly. It should not be made public. Your
wives and children may come to live here, but should
enter the town without any one being aware of
it.” They agreed to this. The messengers then
said that some present ought to be sent to the
Poligar, and the Governor asked me of what it
should consist. I replied that he might give a
gun, a pair of pistols, and a roll of broad-cloth.
I sent word to M. Cornet for these articles, and
he forwarded a double-barrelled gun, as he had
no single-barrelled ones. This weapon was de-
spatched to the Poligar. Tondaménattam Venkata-
chala Aiyan was also sent to bring word as to when
he would attack the camp of the Moghuls, as the
French would, at the same time, bring up their
troops, and attack them. The messengers then took
leave of us, and departed. We also sent 1,500
cartridges, and 75 pagodas, to Alattfir Venkata-
chala Niyakkan, and requested him, in the name
of the Governor, to pillage the country. The men
bearing the cartridges and money, likewise started
to-day.

The following news was received, to-day. As
gsoon as Madras was captured, Mr. Hinde, the
Governor of Fort St. David, to whom Andiyappa
Mudali and other merchants of the English Company
owed cloths, and a sum of 30,000 pagodas, in connec-
tion with their annual contract for supply of cloths,
summoned them, and said as follows: ‘“ Let ths
cloths already made up into bales remain. Remove,
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into the interior, those at the washing depot, and
also the unbleached ones, and keep them there.
We will see about them afterwards.” Later on, in
the month of Kérttigai [ November], he procured all
the half-bleached cloths, and baled them up. Thus
the merchants then owed to the Company only
the unbleached cloths and 30,000 rupees, of which
the Governor was subsequently repaid Rs. 10,000 by
the son of Andiyappa Mudali, on his stating that the
amount was required for expenses. When he after-
wards demanded payment of the balance, the mer-
chants represented that they had piece-goods which
they were willing to sell for that sum. This was
the state of affairs until about four or five days
ago, when they were called upon, not only to bring
the unbleached cloths removed from the town, but
also to supply goods for the Rs. 20,000 still due
by them. Consequently, brokers at Palaiylir, Pat-
tdmpakkam, and Chennamaniyakkanpélaiyam, have
despatched to Cuddalore 300 scores, worth that
amount, which, together with 100 already in stock,
are being dyed red in the store-house of Tambu
Mudali. Besides this, it is said that a fresh supply
of 100 scores has been manufactured.

This information was furnished by Krishnaiyan,
the brother-in-law of Rémalinga Aiyan, who had
been to Chennamandyakkanpélaiyam. When I men-
tioned it, in the evening, to M. Dupleix, he asked
me with what motive the Governor of Fort St.
David was procuring unbleached cloths in such
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quantities. I replied: It must be for one or other
of the following reasons :

“The Governor probably expects some ships of
war. In regard to this, the following contingencies
should be taken into consideration. You have re-
ceived a written communication to the effect that
Mr. Peyton, who is in command of the fleet of ships
of war now at Calcutta, has no intention of coming
hither, for some of his crew have deserted, some have
been killed or wounded in battle, whilst others are
ill, and consequently those fit and available for ser-
vice, are quite insufficient to fight an engagement.
This seems not unreasonable. Again, although
he is aware of the capture of Madras, he knows
that ships cannot anchor in the roads here in
the months of Kérttigai and Margazhi [November
and December] and he therefore refraing from
attempting an expedition against Madras just now.
He is therefore not likely to attack it, unless he
receives a fresh reinforcement. It is therefore out
of the question that the squadron now at Calcutta
could come here. It must, moreover, be borne in
mind that the ships forming it left England four
years ago, and having, since then, touched nowhere,
must consequently have become more or less unsea-
worthy. Now, to turn to the anticipations as to ships
from England. Even if it should be a fact that any
are coming, they would, in ordinary course, make
straight for Madras, the capture of which could notbe

known to those on board. 1t is, of course, possible
31
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that they might put in at Tellicherry, or Point de
Galle, where they may have been warned by the
Dutch of what has occurred ; nay, it is even possible
that, during the voyage, they have already learnt it.
In this case, they would have touched at either of
these ports, and given intimation of their arrival.
This might account for the English at Cuddalore
having changed their minds, in regard to the goods.

“ Secondly, it is just possible that the Fnglish,
being in urgent need of money, have sold the cloths
to the Dutch.

“ Thirdly, the following contingency is, also,
quite possible.  The English may have thought
within themselves:  How long would the Muham-
madans be likely to stand by us? We see not
prospect of ships arriving to our assistance, On the
other hand, our enemies are bent on capturing the
fort, which, although we cannot yield it without re.
sistance, will have to be surrendered when we find
ourselves no longer able to hold out. We wills
therefore, take care that it is empty.” Influenced by
considerations of this nature they probably intend
conveying the goods elsewhere, on the plea that they
have been sold to the Ducth, or to some merchants.

“lIt 1s also possible that they may wish to
borrow money, on the security of them.

“The action of the English must be imputed to
one or other of the reasons which I have mentioned,
and should not be regarded as being without any
alterior object.”



ALLEGED ALARM OF THE ENEMY. 243

On this, the Governor exclaimed: ¢ Yes; I under-
stand. It must b2 due to one of the causes that
you have brought forward ; it has to be shown which
of them it is.” I replied: ¢ How can we know this
now? Time, alone, can reveal iv.” He rejoined :
““You had better depute suitable men to ascertain,
carefully, what it is, and let me know.” I thereupon
said: ““It is to be much regretted that inquiries
have not already been instituted. We depend upon
these goods to meet the charges which will be
incurred in capturing Fort St. David. If they are
removed, what of any value will be left? If the
Company is not put to any expense in the matter,
your scheme will be successful. You will thereby
acquire world-wide renown, and the Company, as
well as the King, will be pleased with you. Your
action will highly commend itself to the former,
when it realises that it has had a remunerative
result.” . . . ¥

Tuesday, 10th January 1747, or 1st Tal of Akshaya,
New Moown, Constellation Pirddam, Pongal Feast.—
When I repaired to the Goverror’s house, this morn-
ing, he beckoned me to him, and inquired whether
I had received any mnews regarding the enemy.
I replied: ‘“ All through the night, they are in a
state of great alarm, do no: sleep a wink, and
keep their horses always Saddled —all on account
of constant rumours of *here come the French ;

* Incomplete in the original,
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e there come the French.’ Some 500 or 600 of their
-—  horsemen patrol about to the west and south of

1747, . .
andfurther Azhisapikkam, at a distance of about three miles

mentions

teloans,  grom the village. The Governor of Fort St. David

etc,, made
by Mr, . A
Hinde:  has given some presents to Mahfuz Khinand Mu-

hammad ’Ali Khin. On one occasion, he lent them
3,000 pagodas, and on a second, another 3,000. He
is holding out hopes of the arrival of English ships,
has promised to give larger presents then, and tells
them that, when so reinforced, he will attack Pondi-
chery. It is thus that the English are beguiling
them with false hopes and promises.”
sa7s that The Governor then said that he was in the dark
Egéf%eairs as to the state of affairs at Arcot. I told him that
sand,a  Mahfuz Khén, and Muhammad ’Ali Khin, had
received a letter from Arcot, to the following effect :
Dinristtells ¢c The people are distracted, in consequence of the

him what
Anwar-ud-

dmKuen  prevalence of famine. Owing to want of rain, the

bissons.  growing crops, throughout the province, have dried
up, and there is no sign of the taxes being collected.
The demands of the Nizim for money are pressing.
Large arrears are outstanding against you. You
had better return : I, myself, will advance on Pondi-
chery, and take such action as may be necessary.”

Jonversa. He then asked me why they had not departed,

tion as to
hy th . . . .
nadnot’  in accordance with this letter. I replied : ‘ Appa-

retarned
1 Aroo. rently in consequence of the hopes held out by the
English.” He agreed.
The Governor then said: ‘It is alleged that

Sivaniga Reddi holds a very conspicuous position
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in the enemy’s camp, and does much mischief. Did
1 not tell you, some time ago, that he should be
arrested? You pleaded that he lived near this,
and was one who sought our fayour. You said that
’Abd-ul-Jalil had written to you praying that his
village should not be surrounded and burnt. You
were instrumental in letting the Reddiescape. See
how he behaves now.”

I replied: ¢ As he is the renter and headman of
lands which are subject to Muhammadan rule, how
can he help obeying his master, when he sits by his
side, and bids him ?”

As I was thus pleading on his behalf, the
Governor exclaimed: ¢ Youare always ready to
assign reasons. That Reddi is one of the many
who have been asked by the enemy to afford
asgistance. Why have not the others acted as he
hast” 1 answered: ‘‘ Their villages are all at
a distance, and those of the Reddi lie close to
Pondichery.”

To this, the Governor retorted: ¢ If he really
cared for our favour, he should, though remaining
with the enemy, have behaved so as not to prejudice
our interests. He helps the English, in whose town
our adversaries have now taken up their quarters.
Well ; I shallnot forget this. Solongasthe French
have any hold on this country, he shall not escape
being brought before me. You must, somehow, find
means to apprehend him.”

I replied : “ Very well ; 1 will try.”
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For the last two or three days, M. Desmaréts
has been sending for me, but I had no time to visit
him. Before going to the Governor this morning,
however, I waited on him, and, in the course of con-
versation, he said to me : “ You know that M. Dupleix
has, on the ground that it was not valid, torn up
and destroyed the agreement executed by M. de la
Bourdonnais, which ransomed Madras to the English
for 11 lakhs of pagodas. Should M. de la Bourdon-
nais lodge a complaintin France against M. Dupleix,
the latter might get into trouble, for the French
Minister appointed M. de la Bourdonnais to be the
leader in this war, and has empowered him to seize the
ships, settlements, and troops, of the English. Such
powers having been conferred on him, no one can re-
ject any agreement, or contract, signed and approved
by him. Besides, he has not put his own name to
the agreement; but has signed “By order of the
King,” and has executed it in favour of Mr. Morse,
the representative of the English King. Inasmuch,
therefore, as the names of the French and English
kings are mentioned therein, it would not affect M.
de la Bourdonnais. As the matter concerns the two
sovereigns, every one must accept the agreement,
if it has been signed by the representative of the
King. 1If there is any flaw in it, the defect must
be brought to the mnotice of His Majesty, who
will punish the person concerned ; but no one can
cancel it. The command of the King is that no
transaction made in his name, and on his behalf,
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should be rescinded without his knowledge ; and it
cannot be set at naught. Whether the representa-
tive does right, or wrong, everything must be put
before the Government, and no proceedings'of his can
be rejected here. But as this has been done in the
case of the settlement made by M. de la Bourdonnais,
he will complain to the authorities in France, and
if he does, it seems likely that M. Dupleix will be
recalled. T am sure that this is what will happen.”

In the church of St. Paul, at AriyAnkuppam, there
is a litter for carrying corpses, and, some two or three
days ago, a wounded soldier was placed in this,
and sent here. After leaving him at the hospital, the
bearers set the litter down near Arumpitai Pillai’s
house, and went away. It seems that on it there is
the emblem of a cross. When walking in that direc-
tion, one Prakdsan, who is employed in the church of
St. Paul, found it on the road, and noticing that
it was the property of the church—the litter for
carrying the dead being different from that for
wounded persons—he went to Chinna Parasurima
Pillai, and said to him: “ How did you get this
litter P It seems to be that belonging to our church.”
He repiied : “ I know nothing about the matter ; it
appears that some coolies who brought a wounded
soldier in it, left it where it i3, and went away. I
will pay the hire. You can take it away.” Prakisan
then went off, and reported what had occurred to the
priest Cceurdoux, who wrote a petition to the
Governor, wherein he stated that a litter belonging
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to AriyAnkuppam, which was used for carrying
corpses, and bore the sign of the cross, had been
thrown down in the street near the house of Arum-
patai, was covered with filth, and injured by stones
that had been cast at it. When the Governor
read the petition, he sent for the Registrar M.
Desmaréts, M. Le Maire, the King’s Proctor, M.
Miran, and the priest Ceeurdoux, and he despatched
a man to bring the litter, and Chinna Parasurima
Pillai. When this man came, the Governor asked
him all about the matter. Parasurdman told a story
exactly the same as that recorded above. The
Governor asked him why he had not sent it away,
then and there. Parasurdman replied : “ Sir, I am a
business man. I have thousand things to attend
to, and I do not know how it came to be near my
house. Omne of the priests’ men told me that there
was a litter there, which looked like theirs. I replied :
‘I know nothing about it. It seems that some bearers
who brought a wounded man in it, left it where it is
and went away, I will get some coolies ; you had
better remove it.” The man agreed, and went away ;
but he never returned.” These were the words
in which Parasuriman told the whole story. On
this, the Governor said to M. Le Maire, the King’s
Proctor, the Registrar, and M. Miran:  Please go
and inquire, in the presence of the priest, if any
filth was actually cast on the litter, or if stones were
thrown av it; and ascertain, also, what occurred,
from the time that it was taken from the officers’
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church at Ariydnkuppam, and the wounded man was
placed in it, and sent here, up to the present;
and let me have a correct report on every point.”
Then all the four above-mentioned gentlemen went to
the place where the litter was, called a carpenter, and
ordered him to examine it, in view to determining
whether it had been struck by stones, and whether
dirt had been cast onit. It wasthen found that there
were no marks of either of these on it. On this,
they sent for the chief priest of the church of St.
Paul, and said to him: “Look here; in your
petition, you wrote that stones and dirt had been
thrown on your litter. If you have any proof of
this, please let us see it.”” The priest replied:
“The dirt has dried, and consequently no traces
of it are to be seen.” The gentlemen exclaimed :
“How can you tell such a falsehood ? Was not
the mark of the dirt thrown by you on the
Hindu temple perceptible, even after it had dried up ?
Had stones been thrown, would not the marks be
distinetly visible ? How can people in your position
tell such lies? You create all manner of feuds,
and prevent people from settling here.” Having
thus spoken to the priest, they all departed, and
reported the matter to the Governor, who sent for
the chief priest, and told him that he had written
an untruth in his petition. The priest replied, as
stated above, that the dirt having dried, no marks
of it were disceruible, The Governor retorted: “How
can a man in your station in life tell such falsehoods ?
32
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Owing tothe mischief done by you and your col-
leagues, the townspeople are leaving this, and
will not remain here. Yon had better put your
complaint into writing, and submit it to the Council.”
On this, the priest rejoined: ‘ The matter is
not one worth placing before the Council. The
men who reported the matter to me made the
allegation ; I believed it, and wrote the petition.
I, myself, do not know how far all this is true.”
But the Governor said: ¢ This is all very well, but
the matter cannot be hushed up in this way. It
must be brought before the Council.” This news
was given to me by M. Desmaréts. Much more
took place, but [ record only the important points.
If T were to write down every particular, there
would be no end to it.

In addition to what he related to me, M. Desma-
réts said that Tdnappa Mudali had told the priests
of the church of St. Paul that the reason why the
Muhammadan troops did not leave the place was
that I was in league with them, and did not interest
myself in the affairs of the French; that Fort St.
David could have been captured by this time, but
for my machinations ; and that I was the author of
all the difficulties. M. Desmaréts told me that all
these allegations were made to the priests of the
church of St. Paul, by Chinra Mudali Lazar; and
by them, to him. The priests also spoke about
these matters to some other Kuropeans, who
asked what had occurred, informing me, at the
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same time, that they had been told by the priests,
to whom the allegations had been made by Lazar.
I replied : ¢ This never occurred. It is an absolute
fabrication on the part of the people of the church
of St. Paul.” I put the matter to them, in the true
light, and they approved of my explanation.

Wednesday, 11th January 1747, or 9nd Tui of
Akshaya.—To-day, M. Lenoir sent, by a peon, a
letter from Masulipatam. It was folded in the
Muhammadan fashion, and the address was written
in Telugu, in these words, °To Karidi Buchanna,
at Porto Novo.” He said in it that he had heard that
M. Paradis had been made a prisoner, and that the
Muhammadans were besieging Pondichery. The
messenger stated that seven ships were anchored
opposite to Mulvala Ravanaiyan’s choultry, north
of Pulicat; that they were English, and from
Calcutta; that the commander of the squadron was
Mr. Peyton ; and that one of the ships brought news
to Pulicat, delivered some letters which were subse-
quently despatched to Fort St. David, and then put
to sea again. I reported all these matters to the
Governor. He said: ¢ This is true : two or three
days ago, I heard that one or two sail were seen off
Madras, and they are probably English.”

M. Bouteville reported to the Governor that
Rangappan, the accountant who had made himself
responsible for Rs. 200 in the affair of M. Bertram,
now refused to pay the same; and requested that
he might receive it from the money belonging to
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M. Bertram, which had been lodged in the registry
office. The Governor sent for me, and asked about
the matter, and I explained it. He then directed
that the Acheen areca-nuts under attachment, in
the warehouse of M. Bertram, should be delivered
to M. Bouteville. At 11, the Governor went to
a dinner party given by M. Auger, at the garden
house of M. de Bausset.

Last night, I received news that a party of 400
peons had advanced as far as Marikrishndpuram, and
then returned to Azhisapdkkam. Itmarched,in two
divisions, by different routes, to attack the Muham-
macan camp. One of these reached the boundary
hedge, which was the point at which they were
to meet, but not being joined in proper time by the
other, returned without making any attack. This
was owing to a dispute between M. Chengeac and
another officer who accompanied the force.

This morning, the Governor told me that he had
received a letter from Madras stating that four
English ships, and a sloop, had been seen in the
offing there.

Mrs. Morse sent word to the Governor, through
Madame Dupleix, asking that the money stolen
from Lakshmanan, the dubdsh of Mr. Morse, might
be retarned to him. The Governor requested me
to see that it was paid to him, through a third party.
I told him that although Lakshmanan lost only
27 pagodas, he claimed 160. The Governor said:
“You manage all my affairs; why then do you
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< ini b 3 2] C .
ask my opinion? Do what you think proper.” I Lo,

replied that I would settle the matter in one way or o

other. )
Friday, 13th Janwary 1747, or kth Tai of

Akshaya.—This morning, ships were sighted Shies

approaching from the north. The Governor sent

for me, and said : “I do not know if these hail from ¢ ...

and diarist

Tranquebar, or Acheen; or are the Dutch vessels converse

as to the

which, after touching here in October last, sailed plce from
for Acheen, and were expected to arrive again in <"
the month of Tai [January-February], on their

return to Mocha.” I told him they were the last

of these. He said that if news was received that the

three ships under M. Dordelin, and the two belong-

ing to the squadron of M. de la Bourdonnais, had
reached Acheen, one might expect that they would coneus

with

come on here; but if otherwise, the conclusion must geramn
of the

be that M. de la Bourdonnais had taken them all Governor.
away with him. I said that he was right.
At noon, to-day, the Dutch ships reached the Dutch

anchor in

roads, and having anchored, fired nine guns, which theroads.
were returned by a like number from the shore.

The com.

As soon as the officer in command landed, he visited manding
otlicer

the Governor, and reported that the three men-of-war feports

under M. Dordelin, and the two of the squadron of M. aer ™

at Acheen,

de la Bourdonnais-—five in all—had reached Acheen,
and that, eight days before his departure from that o b
place, the French squadron received intelligence suledin

some

that two or three English ships were cruising in the Engiisn

ships,

neighbourhood, and had gone in pursuit of them.
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The Governor then sent for me, and said : “ With
reference to our conversation this morning, the
Dutch commander has just been telling me that our
five ships arrived at Acheen, and that eight days
before he sailed thence, some English vessels were
seen in the neighbourhood, and our squadron started
in chase of them. Intwo or three days more, there-
fore, we shall see our ships here. As this good news
concerns every one, please go, and announce it to the
people.” I cannot describe how pleased, and happy,
the Governor was.

At 8 to-night, the following news was received
from Madras : ¢ The three ships under M. Dordelin,
and one of M. de la Bourdonnais’ squadron, an-
chored in the roads at Madras, on Wednesday the
2nd [11th] instant.” The Governor at once sent
for me, and said : *° Rangappa ; we have good news.
Our four ships, with a Dutch sloop which they
captured, have reached Madras. When the Eng-
lish, Mahfuz Khin, Muhammad ’All Kbén, and their
troops, hear of this, how will they like 1t?> 1
replied : * It will be a thunder stroke to them ; their
troops will not remain here much longer; they will
discover that the English have cheated them by
saying that their fleet would arrive in a fort-
night, and that they would then give them money.
I think there will be a serious misunderstanding
> The Governor said that he was
quite of my opinion. We then conversed, as usual,
on general topics, and I went home at 10.

between them.’
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Saturday, 1hth January 1747, or 5th Tat of CH;BI
XXXIX.
Akshaya.—To-day, at noon, the Governor sent for ~——

. 1747.
me. I went to him, and he gave me some oranges Governor

gives diarist

brought from Acheen, by the Dutch, and asked grusete

be sent
me to send them to the Muhammadan camp, I took Sobom.

madan
them all, and went to my areca-nut store-house, ®"r

where I got some baskets, and packed eighty in
each.

I forwarded these, with polite letters, to Mahfuz He des-
Khin, Muhammad ’Ali Khin, and Anwar Khin, pertthere
Mandji was charged to take them to Kondtr Tope,
where they were encamped. In addition to this, 1
despatched to Arcot a huudred and twenty oranges andine
for His Highness Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khin, o Areot,”
eighty for Sampiti Rao, and eighty for Husain
S4hib, sending, at the same time, a letter to each.

At &, Véldyuda Pillai came from Porto Novo, amudar

and brought letters from the amaldir of that place, Soro sends

letters
to th
to the Governor, and me. I read to the Governor &overnor,

that addressed to him. Having listened to it, he and diarist,
requested me to write an answer at once, asking
the amaldér to come, and see him in person, and bid- governor
ding him tobe under no apprehensions. I wrote in ?}}E‘?El;e be
accordance with his orders, gave the letter to °°™"
Vélayuda Pillai, and sent him off, at 10 o’clock.

To-day, the doctor * consigned to Mocha 25 bales
containing 100 scores of pieces of long-cloth, of

91 yds. each. During the night, a Muhammadan

¥ Ii cannot be ascertained to whom this refe
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peon who had accompanied M. Miran, and had re-
turned in the vessel from Acheen, reported to me
that an English captain, one Mr. Boyer, had put
between 100 and 150 candies of frankincense, some
goods which had arrived from Acheen, and from 150
to 200 bars of gold, on board the ship bound for Tran-
quebar, and that she woald be in this neighbourhood
in two or three days’ time. I communicated the news
tothe Governor. He said: ¢ The Governor of Tran-
quebar is our friend; he has helped uson several
occasions. It is therefore not proper for us to make
a prisoner of an Englishman travelling on a Danish
craft, or to seize his goods. You know that four
men-of-war of ours have arrived off Madras. When
the English ships which were in the roads at Pulicat
saw ours, they made off, but there was a Dutch sloop,
which our squadron seized.” I told him that I had
heard, from Madras, that it belonged to the English.
The Governor replied : ““ Your correspondents give
you incorrect information ; please write to them not
to do so in future.” It was this Captain Boyer who
commanded the sloop which arrived in Arppisi
[October] last, and whiech . . . *

Sunday, 16th January 1747, or 6th Tai of Akshaya.
A ship arrived to-day, at noon, and anchored. She
fired thirteen guns, which were replied to by a like
number from the fort. She is named the St. Lowis,
and belongs to the squadron of M. de la Bourdonnais.

* Incomplete in the original, There is no previous mention of this matter,
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Her former Captain, M. Benoit, did not sail with
her, but remained here, and one M. St. Decheaux,
who took his place, brought her to Pondichery.
Another sloop is following, and has on board some
goods, and twenty-five garce of paddy consigned
from Bimlipatam, to the Paymaster at Negapatam.
She brings, also, a letter to the Governor of Pulicat,
advising him to dispose of the paddy where
it can be sold at a profit. When the sloop was off
Pulicat, a French ship seized her, alleging that she
was English, but when she was brought to Madras,
and examined, it was found that she was Dutch, and
she was sent hither, along with other craft bound to
this port. When the St. Louis arrived, the Governor
wrote to the Governor at Negapatam, asking him if
the sloop belonged to him. I do not know what he
will do when the reply arrives.

Monday,16th January 1747, or 7th Taiof Alshaya.
—To-day, I had a letter from Shaikh Ahmad, the
amaldir of Porto Novo, saying that he was coming
here. I reported this to the Governor. He told
me to write to the amalddr, asking him to do as he
proposed, and to take the road by Arumpitai Pillai’s
choultry. I did as instructed. He accordingly
came, halted at the choultry, and, in the evening,
sent word to me of his arrival. I gave intimation
of this to the Governor, who desired me to take
twenty Company’s peons, and some Europeans
such as M. St. Martin, and M. . . . * and

* Blank in the original,
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receive the amalddr, with all due attentions. He
asked me if guns ought to be fired on his arrival. I
replied: ¢ As the amaldir is a respectable man,a
salute should be accorded, when he reaches the town-
gate.”” He wanted to know the number of guns, and
Isaid that it should be seven. Hesent for the
master gunner, and ordered him to fire a salute as
arranged, and he then asked me to go out, and meet
the amaldir. I tookleave,and reached my areca-nut
store-house, at 8. The amaldir remained, for the
night, at Arumpitai Pillai’s choultry. I decided
that T could go there on the following morning.
Tuesday, 17th Jannary 1747, or 8th Tal of Alshaya.
—This morning at 8, I sent word to the amaldir of
Porto Novo, that I was coming to meet him. As
ordered by the Governor, on the previous day, I
set out at 9 in the morning, with M. St. Martin,
M. . . *, a native captain, and twenty or thirty
peons. By that time, the amalddr had started, and
had reached my garden-house. We went there, and
halted. After conversing with him for a while, we
left together, and when we entered the town through
the Villiyanalldr gate, seven guns were fired. I
provided accommodation for the amaldir in the
garden-house of M. Dumas, and leaving him there,
made 1y report to the Governor. He said: ¢ Please
go and stay with him, ascertain his views, and let
me know what they are.” In accordance with these
instructions, 1 remained with the amaldir, and

* Blank in the original.
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when his opinions became known to me, I gave him Smar.
suitable replies. Whilst I was dealing with him in '

. . ) 1747,
this fashion, a man came, and said that the Gov- Governor

sends for

ernor wanted me. T obeyed the summons, had a danstand

converses
with him.

conversation with him, and then, going home, dined,
went to my areca-nut godown, and rested there
for two Indian hours. At the end of that time, I
again presented myself before the Governor, and
informed him that the amaldir was coming to visit Hebrings

the amal-

him. Then I returned to the amaldir, and took him dux to visit

the Gov-
ernor,

1n the evening, to the Governor. During the visit,
M. Dupleix, Shaikh Ahmad, and I, conversed for a andthey

have a long

long while. Shaikh Ahmad told the Governor that conversa-

tion.,
he would relate to me all his misfortunes ; the latter
said that he was welcome to do so. After this, the
amald4r took leave, and returned to his residence.
Wednesdny, 18th January 1747, or 9th Tai of
Akshaya.—-The following is what occurred here to-
day. News arrived that the Nawib had released the ~ews

of the

b h} 3 "
Europeans, MM. Schonomille and . . . *, who relewseof

had been taken prisoners by the Muhammadans, P

during the recent fighting at Madras, and had sent
them with a letter from himself, and another from
Husain Tahir Khén, and that they had reached
Tigdivanam.

Thursday, 19th January 1747, or 10ih Tui of
Aleshaya.—This morning, at 9, DL Schonomille, M. They

arrive at

de Kerjean, and M. Gosse, who, last night, halted at Fnd-

* Blank in the original, but apparently,(see infra), should have
been MM. de Kerjean and Gosse.
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Tindivanam arrived here. Another Huropean was
with them. This man had been sending intelligence
regarding the Fnglish,to the Governor of Pondi.
chery, and when French soldiers, sailors, and a few
officials, were in the hands of the English, he was
in the habit of letting them escape, two or three at a
time. Mr. Morse, the Governor of Madras, having
come to know of this, caused him to be publicl;
flogged, and put in jail. But when the fort of
Madras fell into the hands of the French, not only
did they release him, but they made him an officer.
When M. de Kerjean and the others left, he accom-
panied them ; and when they were made prisoners,
he, also, was captured. They now all came with
Shaikh Mubammad Tavakkal and Vakil Subbaiyan.
The Europeans embraced M. de Kerjean. The
Governor and his wife also did the same, and were
very pleased. Muhammad Tavakkal had an interview
with the Governor, who desired him to take a seat
and inquired regarding the welfare of Nawﬁt’)
Anwar-ud-din Khéin, Husain S8hib, and others. In
return, he expressed the hope that the Governor was
prospering. The Governor then said to him: “You
probably feel weary now : go, and take somerest; we
will discuss matters to-morrow at our leisure.” He
delivered the letter brought by him from Nawib
Anwar-ud-din Kbin, to the Governor, who handed
it to me with the request that I would interpret the
contents. The purport of it was: [ have received
the mangoes sent by you, and am obliged for
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them. If you evacuate Madras, all well and good:
if not, please send back to me the four Europeans.”
T explained the letter to the Governor, and he said:
“ Go; talk to Muhammad Tavakkal, and ascertain
exactly what the views of the Nawdb are.” Mubam-
mad Tavakkal then went home, and I, to my areca-
nut godown.

To-night at 8, I went to Sunguvar’s store-house,
where Muhammad Tavakkal is accommodated, and
ghatted with him, until 10. After a conversation on
general topics, we came to the point, and having
ascertained his views, I gave him answers which cast
all the blame on the Muhammadans, and were in such
terms that he could not avoid remaining silent. He
was pleased with my reasoning, and praised me. I
took leave of him, went to Irusappa Muttu Chetti’s
house, offered him my good wishes on the occasion
of the Pongal feast, and reached home at half-
past 11.

Sunday, 22nd Januairy 1747, or 18th Tal of Ak-
shaya —This morning, the Governor summoned me,
and said: “Go to Mubammad Tavakkal, anil tell him
that you will remunerate him handsomely ; promise
what you consider fit, and try to bring him to our
way of thinking.” Thereupon, I went to Muhammad
Tavakkal, drew him into conversation, and then said :
“Kindly let me know what your desires are and I
will arrange with the Governor to satisfy them.”
He replied : ¢ If you give me 20,000 rupees, I will
settle everything to his satisfaction. The orders of
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the Nizdm are that the Nawidb should return. The
latter i3 overwhelmed with debts, and being thor-
oughly wearied, he wishes to make peace with you,
and depart. Besides, he has dismissed Bapdji
Nayakkan, who formerly collected the tribute of the
Carnatic, and has appointed in his room one Sadisiva
Rao, a Mahratta, who is the son of Siman4ji Rao, the
ycunger brother of Bhiji Rao. Bapdji Nayakkan
i3 preparing to collect men in order to attack the
Nawib, who is alarmed at this. I will therefore
dispose of matters in a way which will please you.
You have given me yourreasons. I willadd my own,
and put them in such a way as will cause the Nawib
to entertain no more ill-feeling towards you. In
short, I will settle all difficulties, to your entire satis-
faction ; but you must comply with my demand.”
After hearing his views, 1 told him that I had then
no time to give him a distinct answer, as the Governor
required my attendance. I was about to start, when
he stopped me, and said: * You merely take my
opinion, and do not express your own. At this rate,
how can we come to any agreement. If you will open
your heart to me, then, and then alone, I shall be
satisfied.” Ireplied: ““I have no objection to do so.
Two of the Governor’s peons are however waiting for
me, 80 please accept my excuses. I shall return, in no
time.”” Ihastened to the Governor, told him all that I
had heard from Muhammad Tavakkal, and inquired
whathe had to say toit. He asked me what I thought
best under the circumstances. Ireplied : ““ You know
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that he wants 20,000 riupees ; that is, 6,000 pagodas.
I think it desirable to give him 4,000.” The
overnor said that that was too much, I rejoined:
*“We can reduce the amount to be paid to the
Muhammadans,* and give the money to this man,
because it is through him, alone, that our difficulties
can be removed.”” ¢ That is true,” he exclaimed.
“We will give him 10,000 rupees in cash, and goods for
Rs. 2,800. Settle it with him in that way, and then
ask him to write such letters to Husain Sihib and the
Nawib, as will suit our plans.” I went to Muham-
mad Tavakkal, and told him that we would give
him 10,000 rupees in cash, and Rs, 2,800 in the shape
nf goods. When I said this, he was overwhelmed
with joy, as though he had found something which no
mortal could attain, and exclaimed: ¢ You are my
priest : I will not gainsay your words. T will act in
accordance with what you propose.” It is impnssi-
ble io describe, in writing, all the polite expressions
of which he made use. He then told me that he
would address letters to Husain Tahir, and Sampati
Rao, in the following terms: *¢ The Governor of
Pondichery does not seem to be willing to pay any-
thing to the Nawdb, uniess he asks forit. Heis bent
an war. As he is aware that the Mahrattas are
coming to attack you, and that the Nizim has
ordered you to return with your troops, he does not
appear to be inclined to pay you any money.”

* Sic in the original. ‘1be reference is evidently tc the Nawab, ang
bis sons, .
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He said that he would add something more that
would be to our interest. I told him that he
must write these letters then and there, but he
said : “ Why should you trouble yourself about it ?
Henceforth, it will be my business. If you only let
me have what you have promised, I will settle your
business exactly as you wish.”” Tanswered : ¢ Have
you still any doubts ? T will be responsible for what
I have promised you. If you desire anything in
writing with regard to this, I willgive it to you.” He
replied : “ It will be sufficient if you pledge your
word.” I agreed to do this. He then promised tosettle
matters for us within eight days, and said: *You
may tell this to the Governor. I will arrange things
to your satisfaction. You may henceforth reckon
on me as one entirely at your disposal. Hereafter,
you may take your rest.” I remarked: “ What you
have said is very little, and what you are about to
accomplish is a great deal. May God help you in
this matter.”” Having spoken to him in polite lan-
guage of this description, I took leave, and person-
ally reported to the Governor what had occurred.
Having listened to me, he said: ¢ Has he written
letters, as instructed by you?’ Ireplied: ‘“ He is
just doing so, and will despatch them shortly.”
The Governor then continned : * Well ; you told me
that Shaikh Ahmad, the amaldir of Porto Novo,
was returning home, and you stated also that Muham-
mad Tavakkal wanted you to send him away. We
will now send him off, at 4 this afternoon. Ask him
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to come here, and make out a list showing the articles
that are to be presented to him, and stating the
quantities of each. Send this to M. Cornet, and
request him to prepare what is entered in it. Tell
him, further, to make ready the clock for which
Mubammad ’Ali Khin asked.” The goods were
accordingly ordered, and made ready; and the
following is the list of the articles presented to
Mubammad ’Al Khéin, and Shaikh Ahmad :

Articles sent to Mulammad ' Al Khin.
chiming clock, bought from Mr. Stratton for 115
star pagodas.
mariner’s compass.
telescope.
lens, or burning glass.
pairs of spectacles.
microscope.

—

round mirror.

articles in all.

| O = = 0 kel

Articles presented to Shaikh Ahmad.

3 rolls of red broad-cloth.
44 yards of red velvet.

4 yards of green velvet.

2 Persian carpets.

3 carpets lined with printed broad-cloth.

6 flasks of Hungary water.

6 flasks of Imperial water.

2 pairs of scissors.

2 many bladed knives.

1 mirror.

1 small mirror.

34
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All these were made ready, and M. Delarche
attended. The Governor then said to me: * Can
we write a letter to Muhammad *All Xhin, to the
effect that we will give him the villages attached to
Fort St. David and Cuddalore, and that we will
reserve Fort St. David, alone, for a while longer ;
and then, if he so desires, will also make it over to
him?” I replied that we could write to him in
these terms ; but that we might add that the condi-
tions named would hold good, only on the under-
standing that he and his troops withdrew, and would
not give up those places to the English. He
approved of my suggestion, and said that a letter
to that effect must be written by M. Delarche, and
that the Bradhman ir charge of preparing the Persian
letters should not know of it. I replied: ¢ The
plan is a good one, but M. Delarche can only speak
and read Persian. He cannot write that language.”
The Governor said : * Only a few words have to be
written; M. Delarche can manage that,” and he
then sent for him. He came. The Governor gave
him the subject, and asked him to write the letter.
M. Delarche said that he could not write Persian,
but that he would get the Brihman writer to do what
was required, and would strictly warn him not to
reveal the secret to any one. The Governor replied :
“] gave my instructions to you, as the matter is
one which should not be known to any one ¢lse. Now
got the letter written confidentially.” M. Delarche
summoned XMadaninda Pandit to his house, and
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there caused him to write the letter in the terms
already stated. [t was then brought to the Gover-
nor, and sealed. At half-past 5 in the evening, he
sent for Shaikh Ahmad, and said to him: “You
wrote to us once that you desired to have this affair
settled, through Muhammad ’Ali Khin, and that
is the reason why we sent for you. But now, as
Muhammad Tavakkal has come here in the name of
Husain Sahib, under the orders of Nawidb Anwar-
ud-din KhAan, you say that this business had better
be transacted through him, and that you will go
home. But we have no mind to let you go, and
we wish to transact our business through you.”
Shaikh Ahmad replied in very courteous terms :
“I am your dependent; there 18 no need to
speak to me in such flattering terms.” The Gover-
nor then put into his hand the letter written to
Mubammad 'Ali Khén, and also the cloths and other
presents, as already described, and said to him:
“ 1f Mubammad ’Ali Khédn consents to what you are
about to tell him, then, and then, only, give him the
letter. If he will not assent, send it back to me.”
Shaikh Ahmad took the letter and presents, and
replied : ““I will let you have an answer, in two or
three days. Until then, you must not be in a hurry.”
Then the presents set apart for him were placed in
his hands. Two yards of cloth were also given to
Vélayuda Pillai, who was told by the Governor to
make proper inquiries, and let him know the result.
Vélayuda Pillai received the gift, and promised
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to do as he was bid. He further said to the
Governor: ‘“Muhammad ’Ali Kbin considers that
you are a warrior, and a good man, and it is on that
account that he courts your friendship. The truth
will appear hereafter. All the blame rests on
Mahfuz Khén, and your affairs will, therefore, pros-
per. By 10 to-morrow morning, I shall reach his
camp.” So saying, he took leave, and retired. [
asked him to come to my house, after night-fall. He
agreed to do so, and arrived at half-past 8. He re-
mained with me until midnight, and was entertained
with musicand a nautch. He then made a present of
Rs. 30 to the dancing girl, accepted the red and
green broad-cloths presented by me, and went home.
I also gave two rolls of broad-cloth, and a piece of
muslin, to Véldynda Pillai, and Bildji Pandit. This
is what occurred during the night.
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CHAPTER XI..

FROM JANUARY 230D, 177, TO FEBRUARY
8TH, 17,7,

Diarist asks for honours to a departing amaldir—Governor orders accord-
ingly—Diarist asccompanies the amaldir beyond the town— And takes
leave of him—Governor asks diarist the news from Fort $t, David—
He says that the Governor there had tidings of ships—-And caused
these to be repeated at the Muhammadan camps—Governor asks the
news of the Muohammadans, and diarist gives this—The Council
meets —The cargoes of two homeward bound ships ordered to be
landed - And they to join M. Dordelin’s squadron, in attacking the
Ynglisk: on the West Coast—Why the Governor decided not to send
these two ships home—He asks diarist the news of the amaldar of
Porto Novo—The recall ot the force at Ariydnknppam discussed—
’Alf Akbar and others, deliver, to M. Dupleix, a letter from Chandé
$ahib —Who, so they tell him, has heard that the Nizdm proposes to
appoint him Nawédb of Arcot—And therefore desires a draft for the
money promised to him, by the Governor-—lhe news conveyed to
diarist, in a letter from A. Guldb Sing-—He reports this to the
Governor— A sloop arrives from Chandernagore—And brings tidings
of projected sailings of lremch and Englisk ships—Conditions of
the Nawidb for the recall of Mahfuz Khidn and M. ’'All Khin—
M, Tavakkal tells diarist, who informs the Governor—DM. Tavakkal
bidden to come next day—He then repeats to the Governor what he
had told diarist—States the conditions under which AMlahfuz Khén
and M.’Ali Kbdn will depart—And begs permission to hoist the
Emperor’s flag at Fort St. George—Governor asks him when the
Muhammadans will Gepart—Conversation between them-—Intimation
which M. Tavakkal is desired to convey to the Nawdb—Governor
gives diarist the points of a letter to be written to the Governor of
Mocha—Discussion as to the withdrawal of troops at Aviydnkuppam
—Uovernor asks diarist if certain letters are ready—His reply—
Arrangements for conveying the letters—Governor inquires the
news from the camp, and diarist informs him—What he thereupon
said—The views on the subject expressed by diarist—Orders regard-
ing a visit by the sons of Chandd $4ihib, etc., to the squadron—
M.Tavakkal invited to join them, but declines—The strikingly effective
salate fired—Sorrow of Vdsudéva Aiyan at having to sell betel and
tobacco, at certain prices—He makes misrepresentations to the
Governor—And thus obtains permission to sell at bigher rates--
Requests diarist to have these officially proclaimed—Diarist seproaches
him-—And says that he will inform the Governor—Diarist reports to the
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Governor, who directs publication to be made—And promises to
consider matters, hereafter—Return of part of the troops at
Ariyinkuppam—This arranged at the request of the Nawdb—Mr.
Monson and others embark for Karikdl—M. Tavakkal brings the
Governor a letter from Husain 3dhib—M. Delarche interprets—
Questions asked of the Goverpor, by M. Tavakkal—His reply—
Subsequent conversation—Liability to give presents to the Nawib,
etc., denied by the Governor—Further conversation—Governor finally
consents to make large gifts— Diarist, Tavakkal, and M. Delarche,
retire, to discuss matters—>, Tavakkal objects to the amount pro-
posed—And asks leave to depart, taking the released Europeans—
Report made to M. Dupleix, by M. Delarche—Diarist and he, wait on
the Governor, who asks the opinion of the former—7The advice which
he, thereupon, gives—M. Tavakkal instructed to write a letter to
Husain $4hib—This to state the terms offered by the Governor—
Convey a message, from M. Dupleix, to the Nawdb—Request recall
if the tsrms are not approved—And attribute the proposals made,
to the friendship of the Governor—Diarist sends certain letters te
France ~Governor asks the news of the enemy--Diarist tells him
what he has heard—Mentions a report that Nasir Jang is marching
against the Mahrattas—And a romour that Pondichery will be
attacked by M. Ali Khin—The conversation that ensues—The
views expressed by diarist—The reply of the Governor—Mr. Morse
leaves for Ewurope —The humble character of his departure—The
Deputy Governor, alone, present—His family and property, to follow
in a sloop— M. Malli Reddi requests that V. Niyakkan may be for-
bidden to raid—Diarist’s reply—>M. Reddi therenpon complains to
Governor, etc.—And semds the letters through T. Mudali—Diarist
makes a report to the Governor—Bearer of the letters imprisoned
—Messengers bring letter and presents from Nasir Jang—And halt
at diarist’s garden-house—He reports this to the Governor—Who
directs that they shall be well cared for—The procession to receive the
letter and presents—'The Governor sets out in state— And is followed
by the Deputy Governor and others—He alights at a tent outside
the town—The rest of the party goes to bring the messengers—
Salate fired when the Governor receives the presents—He then enters
a carriage, and the procession returns—The route followed when
doing this——Messengers formally received at the Governor’s house —
M. Dulawrens asks diaiist to acquaint him with all that is going
on—Diarist, knewing him to be a babbler, considers what to do——Anz
decides to tellhim nothing—Why Nasir Jang sent presents- Remarks
on the procession—Jayardm Pandit brings letters, from Raghdji
Bhinsla—He delivers one to the Governor, with an offering—
Contents of a Jetter, from Llusain $ahib, to M. Tavakkal—Five ships
which lay in the rouds, sail—These all equipped as men-of-war—

Objects of the expedition—-6,000 Angrias to be embarked—A sloop
sails for Mascareigne soon afterwards,
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Monday, 23rd January 1747, or 14th Tai of Caar.
Akshaya.—At 10 this wmorning, I went to the
Governor, and said to him: “ I have to accompany Disrist

asks for

the amaldir of Porto Novo, to bid him farewell. honours

departing

Please direct that, when he leaves, seven guns be amaldar.
fired from the Villiyanallir gate, that the sepoys
present arms, and that the drums be beaten.”
The Governor consented to this, and sent orders

accordingly, to the keeper of the gate, and to the gfi“:z":jm
master-gunner. I took Nayinir * with me, and ha
went to the garden-house of M. Dumas, where

the Muhammadan was staying. We all left to- piarist

accome.

gether, and when we arrived at the Villiyanallfir pavies

e
amaldar

gate, the sepoys presented arms, and seven guns hoond
were fired. I accompanied the amaldir as far as the town.
the mound on the other side of Nainiya Pillai’s
garden, and there took leave of him. I then Andtukes
went to the Governor, and reported what had taken °fh»
place.

Tuesday, 24th Januwary 1747, or 15th Tai of Govermor
Akshaya.—This morning, the Governor sent for me, the news
and asked the news regarding Fort St. David and ™ ™"
the troops. I said: “ You will recoliect that I toid
you, some time ago, that I had heard that the
brokers were packing up cloths, and that when they
learnt that our squadron had arrived at Madras, they
discontinued this. Now I hear that four Malayilees

from Tellicherry and Anjengo brought tidings of

* Karuttambi Na;inir, the chief of the penns,
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ships, and that thereupon the Governor of Fort St.
David presented them with 5 pagodas each ; that the
men objected to this, saying : ¢ We were sent with a
promise of 100 pagodas, and we therefore came
very speedily, and brought news and letters, but you
give us only 20 pagodas. How can we accept this P’
On this, 20 pagodas more were given to them.
The Governor then took the men to the camps of
Mahfuz Khin, and Muhammad ’Alf Khan, and caused
them to communicate the mnews of the ships to
them, on which they presented each of them with
a turban. The Governor chatted with them for
a while, and then took his departure. When he
reached the fort, he went to the washing depdt, and
ordered some clothsto be dyed blue. The faces
of the English, it would seem, brightened, some-
what, after receipt of this news.” He asked me
what tidings I had regarding the Muhammadan
forces. I replied: ‘I hear no mention of war. All
speak of peace. It is said, in the camp, that as
Muhammad Tavakkal came to you in the name
of Husain Sahib, with a view to put an end to hos-
tilities, there will henceforth be no more war, and
there will be nothing but peace. There is a talk in
the army that, on their way from this, they will
march to Vazhudavir and Chétpattu, in view to the
settlement of the taxes; and then move on to
Bankénlir and SélanQr, in order to attack the
Mahrattas. 1 am told that horses are being pur-
chased, and sent, in fifties and hundreds, at a time.”
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Whilst the Governor was listening to me, the
members of the Council arrived. They held a
meeting which lasted about four Indian hours.
The Governor then sent for M. Auger, and ordered
him to bring on shore the 400 bales that were on
board the two ships about to sail for Europe. When
Iinquired why this was being done, M. Cornet told
me that the Governor had received information, by
the mail which arrived here the day before yesterday,
that about 6,000 of Angria’s men had offered to
help M. de Leyrit, the chief of Mahé, if he would
take possession of Tellicherry, Anjengo, and other
English ports; and that the three sail forming the
squadron of M. Dordelin, together with the St. Louis,
and the Princesse Marie, which formerly belonged
to the English, were being sent to Mahé for that
purpose.

I was told that the Governor originally meant
to send the two ships home, but changed his mind,
for the following reasons. When the squadron of
M. Dordelin reached Acheen, he came to hear that,
four days before his arrival, two British men-of-war
and two sail belonging to the English Company, had
left the roads. Consequently, if the two ships start
homeward bound, they might possibly encounter
these four, and there was the further chance of others
of the same nation being on their way hither. It has
therefore Leen settled that the five ships, if they
sail at all, should do so together, and that in con-

sequence of the departure of the three men-of-war
35
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Cmar.  for Europe having been deferred, these two, also,
oy should not go home. A Dutch sloop came from

Kérikal laden with paddy. It was decided that she
should be sent to Mascareigne.
Heasks This afternoon, the Governor inquired if I had

newsof the any news from Shaikh Ahmad, the amaldir of Porto

amaldar of

fortoXov: Novo. Isaid that I had none, but that I might

The recall receive some to-morrow. He asked whether the
of the force

at Aryan- force stationed at AriyAnkuppam might be recalled.

discssed- T ¢aid that it would not be desirable to do so. He
asked me why. I replied: It appears that
negotiations for peace are in progress. The result,
one way or other, will be known in four or five days’
time, and, if necessary, vou can then direct the return
of the men. If you do this now, people will say
that you are daily expecting peace.”” He approved
of my advice, and said he would wait for four days
more.

’Ali Akbar, At noon to-day, ’All Akbar, accompanied by the

and others,
deliver, to . .
M. Daplorr, Sahib’s son, S4md Rao, and others of his followers,

aletter from

Chanda  pajd g visit to the Governor. This 'All Akbar,
who has come from Chandid Sahib, reached this,
in twenty-two days, from a hill fort known as
Poona, thirty miles from Satdra, where his master
is under detention. They gave M. Dupleix a
letter, sent by Chandi $ahib, and said to him:

ho,so ¢ Amanat Khéin, who is in the serviee of the Nizim,

him, h: A AT 3

Heard et wrote to Thandd Sahib, saying: ¢ Send your son
the Nizam A ry A . .

provoses  here, Nawib Asaf Jah, knowing that in the battle
him Nawab

oarot. at Mylapore, near Madras, Anwar-ud-din Khin’s
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men could not withstand the French troops, and fled
to Conjeeveram, is very angry with him, and, on
this account, he is no longer to hold the government
of Arcot. If you will send your son here, the
Nawib will confer i5 on you. In accordance with
these instructions, Chandi Sihib intends to send his
son, ’Abid Sahib, to the Nizim. In case Nawib Asat
Jah objects to this, Sau Bhiji Rao is determined to
take command of an army of 30,000 horsemen, with
the view of expelling Anwar-ud-din Khin, and
installing Chanda Sahib in his place. Chanda Sahib
wishes you to send, out of the lakh of rupees which
you promised him, a draft which will allow of his
obtaining on it Rs. 50,000, on reaching Cuddapah,
and the balance in cash, so as to enable him to meet
expenses at Satdra.”’

Friday, 27th January 1747, or 18th Tai of
Alshaya.—~A letter received by me to-day, from
Arcot Guldb Sing, who is employed under Nawib
Anwar-ud-din Khin, stated that the Nizdm had
issued a circular order to all the Subahdars directing
them to proceed, with their elephants and soldiers, to
the hanks of the Krishna ; that in obedience to this
command, the troops at Arcot were making prepara-
tions for setting out on the expedition; and that
Anwar-ud-din Kbin had communicated the order to
Nawib Mahfuz Khin and Muhammad *Ali Khin. 1
reported the contents of this letter to the Governor,
who was much pleased, and presented the peon
who brought it, with Rs. 20. Besides this, he gave
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Rs. 10 to my peon, who was the bearer of the tidings
that Mahfuz Khin had been ordered to repair to
the Nawdb’s camp. This information was obtained
by him in the course of a chat which he had with
the messenger who carried the letter to Mahfuz
Khin. I conversed with the Governor, for about
half an hour, on generai topics, and then went
away to my areca-nut store-house.

At 4 this afternoon, a sloop arrived from
Chandernagore. The ecaptain is M. Brignon, a
nephew of M. de la Bourdonnais. Her cargo consists
of rice, sugar, silk, and other articles. The crew
brought tidings that four sail were to leave Chander-
nagore, for Pondichery, in order to assist the French,
and that four English ships, now in the Hugly, were
also about to leave for this port.

Husain Tahir Khin sent a letter, from Arcot, to
Muhammad Tavakkal, his resident agent here. It
was received to-day, and ran thus: “ His Highness
Nawib Anwar-ud-din Khin has informed me, as
follows. He will recall Mahfuz Khan and Muham-
mad ’Ali Khin, who are now encamped near Pondi-
chery ; and, in return, he expects that the French
will issue orders to their soldiers in Madras not to
scour the meighbouring villages, plandering and
burning them, but to keep within the bounds of the
fort ; that the French will hoist the Emperor’s flag
over Fort St. George, and keep it flying there for
the space of eight days; and that they will show
every honour to Mahfuz Khin and Muhammad ’Al}
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Khéin, who are now encamped to the west of Fort
St. David.” Husain $8hib also directed his agent
to convey to the Governor the particulars of the
letter. Muhammad Tavakkal read it, and communi-
cated the contents to me, and I therenpon went to
the Governor, at 8 at night, and informed him of the
tidings that has been received. He was rejoiced
to hear them, and said: ¢ Well; ask Muhammad
Tavakkal to see me to-morrow morning.” Having
obtained leave to depart, I went home, at 10, and
after partaking of supper, proceeded to the house of
Krishna Rao, and paid him the compliments usual
at the Pongal feast. I remained there for an hour,
and then returned home.

Saturday, 28th January 1747, or 19th Tai of
Alshaya.—Muhammad Tavakkal appeared before the
Governor this morning, at 10, and told him all that he
had related to me respecting the contents of the letter
which he received yesterday from Husain Téhir Khén.
He said that Mahfuz Khan and Muhammad ’Ali Khéin
would no longer remain encamped in the neighbour-
hood, but would retire with their troops, and he
requested the Governor to prevent his soldiers at
Madras from raiding the country, and burning the
villages. He added that when gifts had been
presented to them, and other tokens of courtesy had
been shown, both Mahfuz Khin and Muhammad
Ali Khin would depart, and he requested the
Governor to allow the flag of the Emperor to be
hoisted at Fort St. George, for eight days only.
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The Governor asked when it was expected that
Mahfuz Khin and Muhammad ’Ali Khin, and their
followers would retire. Muhammad Tavakkal
replied : ““Your soldiers are encamped at Ariyén-
kuppam. When you recall them, the Muhammadan
troops, too, will be withdrawn.” The Governor
answered : [ will consider the matter of hoisting
the Emperor's flag at Madras, and will let you
know my decision. As for withdrawing my men
from Ariyinkuppam, 1 will go there to-morrow
morning, and order all the European soldiers to
quit it.”” After bidding good-bye to the Governor,
Muhammad Tavakkal proceeded to his apartments
at Sunguvdr’s warehouse. But before he retired,
the Governor told him to write to the Nawib
intimating to him that the French troops encamped
at Ariydnkvppam would, in accordance with his
desire, be recalled to-morrow, and that an order
was being sent to Madras prohibiting the soldiers
from going heyond the limits of the town. He
also desired Muhammad Tavakkal to inform the
Nawéib of his readiness to agree to the other
conditions, as soon as a reply was received to the
second letter addressed by him to the Nawib.
Muhammad Tavakkal promised to do this, and having
told the Governor that the wine he sent him had
cheered him much during the night, went to the
house at which he was residing.

T"he Governor handed to me a letter, written
in French, to Kanji Mittdyd, the Company’s
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broker at Mocha, and directed me to have it
translated into Guzeriti, by Muri Dis. I accordingly
went to the office of M. Mathieu, and had this
done.

Sunday, 29th January 1747, or 20th Tai of Al-
shaya.—This morning, the Governor told me the
points to be mentioned in the letter which was to
be written, in Persian, to the Governor of Mocha.
I instructed Madaninda Pandit to draft one
accordingly. The Giovernor summoned me again,
and said: “ Well ; we will withdraw our troops
from AriyAnkuppam. What is to be done if the
Muhammadans will not quit their camp?” Ireplied :
““If we recall our men, as Muhammad Tavakkal
wishes us to do, on the authority of a written
communication which he has received from Husain
Sahib, who had his instructions from Nawib Anwar-
ud-din Khin, the Muhammadan troops are bound
to retire. If they donot, we can throw the whole
blame upon them, and say that we have always abided
by the Nawib’s commands, and have even now
obeyed them ; and then we can take the necessary
steps.” He admitted the wisdom of what I said.

At 10, he and his family entered a carriage, and
drove to Ariyinkuppam. He returned at half-past
6,1n the evening. As soon as he arrived, he sent for
me, and asked whether the letters to the Governor of
Mocha, and to Kanji Mittdy4, the Company’s broker
there, were sealed, and ready for despatch. I
replied that that addressed to the Governor had
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the seal affixed to it, and had been put into an
envelope, but that the letter to the broker had not yet
been sealed. I requested him to sign the latter,
and after he had done so, I affixed the seal. As
Odi D4s had already embarked on board the Dutch
ship bound for Mocha, he directed me to deliver the
letters to M. Mathieu, with instructions to take them
to Tom Fazel, the Dutch captain, in order that he
might hand them, to Odi Dids, on board.

He next asked me whether any news had arrived
from the camp. I replied that I had heard that
the letter addressed by Anwar-ud-din Khin arrived
yesterday, and that a reply had been forwarded,
by a courier, to Arcot, but that I did not know its
contents. 'The Governor said : “ In accordance
with your advice, 1 have directed our men at
Ariyinkuppam to return to-morrow. Should not
the Muhammadan troops also evacuate the place ?”
I replied: “Even if they did remain there, no
blame will lie with us, a3 we do not move our men on
our own motion, but under the orders of Nawib
Anwar-ud-din Kbhin. The condition which was
offered to us was that if we withdrew our troops,
those of the Nawib would also be recalled. We
will fulfil this, and if the Muhammadans do the
same, it will be well and good. If not, all that
we have to do is to wrile to the Nawéb, reporting
to him the conduct of his son, and informing
him that we have obeyed his orders, from first
to last, and that no blame rests with us. If, on
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receipt of this letter, any body of Muhammadan
horse should present itself within our territory, or
if the Muhammadans should commit any excesses,
we will take the law in our own hands.”” In these
terms, ] clearly explained to the Governor my
views on the subject. I then told him that the
sons of Chandd $ahib and Taqi Sahib desired per-
mission to visit the ships lying in the roads. He
thereupon ordered me teo send word to M.
Dordelin, who commands the squadron, to receive
them with fitting honours; and to M. Auger to place
a boat at their disposal, and go with them. I deputed
Samé Rao on this errand. The Governor afterwards
directed me to send a message to Muhammad
Tavakkal, asking him to accompany the party to the
ships. I did sc, but he declined, saying that he
would visit them by himself. I waited for an
opportunity to communicate Muhammad Tavakkal’s
reply to the Governor, but finding none, I went
to the areca-nut store-house.

Monday, 30th Januwary 1747, or 2Ist Tav of
Alshays.—This morning, Razd $ahib the son of
Chanda S$ahib, and *Ali Nagt the son of Taqi Sahib,
accompanied by their followers, went on board the
men-of-war in the roads, to see them. As they were
returning, a salute of fifteen guns was fired in
their honour, from each of the four French ships, as
well as from that of M. Dordelin. The discharge
of the guns being simultaneous, the effect was very
striking.

36
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It will be remembered